

From Stimulus to Behavioral Decision-Making

Gérard Maniere, G. Coureaud

▶ To cite this version:

Gérard Maniere, G. Coureaud (Dir.). From Stimulus to Behavioral Decision-Making. In press, $10.3389/978\hbox{-}2-88963\hbox{-}463\hbox{-}7$. hal-03030697

HAL Id: hal-03030697 https://cnrs.hal.science/hal-03030697

Submitted on 30 Nov 2020

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



Distributed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License

FROM STIMULUS TO BEHAVIORAL DECISION-MAKING

EDITED BY: Gérard Manière and Gérard Coureaud PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88963-463-7 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88963-463-7

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

FROM STIMULUS TO BEHAVIORAL DECISION-MAKING

Topic Editors:

Gérard Manière, Centre des Sciences du Goût et de l'Alimentation, AgroSupDijon/CNRS UMR 6265/INRAE UMR1324/Université Bourgogne-Franche-Comté, France **Gérard Coureaud,** Centre de Recherche en Neurosciences de Lyon, INSERM U1028/CNRS UMR 5292/UCBL1, France

The proper detection of stimuli coming from the environment is vital for any organism, in vertebrates as in invertebrates. Animals use different sensory modalities, independently or simultaneously, to detect them, such as audition, vision, olfaction, taste and touch. Indeed, in their ecosystems, animals constantly perceive various sensory signals. These stimuli come either from the environment (light, temperature, humidity, salinity...), or from other organisms (calls, colors, movements, pheromones, allomones, ...).

This eBooks combines studies and comments (research articles, reviews, opinions ...), dealing with how animals detect a precise simple or complex sensory signal, confer a value to that signal, and respond to it by devoted and adaptive behaviors. This eBook provides a general overview for the detection of identified stimuli, and the mechanisms that lead to decision-making in animals. It also highlights the differences and similarities that may exist between vertebrates and invertebrates.

Citation: Manière, G., Coureaud, G., eds. (2020). From Stimulus to Behavioral Decision-Making. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-463-7

Table of Contents

- **04** Editorial: From Stimulus to Behavioral Decision-Making Gérard Manière and Gérard Coureaud
- 07 Assessment of Appetitive Behavior in Honey Bee Dance Followers Mariel A. Moauro, M. Sol Balbuena and Walter M. Farina
- Octopamine Shifts the Behavioral Response From Indecision to Approach or Aversion in Drosophila melanogaster
 Gerbera Claßen and Henrike Scholz
- 26 Attractant or Repellent? Behavioral Responses to Mammalian Blood Odor and to a Blood Odor Component in a Mesopredator, the Meerkat (Suricata suricatta)

Henrik Pettersson, Mats Amundin and Matthias Laska

fMRI-Based Brain Responses to Quinine and Sucrose Gustatory
Stimulation for Nutrition Research in the Minipig Model:
A Proof-of-Concept Study

Nicolas Coquery, Paul Meurice, Régis Janvier, Eric Bobillier, Stéphane Quellec, Minghai Fu, Eugeni Roura, Hervé Saint-Jalmes and David Val-Laillet

43 More Than Meets the Eye: The Impact of Materialism on Information Selection During Luxury Choices

Catherine Audrin, Tobias Brosch, David Sander and Julien Chanal

- 55 Current Status on the Functional Characterization of Chemosensory Receptors of Cydia pomonella (Lepidoptera: Tortricidae) Alberto Maria Cattaneo
- 65 Using Temporal Expectation to Assess Auditory Streaming in Mice Gaëlle A. Chapuis and Paul T. Chadderton
- How Many Clocks, How Many Times? On the Sensory Basis and Computational Challenges of Circadian Systems
 Jason Somers, Ross E. F. Harper and Joerg T. Albert
- 84 Gentle Handling Attenuates Innate Defensive Responses to Visual Threats Xuemei Liu, Chen Chen, Yuanming Liu, Zhijie Wang, Kang Huang, Feng Wang and Liping Wang
- 94 Behavioral Effect of Plant Volatiles Binding to Spodoptera littoralis Larval Odorant Receptors

Arthur de Fouchier, Xiao Sun, Gabriela Caballero-Vidal, Solène Travaillard, Emmanuelle Jacquin-Joly and Nicolas Montagné

102 Visual Contrast Modulates Operant Learning Responses in Larval Zebrafish

Wenbin Yang, Yutong Meng, Danyang Li and Quan Wen





Editorial: From Stimulus to Behavioral Decision-Making

Gérard Manière^{1*} and Gérard Coureaud^{2*}

¹ Centre des Sciences du Goût et de l'Alimentation, AgroSup Dijon/CNRS UMR6265/INRA UMR1324/Université Bourgogne-Franche-Comté, Dijon, France, ² Centre de Recherche en Neurosciences de Lyon, INSERM U1028/CNRS UMR 5292/Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1, Bron, France

Keywords: behavior, sensory detection, invertebrates, vertebrates, stimuli

Editorial on the Research Topic

From Stimulus to Behavioral Decision-Making

In their natural environments, animals are continuously exposed to sensory complexity, due to the huge number and diversity of stimuli emitted and contained in their surroundings, within and between sensory modalities (somesthesy, olfaction and taste, audition, vision), and due to fluctuating and sometimes unpredictable conditions. Two main kinds of environmental factors have consequences on behavior in both solitary and gregarious species, abiotic factors (e.g., temperature, pressure, salinity, hygrometry, light/darkness, etc.) and biotic factors produced by organisms themselves (movements, displays, calls, colors, pheromones, etc.). These various stimuli regulate the life of animals and their interactions in the ecosystem. The present Research Topic aimed at providing illustrations, reflections, and elements of discussion about some of the stimuli that lead to decision making in vertebrates and invertebrates and about mechanisms that support their emission and/or action.

In response to environmental changes, animals adapt their physiology (homeostasis, etc.) and behavior (food seeking, avoidance of predators, social interactions, etc.) to survive. Responses to environmental stimuli may be either spontaneous, i.e., result from predispositions to perceive and process particular signals, or dependent on experience, i.e., be acquired through simple exposure, or associative/non-associative learning episodes. Learning may contribute to reduce or discard behavioral experiences that have negative consequences, as shown here in the original paper by Yang et al.. They found that the larvae of zebrafish could acquire by operant conditioning a new visual stimulus like pure-black pattern (conditioned stimulus) when it is associated with electric shock (unconditioned stimulus). The contrast of the visual stimulus (grayscale visual pattern) then modulates the learning responses and retention of the visual information in the larvae.

Animal behavior is also regulated by alternating day-night cycles over the nycthemeral period of 24 h, which can lead to the expression of circadian rhythmic behaviors. Some animals indeed have a daytime activity, whereas others have a nocturnal one. A fascinating question is how various sources of information are combined to sense a single time of the day in an animal. Actually, behavioral activities are mediated by internal clocks supported by neurophysiological mechanisms from the peripheral and/or central nervous system. Among these mechanisms, molecular processes may contribute to the internal clock and generation of the locomotor circadian rhythm. The minireview by Somers et al. shows in particular that in *Drosophila*, locomotor activity depends on two brain oscillators, one that controls the morning locomotor activity and another that governs the evening activity. These clocks are autonomous oscillators, and the phase can be adjusted by light or thermal stimuli.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by: Denise Manahan-Vaughan.

Ruhr University Bochum, Germany

*Correspondence:

Gérard Manière gerard.maniere@u-bourgogne.fr Gérard Coureaud gerard.coureaud@cnrs.fr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Learning and Memory, a section of the journal Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience

> Received: 29 November 2019 Accepted: 04 December 2019 Published: 10 January 2020

Citation:

Manière G and Coureaud G (2020) Editorial: From Stimulus to Behavioral Decision-Making. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 13:274. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2019.00274

4

Animals including humans may currently benefit from five main senses (more or less functional, depending on the species and on the developmental stages) allowing them to detect, discriminate, represent, and respond behaviorally to external stimuli.

Olfactory or gustatory organs in animals allow for detecting chemical cues merging from the ecosystem. These organs are fundamental, e.g., for food searching, identification of conspecifics, recognition of sexual partners, or detecting dangers such as predators or noxious compounds. For instance, some insect species are known to be major pest of crops. Many methods aim to use mating disruption to control insect populations using synthetic sex pheromones. In his review, Cattaneo shows the interest of the identification and functional characterization of the chemosensory receptors of Cydia pomonella (Lepidoptera: Tortricidae), a pest of apple, pear, and walnuts. A better knowledge and understanding of the olfactory mechanisms of pests would allow for a better control of their action by using the olfactory system as a target. About odor-guided searching for food, de Fouchier et al. show in invertebrates that caterpillars from a phytophagous insect, the moth-model pest Spodoptera littoralis (Noctuidae), respond behaviorally to plant volatiles. These chemical cues are ligands of olfactory receptors identified by the authors. By a complementary modeling approach, the authors pinpoint some receptors whose activation is related to caterpillar attraction. In vertebrates, Pettersson et al. show that attraction to mammalian blood odor is not exclusive to top predators (such as tigers and wolves), but that such an attraction may be also displayed by a small-bodied mesopredator, here the meerkat (Suricata suricatta). The study reveals that this attraction is triggered by a single molecule contained in mammalian blood, which seems to be the TED single molecule (trans-4,5-epoxy-(E)-2-decenal).

At the periphery of the olfactory system, olfactory receptor neurons sense odor cues. These sensory inputs are then processed by the brain to promote attraction or avoidance responses. Claßen and Scholtz show that in *Drosophila*, the behavior induced by an olfactory stimulus like ethanol can be shifted depending on specific activation of particular neurons. Indeed, the activation of a cluster of octopaminergic neurons leads to an attraction toward ethanol, while the activation of another group of octopaminergic neurons results in avoidance of the same stimulus. Thus, octopaminergic neurons are directly involved in decision making and contrasted behaviors in *Drosophila*.

Social insects live in colonies and communicate with conspecifics to transmit crucial information carrying adaptive values, e.g., enabling colony provisioning, defense, and reproduction. In hives, bees that have found and located a food source in the surroundings transfer multiple sensory information using the waggle dance to bee dance followers. In the present *Frontiers* Research Topic, Moauro et al. show that bee dance followers have better memory retention and higher gustatory responsiveness to sucrose than non-follower bees. The followers are more sensitive to environmental stimuli compared to non-followers and could decipher more easily the nature and localization of the food source encoded by the bee waggle dance.

Concerning taste and underlying neurophysiological processing, research in animal models may have fundamental impacts allowing for improving knowledge in human nutritional physiology, brain structures, and related behaviors. In their proof-of-concept study, Coquery et al. show that potentially appetitive (sucrose) or aversive (quinine) gustatory stimulations may be combined with functional MRI in minipigs to promote brain responses in part concordant with results already obtained in humans. This may constitute a promising way to run preclinical investigations that compare the integration of gustatory stimuli in healthy individuals or individuals suffering from dysgeusia or eating disorders.

In audition, certain signals carry crucial values in terms of adaptation and survival, as, for instance, in the case of signals that indicate the immediate presence of a predator. Animals must therefore remain attentive in order to select relevant auditory information that helps in deciding for an escape response. In their original study, Chapuis and Chadderton reveal that mice can detect a target sound from another in a sound mixture and that the activity of the auditory cortex is modulated during the different attentional states.

Surviving from threats such as predators depends also in some species on vision, and on acquired or innate defensive responses to visual stimuli. However, the regulation of innate fear responses by the additional perception of pleasantness/unpleasantness still remains debatable. In their original research, Liu et al. test the consequences of gentle handling of the innate response of mice to a visual looming stimulus. They show that handling attenuates the defensive response of mice in correlation with cortical plasticity, as the de-excitation of specific layers of the superior colliculus, and change in the connection between the cortex and the subcortex.

Finally, visual attention is also important in humans, for instance, as a contributor to consumer decision making. While individuals' determinants of this attention remain weakly understood, Audrin et al. propose here an original study assessing how visual attention can be modulated by psychological values in the context of forced-choice experiments proposing luxury/nonluxury ready-to-wear products. They show that participants with high vs. low levels of materialism display with visual attention to distinct information carried by the products (symbolic dimension vs. actual characteristics) that may end in the choice of a same product but for different reasons.

Thus, innate or learned responsiveness to stimuli and consecutive behaviors allow animals to adapt to their ecosystem and to provide for their vital needs such as food searching, sexual interacting with partners, and escaping from predators. To that goal, animals may modify their physiology and behavior by detecting changes in the environment. By being exposed at the same time or sequentially to stimuli from different sensory modalities like olfactory, visual, and auditory events, animals must combine multisensory information to adjust their behavior. The peripheral and central nervous systems play a major role in the integration of this information allowing for making a decision and *in fine* to display a coherent and efficient behavioral response.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GM and GC conceived and supervised this Frontiers Research Topic and wrote and edited the editorial.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to sincerely thank all the authors who participated in our Research Topic, whose manuscript was accepted or not, and the reviewers of the manuscripts. **Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Manière and Coureaud. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Assessment of Appetitive Behavior in Honey Bee Dance Followers

Mariel A. Moauro^{1,2†}, M. Sol Balbuena^{1,2†} and Walter M. Farina^{1,2*}

¹Laboratorio de Insectos Sociales, Departamento de Biodiversidad y Biología Experimental, Facultad de Ciencias Exactas y Naturales, Universidad de Buenos Aires, Buenos Aires, Argentina, ²Instituto de Fisiología, Biología Molecular y Neurociencias (IFIBYNE), CONICET, Universidad de Buenos Aires, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Honey bees transfer different informational components of the discovered feeding source to their nestmates during the waggle dance. To decode the multicomponent information of this complex behavior, dance followers have to attend to the most relevant signal elements while filtering out less relevant ones. To achieve that, dance followers should present improved abilities to acquire information compared with those bees not engaged in this behavior. Through proboscis extension response assays, sensory and cognitive abilities were tested in follower and non-follower bees. Individuals were captured within the hive, immediately after following waggle runs or a bit further from the dancer. Both behavioral categories present low and similar spontaneous odor responses (SORs). However, followers exhibit differences in responsiveness to sucrose and odor discrimination: followers showed increased gustatory responsiveness and, after olfactory differential conditioning, better memory retention than non-followers. Thus, the abilities of the dance followers related to appetitive behavior would allow them to improve the acquisition of the dance surrounding information.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gérard Coureaud, UMR5292 Centre de Recherche en Neurosciences de Lyon (CRNL), France

Reviewed by:

Nina Deisig, UMR7618 Institut d'Écologie et des Sciences de l'Environnement de Paris (IEES), France Jean-Marc Devaud, Université Toulouse III Paul Sabatier, France

*Correspondence:

Walter M. Farina walter@fbmc.fcen.uba.ar

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work.

Received: 22 February 2018 Accepted: 05 April 2018 Published: 27 April 2018

Citation:

Moauro MA, Balbuena MS and Farina WM (2018) Assessment of Appetitive Behavior in Honey Bee Dance Followers. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 12:74. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2018.00074 Keywords: Apis mellifera, waggle dance, gustatory responsiveness, olfactory conditioning, proboscis extension response

INTRODUCTION

The waggle dance is a stereotyped behavior performed by *Apis mellifera* foragers which consists in an eight-shape figure on the vertical comb inside the hive (von Frisch, 1967). This complex behavioral display is considered a multicomponent signal (Grüter and Farina, 2009) which not only attracts nestmates to the dance surrounding but also informs the presence of a profitable food source (von Frisch, 1967; Seeley, 1989). Honey bees can acquire information about the location of the feeding site by following these maneuvers from behind or laterally (Michelsen, 2003; Díaz et al., 2007). The dance followers can also perceive and learn the odors of the collected food during interactions with the dancer (von Frisch, 1967; Farina et al., 2005; Díaz et al., 2007). In this way, both naïve and experienced foragers can acquire information from the waggle dance (Biesmeijer and de Vries, 2001; Biesmeijer and Seeley, 2005).

The honey bee dance takes place in particular comb areas named "dance floor" (Tautz and Lindauer, 1997), located at approximately 4–20 cm from the hive entrance, where dancers and dance followers come into contact (von Frisch, 1967; Seeley, 1995). Dance maneuvers increase the activity of bees in the dancer's vicinity (von Frisch, 1923; Božič and Valentinčič, 1991; Thom et al., 2007). Thus, in this informational context, the levels of motivation and attention of the bees located in the dance surrounding might be enhanced by the presence of the excited dancers. As a result, follower bees are motivated to start foraging.

The shift from in-hive tasks to foraging involves changes in the responsiveness to external stimuli (Robinson, 1987; Robinson and Page, 1989; Seeley, 1989). Furthermore, bees performing different tasks within the colony also present different response thresholds (Ramírez et al., 2010). In this sense, Katz and Naug (2016) have shown that dancer and follower bees present different sensitiveness according to the individual and colony nutritional states. Creating a mismatch between these nutritional states and using a conditioning assay, they evaluated the proboscis extension response of fed and starved bees. Followers showed to be less sensitive to changes in the colony nutritional condition than dancers. However, incoming foragers can adjust their response to the nutritional status of the colony (Lindauer, 1954; Seeley, 1989; Farina, 2000; De Marco, 2006). Therefore, the presence of individuals responding differentially according to nutritional states would allow a better adjustment of the foraging activity of the entire colony. However, until now, it is unknown how different are the chemosensory and olfactory learning abilities of those bees located in the hive areas where the information related to the incoming resources is transmitted. Bearing this in mind, our aim is to study the sensory and cognitive capacities of bees involved in dance following and unemployed bees located next to the dance floor that did not follow dances at the moment they were captured. For this, we carried out behavioral assays testing sucrose responsiveness, spontaneous response to odors and ability to discriminate odors.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Site and Animals

The experiments were performed during the summer-autumn seasons of 2015 and 2016 at the Experimental Field of the University of Buenos Aires, Argentina $(34^{\circ} 32'S, 58^{\circ} 26'W)$. We used four observation hives (two colonies during 2015, henceforth: H1 and H2; and the other two during 2016, henceforth: H3 and H4) that consisted of two frames with brood, a mated queen and about 4000 workers of the European honey bees (*Apis mellifera*) each. The hives were contained between acrylic walls that had a 40 × 25 cm² window covered by a hinged door that allowed access to the colony during the assays. The observation hives were located individually inside a flight chamber (6 m length × 3 m wide × 2 m height), which was closed only during the experiments to prevent interference with other bee colonies. During the rest of the day, the flight chamber was opened for bees to have access to natural food sources.

General Procedure

A group of foraging workers of each experimental colony was trained to visit an artificial feeder located 6 m from the hive that offered 50% weight/weight (w/w) unscented sucrose solution. Foragers that visited the feeder were marked with acrylic paint (ALBA-Argentina) on their thoraxes to distinguish them from the rest of the nestmates.

Dance maneuvers of bees that returned from the artificial feeder were observed carefully by eye. A successful follower attends 3–7 consecutive waggle-runs before leaving the hive (Judd, 1994). Despite of the short distance to the artificial

source, it could be observed waggle dances. Thus, we defined as dance followers those hive bees that were captured directly from the unloading area (dance floor) after following at least three waggle-runs. In addition, we avoided capturing followers that performed oral contact with the dancers in order to avert a gustatory experience which could affect the sensory and cognitive capacities evaluated here (see sections below; Farina et al., 2007; Martinez and Farina, 2008). Unemployed hive bees that were not observed to be involved in dance following (henceforth: non-follower bees) were caught at a distance of 10-20 cm from the dancers, depending on the size of the dancing area (considering the approximate followed waggle dance radius is about 1.5 cm), and were used to compare their spontaneous odor response (SOR), gustatory responsiveness and odor discrimination with the dance follower's responses. Bees that performed cell cleaning, food and wax processing or absolute repose were not captured. It is worth to note that bees of both categories were caught from combs without brood or food reserves.

The captured bees were anesthetized in the freezer (-18°C) for no more than 2 min and harnessed in small metal tubes that restrained body movement but allowed free movement of antennae and mouthparts (Frings, 1944; Bitterman et al., 1983; Matsumoto et al., 2012). After waking, bees were offered a drop of water to drink if they would be tested for their gustatory responsiveness or 30% w/w sucrose solution if they would be submitted to the differential conditioning protocol and then, housed in an incubator (30°C, 55% RH and darkness) for 90 min before assessing their response.

Spontaneous Odor Response

The proboscis extension reflex (PER) is a reliable indicator for studying response to odors or sugared rewards, such as those found in nectar naturally (Frings, 1944; Page et al., 1998). Even though an odor is considered a neutral stimulus and usually the proboscis is not released by itself, a novice bee can still show a spontaneous response towards certain odors in the laboratory context (Guerrieri et al., 2005). For this procedure, two pure odors commonly present in floral fragrances (Knudsen et al., 1993; Raguso and Pichersky, 1999; Nouvian et al., 2015), Linalool (LIO) and Phenylacetaldehyde (PHE; Sigma-Aldrich, Steinheim, Germany), were used to test the SOR of bees from H1 and H2. A device that delivered a continuous airflow was used for the odorant application. Individually harnessed bees were exposed to a constant clean airstream (2.5 ml s⁻¹) delivered 2 cm away from their heads. A filter paper (30 \times 3 mm) was impregnated with 4 μ l of the pure odorant and placed inside a syringe. Each odor was delivered during 6 s when the airflow was redirected to pass through the syringe by means of an electric valve. A SOR was measured when the bee fully extended its proboscis towards any of the two odors, during odor delivery (Farina et al., 2005). Bees that responded to the mechanical air stimulus (6 s of clean airflow before and 3 s after odor presentation) were discarded, as well as bees that did not respond to 50% w/w sucrose solution after the gustatory response assay. The elapsed time between the first and the second odor presentation was 15 min, and the order was alternated from bee to bee.

Gustatory Responsiveness

PER was also used to evaluate gustatory responsiveness, by determining a gustatory response score (GRS) per experimental bee (Page et al., 1998). It was tested on bees from H1 and H2 after going through SOR assay. At the beginning of the assay, water was offered in order to avoid confounding thirst effects. Bees were assayed by presenting sucrose solutions of increasing concentration (0.1, 0.3, 1, 3, 10, 30 and 50% w/w; Page et al., 1998). Usually, this protocol only tests the response to sucrose concentrations from 0.1% to 30% w/w; however, we added the 50% w/w solution in order to include those bees with high sucrose response thresholds. Between each concentration of sucrose solution, all bees were tested for their response to water. This was done to avoid potential effects of repeated sucrose stimulation that could lead to increased sensitization or habituation. The inter-stimulus interval between water and sucrose solution was an average of 3 min. At the end of the procedure, a GRS was obtained for each bee. This score was based on the times each bee responded to the different sucrose concentrations (Scheiner et al., 2001; Pankiw et al., 2004). The response was arbitrarily quantified with scores from one to seven, where one (1) represented a bee that only responded to the highest sucrose concentration (50% w/w), while a score of seven (7) represented an individual that responded to all concentrations tested. If a bee failed to respond to a concentration of sucrose in the middle of a response series (e.g., responded to 0.1, 0.3, 3 and 10% w/w, but did not respond to 1%), this response was considered to be an error and the bee was deemed to have responded to that concentration as well. A bee that did not respond to more than one of the sucrose concentration in the middle of a response series was excluded from the analyses (Mc Cabe et al., 2007; Martinez and Farina, 2008). The same happened for bees that did not respond to the 50% w/w concentration (positive control, score = 1) offered because we cannot assure if they were able to sense and respond. In addition, those bees that responded to all sucrose concentrations but to all water presentations, too, were excluded from analyses as they appeared not to be able to discriminate between sucrose solution and water, were too starved or just thirsty.

Differential PER Conditioning

Two additional hives, H3 and H4, were exposed to 1.5 ml of a pure odor for at least 3 days before performing PER conditioning (H3: PHE, H4: LIO). The scent was provided by two small Petri dishes placed at the bottom of the hive containing a filter paper (3 cm diameter) soaked with 0.75 ml of the pure scent. The Petri's top lid was perforated to prevent bees touching the compound while volatiles could be dispelled. The volatile exposed in the hive had the purpose that bees associate it with a non-appetitive hive context (Farina et al., 2005; Díaz et al., 2007).

The bees captured from both colonies were subjected to a differential PER conditioning to analyze olfactory discrimination to two pure odors during training procedure (Bitterman et al., 1983): the rewarded odor (rewarded conditioning stimulus, CS+) was paired with 50% w/w sucrose solution (unconditioned stimulus, US), and the non-rewarded odor was presented alone

(non-rewarded conditioned stimulus, CS-) and was the same used in the hive as the pre-exposed odor. The same device described in SOR section was used for this assay. The volatile compound was delivered through a secondary air stream (2.5 ml s⁻¹) injected into the main airflow during the delivery of the odor. The bees were exposed to these stimuli five times each in a pseudo-randomized order (CS-, CS+, CS+, CS-, CS-, CS+, CS-, CS+, CS+, CS-). For each colony, differential PER conditioning was carried out using a pre-exposed odor as CSand a non-exposed odor as CS+ (H3: CS- = PHE, CS+ = LIO; H4: CS- = LIO, CS+ = PHE). The inter-trial interval lasted 10-15 min between the CS presentations, depending on the number of individuals tested at one time (usually, n = 20-40). Only those bees that showed an unconditioned response (the reflexive extension of proboscis after applying a 50% w/w sucrose solution to the antenna, UR) and that did not respond to the mechanical airflow stimulus were used for the test. During the experiment in the per setup, a fan extracted the released odors to avoid contamination. Each learning trial lasted 40 s and we presented the CS for 6 s. Reinforcement (50% w/w sucrose) was delivered for 3 s after the onset of the CS+. Those bees that showed a spontaneous response to the odor in the first trial were discarded from the experiment. To evaluate whether the bees had formed a medium-term memory after they had all gone through the learning assay, bees stayed harnessed for 15 min and were then subjected to a non-rewarded presentation of both training odors (testing phase).

Statistics

The effects of factors on all variables were assessed by means of Generalized Linear Models (GLM) or Generalized Linear Mixed Models (GLMM), depending on the type of factors included in the models. Models were fitted in R program (R Development Core Team, 2011) using the glm function for the former case and the glmer function of the lme4 package (Bates et al., 2015) for the latter, in which fixed and random effects are specified via the model formula. We used the MuMIn package which contains functions to streamline information-theoretic model selection and carry out model averaging based on the information criteria (Burnham and Anderson, 2002). The dredge function was used to perform the automated model selection with subsets of the global model; the set of models was generated with all possible combinations of the fixed factors. AICc, which is a secondorder information criterion, was used to rank the models and to obtain model weights (Akaike, 1973). Unless the Akaike weight for the best model was high enough ($w_k \ge 0.8$, personal criterion), we could not consider that the predictors not selected were unimportant; so, in the cases in which the $w_k < 0.8$, we performed multimodel inference using the model.avg function which calculates model averaged parameters with standard errors and confidence intervals to evaluate the significances.

The effect of the dance following behavior on SOR was assessed by means of a GLM with binomial error structure. Gustatory responsiveness was estimated through the GRS, which is a sum of the unconditioned responses to the sugar solutions presented in the procedure. Values include 1 through 7. The effect of the following or non-following behavior on GRS was assessed by means of a GLM with Poisson error structure. In both cases, the initial model included *behavior* and *hive* as fixed factors, considering only additive effects. *Hive* was considered as a fixed factor because it had only two levels (Zuur et al., 2007). In the particular case of GRS, in which significant difference between the hives was found, we analyzed *behavior* factor in each hive separately by constructing data subsets.

The effect of behavior on olfactory discrimination was assessed by means of a GLMM with binomial error structure. The initial model to analyze the acquisition phase included *behavior*, *trial* and *hive* as fixed factors, contemplating only additive effects, and *bee* as a random factor. In the testing phase, none of the bees extended its proboscis towards the CS–. Therefore, the effect of behavior was only studied on conditioned response towards the CS+ and assessed by means of a GLM which included *behavior* and *hive* as fixed factors, considering additive effects.

RESULTS

Spontaneous Odor Response

We tested the SOR of follower and non-follower bees from H1 and H2. Each experimental bee was exposed to a single presentation of two odor stimuli in the per setup: LIO and PHE. Because we were interested in the response to the odors independently of their identity, we analyzed the SOR towards any of them. Then, we grouped the odors since there was no interaction with the behavior fixed factor (in all cases, there was a bit higher response to PHE; data not shown). For both hives, we found that, independently of the behavioral category analyzed (followers vs. non-followers), bees showed low SOR levels (ca. 25%) and there was no difference between them (H1: $N_{\rm F} = 103$, $N_{\rm NF} = 88$; H2: $N_{\rm F} = 79$, $N_{\rm NF} = 81$). Indeed, the minimal model did not include the behavioral factor (Figure 1, Supplementary Table S1; $SOR_{H1+H2} \sim 1$). Thus, both followers and non-followers did not show odor preference. Although there was no significant difference between colonies, Figure 1 shows their result separately because, analyzing GRS of the same bees (see below), hive factor was included in the minimal model.

Gustatory Response Scores

After SOR, our aim was to study if gustatory responsiveness was affected by the dance context. We evaluated the sucrose response thresholds of bees from H1 and H2 under the PER paradigm. The GRS was defined as the sum of positive responses throughout the presentation of increasing concentration of the sucrose solutions (Page et al., 1998). Our results show that the dance followers had a higher GRS than non-follower bees in both experimental colonies [median values: 4 for followers $(N_{\rm H1} = 103, N_{\rm H2} = 88)$, and 3 for non-followers $(N_{\rm H1} = 79, N_{\rm H1} = 79)$ $N_{\rm H2}$ = 81)]. It means that follower bees present higher sucrose responsiveness than non-followers: followers respond to lower sucrose concentrations (Figure 2, Supplementary Table S2; $GRS_{H1} \sim$ Behavior, Z = -2.462, p = 0.0138; $GRS_{H2} \sim$ Behavior, Z = -3.899, $p = 9.65e^{-05}$). Hence, the gustatory responsiveness seems to be dependent on the behavioral category which bees belonged to. Even though we found significant difference between colonies, it is important to highlight that the tendency



FIGURE 1 | Follower and non-follower dancing honey bees present similar probability of spontaneous odor response (SOR). Percentage of bees, followers (F, gray bars) and non-followers (NF, white bars) that extended their proboscises towards any of the two odors, Linalool (LIO) and Phenylacetaldehyde (PHE). Bees from Hive 1 (H1) and Hive 2 (H2) were tested. "N.S." indicates no statistical differences (*behavior*, as a factor, is not included in the final model; see "Results" section for details). The number of bees tested is shown inside the bars.





for both of them, related to *behavior* factor, was the same, which means there was no interaction between the analyzed factors.

Odor Discrimination in Classical PER Conditioning

Odor discrimination were tested in bees from scent pre-exposed hives H3 and H4 (H3: $N_F = 51$, $N_{NF} = 49$; H4: $N_F = 29$, $N_{NF} = 30$) under PER conditioning procedure. Global Discrimination Index (DI) was defined for each bee as the number of trial pairs the bee succeeded in discriminating between the two odors, in other



words, if it extended its proboscis towards the CS+ but not to the CS- (Mengoni Goñalons et al., 2016). No difference was found during the acquisition between the two behavioral groups of bees (**Figure 3A**, Supplementary Table S3; ACQ_{H3+H4}~Trial+1|Bee). However, the acquisition level reached by the follower bees at the last trial was between 10% and 15% higher than by the non-followers, in both hives (H3: F = 73%, NF = 63%; H4: F = 72%, NF = 57%). During the testing phase, the follower bees exhibited a higher Conditioning Response (CR) to CS+ than the non-follower ones (**Figure 3B**, Supplementary Table S4; TEST_{H3+H4}~Behavior, Z = -2.724, p = 0.00646). Therefore, followers showed better memory retention than the non-follower when they were evaluated 15 min after the olfactory conditioning.

DISCUSSION

Through PER assays, we evaluated olfactory and gustatory responsiveness besides the ability to discriminate odors through classical conditioning in honey bee workers with different probabilities to be recruited as foragers. A brief time after capturing both dance follower and non-follower bees showed similar SOR levels but significant differences in the sucrose responsiveness and odor memory retention. Specifically, dance followers presented higher gustatory responsiveness (higher GRS levels) and better memory retention after olfactory conditioning than non-followers.

We did not take into account the age of the experimental bees in this study. Previous reports suggest that age seems not to be relevant within this social context. For instance, individualized bees that followed dances showed a wide age range (i.e., from 9 to 32 days old; Balbuena et al., 2012). Likewise, a recent study evaluated the sucrose responsiveness of hive bees captured from the dance floor or delivery area within an age interval of 2–15 days old (Mengoni Goñalons et al., 2016). No age-dependent relationship was found for the sucrose responsiveness measured at the per setup in that study. In this sense, the gustative responsiveness of honey bees may be affected by the informational context where individuals were caught from (i.e., dance floor) more than by their age. Indeed, Martinez and Farina (2008) showed that hive bees captured after receiving food from a donor bee presented different sucrose responsiveness according to the food quality received during the oral contact.

In the present study, bees captured in the dance context (following dances but did not interact orally with a dancer) showed higher gustatory responsiveness compared with those bees captured at a distance of 10-20 cm from the dancer. High GRS values correlate positively with improved performances during olfactory conditioning as it was previously reported (Scheiner et al., 2004; Mengoni Goñalons and Farina, 2015). Consistent with this evidence, we found that dance followers showed improved levels of memory retention after an olfactory PER conditioning. However, when sucrose responsiveness correlates with memory retention, also correlates with learning performance (Scheiner et al., 2001, 2004; Mengoni Goñalons and Farina, 2015). Here, we only found a correlation between memory retention and gustatory responsiveness. Those previous studies used absolute conditioning procedures to test it. In this study, differential conditioning has been used. This protocol evaluates the ability to associate an odor to a reward, but also the capacity to distinguish it from another which is not linked to an unconditioned appetitive stimulus. Here, our unrewarded odor, CS-, is the same odor used that we used as the hive odor and it would represent a nonappetitive context for the experimental subjects. Thus, the differences in response to rewarded and

unrewarded odors would be bigger for those bees that are more motivated to acquire appetitive information. Although it was not significant, this tendency can be observed at the end of the learning performance for dance followers and clearly visualized while the trained odors were tested 15 min later. It is worth mentioning that we only evaluated memory retention at a medium-term scale. It is expected that highly motivated individuals not only learn faster but also recall longer, an issue which was not cover in the present study.

Changes in the motivation and attention levels of the dance followers would turn out to be more sensitive to any other environmental stimuli, a fact that might facilitate the decoding of spatial information transmitted as well as the acquisition of incidental cues such as floral odors carried by the waggle dancer. The role of the early odor-rewarded experiences acquired in the beehive as a stimulus that facilitates the decoding of waggle dance information at elder ages has been suggested (Balbuena et al., 2012). In that study, honey bees preferred to follow dancers scented with an early exposed and rewarded odorant, and even they were recruited to the feeding site scented with the early experienced odors more successful. As the presence of reward affects physiological states in honey bees within a short-term period (Hammer, 1997), the most vigorous dances, which indicate the presence of a highly profitable food source, might represent appetitive stimuli that facilitate a prompt acquisition of information within the dance context.

This study shows a correlation between sensory and cognitive performances and behavioral category based on the dance

REFERENCES

- Akaike, H. (1973). "Information theory as an extension of the maximum likelihood principle," in *Second International Symposium on Information Theory*, eds B. N. Petrov and F. Csaki (Budapest: Akademiai Kiado), 267–281.
- Balbuena, M. S., Arenas, A., and Farina, W. M. (2012). Floral scents learned inside the honeybee hive have a long-lasting effect on recruitment. *Anim. Behav.* 84, 77–83. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2012.04.008
- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., and Walker, S.. (2015). Fitting linear mixedeffects models using lme4. J. Stat. Softw. 67:22171. doi: 10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Biesmeijer, J. C., and de Vries, H. (2001). Exploration and exploitation of food sources by social insect colonies: a revision of the scout-recruit concept. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 49, 89–99. doi: 10.1007/s002650000289
- Biesmeijer, J. C., and Seeley, T. (2005). The use of waggle dance information by honey bees throughout their foraging careers. *Behav. Ecol.* 59, 133–142. doi: 10.1007/s00265-005-0019-6
- Bitterman, M. E., Menzel, R., Fietz, A., and Schäfer, S. (1983). Classicalconditioning of proboscis extension in honeybees (*Apis mellifera*). J. Comp. Psychol. 97, 107–119. doi: 10.1037/0735-7036.97.2.107
- Božič, J., and Valentinčič, T. (1991). Attendants and followers of honey bee waggle dances. J. Apicult. Res. 30, 125–131. doi: 10.1080/00218839.1991.11101246
- Burnham, K. P., and Anderson, D. R. (2002). Model Selection and Multimodel Inference: A Practical Information-Theoretic Approach. 2nd Edn. Berlin: Springer.
- De Marco, R. J. (2006). How bees tune their colony's nectar influx: re-examinating the role of the food receivers' 'eagerness'. *J. Exp. Biol.* 209, 421–432. doi: 10.1242/jeb.02025
- Díaz, P. C., Grüter, C., and Farina, W. M. (2007). Floral scents affect the distribution of hive bees around dancers. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 61, 1589–1597. doi: 10.1007/s00265-007-0391-5

context. Nevertheless, it does not show if there is a causal relationship. To do that, the life history of individual bees should be considered to determine whether bees with a low gustatory responsiveness tend to follow dances or even whether the sucrose responsiveness changes after dance following. Our results are a first approach to understand abilities of the dance surrounding bees, but this issue requires further analysis.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MAM, MSB and WMF contributed to the conception and design of the study and contributed to the drafting and revision of the manuscript and approved the final version. MAM and MSB conducted the experiments. MAM analyzed the data.

FUNDING

The authors would like to acknowledge funding support from Consejo Nacional de Investigaciones Científicas y Técnicas (CONICET). This study was partly supported by grants from Agencia Nacional de Promoción Científica y Tecnológica (ANPCYT), University of Buenos Aires and CONICET to WMF.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnbeh. 2018. 00074/full#supplementary-material

- Farina, W. M. (2000). The interplay between dancing and throphallactic behavior. J. Comp. Physiol. A 186, 239–245. doi: 10.1007/s003590050424
- Farina, W. M., Grüter, C., Acosta, L., and Mc Cabe, S. (2007). Honeybees learn floral odors while receiving nectar from foragers within the hive. *Naturwissenschaften* 94, 55–60. doi: 10.1007/s00114-006-0157-3
- Farina, W. M., Grüter, C., and Díaz, P. C. (2005). Social learning of floral odours inside the honeybee hive. *Proc. Biol. Sci.* 272, 1923–1928. doi: 10.1098/rspb. 2005.3172
- Frings, H. (1944). The loci of olfactory end organs in the honeybee Apis mellifera Linn. J. Exp. Zool. 97, 123–134. doi: 10.1002/jez.1400970203
- Grüter, C., and Farina, W. M. (2009). The honeybee waggle dance: can we follow the steps? *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 24, 242–247. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2008.12.007
- Guerrieri, F., Schubert, M., Sandoz, J. C., and Giurfa, M. (2005). Perceptual and neural olfactory similarity in honeybees. *PLoS Biol.* 3:e60. doi: 10.1371/journal. pbio.0030060
- Hammer, M. (1997). The neural basis of associative reward learning in honeybees. *Trends Neurosci.* 20, 245–252. doi: 10.1016/s0166-2236(96)01019-3
- Judd, T. M. (1994). The waggle dance of the honey bee: which bees following a dancer successfully acquire the information? *J. Insect Behav.* 8, 343–354. doi: 10.1007/bf01989363
- Katz, K., and Naug, D. (2016). Dancers and followers in a honeybee colony differently prioritize individual and colony nutritional needs. *Anim. Behav.* 119, 69–74. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2016.06.011
- Knudsen, J. T., Tollsten, L., and Gunnar Bergström, L. (1993). Floral scents, a checklist of volatile compounds isolated by head-space techniques. *Phytochem.* 33, 253–280. doi: 10.1016/0031-9422(93)85502-i
- Lindauer, M. (1954). Temperaturregulierung und wasserhaushalt im bienenstaat. Z. Vergl. Physiol. 36, 391–432. doi: 10.1007/bf00345028
- Martinez, A., and Farina, W. M. (2008). Honeybees modify gustatory responsiveness after receiving nectar from foragers within the hive. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 62, 529–535. doi: 10.1007/s00265-007-0477-0

- Matsumoto, Y., Menzel, R., Sandoz, J. C., and Giurfa, M. J. (2012). Revisiting olfactory classical conditioning of the proboscis extension response in honey bees: a step toward standardized procedures. J. Neurosci. Methods 211, 159–167. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2012.08.018
- Mc Cabe, S. I., Hartfelder, K., Santana, W. C., and Farina, W. M. (2007). Odor discrimination in classical conditioning of proboscis extension in two stingless bee species in comparison to Africanized honeybees. J. Comp. Physiol. A 193, 1089–1099. doi: 10.1007/s00359-007-0260-8
- Mengoni Goñalons, C., and Farina, W. M. (2015). Effects of sublethal doses of imidacloprid on young adult honeybee behavior. *PLoS One* 10:e0140814. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0140814
- Mengoni Goñalons, C., Guiraud, M., de Brito Sanchez, M. G., and Farina, W. M. (2016). Insulin effects on honeybee appetitive behavior. *J. Exp. Biol.* 219, 3003–3008. doi: 10.1242/jeb.143511
- Michelsen, A. G. (2003). Signals and flexibility in the dance communication of honeybees. J. Comp. Physiol. A 189, 165–174. doi: 10.1007/s00359-003-0398-y
- Nouvian, M., Hotier, L., Claudianos, C., Giurfa, M., and Reinhard, J. (2015). Appetitive floral odours prevent aggression in honeybees. *Nat. Commun.* 6:10247. doi: 10.1038/ncomms10247
- Page, R. E. Jr., Erber, J., and Fondrk, M. K. (1998). The effect of genotype on response thresholds to sucrose and foraging behavior of honey bees (*Apis mellifera L.*). J. Comp. Physiol. A 182, 489–500. doi: 10.1007/s003590050196
- Pankiw, T., Nelson, M., Page, R. E., and Fondrk, M. (2004). The communal crop: modulation of sucrose response thresholds of pre-foraging honey bees with incoming nectar quality. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 55, 286–292. doi: 10.1007/s00265-003-0714-0
- Raguso, R. A., and Pichersky, E. (1999). A day in life of a linalool molecule: chemical communication in a plant-pollinator system. Part 1: linalool biosynthesis in flowering plants. *Plant Species Biol.* 14, 95–120. doi: 10.1046/j. 1442-1984.1999.00014.x
- Ramírez, G. P., Martínez, A. S., Fernández, V. M., Corti Bielsa, G., and Farina, W. M. (2010). The influence of gustatory and olfactory experiences on responsiveness to reward in the honeybee. *PLoS One* 10:e13498. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0013498
- R Development Core Team. (2011). *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing*. Vienna, Austria: The R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Available online at: http://www.R-project.org/

- Robinson, G. E. (1987). Alarm pheromone perception in the honey bee: evidence for division of labor based on hormonally modulated response thresholds. *J. Comp. Physiol. A* 160, 613–619. doi: 10.1007/bf00611934
- Robinson, G., and Page, R. (1989). Genetic determination of nectar foraging, pollen foraging, and nest-site scouting in honeybee colonies. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 24, 317–323. doi: 10.1007/bf00290908
- Scheiner, R., Page, R. E. Jr., and Erber, J. (2001). Responsiveness to sucrose affects tactile and olfactory learning in preforaging honey bees of two genetic strains. *Behav. Brain Res.* 120, 67–73. doi: 10.1016/s0166-4328(00)00359-4
- Scheiner, R., Page, R. E., and Erber, J. (2004). Sucrose responsiveness and behavioral plasticity in honey bees (*Apis mellifera*). *Apidologie* 35, 133–142. doi: 10.1051/apido:2004001
- Seeley, T. D. (1989). Social foraging in honey bees: how nectar foragers assess their colony's nutritional status. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 24, 181–199. doi: 10.1007/bf00292101
- Seeley, T. D. (1995). The Wisdom of the Hive: The Social Physiology of Honey Bee Colonies. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Tautz, J., and Lindauer, M. (1997). Honeybees establish and maintain specific sites on the comb for their waggle dances. J. Comp. Physiol. 180, 537–539. doi: 10.1007/s003590050070
- Thom, C., Gilley, D. C., Hooper, J., and Esch, H. E. (2007). The scent of the waggle dance. *PLoS Biol.* 5:e228. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.0050228
- von Frisch, K. (1923). Über die 'Sprache' der Bienen. Zool. Jahrb. 40, 1–186.
- von Frisch, K. (1967). The Dance Language and Orientation of Bees. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Zuur, A., Ieno, E. N., and Smith, G. M. (2007). *Analyzing Ecological Data*. New York, NY: Springer Science and Business Media.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Moauro, Balbuena and Farina. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Octopamine Shifts the Behavioral Response From Indecision to Approach or Aversion in *Drosophila melanogaster*

Gerbera Claßen and Henrike Scholz*

Department of Biology, Institute for Zoology, Biocenter, Albertus-Magnus University of Cologne, Cologne, Germany

Animals must make constant decisions whether to respond to external sensory stimuli or not to respond. The activation of positive and/or negative reinforcers might bias the behavioral response towards approach or aversion. To analyze whether the activation of the octopaminergic neurotransmitter system can shift the decision between two identical odor sources, we active in Drosophila melanogaster different sets of octopaminergic neurons using optogenetics and analyze the choice of the flies using a binary odor trap assay. We show that the release of octopamine from a set of neurons and not acetylcholine acts as positive reinforcer for one food odor source resulting in attraction. The activation of a subset of these neurons causes the opposite behavior and results in aversion. This aversion is due to octopamine release and not tyramine, since in Tyramine- β -hydroxylase mutants (T β h) lacking octopamine, the aversion is suppressed. We show that when given the choice between two different attractive food odor sources the activation of the octopaminergic neurotransmitter system switches the attraction for ethanol-containing food odor to a less attractive food odor. Consistent with the requirement for octopamine in biasing the behavioral outcome, $T\beta h$ mutants fail to switch their attraction. The execution of attraction does not require octopamine but rather initiation of the behavior or a switch of the behavioral response. The attraction to ethanol also depends on octopamine. Pharmacological increases in octopamine signaling in $T\beta h$ mutants increase ethanol attraction and blocking octopamine receptor function reduces ethanol attraction. Taken together, octopamine in the central brain orchestrates behavioral outcomes by biasing the decision of the animal towards food odors. This finding might uncover a basic principle of how octopamine gates behavioral outcomes in the brain.

Keywords: octopamine, T β h, attraction, aversion, decision making, ethanol attraction, food odor

INTRODUCTION

Animals must make constant decisions whether to respond to external sensory stimuli or not to respond. Depending on the internal condition of the animals, they might respond with approach, indifference or aversion. The observed indifference could be due to the inability to perceive the sensory information, the meaninglessness of the information, and/or the inability to decide to which information to respond. Other reasons for showing indifference include the inability of animals

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gérard Manière, Université de Bourgogne, France

Reviewed by:

Yael Grosjean, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS), France Thomas Roeder, Christian-Albrechts-Universität zu Kiel, Germany

> *Correspondence: Henrike Scholz

henrike.scholz@uni-koeln.de

Received: 18 April 2018 Accepted: 11 June 2018 Published: 03 July 2018

Citation:

Claßen G and Scholz H (2018) Octopamine Shifts the Behavioral Response From Indecision to Approach or Aversion in Drosophila melanogaster. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 12:131. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2018.00131 to translate the decision into motor output and the inability to execute the locomotion required to fulfill the task. The activation of positive and/or negative reinforcers might bias the behavioral response towards approach or aversion.

In nature, Drosophila melanogaster is attracted to ethanolenriched fermenting food sources (Dudley, 2002; Zhu et al., 2003). For example, female flies search for and prefer fermenting food sources as a substrate to lay their eggs (Richmond and Gerking, 1979; Azanchi et al., 2013). The search for food sources depends on olfactory cues (Chow and Frye, 2009). Given the choice between two similar attractive food odor sources, male and female Drosophila are more attracted to ethanol-enriched food odors than to a similar odor without ethanol (Ogueta et al., 2010). The low ethanol concentration that elicits approach functions as a key odorant in the food odor mixture (Giang et al., 2017). The approach depends on the positive reinforcing action of the octopaminergic/tyraminergic neurotransmitter system, as neuronal activation of neurons expressing tyrosine decarboxylase 2 (dTdc2)-the enzyme required for tyramine and indirectly for octopamine synthesis (Cole et al., 2005)-results in attraction (Schneider et al., 2012). The voluntary movement to the site of neuronal activation resembles the voluntary self-administration of electric shocks into the rodent brain that are perceived by the animal as rewarding and uncover the function of reinforcing properties in the brain (Olds and Milner, 1954; Schneider et al., 2012). The optogenetic activating pattern used to stimulate reinforcing tyraminergic/octopaminergic neurons in Drosophila brain resemble the high and low frequency of activity observed in the octopaminergic VUMmx1 neuron of the honey bee carrying information of the unconditioned stimulus in olfactory associative appetitive reward learning (Hammer, 1993; Schneider et al., 2012). Activation of the tyraminergic/octopaminergic neurotransmitter system is not only sufficient to cause a bias, but it also might be required for the attraction. Tyramine- β -hydroxylase mutants (more specifically the $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutant)—lacking detectable level of octopamine and with increased TA levels-do not show ethanol-induced site attraction (Monastirioti et al., 1996; Schneider et al., 2012). The loss of attraction is not due to the loss of odorant perception (Schneider et al., 2012), although octopamine might modulate sensory input. For example, octopamine has been shown to reduce the sensory response of bitter-sensing neurons (LeDue et al., 2016).

The octopaminergic neurotransmitter system acts also as a positive reinforcer in other behaviors, such as positive associative olfactory learning and memory in *Drosophila*, (Schwaerzel et al., 2003). However, there is also evidence that the octopaminergic neurotransmitter system might function as a negative reinforcer in the regulation of behavior, as the octopaminergic neurotransmitter system suppresses courtship conditioning (Zhou et al., 2012). Therefore, the octopaminergic neurotransmitter system might do both: function as a positive and negative reinforcer depending on the behavior or condition analyzed. In a more neutral/general way, the octopaminergic neurotransmitter system might function by selecting the right behavioral response or deciding what stimulus to respond to when multiple types of information are presented.

Evidence that octopamine acts as positive and negative regulator is also derived from observations of other insects. In locusts, octopamine release at one site of the ventral nerve cord evokes bouts of rhythmic flight motor activity and at another site suppresses neuronal activity related to oviposition behavior (Sombati and Hoyle, 1984). These results led Sombati and Hoyle (1984) to propose the "orchestration hypothesis" to describe the function of octopamine. For every set of a behavior, a neuronal network exists that can be selectively activated or inhibited by the release of octopamine and therefore allow suppression of opposing behaviors, such as the initiation of flight and suppression of egg laying (Sombati and Hoyle, 1984). However, whether similar selection processes also work in the central brain to modify behavioral output has not been investigated.

To investigate whether the octopaminergic neurotransmitter system is also required in the selection of behavioral programs in the central brain of Drosophila, we first addressed whether octopamine can act as negative and positive reinforcer for an odor-guided behavior that involves decision making. To evaluate whether the fly makes a decision, we used a binary choice assay consisting of two odor traps filled with the same food odor to control for the same sensory input. We activated different sets of tyraminergic/octopaminergic neurons using optogenetics and analyzed the consequences of this activation on the choice of the fly to enter a food odor trap. We next addressed whether indeed octopamine and not tyramine mediated these behavioral choices by introducing $T\beta h^{n\dot{M}18}$ mutants lacking octopamine to the same condition. We show that octopamine functions as a positive and negative reinforcer in odor-evoked behaviors depending on the sets of neurons that are activated. We provide evidence that the activation pattern used for optogenetic activation does not influence the function of the reinforcer. To analyze whether octopamine release shifts the behavioral outcome, we activated the octopaminergic neurons in the presence of a less attractive food odor in comparison to a more attractive ethanol-enriched food odor. We show that the release of octopamine is required to shift the attractiveness of an attractive food odor source to a less attractive food odor source. We further provide evidence that the attraction of ethanol-enriched food odors also requires the release of octopamine by pharmacologically altering octopamine levels and interfering with octopamine receptor function. Taken together, we provide evidence that octopamine is required to select behavioral responses and that the "orchestration of different behavioral circuits underlying behavioral elements" in the central brain is also mediated by octopamine.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Fly Stocks

Flies were raised and kept on an ethanol-free standard cornmeal/molasses/yeast/agar medium on 12-h/12-h light/dark cycle at 25°C with 60% humidity. Flies carrying transposable elements were backcrossed for at least five generations to the w^{1118} maintained in the laboratory to isogenize the genetic

background. The following fly lines were used: w^{1118} , $T\beta h^{nM18}$ (Monastirioti et al., 1996), *norpA*-; *UAS*-ChR2; *UAS*-ChR2 (Schneider et al., 2012), w^{1118} ; *UAS*-ReaChR; *UAS*-ReaChR (Inagaki et al., 2014), w^{1118} ; *dTdc2-Gal4* (Cole et al., 2005) and *ChAT-Gal80* (Kitamoto, 2002) and w^{1118} ; *6.2_2-T\betah-Gal 4* (Schneider et al., 2012).

Optogenetic Site Attraction Assay

Flies expressing channelrhodopsin (ChR) or red activatable ChR were raised on food with 200 μ l 250 mM all-*trans* retinal (ATR) dissolved in 100% ethanol or 200 μ l 100% ethanol in the dark. Fifty three- to five-day-old male flies were collected using CO₂ anesthesia and recovered in the dark for at least 24 h in the presence of food with either 100 μ l 100% ethanol or 100 μ l 250 mM ATR. The behavioral experiments were performed as previously described (Schneider et al., 2012). Briefly, flies were given the choice between two odor traps filled with 1.5 ml of apple-mango-juice (Alnatura, Germany GTIN: 4104420071841) for 19 h overnight in the dark at 25°C and 60% humidity.

Both traps were illuminated with two different LEDs with the same intensity ranging from 800 lux to 1700 lux. For the blue light-inducible ChRs, the following two diodes were used: a blue light LED (465–485 nm, Cree, Germany) and a warm white LED (Cree, XLAMP, XR_E LED with 2600–3700K CCT) combined with a blue light filter (high pass filter, 510 nm, HEBO, Aalen, Germany) resulting in yellow light. For the redshifted ChR, the following diodes were used: a blue light LED (465–485 nm, Cree, Germany) and an amber light LED (465–485 nm, Cree, Germany) and an amber light LED (595 nm, Cree, XRCAMB-L1-0000-00J01). All LEDs repeated the activation pattern of 2 s 40 Hz, 16 s 8 Hz and 2 s 0 Hz for 19 h. The next day, the attraction index (AI) was calculated.

Olfactory Attraction Assay

The assay was performed as described previously (Ogueta et al., 2010). Briefly, 50 1- to 3-day-old male flies were collected using CO₂ anesthesia and recovered from the treatment for at least 24 h. The experiments were conducted for 19 h overnight at 25°C and 60% humidity on a cold white light plate or when using ChR on a dark surface. To determine ethanol attraction, flies choose between apple-mango juice and 5% ethanol-enriched applemango-juice. Prior to the test, flies were fed with different drugs as follows. The control group was fed on a solution containing 5% sucrose/5% red food color on filter paper. The experimental group received the same food with the drug. If not mentioned otherwise, the flies were starved for 3 h before treatment without any access to water. The concentration of 53 mM octopamine was fed for 1 h (300 µl), 50 mM clonidine for 3 h (200 µl), 200 nM naphazoline for 3 h (200 μ l) and 25 mM yohimbine for 2 h (300 μ l). Non-starved flies were fed with 3 mM epinastine for 2 days (300 μ l, daily remoistening of the filter paper) or with 345 mM tyramine (without 5% sucrose) for 18 h. For the ethanol pre-feeding experiments, flies were fed with 10% ethanol for 30 min (200 μ l) after they were starved overnight in the presence of moistened filter paper. Flies were recovered in the presence of moistened filter paper (200 μ l) to avoid intoxication during the behavioral experiments for 3.5 h.

Statistical Analysis

Errors represent the standard error of the mean (SEM). Bars labeled with the letter "a" indicate differences from random choice as determined with a one-sample sign test. Because the data were normally distributed for comparison of two experimental groups, Student's *T*-test was used. For more than two groups, ANOVA and the Tukey-Kramer *post hoc* test were used. The significance levels are indicated as follows: **P* < 0.05, ***P* < 0.01 and ****P* < 0.001.

RESULTS

In a binary choice assay, flies choose between two equal food odor traps (Ogueta et al., 2010). The presence of an attractive key odorant within the food odor biases the decision to move towards and enter the food odor trap containing the key odorant (Giang et al., 2017). The attraction for one odor trap in comparison to an equal second food odor trap can also be induced by activation of tyraminergic/octopaminergic neurons using the UAS-ChR2 transgene under the control of the dTdc2-Gal4 driver (Schneider et al., 2012; Figure 1A). For these experiments, one odor trap is illuminated with blue light, resulting in activation of neurons expressing ChR2 in the presence of ATR, and the second odor trap is illuminated with yellow light with the same intensity to avoid a bias based on difference in light intensity (Figure 1A). To elicit the reinforcing properties of the tyraminergic/octopaminergic neurons, we used a sequence of light stimulation of 40 Hz for 2 s, 8 Hz for 16 s followed by 2 s of no light. This activation pattern mimics the response of the reinforcing VUMmx1 neuron in honey bees (Hammer, 1993; Schneider et al., 2012).

The Activation of Octopaminergic Neurons Is Sufficient and Required for Attraction

The dTdc2-Gal4 line drives transgene expression in at least 137 neurons (Busch et al., 2009). To narrow down the subset of neurons sufficient to induce site attraction, we restricted the expression of the dTdc2-Gal4 driver using the ChAT-Gal80 driver (Kitamoto, 2002; Figure 1B). The expression of the Gal80 repressor resulted in the expression of transgenes in 34 neurons in the brain, including 3-5 VUM neurons per segment and neurons within the G0b, G2b G3a/AL2, G3b, G5a and G5b, 5c clusters (see Supplementary Figure S1 in Schneider et al., 2012). Activation of these restricted sets of neurons using the UAS-ChR2 transgene under the control of the dTdc2-Gal4 driver combined with the ChAT-Gal80 driver did not result in site attraction (Figure 1B). The dTdc2 enzyme is required for the synthesis of tyramine and therefore indirectly required for octopamine synthesis (Cole et al., 2005). The dTdc2-Gal4 line drives transgene expression in octopamineexpressing and 41 T\u00b3h-positive neurons in the brain (Busch et al., 2009; Schneider et al., 2012). To address whether octopamine elicits attraction, we performed a similar experiment in $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants. The $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants lack the T β h isoform that converts tyramine into octopamine and have no detectable levels of octopamine, but 8-fold significantly



FIGURE 1 | Activation of tyraminergic/cotopaminergic/cholinergic neurons results in attraction. (A) Schematic of the site attraction assay (modified after Schneider et al., 2012). Two LEDs with the same light intensity but different wavelengths illuminate two similar odor traps with the same flicker frequency of 2 s at 40 Hz, 16 s at 8 Hz and 2 s at 0 Hz. If not otherwise indicated, this pattern was used for activation. The attraction index (AI) describes the fly number in the blue-illuminated odor trap minus the fly number in the yellow-illuminated odor trap in comparison to the total number of flies. (B) Neuronal activation using the *UAS-ChR2* under the control of the decarboxylase 2 (*dTdc2*)-Gal4 driver elicits site attraction for the blue illuminated odor trap (AIs of the control and experimental group: 0.21 ± 0.14 and 0.6 ± 0.12, respectively; n = 34, 31). Removing the activation of cholinergic neurons by combining the *dTdc2*-Gal4 driver with the *ChAT*-Gal80 driver eliminates site attraction (AIs for the control and experimental group: 0.08 ± 0.16 and -0.05 ± 0.17 , respectively; n = 25, 23). (C) Activation of the *UAS*-ChR2 transgene in a *dTdc2*-Gal4-dependent manner in *TBhn^{M1B}* mutants elicits site aversion (AIs of the control and experimental group: -0.05 ± 0.14 and -0.48 ± 0.15 , respectively; n = 15, 12, and AIs at 8 Hz in the control and experimental group: -0.09 ± 0.11 and -0.55 ± 0.08 , respectively; n = 20, 19). (D) Removal of *UAS*-ChR2 transgene activation by expression of *ChAT*-Gal80 eliminates aversion (AIs of the control and experimental group: -0.07 ± 0.14 and -0.03 ± 0.13 , respectively; n = 16, 16). Errors are SEM. The letter "a" indicates differences from random choice as determined by the one-sample sign test. Student's *T*-test was used to determine differences between two groups. **P* < 0.05 and ***P* < 0.05. For data, see **Supplementary Table S1**.

increased levels of tyramine (Monastirioti et al., 1996). Activation of dTdc2-Gal4-targeted neurons in a $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutant background lacking octopamine resulted in loss of attraction and significant site aversion using two different activation frequencies (Figure 1C). This result suggests that octopamine release mediated attraction. The observed aversion might be due to increased tyramine levels or other neurotransmitter that were co-expressed in tyraminergic/octopaminergic neurons. To test whether activation of acetylcholine transferase (ChAT)positive neurons elicits aversion, expression of the dTdc2-Gal4 driver in the $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutant background was restricted using the ChAT-Gal80 driver (Figure 1D) to reduce transgene expression to 16 neurons in the brain, including a subset of VUM neurons and neurons of the G3a/AL2 and G3b cluster (Schneider et al., 2012; see Supplementary Figure S1). Repression of activation in cholinergic neurons resulted in a loss of aversion, indicating that activation of ChAT-positive neurons mediated the aversion. Taken together, the results suggest that octopamine release from acetylcholine co-expressing neurons mediates attraction.

Activation of a Subset of Octopaminergic Neurons Is Sufficient and Required for Aversion

We next addressed whether activation of a subset of neurons included in the expression pattern of the dTdc2-Gal4 driver line also resulted in attraction. Therefore, we expressed the ChR2 transgene in three VUMa4 neurons in the SOG using the 6.2-*T* β *h*-Gal4 driver (**Figure 2**). The 6.2-*T* β *h*-Gal4 driver targets transgene expression in the three VUMa4 neurons and also to non-Tβh positive neurons (Schneider et al., 2012). In contrast to the whole set of VUM neurons included in the expression pattern of the *dTdc2*-Gal4 driver, the activation of neurons in 6.2-*T* β *h*-Gal4 dependent manner resulted in significant aversion to the site of blue light activation (Figure 2A). Activation of a subset of dopaminergic neurons using the TH-Gal4 driver resulted in aversion (Schneider et al., 2012). To exclude that the observed aversion was due to activation of dopaminergic neurons, we combined the 6.2- $T\beta h$ -Gal4 with the TH-Gal80 driver to suppress expression in putative dopaminergic neurons (Figure 2A). Here, neuronal activation still resulted in significant



FIGURE 2 Octopamine release causes aversion. (A) Neuronal activation under the control of the $6.2-T\beta$ h-Gal4 driver elicits site aversion (Als of the control and experimental group: 0.02 ± 0.14 and -0.41 ± 0.13 , respectively; n = 22, 19). Removal of the activation of dopaminergic neurons by combining the $6.2-T\beta$ h-Gal4 driver with the *TH*-Gal80 driver does not influence aversion (Als for the control and experimental group: 0.1 ± 0.12 and -0.49 ± 0.14 , respectively; n = 14, 14). Removing ChAT positive neurons by using the *ChAT*-Gal80 in combination with the $6.2-T\beta$ h-Gal4 driver resulted in loss of aversion (Als of control and experimental group: -0.14 ± 0.17 and -0.08 ± 0.21 respectively; n = 13, 11). (B) Activation of the *UAS*-ChR2 transgene under the control of $6.2-T\beta$ h-Gal4 in $T\beta$ h^{mM18} mutants eliminates aversion (Als of the control and experimental group: -0.17 ± 0.1 and -0.19 ± 0.08 , respectively; n = 20, 19). For activation, the flicker frequency of 2 s at 40 Hz, 16 s at 8 Hz and 2 s at 0 Hz was used. Errors are SEM. Differences from random choice were determined using the one-sample sign test and are indicated by the letter "a". Student's *T*-test was used to determine differences between two groups. *P < 0.05. For data, see **Supplementary Table S2**.

aversion (**Figure 2A**). Restriction of the Gal4 expression pattern of the 6.2- $T\beta$ h-Gal4 driver to non-cholinergic neurons using the *ChAT*-Gal80 driver resulted in loss of aversion showing that activation of ChAT positive neurons mediate aversion (**Figure 2A**). To investigate whether the observed aversion was also regulated by octopamine release, we activated neurons targeted by the 6.2- $T\beta$ h-GAL4 driver in $T\beta$ h^{nM18} mutants lacking octopamine (**Figure 2B**). Here, the activation did not elicit site aversion or attraction. Therefore, the results suggests that octopamine can also mediate aversion depending on the sets of octopaminergic neurons activated.

The Frequency and Intensity of Light Activation Influences the Behavioral Outcome

The frequency used to activate the *UAS*-ChR2 transgene mimicked the frequency used to depolarize the VUMmx1 neuron in honey bees (Hammer, 1993; Schneider et al., 2012). The depolarization with electrodes in honey bees and the activation of the UAS-ChR2 transgene in *Drosophila* using optogenetics with this frequency was sufficient to elicit the reinforcer (Hammer, 1993; Schneider et al., 2012). To further investigate whether the observed site attraction or site aversion was caused by a specific activation frequency, we used different light flicker frequencies

with a constant intensity to activate the UAS-ChR2 transgene in a *dTdc2-GAL4*-dependent manner and analyzed the consequence of this activation on site attraction (Figure 3). Neither the short pulse of 40 Hz nor the long pulse of 8 Hz was sufficient to result in site attraction (Figure 3A). We next tested the average frequency of 11.5 Hz. The flicker pattern still did not result in site attraction. A reduction of 40-20 Hz within the 40-8 Hz pattern was sufficient to elicit a significant attraction. The observed frequency-dependent site attraction suggested that either a specific frequency or the kinetics of the transgene influenced the behavioral outcome. We next tested whether there was a similar frequency dependence behavioral outcome when using the 6.2-T β h-Gal4 driver (Figure 3B). Activation of the UAS-ChR2 transgene with an 8-Hz pulse followed by 4 s in the dark in a 6.2-T β h-Gal4-dependent manner was sufficient to elicit site aversion. However, neither the reduction to 20 Hz for 2 s followed by 8 Hz for 16 s nor the activation by only 40 Hz resulted in site aversion. Next, we addressed whether the intensity of the light influenced the activation of the transgene (Supplementary Figure S1, Table S6). The flicker sequence used for activation was kept constant with a pattern of 40 Hz for 2 s followed by 8 Hz for 16 s. Changing the light intensity for neuron activation resulted in site attraction in a dTdc2-GAL4-dependent manner; however, the degree of attraction as measured in AI varied from 0.3 to 0.6. Changing the light



 -0.05 ± 0.17 and -0.77 ± 0.05 , respectively; n = 18, 17). Errors are SEM. Differences from random choice as determined by the one-sample sign test are labeled with the letter "a". Student's *T*-test was used to determine differences between two groups with significance levels as follows: *P < 0.05, ***P < 0.001. For data, see **Supplementary Table S3**.

intensity for neuron activation in a 6.2- $T\beta h$ -Gal4-dependent manner only resulted in differences between the control and experimental group when neurons were activated with 1200 lux (**Supplementary Figure S1B**). Thus, the activation frequencies of the *UAS*-ChR2 transgene and light intensities influence the behavioral outcome.

To address, independent of the kinetics of the blue light sensitivity of the ChR2 transgene, whether neuronal activation

of tyraminergic/octopaminergic neurons induced site attraction, we used the UAS-ReaChR transgene for neuronal activation (Figure 3C; Inagaki et al., 2014). The ReaChR encodes a redshifted channel rhodopsin variant with an activation light spectrum between orange and red, higher photocurrents and faster kinetics (Lin et al., 2013). Activation of neurons using the UAS-ReaChR transgene in a dTdc2-Gal4-dependent manner was sufficient to elicit site attraction, when the

tyramine/octopamine-positive neurons were activated by amber light (**Figure 3C**). All tested activation patterns resulted in attraction. In addition, activation of neurons with three different flicker frequencies in a 6.2- $T\beta h$ -Gal4-dependent manner caused site aversion (**Figure 3D**). Therefore, the activation pattern of the neurons did not appear to be frequency-dependent but rather based on the kinetic of the transgene. Independent of the transgene, the activation of neurons in a dTdc2-Gal4-dependent manner was sufficient to elicit site attraction, and activation of neurons in a 6.2- $T\beta h$ -Gal4-dependent manner was sufficient to elicit site aversion.

Octopaminergic Neurons Are Required to Switch the Behavioral Response

The release of octopamine from acetylcholine co-expressing neurons mediates attraction for the site of neuronal activation. The site attraction could be due to reinforcement or due to a behavioral switch. To test whether the octopamine release reinforced the positive association with one site of the behavioral choice paradigm, we wanted to analyze whether octopamine release could increase a pre-existing attraction. Normally flies show attraction to 5% ethanol-enriched food odors when given the choice between food odor and ethanol-enriched food

odor (Schneider et al., 2012). To analyze whether octopamine release increased this attraction, flies expressing the UAS-ChR2 transgene under the control of the *dTdc2*-Gal4 driver were offered a choice between a food odor trap and a 5% ethanol-enriched food odor trap that was illuminated with neuron-activating flickering blue light (Figure 4A). Activation of tyraminergic/octopaminergic neurons did not significantly increase the attraction for the ethanol-enriched food odor trap. To test whether the activation of tyraminergic/octopaminergic neurons would switch a preexisting ethanol attraction to the site of blue light activation, we enriched the yellow light-illuminated food odor trap with ethanol (Figure 4B). Here, as expected, control flies were significantly more attracted to the ethanol-enriched yellow-illuminated food odor trap. The activation of tyraminergic/octopaminergic neurons significantly suppressed this ethanol attraction, indicating that tyraminergic/octopaminergic neurons are not directly involved in attraction rather mediating the switch between two choices.

To independently address whether octopamine release mediated switches between behavioral elements rather than being directly involved in the execution of behavior, we reanalyzed the choice behavior of $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants (**Figure 4C**). In contrast to control flies, $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants failed to show attraction to 5% ethanol-enriched food odors (Schneider et al.,



FIGURE 4 | Octopaminergic neurotransmitter shifts behavioral outcomes. (A) Neuronal activation using the blue light-sensitive *UAS*-ChR2 transgene in a *dTdc2-Gal4*-dependent manner results in attraction to the blue light-illuminated odor trap. Addition of 5% ethanol to the blue light-illuminated trap did not change this attraction significantly (Als of the control and experimental group: 0.66 ± 0.07 and 0.55 ± 0.1 , respectively, n = 25, 17). (B) Addition of 5% ethanol to the yellow light-illuminated trap results in a significant reduction of the attraction to the blue light-illuminated food odor trap (Als of the control and experimental group: 0.68 ± 0.09 and 0.28 ± 0.15 , respectively, n = 20, 18). (C) Flies normally prefer the 5% ethanol-enriched food odor trap over the plain food odor trap, and $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants differ significantly from the control in their behavior and do not show attraction. Pre-feeding control flies with 10% ethanol-enriched sucrose solution results in a similar degree of attraction to the 5% ethanol-containing food odor trap. Ethanol pre-feeding in $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants results in a significant attraction to the 5% ethanol-containing food odor trap (Als for w^{1118} : 0.44 ± 0.06 and with EtOH: 0.22 ± 0.08 ; for w^{1118} , $T\beta h^{nM18}$: -0.07 ± 0.07 and with EtOH: 0.38 ± 0.06 ; n = 33, 31, 17, 20). The errors are SEM. The differences from random choice were determined using the one sample- sign test, and significance is indicated by the letter "a". Student's *T*-test was applied to determine differences between two groups, and ANOVA followed by Tukey *post hoc* analyses were used for comparisons among more than two groups. Significant differences are indicated as follows: *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01 and ***P < 0.001. For data, see **Supplementary Table S4**.

2012; **Figure 4C**). To address whether $T\beta h^{nM18}$ were unable to show attraction *per se*, we pre-exposed flies to ethanol by feeding a 10% ethanol-enriched 5% sucrose solution for 30 min. After 3.5 h of recovery, the attraction to ethanol-enriched food odors was analyzed in the binary choice assay (Figure 4C). Ethanol pre-fed control flies showed an attraction to ethanol-enriched food odors, and ethanol pre-feeding of $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants resulted in a similar significant ethanol attraction. These results showed that ethanol pre-feeding to $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants restored the attraction to ethanol-containing food odors. Thus, $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants were able to develop the attraction but failed to choose ethanol-enriched food odors in an ethanol naïve choice situation over non-ethanol-containing food odors. Taken together, activation of the octopaminergic/tyraminergic neurotransmitter system can shift the attraction, and $T\beta h^{nM18}$ fail to show ethanol attraction because they cannot shift their behavioral response.

Octopamine Is Required for Ethanol Attraction

To determine whether the loss of ethanol attraction in ethanol naïve $T\beta h^{nM18}$ was due to the loss of octopamine, we performed pharmacological experiments (Figure 5). First, we fed $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants with 53 mM octopamine-a concentration that restored the egg laying defect of the $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants (Monastirioti et al., 1996)-and analyzed their ethanol attraction (Figure 5A). In addition, we fed control flies with octopamine to investigate whether increased octopamine levels could increase attraction. Feeding with OA restored the loss of ethanol attraction in $T\beta \tilde{h}^{nM18}$ mutants to control levels, but it did not alter the attraction of w^{1118} flies (Figure 5A). To independently confirm that octopamine signaling was required for attraction, w^{1118} flies were fed with 3 mM of the antagonist epinastine for octopamine receptors, a concentration that has been shown to effectively interrupt TfAP-2-induced hyperactivity in Drosophila (Williams et al., 2014). Epinastine-fed control flies showed a similar significant loss of ethanol attraction to $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants (Figure 5B). To confirm that octopamine receptor signaling was required for ethanol attraction, we fed βh^{nM18} mutant and control flies with two octopamine receptor agonists-50 mM clonidine or alternatively 200 nM naphazoline (Evans, 1981; Evans and Maqueira, 2005)-and investigated the effects on attraction (Figures 5C,D). The octopamine receptor agonist naphazoline and clonidine should restore octopamine receptor signaling in $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants. Clonidine turned the loss of ethanol attraction of $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants into attraction, but it did not influence the attraction of control flies (Figure 5C). Naphazoline also turned the loss of attraction into ethanol attraction in $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants (Figure 5D). However, naphazoline also altered the attraction in control animals by reducing the attraction, suggesting that too much activation of octopamine receptors might result in aversion or that naphazoline activates additional receptors that mediate aversion. To address the putative function of increased tyramine levels on ethanol attraction, tyramine receptor signaling was blocked in control flies and $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants by feeding with the tyramine receptor antagonist yohimbine. Feeding with



FIGURE 5 | Octopamine is required for ethanol attraction. (A) Feeding with 53 mM octopamine restores the loss of attraction to ethanol-containing food odors in $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants (Als for w^{1118} : 0.4 ± 0.05 and with octopamine: 0.45 ± 0.11 ; for w^{1118} , $T\beta h^{nM18}$: 0.06 ± 0.1 and with octopamine: 0.39 ± 0.07 ; n = 25, 21, 19, 22). (B) Blocking OA receptors by feeding 3 mM epinastine eliminates the attraction of control flies similarly to the observed loss of attraction in $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants (Als for w^{1118} : 0.45 \pm 0.08 and with epinastine: 0.11 \pm 0.11; for w^{1118} , $T\beta h^{nM18}$: 0.02 \pm 0.15; n = 29, 28, 19). (C) $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants fed with 50 mM clonidine show a significant attraction to ethanol-containing food odors (Als for w^{1118} : 0.33 \pm 0.04 and with clonidine: 0.27 ± 0.03 ; for w^{1118} , $T\beta h^{nM18}$: 0.1 ± 0.08 and with clonidine: 0.47 ± 0.05 ; n = 30, 28, 29, 31). (D) Feeding 200 nM naphazoline to $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants restores the loss of attraction to ethanol-containing food odors and significantly reduces the attraction of the control group (Als for w^{1118} : 0.59 ± 0.04 and with naphazoline: 0.31 ± 0.08 ; for w^{1118} , $T\beta h^{nM18}$: 0.11 ± 0.09 and with naphazoline: 0.45 ± 0.07 ; n = 32, 33, 29, 33). (E) Blocking TA receptors by feeding with 25 mM yohimbine does not alter the attraction to ethanol-containing food odors (Als for w^{1118} : 0.38 \pm 0.08 and with yohimbine: 0.41 \pm 0.07; for w^{1118} , Tbh^{nM18}: 0.01 \pm 0.11 and with yohimbine: 0.09 ± 0.1 ; n = 40, 40, 21, 24). (F) Increasing tyramine levels in control flies do not significantly alter attraction, but they significantly induce attraction in $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants (Als for w^{1118} : 0.42 \pm 0.05 and with tyramine: 0.32 ± 0.09 ; for $T\beta h^{nM18}$: -0.01 ± 0.09 and with tyramine: 0.38 ± 0.08). Errors are SEM, and the letter "a" indicates differences from random choice as determined by the one-sample sign test. Student's T-test was used to determine differences between two groups and ANOVA followed by the Tukey post hoc test for more than two groups. P < 0.05, P < 0.01, P < 0.01. For data, see Supplementary Table S5.

25 mM yohimbine—a concentration that rescues the $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutant phenotype in flight initiation and maintenance (Brembs

et al., 2007)—did not alter the attraction to ethanol in control or in mutant flies (**Figure 5E**). To independently address whether increased tyramine levels altered ethanol attraction, 345 mM tyramine was fed to control flies, and the effects on attraction to ethanol were analyzed (**Figure 5F**). Control flies fed with tyramine did not show a significantly reduced attraction to ethanol-containing food odors. Feeding tyramine to the $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutant significantly induced attraction to ethanol-containing food odors, suggesting that feeding with tyramine was effective and might function at high levels as an agonist for octopamine receptors, or alternatively, activation of tyramine receptors might also promote the induction of attraction to ethanol-containing food odors. Taken together, octopamine is required for the attraction to ethanol, and increased TA levels in $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants are not responsible for the loss of attraction.

DISCUSSION

The release of octopamine from acetylcholine co-expressing tyraminergic/octopaminergic neurons is necessary to induce a bias in a behavioral choice between two identical food odor traps, resulting in attraction for one odor trap. The release of tyramine or acetylcholine from the same set of cholinergic neurons results in aversion. In addition, the release of octopamine from VUMa4 neurons acts as a negative reinforcer when flies choose between two identical food odor traps and causes aversion. Therefore, octopamine mediates aversion and attraction depending on the set of neurons activated. In Figure 6 we provide an overview summarizing these results. The behavioral outcome of neuronal activation depends on the kinetics of the channelrhodopsin transgene used for activation. Nevertheless, independent of the transgene, the activation of tyraminergic/octopaminergic neurons is sufficient to elicit site attraction, and the activation of VUMa4 neurons is sufficient to elicit site aversion. Given the choice between an attractive ethanol-enriched food odor and a less attractive food odor, the activation of tyraminergic/octopaminergic neurons is able to shift the attraction to the less attractive food odor. The induction of attraction for ethanol-enriched food odors in a binary choice also requires the function of octopamine, supporting the requirement for octopamine to trigger the behavior towards approach, e.g., ethanol attraction.

Octopamine Acts as Positive and Negative Reinforcer

In *Drosophila*, octopamine has been shown to function as a positive reinforcer in several behaviors that involve the processing, evaluation and behavioral response of olfactory information. Innate attraction to ethanol-containing food odors requires the activation of tyraminergic/octopaminergic neurons, and mutants lacking octopamine fail to show attraction (Schneider et al., 2012). In more complex behaviors such as olfactory learning and memory, octopamine functions as a positive reinforcer, since $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants fail to show a positive association or attraction to a previous sucrose rewarded odor (Schwaerzel et al., 2003). Similar to the adult nervous system, in the developing nervous system of 3^{rd}



FIGURE 6 | Model for octopamine induced attraction and aversion. The circles highlight the Tbh positive neurons targeted by the dTdc2-Gal4 driver in the adult brain (Schneider et al., 2012). The Tbh is the rate limiting enzyme for octopamine synthesis (Monastirioti et al., 1996). Activation of these neurons using UAS-ChR2 elicits site attraction (Figure 1). When the Gal4 expression of the driver is restricted by co-expression of ChAT-GAL80 driver the flies choose both odor traps equally (Figure 1). The neurons that are not affected by the ChAT-Gal80 repressor are indicated in open circles. They only express Tbh and activation of these neurons results in indifferences (Figure 1). The ChAT and Tbh expressing neurons are indicated by gray circles and they are responsible-when activated-to mediate attraction. Within these set of positive neurons, the activation of the VUMa4 neuron (indicated by a circle that is half black and half gray) results in aversion (Figure 2). The VUMa4 neurons are Tbh positive (Schneider et al., 2012). Since the ChAT-Gal80 repressor eliminates the aversion caused by activation of the 6.2 Tbh-Gal4 driver, the VUMa4 neuron is also ChAT positive (Figure 2). The activation of the VUMa4 neuron results in aversion, but when the VUMa4 neuron is activated together with other octopaminergic neurons, attraction occurs. This result is consistent with the idea that the activation of a second set of octopaminergic neurons can overrule the octopamine-induced aversion by the VUMa4 neuron. For data, see Supplementary Table S6.

instar larvae, activation of tyraminergic/octopaminergic neurons substitutes for reward in olfactory larval learning, and the activity of tryaminergic/octopaminergic neurons is required for olfactory appetitive learning and memory (Schroll et al., 2006; Selcho et al., 2014). Here, we show that activation of tyraminergic/octopaminergic neurons is sufficient to bias the decision toward one of two similar odor traps and that $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants fail to show attraction upon activation of the same set of neurons (Figure 1). Octopamine release from VUMa4 neurons results in aversion, indicating that octopamine functions as negative reinforcer in an olfactory choice situation (Figure 2). Eliminating octopamine release from 6.2- $T\beta h$ -Gal4-targeted neurons by introducing $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants clearly eliminated aversion, showing that octopamine release is required for aversion. Another observation supporting that octopamine acts as a negative reinforcer was derived from the observation that the octopamine receptor agonist naphazoline reduced attraction in control flies (Figure 5D). There is evidence that the octopaminergic system might also function as negative reinforcer in other behaviors. In olfactory aversive learning and memory, when an odor is paired with an electric shock, $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants show reduced learning abilities, indicating an impairment of the negative reinforcing function of the electric shock (Iliadi et al., 2017). Furthermore, activation of tyraminergic/octopaminergic neurons suppresses courtship conditioning, another form of aversive associative learning (Zhou et al., 2012).

On the cellular level, opposing neuronal functions for octopamine have been previously observed. For example, in the ventral nerve cord of locusts, octopamine release causes, at one site, bouts of rhythmic flight motor activity and, at another site, suppression of neuronal activity related to egg laying (Sombati and Hoyle, 1984). The opposing roles of octopamine might also be explained by the activation of different classes of octopamine receptors that either activate or reduce neuronal activity, both of which have been identified in Drosophila melanogaster (Evans and Maqueira, 2005). In addition to the negative reinforcing function of octopamine, an additional neurotransmitter mediates aversion in the *dTdc2*-Gal4-targeted neurons, since the introduction of $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants resulted in significant aversion. One possible candidate for this is tyramine. For example, feeding the tyramine receptor antagonist yohimbine to $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutant larvae partially restored the observed reduced locomotion in the mutants, suggesting that the reduced locomotion was due to an increased tyramine level and that tyramine might counteract the function of octopamine (Saraswati et al., 2004). However, feeding with the tyramine receptor antagonist yohimbine did not interfere with attraction to ethanol in control flies, nor did it alter the loss of attraction in $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants, suggesting that tyramine is not responsible for the observed aversion. Furthermore, feeding tyramine to control flies did not suppress the attraction to ethanol-enriched food odors (Figure 5F). Rather, feeding tyramine to $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants resulted in attraction, suggesting that high levels of tyramine might also function also as a positive reinforcer. Another candidate is acetylcholine. Neuronal activation of neurons in a *dTdc2*-Gal4-dependent manner might also co-release other neurotransmitters that negatively regulate attraction. Not all neurons targeted by the *dTdc2*-Gal4 line are octopaminergic or T\u00dfh-positive (Busch et al., 2009; Schneider et al., 2012), and ChAT-Gal80 represses dTdc2-Gal4-dependent transgene expression (Schneider et al., 2012). Consistent with this observation, some of the targeted VUM neurons express ChAT (Sayin et al., 2018). However, activation of VUMa4 neurons in $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants eliminates the aversion, clearly indicating that octopamine, in addition to possible other neurotransmitter systems, might induce aversion. Taken together, octopamine functions as a positive and negative reinforcer in response to olfactory cues such as food odors.

Octopamine Biases Behavioral Outcomes

How does a neurotransmitter mediate both negative and positive reinforcement to an olfactory cue? In associative olfactory short-term learning and memory, dopamine mediates two different sets of neurons: positive and negative reinforcing properties (Claridge-Chang et al., 2009; Aso et al., 2010; Liu et al., 2012). The same phenomenon might also be true for octopaminergic neurons. Octopamine-dependent activation of the VUMa4 neuron results in aversion, but when the VUMa4 neuron is activated together with other octopaminergic neurons, attraction occurs. This result indicates that the activation of a second set of octopaminergic neurons can overrule the octopamine-induced aversion by the VUMa4 neuron. Such an attraction might be the primary behavioral outcome when octopamine release is depleted, as supported by the observation that $T\beta h$ mutants with no detectable levels of octopamine fail to show attraction and feeding control flies with the octopamine receptor antagonist epinastine results in a reduction of ethanolinduced attraction rather than increased attraction. Feeding the agonist of octopamine—naphazoline- to control flies also reduces the attraction to ethanol enriched food odor (**Figure 5D**). This could be due to the activation of octopamine dependent negative reinforcement resulting in aversion.

If octopamine mediates both attraction and aversion to olfactory cues, then a situation must arise where octopaminedeficient flies respond with indecision in a choice situation, which is indeed the case. $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants fail to show attraction to ethanol-enriched food sources. The indecision to choose between the two odor sources might depend on the inability to detect ethanol within food odors, the lack of a positive reinforcer, inability to make a decision or failure to perform the motor skills required for the task. $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants sense ethanol and food odors and can distinguish between them (Schneider et al., 2012), eliminating the possibility that failures in odor perception account for the indifference. During olfactory learning and memory, odor ethanol functions as a positive reinforcer (Kaun et al., 2011), and $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants show attraction to ethanol-containing food odors when they are pre-exposed to ethanol (Figure 4C), showing that the mechanism resulting in positive reinforcement is still functional in $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants. Furthermore, $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants still enter food odor traps, showing that the motor ability of the flies and the motivation to seek food is still intact. Consistent with a function in decision making, the activation of octopaminergic/tyraminergic neurons shifts the attraction from the ethanol-enriched food odor to a less attractive odor (Figure 4B) and therefore biases the behavioral outcome.

Are there other behaviors where flies normally must decide to respond to odor information and where $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants fail to make the right decision or correct response? After exposure to a novel olfactory stimulus such as ethanol, normal flies show an increased startle response as measured by an increase in locomotion (Scholz, 2005). The $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants not only fail to show a startle response but also show a repression of locomotor activity that can be contributed to the lack of octopamine, mimicking a freezing response. The immobility is turned into activity when the ethanol stimulus is sufficiently strong (Scholz, 2005). Another example that involves a behavioral choice is the associative appetitive and aversive olfactory learning paradigm that is analyzed in the Tully-Quinn paradigm (Tully and Quinn, 1985). In this paradigm, flies must demonstrate what they learned in a binary choice between two odors. Before the experiments, the odor concentrations are balanced so that they evoke a similar behavioral response to ensure that the strength of the presented odor stimuli is comparable. $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants fail to respond to the positive reinforced odor with attraction within the given time, but they respond with aversion to the negative reinforced odor (Schwaerzel et al., 2003) or only respond in a reduced manner (Iliadi et al., 2017).

The difference between appetitive and aversive learning defects in $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants might be due to the strength of the reinforcer. The lack of comparability of the strength of the reinforcer between aversive and appetitive olfactory learning and memory is also observed in the degree of association formed between the odor and the reinforcer, as reflected in differences in the learning score. Flies show lower learning scores when a positive reinforcer, such as sucrose, is paired with an odor compared with when a negative reinforcer, such as an electric shock, is paired (Schwaerzel et al., 2003). The influence of the threshold of the reinforcing stimulus is also observed in the behavioral response of $T\beta h^{nM18}$ mutants when they are pre-exposed to ethanol and respond with ethanol attraction in the binary choice paradigm (Figure 4C). Here, the pre-exposure to ethanol odor is sufficiently strong to elicit attraction. In summary, octopamine orchestrates the behavioral response to odors. It remains to be investigated whether this finding holds true for other sensory information, such as taste and vision, and how octopamine integrates different external and/or internal information to bias the behavioral outcome.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal studies including the model organism *Drosophila melanogaster* were conducted in agreement with the regulations of the DFG and the land North Rhine Westphalia.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GC and HS: conception and design of the work; acquisition, data analysis and interpretation. GC: original draft—writing. HS: supervision, project administration and funding acquisition.

FUNDING

This research was supported by Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG) 656/7-2, DFG 656/5-1 to HS, SFB1340 to HS and Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung (BMBF) SysMedAlc.

REFERENCES

- Aso, Y., Siwanowicz, I., Bracker, L., Ito, K., Kitamoto, T., and Tanimoto, H. (2010). Specific dopaminergic neurons for the formation of labile aversive memory. *Curr. Biol.* 20, 1445–1451. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2010.06.048
- Azanchi, R., Kaun, K. R., and Heberlein, U. (2013). Competing dopamine neurons drive oviposition choice for ethanol in *Drosophila. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 110, 21153–21158. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1320208110
- Brembs, B., Christiansen, F., Pflüger, H. J., and Duch, C. (2007). Flight initiation and maintenance deficits in flies with genetically altered biogenic amine levels. *J. Neurosci.* 27, 11122–11131. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.2704-07.2007
- Busch, S., Selcho, M., Ito, K., and Tanimoto, H. (2009). A map of octopaminergic neurons in the Drosophila brain. J. Comp. Neurol. 513, 643–667. doi: 10.1002/cne.21966
- Chow, D. M., and Frye, M. A. (2009). The neuro-ecology of resource localization in *Drosophila*: behavioral components of perception and search. *Fly* 3, 50–61. doi: 10.4161/fly.3.1.7775

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the Scholz Lab for scientific discussion. We thank the two reviewers for insightful comments and suggestions.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnbeh. 2018.00131/full#supplementary-material

FIGURE S1 | Effect of light intensity on behavioral outcome. The same flicker frequency of 2 s at 40 Hz, 16 s at 8 Hz was used for all experiments, but the intensity of both LEDs was changed simultaneously. (A) Different intensities indicated above the panel were used to activate neurons with a blue light-sensitive UAS-ChR2 under the control of the dTdc2-Gal4 driver. All the used intensities resulted in attraction for the site of activation (Als for the 1700 lux control and experimental group: -0.07 ± 0.12 and 0.32 ± 0.1 , n = 20, 20; for 1000 lux: 0.21 ± 0.14 and 0.6 ± 0.12 , n = 34, 31; for 800 lux: 0.02 ± 0.09 and 0.43 ± 0.1 , respectively, n = 39, 33). (B) Neurons activated with a blue light-sensitive UAS-ChR2 under the control of the 6.2-Tph-Gal4 driver with different intensities showed significant aversion when illuminated with 1200 lux, but not 1700 lux or 1000 lux (Als for the 1700 lux control and experimental group: -0.31 ± 0.14 and -0.62 ± 0.11 , n = 20, 16; for 1200 lux: -0.02 ± 0.13 and -0.41 ± 0.13 ; n = 22, 19 and for 1000 lux: 0.12 ± 0.13 and -0.02 ± 0.12 , respectively; n = 21, 19). (C) Activation with the amber-sensitive UAS-ReaChR in a dTdc2-Gal4-dependent manner leads to site attraction for the amber-illuminated site (Als for the 1200 lux Als of control and experimental group: -0.06 ± 0.15 and 0.6 ± 0.08 , n = 18, 18; Als for the 800 lux 0.21 \pm 0.11 and 0.1 \pm 0.14, respectively, n = 14, 5). Errors bars are SEM. The one-sample sign test was used to determine differences from random choice, and significant differences are labeled with the letter "a". Student's T-test was used to determine differences between two groups with significance levels as follows: *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001. Data for Supplementary Figure S1, see Supplementary Table S6.

TABLE S1 | Data for Figure 1.

- TABLE S2 | Data for Figure 2.
- **TABLE S3** | Data for Figure 3.

TABLE S4 | Data for Figure 4.

TABLE S5 | Data for Figure 5.

TABLE S6 | Data for Supplementary Figure S1.

- Claridge-Chang, A., Roorda, R. D., Vrontou, E., Sjulson, L., Li, H., Hirsh, J., et al. (2009). Writing memories with light-addressable reinforcement circuitry. *Cell* 139, 405–415. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.08.034
- Cole, S. H., Carney, G. E., McClung, C. A., Willard, S. S., Taylor, B. J., and Hirsh, J. (2005). Two functional but noncomplementing *Drosophila* tyrosine decarboxylase genes: distinct roles for neural tyramine and octopamine in female fertility. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280, 14948–14955. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m4141 97200
- Dudley, R. (2002). Fermenting fruit and the historical ecology of ethanol ingestion: is alcoholism in modern humans an evolutionary hangover? *Addiction* 97, 381–388. doi: 10.1046/j.1360-0443.2002.00002.x
- Evans, P. D. (1981). Multiple receptor types for octopamine in the locust. *J. Physiol.* 318, 99–122. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1981.sp013853
- Evans, P. D., and Maqueira, B. (2005). Insect octopamine receptors: a new classification scheme based on studies of cloned *Drosophila* G-protein coupled receptors. *Invert. Neurosci.* 5, 111–118. doi: 10.1007/s10158-005-0001-z

- Giang, T., He, J., Belaidi, S., and Scholz, H. (2017). Key odorants regulate food attraction in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 11:160. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2017.00160
- Hammer, M. (1993). An identified neuron mediates the unconditioned stimulus in associative olfactory learning in honeybees. *Nature* 366, 59–63. doi: 10.1038/366059a0
- Iliadi, K. G., Iliadi, N., and Boulianne, G. L. (2017). Drosophila mutants lacking octopamine exhibit impairment in aversive olfactory associative learning. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 46, 2080–2087. doi: 10.1111/ejn. 13651
- Inagaki, H. K., Jung, Y., Hoopfer, E. D., Wong, A. M., Mishra, N., Lin, J. Y., et al. (2014). Optogenetic control of *Drosophila* using a red-shifted channelrhodopsin reveals experience-dependent influences on courtship. *Nat. Methods* 11, 325–332. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.2765
- Kaun, K. R., Azanchi, R., Maung, Z., Hirsh, J., and Heberlein, U. (2011). A Drosophila model for alcohol reward. Nat. Neurosci. 14, 612–619. doi: 10.1038/nn.2805
- Kitamoto, T. (2002). Targeted expression of temperature-sensitive dynamin to study neural mechanisms of complex behavior in *Drosophila. J. Neurogenet.* 16, 205–228. doi: 10.1080/01677060216295
- LeDue, E. E., Mann, K., Koch, E., Chu, B., Dakin, R., and Gordon, M. D. (2016). Starvation-induced depotentiation of bitter taste in *Drosophila. Curr. Biol.* 26, 2854–2861. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2016.08.028
- Lin, J. Y., Knutsen, P. M., Muller, A., Kleinfeld, D., and Tsien, R. Y. (2013). ReaChR: a red-shifted variant of channelrhodopsin enables deep transcranial optogenetic excitation. *Nat. Neurosci.* 16, 1499–1508. doi: 10.1038/nn. 3502
- Liu, C., Placais, P. Y., Yamagata, N., Pfeiffer, B. D., Aso, Y., Friedrich, A. B., et al. (2012). A subset of dopamine neurons signals reward for odour memory in *Drosophila*. *Nature* 488, 512–516. doi: 10.1038/nature 11304
- Monastirioti, M., Linn, C. E. Jr., and White, K. (1996). Characterization of Drosophila tyramine β-hydroxylase gene and isolation of mutant flies lacking octopamine. J. Neurosci. 16, 3900–3911. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.16-12-03900. 1996
- Ogueta, M., Cibik, O., Eltrop, R., Schneider, A., and Scholz, H. (2010). The influence of Adh function on ethanol preference and tolerance in adult *Drosophila melanogaster. Chem. Senses* 35, 813–822. doi: 10.1093/chemse/ bjq084
- Olds, J., and Milner, P. (1954). Positive reinforcement produced by electrical stimulation of septal area and other regions of rat brain. J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol. 47, 419–427. doi: 10.1037/h0058775
- Richmond, R. C., and Gerking, J. L. (1979). Oviposition site preference in *Drosophila. Behav. Genet.* 9, 233–241.
- Saraswati, S., Fox, L. E., Soll, D. R., and Wu, C. F. (2004). Tyramine and octopamine have opposite effects on the locomotion of *Drosophila* larvae. *J. Neurobiol.* 58, 425–441. doi: 10.1002/neu.10298

- Sayin, S., Boehm, A. C., Kobler, J. M., De Backer, J. F., and Grunwald Kadow, I. C. (2018). Internal state dependent odor processing and perception-the role of neuromodulation in the fly olfactory system. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 12:11. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2018.00011
- Schneider, A., Ruppert, M., Hendrich, O., Giang, T., Ogueta, M., Hampel, S., et al. (2012). Neuronal basis of innate olfactory attraction to ethanol in *Drosophila*. *PLoS One* 7:e52007. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0052007
- Scholz, H. (2005). Influence of the biogenic amine tyramine on ethanolinduced behaviors in *Drosophila*. J. Neurobiol. 63, 199–214. doi: 10.1002/ neu.20127
- Schroll, C., Riemensperger, T., Bucher, D., Ehmer, J., Voller, T., Erbguth, K., et al. (2006). Light-induced activation of distinct modulatory neurons triggers appetitive or aversive learning in *Drosophila* larvae. *Curr. Biol.* 16, 1741–1747. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2006.07.023
- Schwaerzel, M., Monastirioti, M., Scholz, H., Friggi-Grelin, F., Birman, S., and Heisenberg, M. (2003). Dopamine and octopamine differentiate between aversive and appetitive olfactory memories in *Drosophila*. J. Neurosci. 23, 10495–10502. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.23-33-10495.2003
- Selcho, M., Pauls, D., Huser, A., Stocker, R. F., and Thum, A. S. (2014). Characterization of the octopaminergic and tyraminergic neurons in the central brain of *Drosophila* larvae. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 522, 3485–3500. doi: 10.1002/cne.23616
- Sombati, S., and Hoyle, G. (1984). Generation of specific behaviors in a locust by local release into neuropil of the natural neuromodulator octopamine. *J. Neurobiol.* 15, 481–506. doi: 10.1002/neu.480150607
- Williams, M. J., Goergen, P., Rajendran, J., Klockars, A., Kasagiannis, A., Fredriksson, R., et al. (2014). Regulation of aggression by obesity-linked genes TfAP-2 and Twz through octopamine signaling in *Drosophila. Genetics* 196, 349–362. doi: 10.1534/genetics.113.158402
- Zhou, C., Huang, H., Kim, S. M., Lin, H., Meng, X., Han, K. A., et al. (2012). Molecular genetic analysis of sexual rejection: roles of octopamine and its receptor OAMB in *Drosophila* courtship conditioning. *J. Neurosci.* 32, 14281–14287. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.0517-12.2012
- Zhu, J., Park, K. C., and Baker, T. C. (2003). Identification of odors from overripe mango that attract vinegar flies, *Drosophila melanogaster*. J. Chem. Ecol. 29, 899–909. doi: 10.1023/A:1022931816351

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Claßen and Scholz. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Attractant or Repellent? Behavioral Responses to Mammalian Blood Odor and to a Blood Odor Component in a Mesopredator, the Meerkat (*Suricata suricatta*)

Henrik Pettersson¹, Mats Amundin^{1,2} and Matthias Laska^{1*}

¹ Department of Physics, Chemistry and Biology, Linköping University, Linköping, Sweden, ² Kolmården Wildlife Park, Kolmården, Sweden

It is well-established that the odor of mammalian blood is attractive to top predators such as tigers and wolves and aversive to prey species such as mice and rats. Recent studies have shown that the mammalian blood odor component trans-4,5-epoxy-(E)-2-decenal (TED) elicits corresponding behavioral responses in these two groups of mammals. Here we assess whether a mesopredator, that is, a small-bodied carnivorous mammal that is both predator and prey, is attracted to or repelled by the odor of mammalian blood and TED. To this end, we assessed the behavior of a group of 15 captive meerkats (Suricata suricatta) when presented with wooden logs that were impregnated either with horse blood or with TED, and compared it to their behavior toward a fruity odor (iso-pentyl acetate) and a near-odorless solvent (diethyl phthalate). We found that the meerkats displayed significantly more interactions with the odorized wooden logs such as sniffing and pawing when these were impregnated with the two prey-associated odors compared to the two non-prey-associated odors. Most importantly, no significant difference was found in the number of interactions with the wooden logs impregnated with horse blood and TED, respectively. These results demonstrate that meerkats, despite being small-bodied mesopredators, are clearly attracted to the odor of mammalian blood. Further, the results suggest that a single blood odor component can be as efficient as the odor of real blood in eliciting behavioral responses in this herpestid mammal, similar to previous findings in feline and canine top predators.

Keywords: blood odor, epoxydecenal, behavior, mesopredator, meerkats, Suricata suricatta

INTRODUCTION

The vast majority of naturally occurring odor stimuli are highly complex mixtures composed of dozens or even hundreds of volatile compounds (Ohloff, 1994; Sell, 2014). Olfactory systems are therefore faced with the problem to recognize the identity of an odor stimulus despite permanent fluctuations in its composition or intensity due to changes in the odor source itself (e.g., ripening of a fruit) or the environment (e.g., convection of volatiles in air currents) (Riffell et al., 2009). How the olfactory system achieves and maintains stimulus identity of complex odor mixtures is still not fully understood (Thomas-Danguin et al., 2014).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gérard Coureaud, INSERM U1028 Centre de Recherche en Neurosciences de Lyon, France

Reviewed by:

Sylvia Anton, Institut National de la Recherche Agronomique (INRA), France Markus Fendt, Universitätsklinikum Magdeburg, Germany

*Correspondence:

Matthias Laska malas@ifm.liu.se

Received: 26 January 2018 Accepted: 03 July 2018 Published: 23 July 2018

Citation:

Pettersson H, Amundin M and Laska M (2018) Attractant or Repellent? Behavioral Responses to Mammalian Blood Odor and to a Blood Odor Component in a Mesopredator, the Meerkat (Suricata suricatta). Front. Behav. Neurosci. 12:152. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2018.00152 One possible strategy for an animal to recognize a complex odor mixture is to rely on only one or a few "key" or "character impact" compound(s) which determine its odor identity (Dunkel et al., 2014). This strategy, of course, requires that the compound in question is reliably present in the odor mixture and that it can be reliably detected against the noise of the other compounds (Nehring et al., 2013). Thus, a high olfactory sensitivity for such a "key" or "character impact" compound should be expected in species for which the corresponding odor mixture is behaviorally relevant (Laska et al., 2005; Sarrafchi et al., 2013).

Behavioral tests assessing the ability of animals to recognize and to properly respond to the presentation of behaviorally relevant odors yielded rather mixed results concerning the efficiency of single compounds that are part of a complex odor mixture to elicit such adaptive behavioral responses. With regard to food odors, for example, recent studies found that frugivorous mammals do not seem to rely on single compounds to assess the degree of ripeness of a fruit but rather on the relative abundance of several compounds (Hodgkison et al., 2013; Nevo et al., 2015). Concerning the olfactory recognition of predators by prey species via body-borne odors, some studies found that single compounds are sufficient to elicit avoidance responses whereas other studies failed to find such effects or reported the behavioral responses to be weaker compared to those elicited by the full odor mixture (for a review, see Apfelbach et al., 2017).

The odor of blood has been shown to be attractive to mammalian top predators such as tigers (Nilsson et al., 2014) and wolves (Arshamian et al., 2017) and to be aversive to mammalian prey species such as the mouse (Sandnabba, 1997; Lahger and Laska, 2018) and the rat (Stevens and Saplikoski, 1973; Hornbuckle and Beal, 1974; Mackay-Sim and Laing, 1981). Interestingly, the tigers and wolves were equally attracted to and the mice were equally repelled by trans-4,5-epoxy-(E)-2-decenal (TED), a single component of mammalian blood odor which has been described by humans as having a typical "metallic, bloodlike" odor quality (Buettner and Schieberle, 2001). These findings suggest that TED might indeed be a "key" or "character impact" compound which determines or at least contributes to the reliable recognition of blood odor. This notion is further supported by the finding that mice are extraordinarily sensitive to TED with olfactory detection thresholds in the ppt (parts per trillion) range (Sarrafchi and Laska, 2017).

Meerkats (*Suricata suricatta*) are carnivorous mammals belonging to the mongoose family (Herpestidae). They have well-developed olfactory brain structures (Gittleman, 1991; van Valkenburgh et al., 2014) and are known to strongly rely on olfactory cues in the context of social communication (Jordan, 2007; Mares et al., 2011; Leclaire et al., 2013). Similarly, meerkats have been reported to use their sense of smell for predator avoidance (Hollén and Manser, 2007; Zöttl et al., 2013) and for foraging and food selection (Leclaire, 2017). Due to their small body mass of 0.7–1.2 kg (van Staaden, 1994), they are typical mesopredators, meaning that they are both predators of smaller prey species and, at the same time, prey to larger predators. Their diet, although primarily based on arthropods, includes up to 20% (by volume) of small-bodied mammals and other vertebrates such as birds, eggs, lizards, and snakes (van Staaden, 1994; Doolan and Macdonald, 1996). Therefore, it should be interesting to assess whether meerkats are attracted to or repelled by the odor of blood and if they also display the same behavior toward TED.

It was therefore the aim of the present study to (1) assess behavioral responses of meerkats to mammalian blood odor and to the mammalian blood odor component *trans*-4,5-epoxy-(E)-2-decenal, (2) to compare their behavioral responses to those toward a fruity odor and a near-odorless control, and (3) to compare their behavioral responses to those of top predators and prey species tested previously on the same odor stimuli.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethics Statement

The experiments reported here comply with the *Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals* (8th edition, National Research Council, 2011) and also with current Swedish laws. They were performed according to a protocol approved by the ethical board of the Swedish Board of Agriculture (Jordbruksverket, protocol # 31-2647/10).

Animals

The study was conducted at Kolmården Wildlife Park, near Norrköping, Sweden. A group of 15 meerkats (S. suricatta), comprising twelve males and three females ranging from a few months to 10 years of age, was observed. All animals were born in captivity. The enclosure of the meerkats was composed of an indoor and an outdoor part, connected by a sliding door. The indoor enclosure was 40 m² and had a ground substrate of sand. It contained standing brush material, tree stumps of a varied height, and different hiding places such as wooden nest boxes. The outdoor enclosure was 330 m² with mainly earth as ground substrate. In addition to tree stumps, the outdoor enclosure also had a grassy area, coniferous trees, rocks and bushes scattered throughout the area. The ground substrate of both the indoor and the outdoor enclosure allowed the animals to dig burrows and tunnels. The meerkats could freely choose between the indoor and the outdoor enclosure during the daytime, but were kept indoors over night. They were provided with food three times per day (in the morning, that is, about 60 min prior to the start of the day's observations; around noon, that is, during the hour between the morning and the afternoon observations; and in the afternoon, that is, after the end of the day's observations). Their food consisted of mice, baby chicken, pieces of meat from different even-toed ungulate species (such as deer and antelope, but not from odd-toed ungulate species such as horses), cat food pellets (Four Friends Senior, Västerås, Sweden), fruit (banana, apple, different berries), crickets, mealworms, chicken eggs.

Odor Stimuli

The four odor stimuli used were:

Blood from a domestic horse (*Equus ferus caballus*). The blood was collected directly after the horse was euthanized and immediately deep-frozen in aliquots of 0.5 ml at -20° C. On the morning of each testing day, five aliquots of

horse blood were thawed and warmed up to approximately $25^{\circ}\mathrm{C}.$

trans-4,5-epoxy-(E)-2-decenal (CAS# 134454-31-2), henceforth abbreviated as TED. This odorant has been identified as a volatile component in mammalian blood and evokes a typical "metallic, blood-like" odor quality in humans (Buettner and Schieberle, 2001). It was presented at a dilution of 1:100 (in diethyl phthalate) from a stock solution of 5 mg/ml.

The rationale for using these two odor stimuli was that horse blood and *trans*-4,5-epoxy-(E)-2-decenal had also been used in previous studies assessing behavioral responses of top predators (Nilsson et al., 2014; Arshamian et al., 2017) and a prey species (Lahger and Laska, 2018) to blood odor.

iso-pentyl acetate (CAS# 123-92-2). This odorant has been identified as a volatile component in a variety of fruits and evokes a typical "banana-like" odor quality in humans (Burdock, 2009). It was presented at a dilution of 1:1,000 (in diethyl phthalate).

Diethyl phthalate (CAS# 84-66-2). This organic solvent is near-odorless and was used both for diluting the two monomolecular odorants mentioned above and as a blank stimulus.

The concentrations mentioned above for the blood odor component TED and for the fruity odor (*iso*-pentyl acetate) were chosen in order to provide stimuli that were clearly detectable for humans, but not overwhelmingly strong so that a relatively close contact to the odor source was necessary to detect them.

Experimental Procedure

The four different odor stimuli were presented to the animals using wooden (spruce) logs of 48 cm \times 4.5 cm \times 4.5 cm. Each log was impregnated with 0.5 ml of a given odor stimulus immediately prior to each presentation. The odor stimulus was applied on the two largest surfaces of a log using a micropipette and then spread over the surface using a paint brush. Plastic gloves were used whenever the logs were handled to avoid that they were contaminated with human odor. Five logs, impregnated with the same odor stimulus, were used during a given experimental day.

At the start of each experimental day, five freshly odorized wooden logs were placed into the outdoor enclosure of the meerkats. Care was taken to present the wooden logs to the animals at positions that differed between experimental days and, at the same time, allowed the experimenter to see all five logs at least at the start of the observation. Immediately after the logs were put in place, the animals were allowed access into the outdoor enclosure and were observed for 3 h in the morning and 3 h in the afternoon (between 08:00 a.m. and 04:00 p.m.). At the end of each experimental day the wooden logs were removed from the enclosure. Experiments were only performed on nonrainy days to prevent the odor stimuli from being washed away by the rain. At least 1 day was interspersed between consecutive presentations of odorized wooden logs. Each of the four odor stimuli was presented for a total of five times in a pseudorandomized order which resulted in a total of 20 experimental days.

Continuous sampling was used to record the occurrence of each interaction with a wooden log which was visible to the experimenter. A total of twelve behaviors involving different kinds of interaction with or immediate behavioral responses to the inspection of an odorized wooden log were considered (**Table 1** and **Figure 1**). During one experimental day per odor stimulus, the duration of the behaviors was also recorded using a stopwatch.

Data Analysis

Differences in the frequency of occurrence of behavioral responses between odor stimuli were assessed using the Chisquare test. Within-species comparisons of the duration of behavioral responses were performed using the Friedman test. Correlational analyses were performed by calculating Spearman rank-order coefficients r_s which were tested for significance by computing *z*-scores. As the number of animals differed between the species that were compared, we calculated the number of interactions *per animal* by dividing the total number of interactions observed in a given species by the number of animals. All statistics were performed using SPSS, version 22.0.

RESULTS

Number of Interactions

Across all 20 observation days with the four different odor stimuli combined the meerkats interacted in total 2850 times with the odorized wooden logs. Ten out of the twelve behaviors described in the ethogram were observed (**Table 2**). Sniffing was by far the most frequently displayed behavior with 1970 interactions, representing 69% of all observations. Pawing was another frequently observed behavior with 834 occurrences, accounting for 29% of of all observations. Thus, sniffing and pawing combined accounted for >98% of all interactions with the odorized wooden logs that the meerkats displayed. Licking

TABLE 1 | Ethogram of all behaviors considered in the present study.

Functional term	Description		
Sniffing	Using the nose to investigate a wooden log		
Pawing	Using the paw or claws to scratch a wooden log		
Licking	Using the tongue to investigate a wooden log		
Biting	Using the teeth to investigate a wooden log		
Toying	Moving or otherwise manipulating a wooden log		
Flehmen	Curling of the upper lip and "grimacing" when investigating a wooden log		
Self-impregnating	Rubbing the face or other body part at a wooden log		
Scent-marking	Depositing body-borne odors onto a wooden log		
Orientating	Turning head, ears, or eyes following an interaction with a wooden log		
Guarding	Resting close to or on top of a wooden log		
Vocalizing	Producing sounds during or following an interaction with a wooden log		
Fleeing	Rapidly moving away following an interaction with a wooden log		



FIGURE 1 The two behaviors performed most often by the meerkats. (**Upper**) A meerkat sniffing at an odorized wooden log. (**Lower**) A meerkat pawing at an odorized wooden log.

and flehmen were never displayed by the meerkats with any of the four odor stimuli.

Comparison Between Odor Stimuli

A comparison between the four odor stimuli showed that the meerkats displayed a significantly higher number of interactions with the wooden logs when these were odorized with horse blood compared to when they were odorized with the fruity odor ($\chi^2 = 83.701$, P < 0.0001) and the blank control ($\chi^2 = 27.597$, P < 0.0001). Similarly, the meerkats interacted significantly more often with the wooden logs when these were odorized with the blood odor component TED compared to the the fruity odor ($\chi^2 = 70.689$, P < 0.0001) and the blank control ($\chi^2 = 20.263$, P < 0.0001). In contrast, the number of interactions with the wooden logs did not differ significantly between the horse blood and the blood odor component TED ($\chi^2 = 0.572$, P = 0.450).

Duration of Interactions

The mean duration of interactions with the odorized wooden logs was 3.1 ± 5.5 s for the four different odor stimuli combined (**Table 3**).

No significant differences in the mean duration of interactions with the wooden logs were found between any of the four odor stimuli (Friedman ANOVA: $\chi = 6.01$, P = 0.111).

Variability Between Sessions

No significant correlation between the number of interactions with the wooden logs across the five sessions was found with any of the four odor stimuli (Spearman test, horse blood: $r_s = -0.70$, P > 0.05; blood odor component: $r_s = -0.60$, P > 0.05; fruity odor: $r_s = -0.70$, P > 0.05; solvent: $r_s = -0.60$, P > 0.05). However, with all four odor stimuli the number of interactions with the wooden logs was higher in the first compared to the fifth session (**Figure 2**). Accordingly, a non-significant trend for a decrease in the animals' interest in the wooden logs across sessions was found as indicated by the negative correlation coefficients.

DISCUSSION

The results of the present study demonstrate that meerkats, small-bodied mesopredators, are clearly attracted to, and not repelled by, the odor of blood. Further, they show that the blood odor component *trans*-4,5-epoxy-(E)-2-decenal is as efficient in

```
TABLE 2 Number of interactions with the odorized wooden logs in the meerkats (n = 15).
```

Behavior	Horse blood	Blood component	Fruity odor	Blank control	Total
Sniffing	598	551	378	443	1970
Pawing	252	258	126	198	834
Licking	0	0	0	0	0
Biting	0	2	2	3	7
Toying	1	6	0	0	7
Flehmen	0	0	0	0	0
Self-impregnating	0	1	1	0	2
Scent-marking	0	0	0	4	4
Orientating	4	2	7	3	16
Guarding	1	0	2	1	4
Vocalizing	0	1	0	0	1
Fleeing	0	4	1	0	5
Total	856	825	517	652	2850

TABLE 3 | Duration of interactions with the odorized wooden logs in the meerkats (n = 15).

Horse blood	Blood component	Fruity odor	Blank control	Total
2.2 ± 1.9	3.1 ± 6.3	4.5 ± 8.0	2.7 ± 4.0	3.1 ± 5.5
Given are mear	n (±SD) values in secor	nds.		

eliciting behavioral attraction responses in *S. suricatta* as the odor of real blood.

Comparison Between Species

Our finding that the meerkats were clearly attracted to the odor of blood and to the blood odor component TED is not trivial considering that they are small-bodied mammals which are prey to a variety of larger-bodied predators (van Staaden, 1994). Thus, it should not have been surprising if the meerkats in our study would have behaved like mice and rats, that is, like a prey species and accordingly would have avoided the odor of blood (Hornbuckle and Beal, 1974; Lahger and Laska, 2018). If we further consider that the diet of meerkats is not exclusively based on smaller vertebrates but also includes a variety of nonvertebrate food items such as arthropods and plant material (van Staaden, 1994), it is actually somewhat unexpected that the meerkats behaved like top predators such as tigers and wolves (Nilsson et al., 2014; Arshamian et al., 2017) and were attracted to blood odor. This, in turn, suggests that the attraction to blood odor displayed by carnivorous mammals of the feline and canine families may be an evolutionarily old trait as the mongoose family (Herpestidae) to which the meerkats belong split from the other carnivore families about 25 million years ago (Nyakatura and Bininda-Emonds, 2012).

A comparison of the behavioral responses of the meerkats in the present study to those of several species of top predators tested previously with the same method and odor stimuli (Nilsson et al., 2014; Arshamian et al., 2017) shows that the meerkats displayed the highest number of interactions *per animal* with the odorized wooden logs (**Table 4**). This was true both when considering all four odor stimuli combined and separately.

The total number of interactions with the odorized wooden logs *per animal* displayed by the meerkats was almost five times higher than that of the Asian wild dogs, and more than three times higher compared to the African wild dogs and Siberian tigers, respectively. The South American bush dogs and the Eurasian wolves displayed a higher interest *per animal* to all four odor stimuli than the other two top predators, but still lower numbers compared to the meerkats. This raises the question as to possible reasons underlying these between-species differences in their degree of interest toward the odorized wooden logs. Several possible explanations should be considered:

Although the possibility that differences in enclosure size might have affected the likelihood of an animal to encounter and interact with the odorized wooden logs cannot be ruled out completely, it seems unlikely to explain the above-mentioned between-species differences in interest as correlations between enclosure size (m²/animal) and interest in the odorized wooden logs (interactions/animal) were not significant for any of the four odor stimuli considered separately (Spearman test: real blood odor: $r_s = -0.49$, p = 0.33; TED: $r_s = -0.43$, p = 0.40; fruity odor: $r_{\rm s} = -0.60$, p = 0.21; solvent: $r_{\rm s} = -0.49$, p = 0.33) or combined $(r_s = -0.43, p = 0.40)$. Similarly, although subadult mammals tend to be more reactive to novel objects and odor stimuli than adult conspecifics (Glickman and Sroges, 1966), differences in the age composition of the studied carnivore species are also unlikely to explain the observed between-species differences in interest toward the odorized wooden logs as with all six species under consideration >90% of all individuals were adults. Whether between-species differences in overall activity level may account for the finding that the meerkats displayed the highest interest in the odor stimuli used here needs further investigation. Although we did not systematically record the overall activity of the meerkats across the 6 h of observation per experimental day, it



[trans-4,5-epoxy-(E)-2-decenal]; squares: horse blood; triangle: fruity odor (iso-pentyl acetate); diamond: blank control (diethyl phthalate).

Species	Horse blood	Blood component	Fruity odor	Blank control	Total
Meerkats ¹	57.1	55.0	34.5	43.5	190.0
Eurasian wolves ²	48.1	45.0	17.6	14.4	125.1
African wild dogs ³	11.8	23.6	10.6	7.9	53.9
Asian wild dogs ³	13.4	14.2	6.3	4.3	38.2
South American Bush dogs ³	54.0	52.1	29.7	22.4	158.2
Siberian tigers ³	27.7	27.2	5.7	4.8	65.3

TABLE 4 | Number of interactions per animal with the odorized wooden logs.

(Data from ¹ present study, ²Arshamian et al., 2017, ³Nilsson et al., 2014).

was obvious that they, similar to the other carnivore species tested in previous studies, alternated between phases of rest and phases of activity. Thus, there were at least no obvious between-species differences in this parameter.

Whether the observed between-species differences in interest toward the odorized wooden logs might reflect generic differences in their use of the sense of smell for exploring objects and/or odors is hard to decide. All six carnivore species are known to possess well-developed olfactory brain structures (Gittleman, 1991; van Valkenburgh et al., 2014) and all have been reported to use olfactory cues for social communication and foraging (Nowak, 2005). However, this does not exclude the possibility that the importance and use of the sense of smell may indeed differ among these carnivores. Thus, at this point no conclusive answer can be given as to why the meerkats of the present study displayed a markedly higher interest toward all four odor stimuli compared to the other carnivore species.

Recognition of the Odor Identity of a Complex Odor Mixture

With regard to the reliable recognition of behaviorally relevant odors which are almost always complex mixtures of volatiles the olfactory system can adopt two different strategies:

The first strategy implies that the olfactory system relies on only one or a few "key" or "character impact" compounds which are part of a complex mixture and are used for the recognition of an odor. Accordingly, this strategy requires olfactory receptors that are highly specific to a given ligand and central circuits which allow for a quick and hard-wired translation of a chemical stimulus into a specific behavioral response (Wilson and Stevenson, 2006). Further, this strategy requires that the "key" or "character impact" compound in question is reliably present in the odor mixture and that it can be reliably detected against the noise of the other compounds that are part of the odor mixture as well as against the chemical background noise in the environment (Nehring et al., 2013). Thus, this strategy also requires a high olfactory sensitivity for such a compound in species for which the corresponding odor is behaviorally relevant.

The second strategy implies that the olfactory system relies on either the full bouquet of volatiles that comprise an odor mixture or at least on a larger proportion of its components for the recognition of an odor. Accordingly, this strategy does not require olfactory receptors to be highly specific but instead requires central circuits to create a unitary percept or "odor object" from a complex mixture of volatiles which is stable against fluctuations in the composition and intensity of the mixture components (Wilson and Stevenson, 2006). Thus, this strategy requires the olfactory system to generate patterns of activation which allow for fine discrimination of similar odor mixtures and a cut-off criterion which allows for distinguishing the odor object in question from similar odor objects. An example for the first strategy, in which the olfactory system relies on "key" or "character impact" compounds for odor recognition, would be the perception of certain pheromones, e.g., the rabbit mammary pheromone 2-methylbut-2-enal which has been identified as a component of rabbit milk and elicits a hard-wired behavioral response in rabbit pups (Coureaud et al., 2003; Schaal et al., 2003). This strategy is often connected to innate behavioral responses. An example for the second strategy, in which the olfactory system relies on a complex mixture of volatiles for odor recognition, would be the perception of individual body odors (Beauchamp and Yamazaki, 2003). This strategy is often connected to learned behavioral responses.

To which of these two strategies do our findings of the present study as well as those of previous studies on behavioral responses to blood odor and to the blood odor component *trans*-4,5-epoxy-(E)-2-decenal fit?

Our finding that the blood odor component TED elicited the same high degree of interest in the meerkats as the odor of real blood suggests that this monomolecular compound may serve as a "key" or "character impact" compound for the odor of blood in this and other carnivore species. However, we would like to emphasize that we do not know whether TED is "the" or just "a" component of blood odor that induces a behavioral attraction response. Considering the high number of volatiles that comprise the odor of blood (Kusano et al., 2013) it is not feasible to test all of them with a given species of animal. However, gas chromatography-olfactometry showed that TED was the only blood odor component described as having the typical "metallic, blood-like" quality that is characteristic for the odor of blood as perceived by humans (Rachamadugu, 2012).

Trans-4,5-epoxy-(E)-2-decenal is a product of lipid peroxidation (Buettner and Schieberle, 2001). Considering that this biochemical process is ubiquitous in the metabolism of mammals, it is very likely that TED is present in the blood odor of all mammals. Thus TED is likely to fulfill the prerequisite of the first strategy mentioned above of being reliably present in the odor mixture. Unfortunately, the olfactory detection threshold for TED is not known for any of the predator species that are attracted by this blood odor component. However, human

subjects and mice which are both repelled by the odor of TED (Arshamian et al., 2017; Lahger and Laska, 2018) have been shown to be extraordinarily sensitive to this compound with threshold values in the ppt (parts per trillion) range (Buettner and Schieberle, 2001; Sarrafchi and Laska, 2017). Thus, there is at least circumstantial evidence that TED may fulfill the prerequisite of a "key" or "character impact" compound of being detectable at low concentrations.

To the best of our knowledge, no olfactory receptor has been identified so far as having TED as its specific ligand in any species. Thus, we do not know yet if TED may fulfill the prerequisite of the first strategy mentioned above of having an olfactory receptor that is highly specific to this ligand. Future studies should therefore aim at testing the specificity and sensitivity of olfactory receptors for TED.

Finally, we do not know whether the attraction response to both blood odor and TED observed in mammalian predators is innate, which would support the notion that the first strategy mentioned above might apply, or whether the attraction response is acquired. Thus, future studies should assess behavioral responses of newborn predators to these odors. The finding that laboratory-born mice that were naïve with regard to the odors of blood and TED clearly avoided both odors (Lahger and Laska, 2018) suggests that behavioral responses to TED might indeed be innate rather than acquired.

The Bipolar Behavioral Effect of Blood Odor and TED

Most of the behaviorally relevant odors studied so far have one thing in common: they elicit a certain behavioral response in a given species, or in a given group of species, and they fail to elicit any response in other species, or other groups of species. It is a hallmark of pheromones, for example, to be species-specific and thus to elicit adaptive behavioral responses, e.g., mating or aggregation, in conspecifics but not in heterospecifics (Wyatt, 2014). Similarly, food odors usually elicit adaptive behavioral responses, e.g., foraging for or inspection of a food item, in those species that feed on a given type of food but are usually ignored

REFERENCES

- Apfelbach, R., Parsons, M. H., Soini, H. A., and Novotny, M. V. (2017). Are single odorous components of a predator sufficient to elicit defensive behaviors in prey species? *Front. Neurosci.* 9:263. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015. 00263
- Arakawa, H., Arakawa, K., and Deak, T. (2010). Sickness-related odor communication signals as determinants of social behavior in rat: a role for inflammatory processes. *Horm. Behav.* 57, 330–341. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2010. 01.002
- Arshamian, A., Laska, M., Gordon, A. R., Norberg, M., Lahger, C., Porada, D. K., et al. (2017). A mammalian blood odor component serves as an approachavoidance cue across phylum border - from flies to humans. *Sci. Rep.* 7:13635. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-13361-9
- Beauchamp, G. K., and Yamazaki, K. (2003). Chemical signalling in mice. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 31, 147–151. doi: 10.1042/bst0310147
- Buettner, A., and Schieberle, P. (2001). Aroma properties of a homologous series of 2,3-epoxyalkanals and trans-4,5-epoxy-2-enals. J. Agric. Food Chem. 49, 3881–3884. doi: 10.1021/jf0104329

by species that do not include this type of food into their diet (Stoddart, 1980). Predators are attracted by the odor of their prey whereas non-predators are usually indifferent to the odor of the prey species in question (Conover, 2007). Accordingly, prey species are repelled by the odor of their natural predator whereas non-prey species usually are not (Parsons et al., 2017).

The odors of blood and of its component trans-4,5-epoxy-(E)-2-decenal appear to be rather unique in the sense that they elicit a bipolar behavioral effect: an attraction response in predators (Nilsson et al., 2014; Arshamian et al., 2017) and an avoidance response in prey species (Hornbuckle and Beal, 1974; Lahger and Laska, 2018). In this context it is interesting to note that the avoidance response to both blood odor and TED displayed by mice suggests that these odors are likely to contain a warning cue rather than a fear cue as the animals significantly avoided these odor stimuli without showing behavioral indicators of fear such as freezing or defecation (Lahger and Laska, 2018). Similar behavioral responses indicative of a warning cue, but not a fear cue, have been reported in rats when presented with the odor of sick conspecifics (Arakawa et al., 2010). Future studies should therefore aim at elucidating the neural basis of these opposing behavioral responses, for example whether there are "labeled line"-like neural pathways mediating the connection between the perception of blood odor or of the blood odor component TED and behavioral attraction or avoidance responses.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

HP, MA, and ML conceived the study, analyzed the data, and wrote the manuscript. HP collected the data. All authors critically revised the manuscript, approved the final version, and agree to be accountable for its content.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The animal caretakers at Kolmården Wildlife Park involved in this study are gratefully acknowledged for their help and support.

- Burdock, G. A. (2009). Fenaroli's Handbook of Flavor Ingredients, 6th Edn. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press. doi: 10.1201/9781439847503
- Conover, R. M. (2007). Predator-Prey Dynamics: The Role of Olfaction. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press. doi: 10.1201/9781420009125
- Coureaud, G., Langlois, D., Perrier, G., and Schaal, B. (2003). A single key-odorant accounts for the pheromonal effect of rabbit milk: further test of the mammary pheromone's activity against a wide sample of volatiles from milk. *Chemoecology* 13, 187–192. doi: 10.1007/s00049-003-0249-x
- Doolan, S. P., and Macdonald, D. W. (1996). Diet and foraging behaviour of groupliving meerkats, *Suricata suricatta*, in the southern Kalahari. *J. Zool. Lond.* 239, 697–716. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7998.1996.tb05472.x
- Dunkel, A., Steinhaus, M., Kotthoff, M., Nowak, B., Krautwurst, D., Schieberle, P., et al. (2014). Nature's chemical signatures in human olfaction: a foodborne perspective for future biotechnology. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 53, 7124–7143. doi: 10.1002/anie.201309508
- Gittleman, J. L. (1991). Carnivore olfactory bulb size: allometry, phylogeny and ecology. J. Zool. 225, 253–272. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7998.1991.tb03815.x
- Glickman, S. E., and Sroges, R. W. (1966). Curiosity in zoo animals. *Behaviour* 26, 151–187. doi: 10.1163/156853966X00074

- Hodgkison, R., Ayasse, M., Häberlein, C., Schulz, S., Zubaid, A., Mustapha, W. A. W., et al. (2013). Fruit bats and bat fruits: the evolution of fruit scent in relation to the foraging behaviour of bats in the new and old world tropics. *Funct. Ecol.* 27, 1075–1084. doi: 10.1111/1365-2435.12101
- Hollén, L. I., and Manser, M. B. (2007). Persistence of alarm-call behaviour in the absence of predators: a comparison between wild and captive-born meerkats (*Suricata suricatta*). *Ethology* 113, 1038–1047. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0310.2007. 01409.x
- Hornbuckle, P. A., and Beal, T. (1974). Escape reactions to the blood of selected mammals by rats. *Behav. Biol.* 12, 573–576. doi: 10.1016/S0091-6773(74)92 531-0
- Jordan, N. R. (2007). Scent-marking investment is determined by sex and breeding status in meerkats. Anim. Behav. 74, 531–540. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2006. 12.015
- Kusano, M., Mendez, E., and Furton, K. G. (2013). Comparison of the volatile organic compounds from different biological specimens for profiling potential. *J. Forensic Sci.* 58, 29–39. doi: 10.1111/j.1556-4029.2012.02215.x
- Lahger, C., and Laska, M. (2018). Behavioral responses of CD-1 mice to conspecific and heterospecific blood odors and to a blood odor component. *Physiol. Behav.* 184, 205–210. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2017.12.006
- Laska, M., Fendt, M., Wieser, A., Endres, T., Hernandez Salazar, L. T., and Apfelbach, R. (2005). Detecting danger or just another odorant? *Physiol. Behav.* 84, 211–215.
- Leclaire, S. (2017). Recognition of prey odor in wild meerkats. *Chemoecology* 27, 85–90. doi: 10.1007/s00049-017-0229-1
- Leclaire, S., Nielsen, J. F., Thavarajah, N. K., Manser, M., and Clutton-Brock, T. H. (2013). Odour-based kin discrimination in the cooperatively breeding meerkat. *Biol. Lett.* 9:20121054. doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2012.1054
- Mackay-Sim, A., and Laing, D. (1981). Rats' responses to blood and body odors of stressed and nonstressed conspecifics. *Physiol. Behav.* 27, 503–510. doi: 10.1016/ 0031-9384(81)90339-5
- Mares, R., Young, A. J., Levesque, D. L., Harrison, N., and Clutton-Brock, T. H. (2011). Responses to intruder scents in the cooperatively breeding meerkat: sex and social status differences and temporal variation. *Behav. Ecol.* 22, 594–600. doi: 10.1093/beheco/arr021
- Nehring, V., Wyatt, T. D., and d'Ettorre, P. (2013). "Noise in chemial communication," in *Animal Communication and Noise*, ed. H. Brumm (New York, NY: Springer), 373–405. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-41494-7_13
- Nevo, O., Orts Garri, R., Hernandez Salazar, L. T., Schulz, S., Heymann, E. W., Ayasse, M., et al. (2015). Chemical recognition of fruit ripeness in spider monkeys (*Ateles geoffroyi*). Sci. Rep. 5:14895. doi: 10.1038/srep14895
- Nilsson, S., Sjöberg, J., Amundin, M., Hartmann, C., Buettner, A., and Laska, M. (2014). Behavioral responses to mammalian blood and a blood odor component in four species of large carnivores. *PLoS One* 9:e112694. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0112694
- Nowak, R. M. (2005). *Walker's Carnivores of the World*. Baltimore, MD: The Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Nyakatura, K., and Bininda-Emonds, O. R. P. (2012). Updating the evolutionary history of Carnivora (Mammalia): a new species-level supertree complete with divergence time estimates. *BMC Biol*. 10:12. doi: 10.1186/1741-7007-10-12
- Ohloff, G. (1994). Scent and Fragrances: The Fascination of Odors and their Chemical Perspectives. Berlin: Springer.
- Parsons, M. H., Apfelbach, R., Banks, P. B., Cameron, E. Z., Dickman, C. R., Frank, A. S. K., et al. (2017). Biologically meaningful scents: a framework for understanding predator-prey research across disciplines. *Biol. Rev. Camb. Philos. Soc.* 93, 98–114. doi: 10.1111/brv.12334

- Rachamadugu, S. K. (2012). Characterization of Specific Volatiles of Blood with the Potential as Predator Chemoattractants and as Prey Warning Signals. Master thesis, Linköping University, Linköping.
- Riffell, J. A., Lei, H., Christensen, T. A., and Hildebrand, J. G. (2009). Characterization and coding of behaviorally significant odor mixtures. *Curr. Biol.* 19, 335–340. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2009.01.041
- Sandnabba, N. K. (1997). The effect of blood signals on aggressive behaviour in mice. Behav. Proc. 41, 51–56. doi: 10.1016/S0376-6357(97)00028-4
- Sarrafchi, A., and Laska, M. (2017). Olfactory sensitivity for the mammalian blood odor component trans-4,5-epoxy-(E)-2-decenal in CD-1 mice. *Perception* 46, 333–342. doi: 10.1177/0301006616653136
- Sarrafchi, A., Odhammer, A. M. E., Hernandez Salazar, L. T., and Laska, M. (2013). Olfactory sensitivity for six predator odorants in CD-1 mice, human subjects, and spider monkeys. *PLoS One* 8:e80621. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.008 0621
- Schaal, B., Coureaud, G., Langlois, D., Giniès, C., Sémon, E., and Perrier, G. (2003). Chemical and behavioural characterization of the rabbit mammary pheromone. *Nature* 424, 68–72. doi: 10.1038/nature01739
- Sell, C. S. (2014). Chemistry and the Sense of Smell. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley. doi: 10.1002/9781118522981
- Stevens, D. A., and Saplikoski, N. J. (1973). Rats' reactions to conspecific muscle and blood: evidence for an alarm substance. *Behav. Biol.* 8, 75–82. doi: 10.1016/ S0091-6773(73)80008-2
- Stoddart, D. M. (1980). "Detection of food," in *The Ecology of Vertebrate Olfaction*, ed. D. M. Stoddart (London: Chapman & Hall), 63–83. doi: 10.1007/978-94-009-5869-2_3
- Thomas-Danguin, T., Sinding, C., Romagny, S., El Mountassir, F., Atanasova, B., Le Berre, E., et al. (2014). The perception of odor objects in everyday life: a review on the processing of odor mixtures. *Front. Psychol.* 5:504. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg. 2014.00504
- van Staaden, M. J. (1994). Suricata suricatta. Mamm. Spec. 483, 1–8. doi: 10.2307/ 3504085
- van Valkenburgh, B., Pang, B., Bird, D., Curtis, A., Yee, K., Wysocki, C., et al. (2014). Respiratory and olfactory turbinals in feliform and caniform carnivorans: the influence of snout length. *Anat. Rec.* 297, 2065–2079. doi: 10.1002/ar.23026
- Wilson, D. A., and Stevenson, R. J. (2006). "Odor quality discrimination in nonhuman animals," in *Learning to Smell*, eds D. A. Wilson and R. J. Stevenson (Baltimore, MD: The Johns Hopkins University Press), 76–132.
- Wyatt, T. D. (2014). *Pheromones and Animal Behavior*, 2nd Edn. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Zöttl, M., Lienert, R., Clutton-Brock, T., Millesi, E., and Manser, M. B. (2013). The effects of recruitment to direct predator cues on predator responses in meerkats. *Behav. Ecol.* 24, 198–204. doi: 10.1093/beheco/ars154

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Pettersson, Amundin and Laska. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





fMRI-Based Brain Responses to Quinine and Sucrose Gustatory Stimulation for Nutrition Research in the Minipig Model: A Proof-of-Concept Study

Nicolas Coquery¹, Paul Meurice¹, Régis Janvier¹, Eric Bobillier¹, Stéphane Quellec², Minghai Fu³, Eugeni Roura³, Hervé Saint-Jalmes⁴ and David Val-Laillet^{1*}

¹ INRA, INSERM, Univ Rennes, Nutrition Metabolisms and Cancer, NuMeCan, Rennes, France, ² IRSTEA, UR OPAALE, Rennes, France, ³ Centre for Nutrition and Food Sciences, Queensland Alliance for Agriculture and Food Innovation, The University of Queensland, St. Lucia, QLD, Australia, ⁴ CLCC Eugène Marquis, Inserm, LTSI-UMR 1099, Université de Rennes, Rennes, France

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gérard Coureaud, INSERM U1028 Centre de Recherche en Neurosciences de Lyon, France

Reviewed by:

Andy Wai Kan Yeung, The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong Hubert Preissl, Institut für Diabetesforschung und Metabolische Erkrankungen (IDM), Germanv

> *Correspondence: David Val-Laillet david.val-laillet@inra.fr

Received: 02 May 2018 **Accepted:** 03 July 2018 **Published:** 24 July 2018

Citation:

Coquery N, Meurice P, Janvier R, Bobillier E, Quellec S, Fu M, Roura E, Saint-Jalmes H and Val-Laillet D (2018) fMRI-Based Brain Responses to Quinine and Sucrose Gustatory Stimulation for Nutrition Research in the Minipig Model: A Proof-of-Concept Study. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 12:151. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2018.00151 The minipig model is of high interest for brain research in nutrition and associated pathologies considering the similarities to human nutritional physiology, brain structures, and functions. In the context of a gustatory stimulation paradigm, fMRI can provide crucial information about the sensory, cognitive, and hedonic integration of exteroceptive stimuli in healthy and pathological nutritional conditions. Our aims were (i) to validate the experimental setup, i.e., fMRI acquisition and SPM-based statistical analysis, with a visual stimulation; (ii) to implement the fMRI procedure in order to map the brain responses to different gustatory stimulations, i.e., sucrose (5%) and quinine (10 mM), and (ii) to investigate the differential effects of potentially aversive (quinine) and appetitive/pleasant (sucrose) oral stimulation on brain responses, especially in the limbic and reward circuits. Six Yucatan minipigs were imaged on an Avanto 1.5-T MRI under isoflurane anesthesia and mechanical ventilation. BOLD signal was recorded during visual or gustatory (artificial saliva, sucrose, or quinine) stimulation with a block paradigm. With the visual stimulation, brain responses were detected in the visual cortex, thus validating our experimental and statistical setup. Quinine and sucrose stimulation promoted different cerebral activation patterns that were concordant, to some extent, to results from human studies. The insular cortex (i.e., gustatory cortex) was activated with both sucrose and quinine, but other regions were specifically activated by one or the other stimulation. Gustatory stimulation combined with fMRI analysis in large animals such as minipigs is a promising approach to investigate the integration of gustatory stimulation in healthy or pathological conditions such as obesity, eating disorders, or dysgeusia. To date, this is the first intent to describe gustatory stimulation in minipigs using fMRI.

Keywords: fMRI, brain, pig, nutrition, gustatory stimulation, visual stimulation, hedonism
INTRODUCTION

The pig and minipig models are now recognized as one of the most prominent large animal model for human nutritional physiology (Roura et al., 2016; Roura and Fu, 2017) and neuroimaging studies (Sauleau et al., 2009; Clouard et al., 2012b; Val-Laillet et al., 2015). Given the exponential use of magnetic resonance imaging in human, many efforts have to be made in order to adapt MRI setup to the pig and minipig specificities. Regarding brain investigation with functional MRI (fMRI) and, to our knowledge, only few studies were performed in pigs and minipigs, including different kinds of stimulation paradigms and stimuli, such as visual (Fang et al., 2006; Gizewski et al., 2007), somatosensory (Fang et al., 2005; Duhaime et al., 2006), pharmacological (Mäkiranta et al., 2002), and deep-brain stimulations (Min et al., 2012; Knight et al., 2013; Paek et al., 2015; Gibson et al., 2016; Settell et al., 2017). To date, no study has been performed with fMRI to explore the brain responses to gustatory stimulations for nutrition research.

Olfactory and gustatory stimulations have already been widely investigated in the pig and minipig models. Roura and Fu (2017) and Val-Laillet (2018) have recently provided complete reviews on this topic and the scope of the methodologies used for this purpose come from ethology (Clouard et al., 2012a,c; Clouard and Val-Laillet, 2014) to electrophysiology (Danilova et al., 1999) and nuclear imaging, such as single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) or positron emission tomography (PET; Clouard et al., 2012a, 2014b; Val-Laillet et al., 2015; Val-Laillet, 2018). These approaches provide either information about a long-term integration of the stimulation, i.e., behavior or nuclear imaging, or a direct but local impact, i.e., electrophysiology. Furthermore, nuclear imaging, usually performed with an acquisition time frame of several minutes, can only inspect the global brain changes, such as in brain perfusion for SPECT with hexa-methylpropyl-amineoxime (HMPAO) detection, or glucose metabolism for PET with fluoro-deoxyglucose detection. fMRI solely can provide information on the acute response (15-20 s) to a repeated single and short stimulation in a global brain analysis, making this methodology of high interest for nutritional studies. Moreover, different kinds of stimulations and their controls can be investigated during the same imaging session, contrary to paradigms using nuclear imaging, which significantly increases the methodological strength and statistical comparison power between stimulations, in addition to temporal resolution, and decreases the costs and constraints for animal experimentation on large animals.

The couple pleasant vs. aversive stimulation is currently gaining more attention for nutritional studies in human. Indeed, this approach is being used to decipher the organization of the gustatory cortex, e.g., the insular cortex (Rudenga et al., 2010; Dalenberg et al., 2015) and the associated brain areas (Zald et al., 2002; van den Bosch et al., 2014; Field et al., 2015). This approach is also used to investigate the impact of aging (Hoogeveen et al., 2015) or pathologies, such as obesity (Szalay et al., 2012), on those brain areas. Besides species differences in terms of taste detection and integration between human and the pig or minipig model (Roura and Fu, 2017), the pleasant vs. aversive impact of compounds have been already investigated with behavioral exploration and nuclear imaging in pigs (Clouard et al., 2012b,c) but not with fMRI.

In this study, we aim to validate in the minipig model a fMRI-based analysis of brain responses to sucrose vs. quinine stimulation as a model of pleasant vs. aversive stimulation paradigm. For this purpose, we first validate the experimental and analysis setup with a visual stimulation based on a previous study (Gizewski et al., 2007). This first attempt of fMRI analysis of gustatory stimulation should be of high interest for nutritional studies for basic research and pre-clinical purposes.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

Experiments were conducted in accordance with the current ethical standards of the European Community (Directive 2010/63/EU), Agreement No. C35-275-32, and Authorization No. 35-88. The Regional Ethics Committee in Animal Experiment of Brittany has validated and approved the entire procedure described in this paper (Project No. 2015051312053879). A total of six 1-year-old 30-kg male Yucatan minipigs were used in this study. The pigs were housed in individual pens (150 cm \times 60 cm \times 80 cm) and had free access to water. A chain was suspended in each pen to enrich the environment of the animals and fulfill their natural disposition to play. The room was maintained at \sim 24°C with a 13:11-h light–dark cycle.

Anesthesia

Pre-anesthesia was performed with an intramuscular injection of ketamine (5 mg/kg – Imalgene 1000, Merial, Lyon, France) in overnight-fasted animals. Isoflurane inhalation (Aerane 100 ml, Baxter SAS, France) was used to suppress the pharyngotracheal reflex and then establish a surgical level of anesthesia, 3–5 and 2–3% v/v, respectively. After intubation, anesthesia was maintained with 2.5% v/v isoflurane and mechanical respiration allowed adjustment of respiratory frequency at 20 breathing/minute with a tidal volume of 450 ml. Cotton wool with an additional headset were used to conceal the animal's ears.

Visual and Gustatory Stimulation

For visual and gustatory stimulation, we used a custom-made stimulation apparatus, which was located outside the magnetshielded room (5-m distance) and used to deliver both visual and gustatory stimulations upon synchronization with the MRI system.

Visual Stimulation

Both eyes were entirely covered by an opaque cap. The stimulation apparatus produced the visual stimulation that was conducted to the animal's right eye cap with an optical fiber. Visual simulation consisted of flashlight at a frequency of 8 Hz. A block paradigm was used: 20-s stimulation ON, 20-s stimulation OFF, repeated 15 times. The entire stimulation protocol duration was about 10 min.

Gustatory Stimulation

Animals were equipped with an oral apparatus allowing gustatory stimulation as previously described (Clouard et al., 2012a) and consisting of three tubes, one for each solution, with an additional circular tube for continuous aspiration of liquid. Quinine (10 mM, Q1125-25G, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Quentin Fallavier, France) and sucrose (5%, S/8560/65, Fisher Chemical, Leics, United Kingdom) were solubilized in artificial saliva (Hellekant et al., 1997). In order to obtain the highest brain responses for each stimulation, three blocks of stimulation were performed in the following order, from the least to the most persistent solution in mouth: control stimulation with artificial saliva, sucrose stimulation, and guinine stimulation, each stimulation being repeated 15 times. Each stimulation consisted of oral stimulation (5 s, 24 mL/min), 25-s pause, rinse with artificial saliva (15 s, 24 mL/min), and pause (15 s). The entire stimulation protocol duration was about 45 min

MRI Image Acquisition

Image acquisition was performed on a 1.5-T magnet (Siemens Avanto) at the Rennes Platform for Multimodal Imaging and Spectroscopy. Acquisitions were performed using a combination of coils (Body and Spine matrix coils) for optimized signal to noise ratio acquisition. *T1-weighted anatomical image acquisition*: a MP-RAGE sequence was adapted for adult minipig anatomy (1.2 mm \times 1.2 mm \times 1.2 mm, NA = 2, TR = 2400 ms, TE = 3.62 ms, TI = 854 ms, FA = 8°, acquisition duration 15 min). *BOLD signal acquisition*: an echo planar imaging sequence was adapted for minipig head geometry (TR/TE: 2500/40 ms, FA: 90°, voxel size: 2.5 mm \times 2.5 mm \times 2.5 mm). The first four acquired volumes were excluded for the data analysis, meaning that no stimulation was performed during this period.

Data Analysis and Statistical Image Analysis

Data analysis was performed with SPM12 (version 6906, Wellcome Department of Cognitive Neurology, London, United Kingdom). After slice timing correction, realignment, and spatial normalization on a pig brain atlas (Saikali et al., 2010), images were smoothed with a Gaussian kernel of 4 mm. Voxel-based statistic: first-level (within-individual contrast) and second-level (within-group contrast) statistics were assessed with a threshold set at p < 0.05 to produce the brain maps of activation. No suprathreshold voxels were detected with FDR correction at p < 0.05. ROI-based statistic: anatomical ROIs from the Saikali pig atlas (Saikali et al., 2010) were extracted and ROI-based statistic was performed using the Marsbar toolbox with a uncorrected p-value threshold set at 0.05 for the whole ROI. Statistical analysis was performed either on single stimulation, e.g., changes compared to baseline, or between stimulations differences. Data from only five minipigs were used for visual analysis due to a

complication during acquisition of the visual stimulation in one animal.

RESULTS

fMRI Setup and Statistical Analysis Validation With Visual Stimulation

We first aimed to validate the experimental setup, the acquisition, and the statistical analysis pipeline with a visual stimulation paradigm such as previously described (Fang et al., 2006; Gizewski et al., 2007). We could easily distinguish a significant BOLD response in the left occipital lobe (**Figure 1A**). This cluster was mostly found in the primary visual system V1. The ROI-based statistical analysis confirmed a significant BOLD response in V1 but also in V2 (**Figure 1B**).

Brain Responses to Artificial Saliva Stimulation

With artificial saliva stimulation, we could detect a large activation pattern in olfacto-gustatory centers (Rolls, 2005) such as the insular cortex, the prepyriform area, and thalamic regions, but also in other brain areas (**Figure 2A**). The ROI-based statistical analysis validated the increased BOLD responses within these brain regions (**Figure 2B**).

All stimulations (saliva, sucrose, and quinine) were able to activate, but in different subparts, the primary somatosensory



ROI	Hemisphere	t-value	p (uncor.)
V2: Sec. Visual Cortex	L	15.58	<0.001
V1: Prim. Visual Cortex	L	3.90	0.009
DL Cingulate Cortex	L	2.79	0.025
Parahippocampal Cortex	R	2.54	0.032
Amygdala	L	2.51	0.033
DL Cingulate Cortex	R	2.28	0.042
Orbitofrontal Cortex	R	2.13	0.050
V2: Sec. Visual Cortex	B	2.07	0.053

FIGURE 1 | (A) Horizontal maps of global brain BOLD responses to a visual stimulation (white flash, 8 Hz). *p*-Value threshold = 0.05; DV, dorsal-ventral position in mm related to the posterior commissure. **(B)** Related ROI-based statistical analysis with ROIs from Saikali atlas (Saikali et al., 2010). ROI abbreviations are detailed at the bottom of the panel **(A)**. Cerebellar brain ROIs were excluded, *p*-values <0.05 are presented in black normal font style, and *p*-value between 0.05 and 0.1 are presented in gray italic.



separated by a line and are organize in *p*-value decreasing order.

cortex, the somatosensory association cortex, the dorsal posterior cingulate cortex, the insular cortex, and the putamen (**Figure 2A**). For instance, sucrose and quinine stimulation promote brain activation in the most anterior part of the insular cortex, which is in accordance with taste encoding (Rolls, 2016). However, sucrose and quinine stimulations promoted a reduced number of activated voxels in the brain (sucrose: n = 174 activated voxels and quinine: n = 222 activated voxels) compared with artificial saliva stimulation (n = 399 activated voxels), as illustrated in the insular cortex (**Figure 2A**). This is illustrated in the sucrose vs. artificial saliva and in the quinine vs. artificial saliva brain maps in which we detected fewer activated voxels with quinine stimulation than with artificial saliva stimulation

(Figure 3A). The ROI-based statistical analysis also showed more statistically activated brain regions with artificial saliva stimulation (n = 15 for p < 0.05, Figure 2B) than with sucrose (n = 2 for p < 0.05) or quinine stimulation (n = 4 for p < 0.05, Figures 2C,D).

Brain Responses to Sucrose Stimulation

Compared with artificial saliva stimulation, the sucrose stimulation also promoted activations, but in different subparts, in the anterior prefrontal cortex, the dorsal posterior cingulate cortex, a larger activation in the putamen, and an additional activation in the entorhinal cortex and the caudate nucleus (**Figure 2A**).



The ROI-based statistical analysis validated in part the global brain changes and showed an activation of the primary motor cortex and the putamen, a tendency toward activation of five other brain structures (**Figure 2C**).

The sucrose vs. artificial saliva brain map corroborated these observations (Figure 3A). Compared to artificial saliva, sucrose

promoted a decreased activation in the prepyriform area, the dorsal anterior cingulate cortex, the anterior and the ventral part of the anterior prefrontal cortex, the anterior part of the dorsal lateral prefrontal cortex, the fusiform gyrus, the ventral part of the caudate nucleus, the nucleus accumbens, the amygdala, and both higher activation and decreased activation in the insular cortex and the putamen. The ROI-based statistical analysis of the sucrose vs. artificial saliva stimulation showed a statistical activation only in the central thalamic area and a statistical decreased activation in two thalamic areas, the fusiform gyrus, the hippocampus, the olfactory bulb, the prepyriform area, the nucleus accumbens, and a tendency toward lower activation in nine others brain structures such as, for instance, the entorhinal cortex, the dorsal anterior cingulate cortex, the para-hippocampal cortex, the nucleus accumbens, the substantia nigra, and the globus pallidus (**Figure 3B**).

Brain Responses to Quinine Stimulation

Compared with artificial saliva stimulation, the quinine stimulation promoted also activations, but in different subparts, in the prepyriform area, the dorsal posterior cingulate cortex, the dorsal lateral prefrontal cortex, a larger activation in the fusiform gyrus, the caudate nucleus, the nucleus accumbens, and an additional activation in the para-hippocampal cortex and the orbitofrontal cortex (**Figure 2A**).

The ROI-based statistical analysis supports in part the global brain changes and showed an activation of the fusiform gyrus, the nucleus accumbens, the para-hippocampal cortex, the ventral anterior thalamic nucleus, a tendency toward activation of seven other brain structures, i.e., the orbitofrontal cortex, the putamen, and the caudate nucleus (**Figure 2D**).

The quinine vs. artificial saliva brain maps corroborated these observations (Figure 3A). Compared to artificial saliva, quinine promoted a larger activation in the caudate nucleus, a decreased activation in the ventral part of the anterior prefrontal cortex, the putamen, and both activation and decreased activation in the insular cortex, the prepyriform area, the dorsal lateral prefrontal cortex, the dorsal posterior cingulate cortex, and the hippocampus. The ROI-based statistical analysis of the quinine vs. artificial saliva stimulation only showed a tendency toward activation in four brain structures, i.e., the lateral dorsal thalamic nucleus, the anterior entorhinal cortex, the geniculate nuclei, and the fusiform gyrus; a statistical decreased activation in the prepyriform area, the lateral dorsal thalamic nucleus, the hippocampus, the claustrum, and a tendency toward decreased activation in eight others brain structures, i.e., the globus pallidus, the olfactory bulb, the para-hippocampal cortex, the insular cortex, and the nucleus of the solitary tract (Figure 3C).

Comparison of Brain Responses to Sucrose vs. Quinine Stimulations

The quinine vs. sucrose brain map allowed discriminating the impact of each stimulation. Quinine promoted a higher activation in the dorsal lateral prefrontal cortex, the ventral part of the anterior prefrontal cortex, the prepyriform area, the parahippocampal cortex, the fusiform gyrus, the hippocampus, the caudate nucleus, the posterior region of the putamen, the nucleus accumbens, and in the amygdala (**Figure 3A**, in red). Sucrose promoted a higher activation in the primary somatosensory cortex, the dorsal anterior cingulate cortex, the dorsal part of anterior prefrontal cortex, and in the putamen (**Figure 3A**, in

blue). Note that each stimulation showed higher activation in different subparts of the insular cortex, the anterior prefrontal cortex (larger activation for sucrose stimulation), the putamen (larger activation for sucrose stimulation), and the caudate nucleus (larger activation for quinine stimulation).

The ROI-based statistical analysis of the quinine vs. sucrose stimulation validated in part the global brain changes and showed a higher activation from quinine in the fusiform gyrus, the caudate nucleus, the geniculate nuclei, the nucleus accumbens, and the anterior entorhinal cortex, a tendency toward higher activation of five other brain structures including the dorsal anterior cingulate cortex, the orbitofrontal cortex, the substantia nigra, the lateral dorsal thalamic nucleus, and the olfactory bulb, whereas we could only detect a higher statistical activation with sucrose stimulation in the globus pallidus and the claustrum (**Figure 3D**).

DISCUSSION

For the first time, this proof-of-concept study describes in the minipig model the brain responses to contrasted gustatory stimulations with fMRI. After validation of our fMRI paradigm with visual stimulation, we were able to detect the brain responses elicited by artificial saliva, sucrose, and quinine oral gustatory stimulations. The statistical analysis also allowed investigating the specificity of quinine stimulation, as an aversive stimulation paradigm, vs. sucrose stimulation, as a pleasant stimulation paradigm.

As a prerequisite, we aimed to validate our experimental setup, image processing, and statistical analysis approaches with a visual stimulation paradigm, as investigated in a previous study (Gizewski et al., 2007). We were able to detect statistically significant brain responses in the contralateral visual cortex but also a trend toward activation in the ipsilateral visual cortex, which is in accordance with previous studies related to visual stimulation in pigs (Fang et al., 2006) and in minipigs (Gizewski et al., 2007). In this proof-of-concept study, the brain responses of five animals were sufficient to detect the brain activation elicited by visual stimulation (uncorrected statistic at a p-value level of 0.05). Note that correction for multiple comparisons with satisfactory *p*-values threshold in fMRI paradigms has been achieved in pigs only with deep brain stimulation (Min et al., 2012; Knight et al., 2013; Paek et al., 2015; Gibson et al., 2016; Settell et al., 2017), which is a highly invasive treatment deeply modifying brain activity. The ROIbased statistic without correction for multiple ROI comparison is a non-standard approach regarding to usual human fMRI-based statistical analyses, but was used to provide first evidence is this exploratory study. Considering the limited number of animals and the fact that they were anesthetized during the imaging procedure, detection of a specific BOLD signal in accordance with our hypotheses was already a satisfactory achievement. Of course, further studies should consider increasing the number of animals or stimulations per animal to reach a better statistical power and improving the anesthesia and/or stimulation paradigms to reduce inter-individual variability.

Even though artificial saliva is usually considered as a neutral stimulus (Hellekant et al., 1997, Clouard et al., 2014b), our results showed that it elicited a broad spectrum of brain responses in olfactogustatory brain areas, limbic and corticostriatal areas, meaning that it is not a trivial stimulation. Our approach and the global brain maps of sucrose vs. artificial saliva stimulation obtained here are comparable to those described in pigs by Clouard et al. (2014b), who investigated the impact of oral sucrose 5% stimulation on brain blood flow. Interestingly, we could also detect decreased activation in the caudate nucleus, the nucleus accumbens and the amygdala, which was reported in obese humans with sucrose stimulation compared with nonobese humans (Green et al., 2011). The global brain map of quinine vs. artificial saliva stimulation can be compared to the study of Zald et al. (2002), in which bitter stimulation promoted an increased cerebral blood flow in the dorsal cingulate cortex, the orbitofrontal cortex and the nucleus accumbens. Overall, our data are in line with a recent meta-analysis searching common pattern of activity related to basic taste stimulation, i.e., activation in the insular cortex, the thalamic region, the hippocampus, the putamen, and the cingulate cortex (Yeung et al., 2017).

Based on behavioral data available in animals (McCutcheon et al., 2012; Clouard et al., 2014a; Roura et al., 2016; Roura and Fu, 2017) and humans (Veldhuizen et al., 2006; Rudenga et al., 2010; Dalenberg et al., 2015; Field et al., 2015), the quinine vs. sucrose stimulation paradigm is now used as a common paradigm to decipher the central integration of aversive vs. pleasant stimulations using neuroimaging approaches (Zald et al., 2002; Rudenga et al., 2010; Szalay et al., 2012; van den Bosch et al., 2014; Dalenberg et al., 2015; Field et al., 2015).

The amygdala, which has direct connections from lingual nerves (King et al., 2014), is involved in pleasant and unpleasant stimuli (O'Doherty et al., 2001) and has been reported to be more activated with quinine compared to water stimulation (Zald et al., 2002). However, increased activation in amygdala with sucrose compared to quinine stimulation was also reported in humans between sucrose likers and quinine dis-likers (van den Bosch et al., 2014). In a previous study in the human, the orbitofrontal cortex, which is involved in hedonic taste valence, was found modulated by the pleasantness of the gustatory stimulation (Small et al., 2003). The anterior cingulate cortex, which is involved in taste pleasantness (Grabenhorst and Rolls, 2008), was more activated with sucrose stimulation than with quinine stimulation, which suggests a higher activation in this brain region with pleasant vs. unpleasant stimulation (Small et al., 2003; Green et al., 2015). Overall, sucrose stimulation promoted less activation in the brain than quinine stimulation, as already described in the human (Zald et al., 2002; Szalay et al., 2012). As major actors of the reward system, the nucleus accumbens and the caudate nucleus (Liu et al., 2011) were found activated with sucrose stimulation (Smith, 2004; Haase et al., 2009; Jacobson et al., 2010), but other authors showed that sucrose might promote inhibition in the nucleus accumbens in rats, whereas quinine promoted activation (Roitman et al., 2005). In our study, quinine was more effective than sucrose to induce activation in both these brain structures, but a concentration of 5% sucrose (i.e., 0.15 M) might have not been

sufficient to promote a prominent response in the rewardrelated brain regions compared to the concentration used in the aforementioned studies (i.e., 0.64 M). Even though the limited number of animals and the use of uncorrected statistics are important limitations in our study, we managed to describe brain responses differences between quinine and sucrose stimulations in brain structures already highlighted in human studies as aforementioned. It is necessary to keep in mind that discrepancies with previous studies might be related to physiological differences in the olfaction of pigs compared to humans (Roura et al., 2016; Roura and Fu, 2017), to differences related to the tastants' concentration (Yeung et al., 2016, 2018) and/or novelty (Clouard et al., 2012a; Kishi et al., 2017), or to the hunger/satiety status during imaging (Haase et al., 2009). Finally, it is important to remind that our animals were anesthetized, which might modulate or attenuate brain responsiveness (Hendrich et al., 2001; Willis et al., 2001).

CONCLUSION

To date, among all fMRI studies performed in pigs or minipigs, this pilot study provides for the first time some preliminary evidences on brain responses to gustatory stimulation with pleasant and aversive compounds in the minipig model. Even though our study used a limited number of animals with uncorrected statistics, our overall approach can be of high interest for preclinical studies investigating the sensory integration from gustatory stimulation such as in young vs. elderly investigations (Green et al., 2011) or in pathologies such as metabolic syndrome (Green et al., 2015) or obesity (Szalay et al., 2012).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

NC, MF, ER, and DV-L contributed in the experimental design. NC, EB, RJ, SQ, PM, and HS-J contributed in the technical development. NC, PM, and RJ performed the experiments. NC and PM analyzed the data. NC, HS-J, MF, ER, and DV-L wrote the manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was funded by the AlimH Division (Nutrition, Chemical Safety and Consumer Behaviour) of INRA. A financial contribution was also provided by the University of Queensland.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the staff from the animal facility UEPR (Unité Expérimentale Porcs de Rennes, St. Gilles, France) of INRA for their technical support: Serge Dubois, Bruno Fontaine, Renan Delaunay, and Alain Chauvin. We also acknowledge the PRISM (Plateforme de Recherche en Imagerie et Spectroscopie Multimodales, Rennes, France) core facility for its technical support.

REFERENCES

- Clouard, C., Jouhanneau, M., Meunier-Salaün, M.-C., Malbert, C. H., and Val-Laillet, D. (2012a). Exposures to conditioned flavours with different hedonic values induce contrasted behavioural and brain responses in pigs. *PLoS One* 7:e37968. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0037968
- Clouard, C., Loison, F., Meunier-Salaün, M.-C., and Val-Laillet, D. (2014a). An attempt to condition flavour preference induced by oral and/or postoral administration of 16% sucrose in pigs. *Physiol. Behav.* 124, 107–115. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2013.10.025
- Clouard, C., Meunier-Salaün, M.-C., Meurice, P., Malbert, C.-H., and Val-Laillet, D. (2014b). Combined compared to dissociated oral and intestinal sucrose stimuli induce different brain hedonic processes. *Front. Psychol.* 5:861. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00861
- Clouard, C., Meunier-Salaün, M. C., and Val-Laillet, D. (2012b). Food preferences and aversions in human health and nutrition: how can pigs help the biomedical research? *Animal* 6, 118–136. doi: 10.1017/S1751731111001315
- Clouard, C., Meunier-Salaün, M.-C., and Val-Laillet, D. (2012c). The effects of sensory functional ingredients on food preferences, intake and weight gain in juvenile pigs. *Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci.* 138, 36–46. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2012. 01.016
- Clouard, C., and Val-Laillet, D. (2014). Impact of sensory feed additives on feed intake, feed preferences, and growth of female piglets during the early postweaning period. J. Anim. Sci. 92, 2133–2140. doi: 10.2527/jas.2013-6809
- Dalenberg, J. R., Hoogeveen, H. R., Renken, R. J., Langers, D. R. M., and ter Horst, G. J. (2015). Functional specialization of the male insula during taste perception. *Neuroimage* 119, 210–220. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.06.062
- Danilova, V., Roberts, T., and Hellekant, G. (1999). Responses of single taste fibers and whole chorda tympani and glossopharyngeal nerve in the domestic pig, *Sus scrofa. Chem. Senses* 24, 301–316. doi: 10.1093/chemse/24.3.301
- Duhaime, A.-C., Saykin, A. J., McDonald, B. C., Dodge, C. P., Eskey, C. J., Darcey, T. M., et al. (2006). Functional magnetic resonance imaging of the primary somatosensory cortex in piglets. *J. Neurosurg. Pediatr.* 104, 259–264. doi: 10.3171/ped.2006.104.4.259
- Fang, M., Li, J., Rudd, J. A., Wai, S. M., Yew, J. C. C., and Yew, D. T. (2006). fMRI Mapping of cortical centers following visual stimulation in postnatal pigs of different ages. *Life Sci.* 78, 1197–1201. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2005.06.030
- Fang, M., Lorke, D. E., Li, J., Gong, X., Yew, J. C. C., and Yew, D. T. (2005). Postnatal changes in functional activities of the pig's brain: a combined functional magnetic resonance imaging and immunohistochemical study. *Neurosignals* 14, 222–233. doi: 10.1159/000088638
- Field, B. A., Buck, C. L., McClure, S. M., Nystrom, L. E., Kahneman, D., and Cohen, J. D. (2015). Attentional modulation of brain responses to primary appetitive and aversive stimuli. *PLoS One* 10:e0130880. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.013 0880
- Gibson, W. S., Ross, E. K., Han, S. R., Van Gompel, J. J., Min, H.-K., and Lee, K. H. (2016). Anterior thalamic deep brain stimulation: functional activation patterns in a large animal model. *Brain Stimul.* 9, 770–773. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2016.04.012
- Gizewski, E. R., Schanze, T., Bolle, I., de Greiff, A., Forsting, M., and Laube, T. (2007). Visualization of the visual cortex in minipigs using fMRI. *Res. Vet. Sci.* 82, 281–286. doi: 10.1016/j.rvsc.2006.08.004
- Grabenhorst, F., and Rolls, E. T. (2008). Selective attention to affective value alters how the brain processes taste stimuli. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 27, 723–729. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2008.06033.x
- Green, E., Jacobson, A., Haase, L., and Murphy, C. (2011). Reduced nucleus accumbens and caudate nucleus activation to a pleasant taste is associated with obesity in older adults. *Brain Res.* 1386, 109–117. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2011. 02.071
- Green, E., Jacobson, A., Haase, L., and Murphy, C. (2015). Neural correlates of taste and pleasantness evaluation in the metabolic syndrome. *Brain Res.* 1620, 57–71. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2015.03.034
- Haase, L., Cerf-Ducastel, B., and Murphy, C. (2009). Cortical activation in response to pure taste stimuli during the physiological states of hunger and satiety. *Neuroimage* 44, 1008–1021. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.09.044
- Hellekant, G., Danilova, V., and Ninomiya, Y. (1997). Primate sense of taste: behavioral and single chorda tympani and glossopharyngeal nerve fiber recordings in the rhesus monkey, *Macaca mulatta. J. Neurophysiol.* 77, 978–993. doi: 10.1152/jn.1997.77.2.978

- Hendrich, K. S., Kochanek, P. M., Melick, J. A., Schiding, J. K., Statler, K. D., Williams, D. S., et al. (2001). Cerebral perfusion during anesthesia with fentanyl, isoflurane, or pentobarbital in normal rats studied by arterial spin-labeled MRI. *Magn. Reson. Med.* 46, 202–206. doi: 10.1002/mrm.1178
- Hoogeveen, H. R., Dalenberg, J. R., Renken, R. J., ter Horst, G. J., and Lorist, M. M. (2015). Neural processing of basic tastes in healthy young and older adults - an fMRI study. *Neuroimage* 119, 1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.06.017
- Jacobson, A., Green, E., and Murphy, C. (2010). Age-related functional changes in gustatory and reward processing regions: an fMRI study. *Neuroimage* 53, 602–610. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.05.012
- King, C. T., Garcea, M., and Spector, A. C. (2014). Restoration of quininestimulated Fos-immunoreactive neurons in the central nucleus of the amygdala and gustatory cortex following reinnervation or cross-reinnervation of the lingual taste nerves in rats. J. Comp. Neurol. 522, 2498–2517. doi: 10.1002/cne. 23546
- Kishi, M., Sadachi, H., Nakamura, J., and Tonoike, M. (2017). Functional magnetic resonance imaging investigation of brain regions associated with astringency. *Neurosci. Res.* 122, 9–16. doi: 10.1016/j.neures.2017.03.009
- Knight, E. J., Min, H.-K., Hwang, S.-C., Marsh, M. P., Paek, S., Kim, I., et al. (2013). Nucleus accumbens deep brain stimulation results in insula and prefrontal activation: a large animal fMRI study. *PLoS One* 8:e56640. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0056640
- Liu, X., Hairston, J., Schrier, M., and Fan, J. (2011). Common and distinct networks underlying reward valence and processing stages: a meta-analysis of functional neuroimaging studies. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 35, 1219–1236. doi: 10.1016/j. neubiorev.2010.12.012
- Mäkiranta, M. J., Jauhiainen, J. P. T., Oikarinen, J. T., Suominen, K., Tervonen, O., Alahuhta, S., et al. (2002). Functional magnetic resonance imaging of swine brain during change in thiopental anesthesia into EEG burst-suppression levela preliminary study. MAGMA 15, 27–35.
- McCutcheon, J. E., Ebner, S. R., Loriaux, A. L., and Roitman, M. F. (2012). Encoding of aversion by dopamine and the nucleus accumbens. *Front. Neurosci.* 6:137. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2012.00137
- Min, H.-K., Hwang, S.-C., Marsh, M. P., Kim, I., Knight, E., Striemer, B., et al. (2012). Deep brain stimulation induces BOLD activation in motor and nonmotor networks: an fMRI comparison study of STN and EN/GPi DBS in large animals. *Neuroimage* 63, 1408–1420. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012. 08.006
- O'Doherty, J., Rolls, E. T., Francis, S., Bowtell, R., and McGlone, F. (2001). Representation of pleasant and aversive taste in the human brain. *J. Neurophysiol.* 85, 1315–1321. doi: 10.1152/jn.2001.85.3.1315
- Paek, S. B., Min, H.-K., Kim, I., Knight, E. J., Baek, J. J., Bieber, A. J., et al. (2015). Frequency-dependent functional neuromodulatory effects on the motor network by ventral lateral thalamic deep brain stimulation in swine. *Neuroimage* 105, 181–188. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.09.064
- Roitman, M. F., Wheeler, R. A., and Carelli, R. M. (2005). Nucleus accumbens neurons are innately tuned for rewarding and aversive taste stimuli, encode their predictors, and are linked to motor output. *Neuron* 45, 587–597. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2004.12.055
- Rolls, E. T. (2005). Taste, olfactory, and food texture processing in the brain, and the control of food intake. *Physiol. Behav.* 85, 45–56. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh. 2005.04.012
- Rolls, E. T. (2016). Functions of the anterior insula in taste, autonomic, and related functions. *Brain Cogn.* 110, 4–19. doi: 10.1016/j.bandc.2015.07.002
- Roura, E., and Fu, M. (2017). Taste, nutrient sensing and feed intake in pigs (130 years of research: then, now and future). Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 233, 3–12. doi: 10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2017.08.002
- Roura, E., Koopmans, S.-J., Lallès, J.-P., Le Huerou-Luron, I., de Jager, N., Schuurman, T., et al. (2016). Critical review evaluating the pig as a model for human nutritional physiology. *Nutr. Res. Rev.* 29, 60–90. doi: 10.1017/ S0954422416000020
- Rudenga, K., Green, B., Nachtigal, D., and Small, D. M. (2010). Evidence for an integrated oral sensory module in the human anterior ventral insula. *Chem. Senses* 35, 693–703. doi: 10.1093/chemse/bjq068
- Saikali, S., Meurice, P., Sauleau, P., Eliat, P.-A., Bellaud, P., Randuineau, G., et al. (2010). A three-dimensional digital segmented and deformable brain atlas of the domestic pig. *J. Neurosci. Methods* 192, 102–109. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth. 2010.07.041

- Sauleau, P., Lapouble, E., Val-Laillet, D., and Malbert, C.-H. (2009). The pig model in brain imaging and neurosurgery. *Animal* 3, 1138–1151. doi: 10.1017/ S1751731109004649
- Settell, M. L., Testini, P., Cho, S., Lee, J. H., Blaha, C. D., Jo, H. J., et al. (2017). Functional circuitry effect of ventral tegmental area deep brain stimulation: imaging and neurochemical evidence of mesocortical and mesolimbic pathway modulation. *Front. Neurosci.* 11:104. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2017.00104
- Small, D. M., Gregory, M. D., Mak, Y. E., Gitelman, D., Mesulam, M. M., and Parrish, T. (2003). Dissociation of neural representation of intensity and affective valuation in human gustation. *Neuron* 39, 701–711. doi: 10.1016/ S0896-6273(03)00467-7
- Smith, G. P. (2004). Accumbens dopamine mediates the rewarding effect of orosensory stimulation by sucrose. *Appetite* 43, 11–13. doi: 10.1016/j.appet. 2004.02.006
- Szalay, C., Aradi, M., Schwarcz, A., Orsi, G., Perlaki, G., Németh, L., et al. (2012). Gustatory perception alterations in obesity: an fMRI study. *Brain Res.* 1473, 131–140. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2012.07.051
- Val-Laillet, D. (2018). Impact of food, gut-brain signals, and metabolic status on brain activity in the pig model: 10 years of nutrition research using in vivo brain imaging. J. Anim. Sci. (in press).
- Val-Laillet, D., Aarts, E., Weber, B., Ferrari, M., Quaresima, V., Stoeckel, L. E., et al. (2015). Neuroimaging and neuromodulation approaches to study eating behavior and prevent and treat eating disorders and obesity. *Neuroimage Clin.* 8, 1–31. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2015.03.016
- van den Bosch, I., Dalenberg, J. R., Renken, R., van Langeveld, A. W. B., Smeets, P. A. M., Griffioen-Roose, S., et al. (2014). To like or not to like: neural substrates of subjective flavor preferences. *Behav. Brain Res.* 269, 128–137. doi: 10.1016/j. bbr.2014.04.010
- Veldhuizen, M. G., van Rooden, A. P., and Kroeze, J. H. (2006). Dissociating pleasantness and intensity with quinine sulfate/sucrose mixtures in taste. *Chem. Senses* 31, 649–653. doi: 10.1093/chemse/bjl005

- Willis, C. K. R., Quinn, R. P., McDonell, W. M., Gati, J., Parent, J., and Nicolle, D. (2001). Functional MRI as a tool to assess vision in dogs: the optimal anesthetic. *Vet. Ophthalmol.* 4, 243–253. doi: 10.1046/j.1463-5216.2001. 00183.x
- Yeung, A. W. K., Goto, T. K., and Leung, W. K. (2017). Basic taste processing recruits bilateral anteroventral and middle dorsal insulae: an activation likelihood estimation meta-analysis of fMRI studies. *Brain Behav.* 7:e00655. doi: 10.1002/brb3.655
- Yeung, A. W. K., Goto, T. K., and Leung, W. K. (2018). Affective value, intensity and quality of liquid tastants/food discernment in the human brain: an activation likelihood estimation meta-analysis. *Neuroimage* 169, 189–199. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.12.034
- Yeung, A. W. K., Tanabe, H. C., Suen, J. L. K., and Goto, T. K. (2016). Taste intensity modulates effective connectivity from the insular cortex to the thalamus in humans. *Neuroimage* 135, 214–222. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2016. 04.057
- Zald, D. H., Hagen, M. C., and Pardo, J. V. (2002). Neural correlates of tasting concentrated quinine and sugar solutions. J. Neurophysiol. 87, 1068–1075. doi: 10.1152/jn.00358.2001

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Coquery, Meurice, Janvier, Bobillier, Quellec, Fu, Roura, Saint-Jalmes and Val-Laillet. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





More Than Meets the Eye: The Impact of Materialism on Information Selection During Luxury Choices

Catherine Audrin^{1,2,3*}, Tobias Brosch^{1,2}, David Sander^{1,2} and Julien Chanal²

¹ Swiss Center for Affective Sciences, Geneva, Switzerland, ² Department of Psychology, University of Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland, ³ Research Support Centre, University for Teacher Education, Lausanne, Switzerland

Visual attention is an important condition for consumer decision-making. However, not much is known on individuals' determinants of this visual attention. Using eye tracking, this study investigated how psychological values (i.e., materialism) modulate visual attention to specific sources of information (i.e., product, brand and additional information) in the context of luxury consumption. Participants were asked to perform a forced-choice experiment, where products were randomly assigned with luxury and non-luxury brands (Experiment 1) and product information (Experiment 2). Experiment 1 revealed that materialism was related to relatively higher attention to luxury as opposed to non-luxury and higher choice proportion of products displayed with a luxury brand. Experiment 2 showed that when providing additional product information (e.g., regarding the material) in addition to the brand, all participants chose luxury products more often. Interestingly, choices seemed to be driven by enhanced attention to brand for participants with high levels of materialism when choosing luxury products. In contrast, choices were driven by text for participants with low levels of materialism for non-luxury products. This suggests that individuals with high levels of materialism may prefer luxury products for different reasons than individuals with low levels of materialism: while the first focus on the symbolic dimension conveyed by the brand (Experiment 1), the latter pay attention to the actual product characteristics (Experiment 2). Taken together, our results suggest that materialism as a psychological value has an impact on visual attention and information selection during decision-making in the context of luxury consumption.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gérard Coureaud, INSERM U1028 Centre de Recherche en Neurosciences de Lyon, France

Reviewed by:

Claudio Lucchiari, Università degli Studi di Milano, Italy Claus-Christian Carbon, University of Bamberg, Germany

*Correspondence:

Catherine Audrin catherine.audrin@unige.ch

Received: 17 April 2018 Accepted: 20 July 2018 Published: 24 August 2018

Citation:

Audrin C, Brosch T, Sander D and Chanal J (2018) More Than Meets the Eye: The Impact of Materialism on Information Selection During Luxury Choices. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 12:172. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2018.00172 Keywords: eye-tracker, information processing, materialism, luxury, choice

INTRODUCTION

When you scroll down on your computer on a retailer website, what information do you attend to when trying to make your decision? Visual attention is defined as the degree to which people visually focus on a stimulus within their range of exposure (Solomon et al., 2010), and is an important precondition for product choice. Attentional mechanisms allow people to select a subset of information, while suppressing the non-selected information for further processing (Wedel and Pieters, 2008). This selection of information is a crucial step in purchase decisions (Milosavljevic and Cerf, 2008), suggesting that it may be helpful to measure visual attention and information acquisition using techniques such as eye-tracker to better understand the process leading to these kinds of decisions.

Several studies have been performed in the context of purchase decisions to investigate the role of visual attention processes. As Orquin and Mueller Loose (2013) illustrates in his review, visual attention is strongly related to eye movements. Recording eye-movement data allows to study the process of information acquisition, which is performed by eye fixations and saccades (Shi et al., 2012). Eye-tracking data thus does not only record the time spent looking at a product, but also the position and duration of each eye fixation (Chandon et al., 2009). Interestingly, previous research revealed a discrepancy between self-reported and eyetracking measures (Graham and Jeffery, 2011), suggesting that people are usually not aware of their eye fixations (Chandon et al., 2009). Studies using eye-tracking measures have pointed out that during choice, a pre-decisional gaze bias occurs toward the preferred option (Chae and Lee, 2013). This bias, referred to as the gaze cascade (Shimojo et al., 2003), consists in a shift of attention toward the preferred choice alternative (Krajbich and Rangel, 2011; Willemsen et al., 2011). The preferred option is thus observed during a greater amount of time (Glaholt and Reingold, 2011; Glöckner and Herbold, 2011). The attentional Diffusion-Drift Model (aDDM, Krajbich and Rangel, 2011) suggests that gaze fixation is the mechanisms by which decision makers retrieve information about each option. According to this model, spending time looking at an option means that we accumulate evidence in favor of the fixated alternative (Krajbich and Rangel, 2011).

Information selection is achieved through two processes: bottom-up and top-down processes (Wedel and Pieters, 2008). Bottom-up processes correspond to a rapid and automatic way to capture attention (Milosavljevic et al., 2012). They refer to factors such as visual saliency (Glaholt and Reingold, 2011; Atalay et al., 2012; Milosavljevic et al., 2012; Janiszewski et al., 2013). In contrast, top-down processes refer to a voluntary attentional capture which requires personal and active search (Wedel and Pieters, 2008). This voluntary focus may be driven by the task, by people's previous knowledge, social identity (Xiao and Van Bavel, 2012), interests or goals (Milosavljevic and Cerf, 2008; Glöckner and Herbold, 2011). As an example of the impact of people's previous knowledge, brand usage (or familiarity with a brand) has been shown to diminish search costs for the consumer, leading them to greater effectiveness in terms of decision making (Chandon et al., 2009). Further evidence suggest that top-down processes drive attention toward the pieces of information that are relevant or critical for the ongoing decision (Ares et al., 2013; Orquin and Mueller Loose, 2013). For instance, consumers who are evaluating which product they intend to buy spend more time on text information (Rayner et al., 2001; Cisek et al., 2014), whereas consumers assessing product advertisements spend more time on pictorial information (Rayner et al., 2008). Xiao et al. (2016) suggest that social identity may tune visual attention. In their model, visual inputs are embedded with social values. As a consequence, people's social identity strongly influences their perception. Interestingly, these top-down influences may act on early attentional stages of visual perception (Brosch and Van Bavel, 2012; Xiao et al., 2016). More generally, people's motives, experiences and concerns may have an impact on their visual attention to a stimulus (Pool et al., 2016). As an example, research has revealed that participants' pro-environmental orientation lead them to have a greater propensity to attend to climate change images (Sollberger et al., 2017). Another study suggested that attention paid to nutrition labels was influenced by participants' goals (Graham and Jeffery, 2011): focusing on health goals enhanced participants' attention and intensity of processing (Visschers et al., 2010), leading to an increase of choices of healthy products (van Herpen and Trijp, 2011). Thus, literature suggest that visual attention may be influenced by top-down processes such as personal characteristics, their goals and social identity (see e.g., Pool et al., 2016).

In this study, we were interested in how materialism as a psychological value may impact visual attention to specific sources of information in the context of luxury consumption. Materialism is defined as an extensive concern for material objects and worldly possessions (Belk, 1985), and leads people to have high commitment toward the acquisition and consumption of possessions (Rindfleisch et al., 1997; Dittmar, 2005). As a value, materialism has an impact on people's goals, and is considered to be a tendency to favor extrinsic aspirations (i.e., wealth, popularity, attractiveness, and conformity) over intrinsic aspirations (i.e., self-acceptance, affiliation, community feeling, safety, spirituality, hedonism, and health). Materialistic individuals, i.e., people with high levels of materialism, are more likely to look for prestigious products reflecting a high social status (Fournier and Richins, 1991; Wang and Wallendorf, 2006) than non-materialists. More specifically, materialism is a critical dimension of luxury consumers' values (e.g., Fournier and Richins, 1991) as it enhances interest for luxury brands (Gil et al., 2012), preference for luxury goods (Wong and Ahuvia, 1998; Prendergast and Wong, 2003) and brand label consideration (Audrin et al., 2017a,b).

Brand labels are extrinsic cues (Bredahl, 2004). Extrinsic cues are any piece of information about the product that is not directly part of the product itself (Zeithaml, 1988), such as its price or the label displayed on it. Intrinsic cues refer to the physical composition of the product. Taking the example of a handbag, intrinsic cues would include the color, the texture or the material of the product (Zeithaml, 1988). Literature has shown the importance of extrinsic cues in consumer decision-making. For example, consumers' expectancies about a brand impact experienced pleasantness when consuming the product (e.g., Allison and Uhl, 1964; McClure et al., 2004). When participants were drinking Coke and Pepsi without knowing what they are drinking, experienced pleasantness was similar for both drinks. However, when drinks were labeled with a brand (Coke or Pepsi), participants reported increased preferences toward Coke (McClure et al., 2004). Thus, consumers heavily rely on extrinsic cues to build their preferences (Kuusela et al., 1998; Kardes et al., 2001; Veale and Quester, 2009; Baer et al., 2017).

Here, we report two eye-tracker studies designed to assess how materialism impacts visual attention to extrinsic (i.e., pictorial) information (Experiment 1) as well as both extrinsic (i.e., pictorial) and intrinsic (i.e., text) information (Experiment 2) that was provided for a set of products in a forcedchoice task. In the first experiment, we randomly presented products with either luxurious or non-luxurious brand labels

(i.e., pictorial information) to participants with high and low levels of materialism. Regarding Experiment 1, our hypotheses were that (1) all participants would choose more often products at which they look longer, (2) people scoring higher on materialism would look longer at products presented with a luxurious brand label and (3) people scoring higher on materialism would choose more often products presented with a luxurious brand. In Experiment 2 participants with high and low level of materialism were randomly presented with products in either a luxurious or a non-luxurious condition. The conditions were determined by both pictorial (i.e., brand label) and text (i.e., country of origin and material) information. Regarding Experiment 2, we hypothesized that (1) all participants would more often choose products at which they looked longer. Based on previous evidence suggesting that when providing with information about brand and quality, both participants with high and low level of materialism evaluate more positively luxury (Audrin et al., 2017a), we hypothesize that (2) all participants would show higher visual attention and choose the luxurious condition more often than the non-luxurious condition. Finally, as previous evidence reveals that materialism is related to high importance to brand labels and that people scoring low on materialism look for more information, we hypothesize that (3) pictorial information would be more determinant in the choices of participants scoring high on materialism, whereas textual information would be more determinant in the choices of participants scoring low on materialism.

PRE-TEST STUDY

We first attempted to identify luxurious and non-luxurious brands adapted to our sample. One hundred and sixty-five female students in the first year of a psychology degree at the University of Geneva were asked to name as many luxury brands as they could. Then, they were presented with 106 brands of ready-towear products and asked whether they knew them. These brands were selected from advertisements seen in the newspapers or on television. In addition, we selected brands mentioned in the GenY Prestige Brand Ranking (L2 Think Tank and Stren, 2010), which ranks the top luxurious brands for women. For each brand, a label was presented and participants were asked to click on "1" if they knew the brand and "0" if they did not. Based on these tests, we computed scores for each brand to select the most wellknown luxurious and non-luxurious brands. Chanel[®], Gucci[®], $\operatorname{Dior}^{(\!\! R \!\!\!)}$, and Louis Vuitton $^{(\!\! R \!\!\!)}$ appeared to be the most well-known luxurious brands and H&M[®], Zebra[®], GAP[®], and Forever21[®], the most well-known non-luxurious brands. Knowledge of the brands was moreover tested on participants of the eye-tracker experiments: on average, participants knew 93.67% of the brands (SD = 8.25).

EXPERIMENT 1

Methods

Participants and Procedures

To test the effect of luxurious vs. non-luxurious brands and its moderation by materialism on choice, 70 female psychology

students at the University of Geneva were recruited for Experiment 1 (mean age = 22 ± 3 years). Our stimuli were products designed to be worn by women, we consequently only invited females to participate. Participants were first asked to complete an online full version of the Aspiration Index (Grouzet et al., 2005) in order to measure their materialism. After several weeks, all participants who completed the Aspiration Index were invited to the lab to participate to the evetracker experiment in exchange for course credits. When coming to the laboratory, participants were invited to sit in front of a computer in a cubicle. We presented a set of 46 images of ready-to-wear products from the following categories to the participants: belts, handbags, purses and scarves. The selected products came from brands most-likely unknown to our sample (i.e., brands unknown as assessed in the pre-test study above), which ensured that the products or their brand could not be recognized by our participants. Each product was presented with 1 out of 8 brands. Half of the products were randomly presented with one out of four luxurious brand, while the other half was presented with one out of four non-luxurious brands. The luxurious and non-luxurious brands were randomized between participants so that each product was seen with each of the brands across the whole sample (see Figure 1). The study was performed according to the rules and regulations of the University of Geneva and the declaration of Helsinki. All participants gave their written informed consent to take part in the study, which was officially approved by the ethics committee of the University of Geneva.

Data Acquisition Materialism

To assess participants' level of materialism, we used the full version of the Aspiration Index (Grouzet et al., 2005), which refers to Kasser (1999)'s conceptualization of materialism as a balance between extrinsic and intrinsic aspirations. In the Aspiration Index (Grouzet et al., 2005), people assessed importance of 57 aspirations on a scale ranging from 1 ("not important at all") to 9 ("extremely important"). These goals refer to 11 aspirations, which can be separated into two main dimensions, i.e., intrinsic and extrinsic dimensions. Extrinsic



dimensions refer to the importance given to one's own image (e.g., "I hope for the future that my image will be one other's find appealing"), popularity (e.g., "I will be admired by many people"), financial success (e.g., "I will have expensive possessions"), and conformism (e.g., "I will live up to the expectations of my society"). Intrinsic dimensions are the importance given to his own health (e.g., "I will feel energetic and full of life"), affiliation (e.g., "There will always be someone around to take care of me"), spirituality (e.g., "I will find personal answers to universal spiritual questions such as: Is there a supreme spiritual being? Is there life after death? What is the meaning of life?"), community (e.g., "I will assist people who need it, asking nothing in return"), hedonism (e.g., "I will have a lot of excitement in my life"), safety (e.g., "I will have few threats to my personal safety") and self-acceptance (e.g., "I will feel free"). Materialism scores were computed as the relative importance of extrinsic (mean of the extrinsic dimensions' scores) vs. intrinsic aspirations (mean of the intrinsic dimensions' scores) (Kasser, 1999; Grouzet et al., 2005). The more people considered extrinsic aspirations important compared to intrinsic aspirations, the more they were materialists. Our sample had an average of -1.589 score on materialism (SD = 1.272).

Eye-Tracking

Participants seated 60 cm away from a 43 cm-wide screen and were asked to keep their head in the same position during the experiment. Movement of the eyes were recorded at a 60-Hz frequency using infrared cameras of the Tobii eye-tracker located at the bottom of the screen. The eye-tracker was calibrated before each session. This phase consisted in the presentation of moving dots that participants were asked to follow without anticipating the dots' movement.

After this calibration, participants were presented with two ready-to-wear products side by side. For each trial, one product was presented with a luxurious brand and the other with a non-luxurious brand. The side of the luxurious/non-luxurious condition was randomized. Participants were asked to select the product they would prefer to get if they could obtain it. There was no time constraint. Each participant had to make 46 choices, where each of the 46 products was presented twice (each time with the same brand label, every time against another product). After each choice, a fixation cross was displayed in the center of the screen to wait for the next pair of products to be presented. The order of presentation was randomized between participants.

Data Analyses

Data analyses were performed with R (R Development Core Team, 2008), ImerTest (Kuznetsova et al., 2017), and Ime4 packages (Bates et al., 2015). (Generalized) Linear Mixed Model ((G)LMM) analyses were performed on eyetracker and behavioral data. We used participants and stimuli as random effects (i.e., random intercepts) to control for variance due to participants and items, respectively (Judd et al., 2012). For the fixed effects, we assigned the coding -1/+1 as advised by Judd et al. (2012), which allowed us to interpret these effects as main effects. We visually inspected residual plots to detect deviations from homoscedasticity or normality. Descriptive analyses (mean

and s.e.) are reported bellow. Concerning the eye-tracker data, analyses were performed on the total fixation time. Due to its non-normal distribution, fixation time was log-transformed, but for the ease of interpretation, means were back-transformed for Table 1. Our model contained Condition (luxurious vs. nonluxurious condition), Materialism and Information (product vs. brand) as fixed effects. Concerning the behavioral data, we performed analyses on participants' choices (Table 2). For each choice, we predicted the probability that the product on the left would be chosen. Selecting the product on the left or on the right as a dependent variable is equivalent, as the position (right or left) of the luxurious and non-luxurious brands was randomized. To analyse this dichotomous variable, we performed a multilevel logit model. The fixed effects were Condition (luxurious vs. non-luxurious condition), Materialism (materialist vs. non-materialist) and the Time (time spent before making the choice in milliseconds). Descriptive statistics for the choice variable are reported in Table 2.

Results

Total Fixation Time

Results for the total fixation time showed a main effect of Information [b = 0.787, $IC_{95\%} = [0.763; 0.812]$, $t_{(8,125)} = 62.992$, p < 0.001; see **Table 3**], revealing that participants spent more time looking at the product picture than at the brand. The Condition × Materialism interaction effect was significant [b = -0.013, $IC_{95\%} = [-0.026; -0.001]$; $t_{(8,089)} = -2.047$, p = 0.041], supporting our hypothesis that materialism had an impact on the time spent on luxury vs. non-luxurious condition. Interestingly, results revealed that the more participants are materialistic, the less they look at non-luxury. There was no further significant effect.

Choice

Results showed a main effect of Condition (b = 0.232, $IC_{95\%} = [0.112; 0.354]$, z = 3.771, p < 0.001; **Table 4**), where products associated with luxurious information were more often chosen than products associated with non-luxurious information. The

 TABLE 1 | Descriptive statistics for the Total Fixation Time variable (mean and s.e.).

Materialism	Condition	Information	Time (ms)	s.e.
-1 s.d.	Luxury	Image	958.337	84.227
-1 s.d.	Luxury	Brand	176.542	11.632
-1 s.d.	Non-luxury	Image	957.088	80.370
-1 s.d.	Non-luxury	Brand	182.390	11.626
mean	Luxury	Image	944.758	56.846
mean	Luxury	Brand	179.456	7.850
mean	Non-luxury	Image	929.435	54.242
mean	Non-luxury	Brand	184.375	7.847
+ 1 s.d.	Luxury	Image	932.756	79.051
+ 1 s.d.	Luxury	Brand	182.032	10.917
+ 1 s.d.	Non-luxury	Image	904.994	75.431
+ 1 s.d.	Non-luxury	Brand	186.128	10.912

TABLE 2 | Descriptive analyses for the Choice variable (mean and s.e.).

Materialism	Condition	Proportion of choice	oice s.e.	
-1 s.d.	Luxury	50.8%	0.023	
-1 s.d.	Non-luxury	49.12%	0.023	
mean	Luxury	51.58%	0.016	
mean	Non-luxury	48.41%	0.017	
+1 s.d.	Luxury	52.29%	0.023	
+1 s.d.	Non-luxury	47.70%	0.023	

TABLE 3 | Results for the Total Fixation Time variable, ***p < 0.001; *p < 0.05.

b	SE	p-value
0.579	0.002	0.001***
0.017	0.012	0.137
0.787	0.013	0.001***
0.018	0.038	0.641
0.005	0.012	0.629
-0.013	0.006	0.041*
-0.001	0.003	0.261
-0.001	0.008	0.801
_σ 2	SE	
0.153	0.391	
0.003	0.609	
	b 0.579 0.017 0.787 0.018 0.005 -0.013 -0.001 σ ² 0.153 0.003	b SE 0.579 0.002 0.017 0.012 0.787 0.013 0.018 0.038 0.005 0.012 -0.013 0.006 -0.001 0.003 -0.001 0.008 o² SE 0.153 0.391 0.003 0.609

marginal effect of Time (b = 0.051, $IC_{95\%} = [-0.000; 0.103]$, z = 1.941, p = 0.052) supported the hypothesis that the more people looked at the product, the more they chose it. Finally, the Condition × Materialism interaction was significant (b = 0.086, $IC_{95\%} = [0.023; 0.148]$, z = 2.708, p = 0.006), supporting the hypothesis that the impact of materialism depended on the product: the more participants were materialistic, the more they would choose luxury products over non-luxury products (b = 0.12, z = 2.562, p < 0.001).

Discussion

The results presented above revealed that the longer participants looked at a product, the higher the probability that this product was chosen. While the result is marginally significant in our study, it is congruent with previous evidence (Glaholt and Reingold, 2011; Atalay et al., 2012; Milosavljevic et al., 2012) suggesting that higher attention to a product is driven by enhanced interest (Fink et al., 1996), thus leading to enhanced preference. Our results reveal for the first time that this is also true in the context in luxury consumption.

Our results further suggest that despite their longer attention to the product itself compared to the extrinsic cues, participants still integrated extrinsic cues (i.e., brand label) into their choices. The more participants were materialistic, the less they looked at products displayed with a non-luxurious brand. These results

TABLE 4	Results	for the	Choice	variable.	***p	< 0	.001:	*n	< (0.05.
	110000100		0110100	variationo,	Ρ	~ 0	.001,	Ρ	~ '	5.00.

Fixed Effects	b	SE	p-value
Intercept	-0.318	0.128	0.013*
Materialism	-0.037	0.036	0.304
Condition	0.232	0.062	0.001***
Time	0.051	0.026	0.052.
$\text{Condition} \times \text{Materialism}$	0.086	0.032	0.006***
Random Effects	σ ²	SE	
Participants			
Intercept	0.041	0.202	
Stimuli			
Intercept	0.398	0.631	

revealed that the mere association of a brand with a product can lead participants to look at it differently, and to choose it differently, depending on their materialism. This is in line with previous evidence revealing the importance of external cues in consumer choices (e.g., McClure et al., 2004), but we revealed here that this can also be observed in the context of luxury consumption.

Finally, our results reveal that psychological values such as materialism modulate the impact of extrinsic cues (e.g., Sörqvist et al., 2015). While the effect was not strong in our results regarding the pattern of visual attention, results on the choice variable revealed that the brand had a different impact on participants' choice, depending on their level of materialism. These results show further evidence that the brand was a strong vector of the luxury dimension of a product for materialistic people (Audrin et al., 2017a,b). More generally, this result echoes previous results revealing the strong link between materialism and luxury (Gil et al., 2012).

In the next experiment, we studied how providing textual information about the product in addition to the brand label modulates participants' visual attention and subsequent choices. We hypothesize that, in contrast to Experiment 1, where only brand information was provided, providing supplementary information about the product quality will lead both participants with high and low levels of materialism to prefer luxury.

EXPERIMENT 2

Products are embedded with multiple cues (Miyazaki et al., 2005) such as quality information and brands information. When facing multiple congruent cues, people usually take them into account in an additive way (Anderson, 1981; Miyazaki et al., 2005). However, research suggest that individual characteristics may impact the way multiple cues are integrated in the process of decision-making. For instance, Ahluwalia et al. (2000) revealed that depending on their brand commitment, consumers gave different diagnostic weights for positive and negative information.

In this experiment, we wanted to assess how materialism as a value impacts information integration during choice. To this

end, we provided text information in addition to the brand such as the country of origin and the material of the products. Our hypothesis was that when provided with supplementary intrinsic information, both participants with high and low materialism will prefer luxury. We suggest however that this may be driven by different reasons: materialistic participants can be expected to predominantly consider the symbolic aspect embedded in luxury, as previous research has shown that people high in materialism focused on the brand in the context of luxury consumption (Gil et al., 2012; Audrin et al., 2017a). Thus, we hypothesize that, as in Experiment 1, people with high level of materialism would primarily focus on the brand. In contrast, we hypothesize that consumers with low levels of materialism would primarily look for more objective information about the product as provided by the textual information, as literature suggests that they like luxury preferably for the quality it guarantees (Audrin et al., 2017a). Thus, we suggest that people low in materialism will mostly look at intrinsic textual information about the product. Taken together, we hypothesized that (1) all participants would show higher visual attention and choose luxurious condition more often than non-luxurious condition (Model 1), (2) all participants would choose more often products at which they looked longer (Model 2) and finally (3) pictorial information would be more determinant in the choices of people with high level of materialism, whereas textual information would be more determinant in people's with low level of materialism choices (Model 2).

Methods

Participants and Procedure

Among 195 female students in psychology at the University of Geneva, 60 were recruited based on their materialism scores on the Aspiration Index (Grouzet et al., 2005). Four of them were removed from the final sample because the eye-tracker was not able to detect their eyes, resulting in a sample of 56 participants (*mean age*: 22 ± 4 years). Our final sample consisted of 24 people with high levels of materialism (*mean* = 0.29 ± 0.42) and 32 people with low levels of materialism individuals (*mean* = -2.55 ± 0.52).

When coming to the laboratory, participants were invited to sit in front of a computer in a cubicle. The same set of 46 images of ready-to-wear products were presented as in Experiment 1. Half of the products were randomly assigned to in the luxury condition, while the other half was presented in the nonluxury condition. The luxury and non-luxury conditions were randomized between participants so that each product was seen with each of the brands across the whole sample. The eyetracker was calibrated before each session. The task was similar to the one described in Experiment 1. In order to test the interaction between Materialism, Condition and Information, we manipulated the text information provided with each product. Each product was presented with a brand, as well as with information about the product's price, country of origin, and material. This information was gathered from the websites of the brands in question, and adjusted according to the presented product. Half of the products were presented in the luxurious condition (i.e., country of origin, price, material), while the other half was presented in the non-luxurious condition. The number of words was the same in the text associated with luxurious and non-luxurious brands (3 words for the country where the product was made and 2 words for the composition; see **Figure 3** for a prototypical example). The study was performed according to the rules and regulations of the University of Geneva and the declaration of Helsinki. All participants gave their written informed consent to take part in the study.

Data Acquisition

Materialism

One hundred and ninety-five participants were presented with the Aspiration Index, and we computed their materialism scores as the relative importance of extrinsic aspirations vs. the importance of intrinsic aspirations. Based on these materialism scores for all participants, we selected the upper (high level of materialism) and lower (low level of materialism) quartile of the initial sample to participate to the experiment.

Eye-Tracking Data

When coming to the laboratory, participants were seated 60 cm away from a 43 cm-wide screen and were asked to keep their head in the same position during the experiment. As for Experiment 1, movement of the eyes were recorded at a 60-Hz frequency using infrared cameras of the Tobii eye-tracker, located at the bottom of the screen.

Data Analyses

To answer our first hypothesis (i.e., that all participants will show higher visual attention and choose luxurious condition more often than non-luxurious condition), we performed a linear mixed model on the total fixation time (Model 1). We entered participants and stimuli as random effects. As fixed effects, we introduced Information (i.e., picture vs. text information), Condition (luxurious vs. non-luxurious condition), and Materialism (high vs. low materialism) and their interaction. Descriptive statistics are reported in **Table 5**.

In order to assess our second (i.e., all participants will choose more often products at which they looked longer) and third hypotheses (pictorial information will be more determinant in participants high on materialism, whereas textual information will be more determinant in the choices of participants with low levels of materialism, respectively), a generalized linear mixed model was performed on the choices made by participants (Model 2). For each choice, we predicted the probability that the product on the left would be chosen. The fixed effects were Condition (luxurious vs. non-luxurious condition) and Materialism (high vs. low on materialism). We further introduced two variables referring to the time spent on the information variable. The first variable accounted for the relative time spent on the picture (i.e., product and brand) on the left as opposed to the total time spent on the pictorial information before making the choice (Picture Time). The second variable accounted for the relative time spent on the text information of the product on the left as opposed to the total time spent on the text information before making the choice (Text Time). Participants and stimuli were introduced as random

TABLE 5 | Descriptive statistics (mean and s.e.) for the Total fixation time variable.

Materialism	Information	Condition	Time (ms)	s.e.
High	Text	Luxury	632.693	50.735
High	Picture	Luxury	1136.966	52.348
High	Text	Non-luxury	524.014	53.117
High	Picture	Non-luxury	1095.82	46.878
Low	Text	Luxury	691.535	41.558
Low	Picture	Luxury	1189.684	38.569
Low	Text	Non-luxury	623.427	47.714
Low	Picture	Non-luxury	1190.373	47.756

TABLE 6 | Descriptive analyses (mean and standard error (s.e.)) for the Choice variable.

Materialism	Condition	Proportion of choice	s.e.
High	Luxury	55.8%	0.034
High	Non-luxury	44.1%	0.034
Low	Luxury	55.5%	0.030
Low	Non-luxury	44.4%	0.030

effects (random intercepts). Descriptive statistics are reported on **Table 6**.

Results

Total Fixation Time

Results of Model 1 showed a main effect of Information [b $= -0.146, IC_{95\%} = [-0.155; -0.138], t_{(7,048)} = -34.366, p$ < 0.001], revealing that participants spent more time looking at the pictorial elements than at the text information. Results further revealed a main effect of Condition [b = 0.016, $IC_{95\%} =$ $[0.007; 0.023], t_{(6,994)} = 3.913, p < 0.001;$ Table 7], supporting our hypothesis that all participants looked more at luxurious products than at non-luxurious products. The Condition \times Information interaction was significant [$b = -9.25 * 10^{-3}$, $IC_{95\%}$ $= [-0.017; -0.001]; t_{(6.994)} = 2.305, p = 0.023]$, showing that the difference between the time spent looking at luxurious and non-luxurious products was more important when participants focused on text information (t = -3.688, p < 0.001) than when they looked at the picture (t = -1.495, p > 0.05). The Information × Materialism interaction was marginally significant $[b = -8.069 * 10^{-3}, IC_{95\%} = [-0.016; 0.003], t_{(6,997)}$ = 2.305, p = 0.058, see Figure 2], suggesting that the impact of materialism on time spent looking at picture vs. text was different. Specifically, this suggests that for both groups, the time spent looking at the picture was longer than the time spent looking at the text, but that this difference was slightly more important for participants with high levels of materialism. Results revealed no further significant effect.

Choice

Results from Model 2 (i.e., with Condition, Materialism and Time) showed a main effect of Condition (b = 0.258, $IC_{95\%}$

TABLE 7 | Results for the Total fixation time variable, ***p < 0.001; *p < 0.05.

b	SE	p-value	
2.810	0.024	0.001***	
0.016	0.004	0.001***	
-0.147	0.002	0.001***	
-0.001	0.023	0.795	
-0.009	0.004	0.023*	
0.005	0.004	0.253	
-0.008	0.004	0.059.	
0.002	0.004	0.485	
σ ²	SE		
0.03	0.17		
0.001	0.041		
	b 2.810 0.016 0.147 0.001 0.009 0.005 0.008 0.002 σ ² 0.03 0.001	b SE 2.810 0.024 0.016 0.004 -0.147 0.002 -0.001 0.023 -0.009 0.004 0.005 0.004 -0.008 0.004 0.002 0.004 0.003 0.17 0.001 0.041	

= [0.169; 0.349], z = 5.640, p < 0.001; Table 8), where luxury products were chosen more often than non-luxurious products. The main effects of Picture Time (b = 3.547, $IC_{95\%} = [2.936]$; 4.153], z = 11.429, p < 0.001) and of Text Time (b = 1.079, $IC_{95\%} = [0.780; 1.388], z = 6.957, p < 0.001;$ see **Table 8**) revealed that, as hypothesized, the more participants looked at the text and pictorial information, the more they chose it. The interaction between the Picture Time and Text Time was significant (b = $-1.904, IC_{95\%} = [-3.656; -0.059], z = -2.033, p = 0.042),$ indicating that the impact of the time spent looking at the picture on the choice weakened when the time spent looking at the text increased. Moreover, the interaction effect between Condition, Materialism and Picture Time was marginally significant (b $= 0.582, IC_{95\%} = [-0.024; 1, 469], z = 1.915, p = 0.055;$ Figure 3). This interaction revealed that when participants with low levels of materialism looked longer at non-luxurious picture, they chose them more often ($z_{low-materialism} = 5.325, p < 0.001$). On the other hand, participants with high levels of materialism who looked longer at the picture of luxurious condition chose them more often ($z_{\text{highmaterialism}} = 5.794, p < 0.001$).

Finally, the interaction effect between Condition, Materialism and Text Time was significant (b = -0.386; $IC_{95\%} = [-0.660;$ -0.09], z = -2.702, p = 0.006; **Figure 4**). This interaction revealed that when participants who scored high on materialism looked longer at text information of non-luxurious products, they would choose these products more often (z = 1.882, p =0.059). In contrast, when participants scoring low on materialism looked longer at the text information of luxurious products, they would choose these products more often (z = 5.233, p < 0.001).

Discussion

Supporting our hypothesis, results from Experiment 2 showed that when providing multiple congruent sources of information about a product, all participants chose luxury products more often. Our results highlight that individual characteristics have



an impact on how these multiple sources of information are taken into consideration when making a choice (Ahluwalia et al., 2000). Eye-tracking data revealed different patterns of visual attention for the groups: the more participants with high levels of materialism paid attention to the picture of the product (i.e., brand and picture), the more often they chose luxury products. On the contrary, the more participants with low levels of materialism looked at the text information, the more often they chose luxury products. These results suggest that individual values and goals lead to different patterns of visual attention and information integration during decision-making and product choice. Participants scoring high on materialism considered specifically the symbolic aspect embedded in luxury (i.e., they mostly focus on the brand): the more they looked at pictorial information, the more they chose luxury products. Participants scoring low on materialism looked for textual information about the product: the longer they looked at text information, the more they chose luxury products. This suggests that the preference for luxury may be related to specific dimension of luxury (Audrin et al., 2017a) depending on peoples' values. People with high levels of materialism favor symbolic dimensions by focusing on pictorial brand-related element (Audrin et al., 2017a,b). By contrast, participants with low levels of materialism pay relatively more attention to factual product information (Audrin et al., 2017a).

GENERAL DISCUSSION

In this work, we investigated how materialism modulates visual attention to specific sources of information in the context of luxury consumption. Using eye-tracking, we tested how visual attention allocated to pictorial brand information (Experiments 1, 2) and textual quality information (Experiment 2) was related to product choices for participants with high and low levels of materialism.

Experiment 1 tested the importance of pictorial brandrelated information. Results revealed that higher levels of materialism were related to higher visual attention to the luxurious condition (i.e., product and brand). Increased visual attention furthermore enhanced the probability of choosing luxury products. Experiment 2 tested the importance of both pictorial and textual information, revealing that when adding supplementary textual information about the products, all participants paid increased attention and chose the luxurious condition more often. Differences in materialism may have lead participants to choose luxurious products for different reasons: the longer participants with higher levels of materialism looked at pictorial information, the more often they choose luxury products. In contrast, the longer participants with low levels of materialism looked at textual information, the more they choose luxury products.

Our results provide congruent evidence for the gaze cascade effect suggested by Shimojo et al. (2003). As suggested by (Shimojo et al., 2003), eye movements and eye gaze reveal a shift of attention toward one alternative (Krajbich and Rangel, 2011), and are involved in preference formation. This preference formation may further indicate interest toward the observed alternative (Shimojo et al., 2003). Our results are congruent with this literature, as the more participants looked at a product or its feature, the more frequently they chose it. Moreover, our results reveal that materialism, as a psychological value, may have an impact on visual attention. This is congruent with previous evidence revealing the importance of top-down processes, notably the importance of people's motives, experiences and concerns, on visual attention (Pool et al., 2016).

Results from a retail context (Chandon et al., 2009) suggest that gaze may be an indicator of *attention*. On the other hand, Shimojo et al. (2003) suggest that this may be an indicator of *interest*. Finally, Fink et al. (1996) suggest that *interest* may lead to higher *attention* toward an option. Our results seem to provide congruent results with Fink et al.'s work: while previous

TABLE 8 Results for the Choice variable (Model 2), $**p < 0.001$; $*p < 0.01$;	*р
< 0.05.	

Fixed effects	b	SE	<i>p</i> -value
Intercept	-0.197	0.104	0.057
Materialism	-0.09	0.056	0.099.
Condition	0.258	0.046	0.001***
Picture time	3.547	0.31	0.001***
Text time	1.079	0.155	0.001***
Condition × Materialism	-0.047	0.047	0.317
Materialism × Picture Time	0.081	0.305	0.791
Condition \times Picture Time	-0.100	0.304	0.743
Materialism \times Text Time	-0.107	0.149	0.476
Condition \times Text Time	-0.027	0.143	0.853
Picture Time \times Text Time	-1.904	0.937	0.042*
Materialism × Condition × Picture Time	0.582	0.304	0.055.
Materialism \times Condition \times Text Time	-0.386	0.143	0.006**
Condition × Picture Time × Text Time	1.239	0.938	0.186
Materialism × Picture Time × Text Time	0.282	0.934	0.763
Condition \times Materialism \times Text Time \times Picture Time	0.144	0.935	0.878
Random effects	σ ²	SE	
Participants Intercept	0.05	0.241	
Stimuli Intercept	0.14	0.377	

research has suggested that materialism was related to higher *interest* toward luxury (Gil et al., 2012), our result reveal that this interest was related to higher *attention* to luxury. Future research should however specifically test the relation between materialism, interest and attention toward luxury.

As pointed out in the literature, when making a decision, individuals use attribute information as a way to estimate their probable satisfaction with the choices they are facing. However, products are often embedded with multiple attributes, which makes the integration of all pieces of information too difficult and too costly in terms of cognitive processes. People often focus on one single source of information, in order to make their decision easier (Johnson et al., 2012). This strategy allows consumers to reduce the cognitive effort, and to specifically focus on the attribute they perceive as the most important (Johnson et al., 2012). Our results suggest that this strategy was also used in our experiments, and further highlights that psychological values modulated the selection of the most important attribute.

Our findings support the suggestion that materialism, measured as a psychological value, might lead to a propensity to attend to specific aspects of luxury. As the previous literature reveals, materialistic people focus on the conspicuous aspects provided by luxury possessions (Gil et al., 2012; Audrin et al., 2017a), further suggesting that they give importance to the brand as it can be displayed overtly. Conversely, people with low levels of materialism may consume luxurious products because of their quality (Audrin et al., 2017a).

Taken together, our results provide new insights to the field of research on consumer decision-making in the context of luxury consumption. To the best of our knowledge, our study is the first to manipulate displayed brands and text information of ready-to-wear products in an eye-tracking setting. Our results provide evidence for the importance of the brand in consumers' preferences establishment. Notably, our results show how strong the impact of brand information may be to (materialistic) consumers, as the brands were randomly presented with products, but still lead to a preference for the respective products. This result, consistent with previous research (e.g., Audrin et al., 2017a,b), points out that values are important factors to be taken into account when studying consumer decisionmaking. While the behavioral (choice variable) results revealed strong evidence in favor of our hypotheses, evidence was weaker regarding the eye-tracking data, which gave only moderate support to our hypotheses. This kind of discrepancy between self-reported and eye-tracking measures has been previously shown in the literature (Graham and Jeffery, 2011). However, it suggests that these results should be taken cautiously, and that the experiments reported here should be replicated in order to show more compelling evidence regarding the impact of personal values on visual attention in the context of luxury consumption. The measure of fixation duration should also be taken cautiously. Indeed, Krasich et al. (2018) revealed that mind wandering (i.e., the tendency to zone out, when the attention shifts away from the on-going task toward unrelated thoughts such as grocery shopping or upcoming vacations) was related to longer fixation durations, thus suggesting that longer fixation time is not a necessarily a proof of enhanced attention or interest.

Two additional limitations of our study are related to our sample. First, our participants were exclusively students, who may not be very familiar with luxury consumption, as luxury products are high-priced and thus not affordable to students. It would be interesting to evaluate the extent to which our results may apply to actual luxury consumers. Second, we focused our research on female participants. This was related to the products chosen, which were exclusively designed for women. An interesting follow-up would be to evaluate whether the results observed in our study are also true for men. Indeed, as Stokburger-Sauer and Teichmann (2013) mentioned, female participants have more positive attitudes toward luxury brands. Thus, assessing how men are sensitive to brands vs. textual information may provide further explanations on what people look for when consuming luxury.

CONCLUSION

Our results point out how psychological values (i.e., materialism) modulate visual attention to specific sources of information (i.e., pictorial brand vs. text quality information). Eye-tracking data





revealed that levels of materialism modulate the importance allocated to specific sources of information in the process of luxury decision-making: when only brand information was available, materialism was related to enhanced preference for luxury. However, when supplementary information about product quality was available, all participants tended to choose luxury more often. Interestingly, while people with high levels of materialism focused on the product picture and the brand, participants with low levels of materialism focused more on the text information about product quality when choosing luxury products. To summarize, our results suggest that materialism as a psychological value may impact how visual attention is directed toward specific sources of information in the context of luxury consumption.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this manuscript will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher.

REFERENCES

- Ahluwalia, R., Burnkrant, R. E., and Unnava, H. R. (2000). Consumer response to negative publicity: the moderating role of commitment. J. Market. Res. 37, 203–214. doi: 10.1509/jmkr.37.2.203.18734
- Allison, R. I., and Uhl, K. P. (1964). Influence of beer brand identification on taste perception. J. Market. Res. 1, 36–39. doi: 10.2307/3150054
- Anderson, N. H. (1981). Foundations of Information Integration Theory. New York, NY: Academic Press.
- Ares, G., Giménez, A., Bruzzone, F., Vidal, L., Antúnez, L., and Maiche, A. (2013). Consumer visual processing of food labels: results from an eye-tracking study. J. Sens. Stud. 28, 138–153. doi: 10.1111/joss.12031
- Atalay, A. S., Bodur, H. O., and Rasolofoarison, D. (2012). Shining in the center: central gaze cascade effect on product choice. J. Consum. Res. 39, 848–866. doi: 10.1086/665984
- Audrin, C., Brosch, T., Chanal, J., and Sander, D. (2017a). When symbolism overtakes quality: materialists consumers disregard product quality when faced with luxury brands. *J. Econo. Psychol.* 61, 115–123. doi: 10.1016/j.joep.2017.04.001
- Audrin, C., Ceravolo, L., Chanal, J., Brosch, T., and Sander, D. (2017b). Associating a product with a luxury brand label modulates neural reward processing and favors choices in materialistic individuals. *Sci. Rep.* 7:16176. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-16544-6
- Baer, T., Coppin, G., Porcherot, C., Cayeux, I., Sander, D., and Delplanque, S. (2017). "Dior, J'adore": the role of contextual information of luxury on emotional responses to perfumes. *Food Qual. Prefer.* 69, 36–43. doi: 10.1016/j.foodqual.2017.12.003
- Bates, D., Maechler, M., Bolker, B., and Walker, S. (2015). lme4: linear mixed-effects models using Eigen and S4. J. Stat. Softw. 67, 1–48. doi: 10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Belk, R. W. (1985). Materialism: trait aspects of living in the material world. J. Consum. Res. 12, 265–280. doi: 10.1086/208515
- Bredahl, L. (2004). Cue utilisation and quality perception with regard to branded beef. *Food Qual. Prefer.* 15, 65–75. doi: 10.1016/S0950-3293(03)00024-7
- Brosch, T., and Van Bavel, J. J. (2012). The flexibility of emotional attention: accessible social identities guide rapid attentional orienting. *Cognition* 125, 309–316. doi: 10.1016/j.cognition.2012.07.007
- Chae, S. W., and Lee, K. C. (2013). Exploring the effect of the human brand on consumers' decision quality in online shopping: an eye-tracking approach. *Online Inform. Rev.* 37, 83–100. doi: 10.1108/14684521311311649
- Chandon, P., Hutchinson, J. W., Bradlow, E. T., and Young, S. H. (2009). does instore marketing work? Effects of the number and position of shelf facings on brand attention and evaluation at the point of purchase. J. Market. 73, 1–17. doi: 10.1509/jmkg.73.6.1
- Cisek, S. Z., Sedikides, C., Hart, C. M., Godwin, H. J., Benson, V., and Liversedge, S. P. (2014). Narcissism and consumer behaviour: a review and preliminary findings. *Front. Psychol.* 5:232. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00232

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CA, TB, DS, and JC contributed conception of the study. CA designed the study, organized the database, performed the statistical analysis, wrote the first draft of the manuscript. TB, DS, and JC contributed to manuscript revision, read and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Géraldine Coppin for her valuable insights into this work and for helping improve the manuscript. This research was supported by the National Center of Competence in Research (NCCR) for the Affective Sciences, financed by a grant from the Swiss National Science Foundation (51NF40-104897), hosted by the University of Geneva.

- Dittmar, H. (2005). Compulsive buying-a growing concern? An examination of gender, age, and endorsement of materialistic values as predictors. *Brit. J. Psychol.* 96, 467–491. doi: 10.1348/000712605X53533
- Fink, G. R., Halligan, P. W., Marshall, J. C., Frith, C. D., Frackowiak, R. S., and Dolan, R. J. (1996). Where in the brain does visual attention select the forest and the trees? *Nature* 382, 626–628. doi: 10.1038/382626a0
- Fournier, S., and Richins, M. L. (1991). Some theoretical and popular notions concerning materialism. J. Soc. Behav. Personal. 6, 403–414.
- Gil, L. A., Kwon, K.-N., Good, L. K., and Johnson, L. W. (2012). Impact of self on attitudes toward luxury brands among teens. J. Bus. Res. 65, 1425–1433. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2011.10.008
- Glaholt, M. G., and Reingold, E. M. (2011). Eye movement monitoring as a process tracing methodology in decision making research. J. Neurosci. Psychol. Econ. 4, 125–146. doi: 10.1037/a0020692
- Glöckner, A., and Herbold, A.-K. (2011). An eye-tracking study on information processing in risky decisions: evidence for compensatory strategies based on automatic processes. J. Behav. Decis. Mak. 24, 71–98. doi: 10.1002/bdm.684
- Graham, D. J., and Jeffery, R. W. (2011). Location, location, location: eye-tracking evidence that consumers preferentially view prominently positioned nutrition information. J. Am. Dietet. Assoc. 111, 1704–1711. doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2011.08.005
- Grouzet, F. M., Kasser, T., Ahuvia, A., Dols, J. M., Kim, Y., Lau, S., et al. (2005). The structure of goal contents across 15 cultures. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 89, 800–816. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.89.5.800
- Janiszewski, C., Kuo, A., and Tavassoli, N. T. (2013). The influence of selective attention and inattention to products on subsequent choice. J. Consum. Res. 39, 1258–1274. doi: 10.1086/668234
- Johnson, E. J., Shu, S. B., Dellaert, B. G. C., Fox, C., Goldstein, D. G., Häubl, G., et al. (2012). Beyond nudges: Tools of a choice architecture. *Market. Lett.* 23, 487–504. doi: 10.1007/s11002-012-9186-1
- Judd, C. M., Westfall, J., and Kenny, D. A. (2012). Treating stimuli as a random factor in social psychology: a new and comprehensive solution to a pervasive but largely ignored problem. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 103, 54–69. doi: 10.1037/a0028347
- Kardes, F. R., Kim, J., and Lim, J. (2001). Consumer expertise and the perceived diagnosticity of inference. Adv. Consum. Res. 19, 409–410.
- Kasser, T. (1999). I-D compensation theory and intrinsic/extrinsic goals. Psychol. Ing. 10, 224–226.
- Krajbich, I., and Rangel, A. (2011). Multialternative drift-diffusion model predicts the relationship between visual fixations and choice in value-based decisions. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 13852–13857. doi: 10.1073/pnas.11013 28108
- Krasich, K., McManus, R., Hutt, S., Faber, M., D'Mello, S. K., and Brockmole, J. R. (2018). Gaze-based signatures of mind wandering during real-world scene processing. *J. Exp. Psychol. Gen.* 147, 1–16. doi: 10.1037/xge00 00411

- Kuusela, H., Spence, M. T., and Kanto, A. J. (1998). Expertise effects on prechoice decision processes and final outcomes: a protocol analysis. *Eur. J. Market.* 32, 559–576. doi: 10.1108/03090569810216181
- Kuznetsova, A., Brockhoff, P. B., and Christensen, R. H. B. (2017). LmerTest package: tests in linear mixed effects models. J. Stat. Softw. 82. doi: 10.18637/jss.v082.i13
- L2 Think Tank and Stren, N. Y. U. (2010). *Gen Y Prestige Brand Ranking 2010*. New York, NY: L2 Think Tank.
- McClure, S. M., Li, J., Tomlin, D., Cypert, K. S., Montague, L. M., and Montague, P. R. (2004). Neural correlates of behavioral preference for culturally familiar drinks. *Neuron* 44, 379–387. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2004.09.019
- Milosavljevic, M., and Cerf, M. (2008). First attention then intention: insights from computational neuroscience of vision. *Inter. J. Advertis.* 27, 381–398. doi: 10.2501/S0265048708080037
- Milosavljevic, M., Navalpakkam, V., Koch, C., and Rangel, A. (2012). Relative visual saliency differences induce sizable bias in consumer choice. J. Consum. Psychol. 22, 67–74. doi: 10.1016/j.jcps.2011.10.002
- Miyazaki, A. D., Grewal, D., and Goodstein, R. C. (2005). The effect of multiple extrinsic cues on quality perceptions: a matter of consistency. J. Consum. Res. 32, 146–153. doi: 10.1086/429606
- Orquin, J. L., and Mueller Loose, S. (2013). Attention and choice: a review on eye movements in decision making. *Acta Psychol.* 144, 190–206. doi: 10.1016/j.actpsy.2013.06.003
- Pool, E., Brosch, T., Delplanque, S., and Sander, D. (2016). Attentional bias for positive emotional stimuli: a meta-analytic investigation. *Psychol. Bull.* 142, 79–106. doi: 10.1037/bul0000026
- Prendergast, G., and Wong, C. (2003). Parental influence on the purchase of luxury brands of infant apparel: an exploratory study in Hong Kong. J. Consum. Mark. 20, 157–169. doi: 10.1108/07363760310464613
- R Development Core Team (2008). *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing*. Vienna: R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Retrieved from: http://www.R-project.org
- Rayner, K., Miller, B., and Rotello, C. M. (2008). Eye movements when looking at print advertisements: the goal of the viewer matters. *Appl. Cogn. Psychol.* 22, 697–707. doi: 10.1002/acp.1389
- Rayner, K., Rotello, C. M., Stewart, A. J., Keir, J., and Duffy, S. A. (2001). Integrating text and pictorial information: eye movements when looking at print advertisements. J. Exp. Psychol. 7:219. doi: 10.1037/1076-898X.7.3.219
- Rindfleisch, A., Burroughs, J. E., and Denton, F. (1997). Family structure, materialism, and compulsive consumption. J. Consum. Res. 23, 312–325. doi: 10.1086/209486
- Shi, S. W., Wedel, M., and Pieters, F. G. M., Rik. (2012). Information acquisition during online decision making: a model-based exploration using eye-tracking data. *Manage. Sci.* 59, 1009–1026. doi: 10.1287/mnsc.1120.1625
- Shimojo, S., Simion, C., Shimojo, E., and Scheier, C. (2003). Gaze bias both reflects and influences preference. *Nat. Neurosci.* 6, 1317–1322. doi: 10.1038/nn1150
- Sollberger, S., Bernauer, T., and Ehlert, U. (2017). Predictors of visual attention to climate change images: an eye-tracking study. J. Environ. Psychol. 51, 46–56. doi: 10.1016/j.jenvp.2017.03.001

- Solomon, M., Bamossy, G., Askegaard, S., and Hogg, M. K. (2010). Consumer Behaviour: A European Perspective, 4th Edn. Harlow: Prentice Hall PTR.
- Sörqvist, P., Haga, A., Langeborg, L., Holmgren, M., Wallinder, M., Nöstl, A., et al. (2015). The green halo: mechanisms and limits of the ecolabel effect. *Food Qual. Prefer.* 43, 1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.foodqual.2015. 02.001
- Stokburger-Sauer, N. E., and Teichmann, K. (2013). Is luxury just a female thing? The role of gender in luxury brand consumption. J. Bus. Res. 66, 889–896. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2011.12.007
- van Herpen, E., and Trijp, H. C. (2011). Front-of-pack nutrition labels. Their effect on attention and choices when consumers have varying goals and time constraints. *Appetite* 57, 148–160. doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2011.04.011
- Veale, R., and Quester, P. (2009). Tasting quality: the roles of intrinsic and extrinsic cues. Asia Pac. J. Mark. Log. 21, 195–207. doi: 10.1108/13555850910926326
- Visschers, V. H., Hess, R., and Siegrist, M. (2010). Health motivation and product design determine consumers' visual attention to nutrition information on food products. *Public Health Nutr.* 13, 1099–1106. doi: 10.1017/S1368980009993235
- Wang, J., and Wallendorf, M. (2006). Materialism, status signaling, and product satisfaction. J. Acad. Market. Sci. 34, 494–505. doi: 10.1177/0092070306289291
- Wedel, M., and Pieters, R. (2008). "A review of eye-tracking research in marketing," in *Review of Marketing Research*, Vol. 4, ed N. K. Malhotra (Bingley: Emerald Group Publishing Limited), 123–147.
- Willemsen, M. C., Böckenholt, U., and Johnson, E. J. (2011). Choice by value encoding and value construction: processes of loss aversion. J. Experi. Psychol. Gen. 140:303. doi: 10.1037/a0023493
- Wong, N. Y., and Ahuvia, A. C. (1998). Personal taste and family face: luxury consumption in Confucian and Western societies. *Psychol. Market*. 15, 423–441
- Xiao, Y. J., Coppin, G., and Van Bavel, J. J. (2016). Perceiving the world through group-colored glasses: a perceptual model of intergroup relations. *Psychol. Inq.* 27, 255–274. doi: 10.1080/1047840X.2016.1199221
- Xiao, Y. J., and Van Bavel, J. J. (2012). See your friends close and your enemies closer: social identity and identity threat shape the representation of physical distance. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 38, 959–972. doi: 10.1177/01461672124 42228
- Zeithaml, V. A. (1988). Consumer perceptions of price, quality, and value: a means-end model and synthesis of evidence. J. Mark. 52, 2–22. doi: 10.2307/1251446

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Audrin, Brosch, Sander and Chanal. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Current Status on the Functional Characterization of Chemosensory Receptors of *Cydia pomonella* (Lepidoptera: Tortricidae)

Alberto Maria Cattaneo*

Division of Chemical Ecology, Department of Plant Protection Biology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Alnarp, Sweden

Cydia pomonella (Lepidoptera: Tortricidae) is a major pest of apple, pear and walnuts. For its control, alternative strategies targeting the olfactory system, like mating disruption, have been combined with insecticide applications. The efficacy of these strategies headed the direction of efforts for the functional characterization of codling moth chemosensory receptors to implement further control methods based on chemical sensing. With the advent of transcriptomic analysis, partial and full-length coding sequences of chemosensory receptors have been identified in antennal transcriptomes of C. pomonella. Extension of partial coding sequences to full-length by polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-based techniques and heterologous expression in empty neurons of Drosophila melanogaster and in Human Embryonic Kidney cells allowed functional studies to investigate receptor activation and ligand binding modalities (deorphanization). Among different classes of antennal receptors, several odorant receptors of C. pomonella (CpomORs) have been characterized as binding kairomones (CpomOR3), pheromones (CpomOR6a) and compounds emitted by non-host plants (CpomOR19). Physiological and pharmacological studies of these receptors demonstrated their ionotropic properties, by forming functional channels with the co-receptor subunit of CpomOrco. Further investigations reported a novel insect transient receptor potential (TRPA5) expressed in antennae and other body parts of C. pomonella as a complex pattern of ribonucleic acid (RNA) splice-forms, with a possible involvement in sensing chemical stimuli and temperature. Investigation on chemosensory mechanisms in the codling moth has practical outcomes for the development of control strategies and it inspired novel trends to control this pest by integrating alternative methods to interfere with insect chemosensory communication.

Keywords: *Cydia pomonella*, chemosensory receptors, functional characterization, *Drosophila* empty neuron system, human embryonic kidney (HEK293T) cells

INTRODUCTION

The codling moth *Cydia pomonella* (Lepidoptera: Trotricidae) is a major pest insect of commercial crops such as apple, pear and walnuts of Palearctic and Nearctic regions (Witzgall et al., 2008).

Integrated with insecticides, alternative methods are commonly used to control this insect (Starà et al., 2008; Odendaal et al., 2015; Arnault et al., 2016; Iraqui and Hmimina, 2016). Among these methods, mating disruption, which targets the olfactory system of *C. pomonella*

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gérard Manière, Université de Bourgogne, France

Reviewed by:

Ryuichi Okada, Kobe University, Japan Nai-Yong Liu, Southwest Forestry University, China

> *Correspondence: Alberto Maria Cattaneo albertomaria.cattaneo@slu.se

> Received: 28 June 2018 Accepted: 06 August 2018 Published: 27 August 2018

Citation:

Cattaneo AM (2018) Current Status on the Functional Characterization of Chemosensory Receptors of Cydia pomonella (Lepidoptera: Tortricidae). Front. Behav. Neurosci. 12:189. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2018.00189 males through the use of female sex pheromones, demonstrated efficient results to limit crop infestation (Hathaway et al., 1974; Ridgway et al., 1990; Light et al., 2001; Light, 2016). Furthermore, odors emitted by host-plants (kairomones), are combined with pheromones to enhance male attraction for the codling moth (Knight and Light, 2001; Light et al., 2001; Witzgall et al., 2001, 2005; Yang et al., 2004).

In insects, odors such as pheromones and kairomones are detected by olfactory sensory neurons (OSNs) that innervate specialized sensilla on their antennae (Buck and Axel, 1991; Chess et al., 1992; Vosshall et al., 2000; Carlson, 2001; Kurtovic et al., 2007). On the dendritic membrane of OSNs, odorants and pheromones mostly bind a class of seven-transmembrane proteins known as odorant receptors (ORs; Clyne et al., 1999). Deciphering mechanisms of receptor/ligand interactions and understanding pharmacological, kinetic properties and activation modalities of OR proteins, unveil promising aspects to improve strategies for the control of pest insects (Jones et al., 2011; Pask et al., 2011, 2013; Röllecke et al., 2013; Bobkov et al., 2014). Identification of ligands for specific ORs (deorphanization) among odors emitted from females and planthosts of the codling moth facilitates our understanding of the neurobiological and behavioral aspects at the base of the chemical ecology of C. pomonella. This contributes to possible application of novel ligands for semiochemical-based control strategies.

This mini-review reports the state of the art of current findings on the functional characterization of codling moth ORs as well as findings of a novel transient receptor potential (TRP) channel expressed in the olfactory system of *C. pomonella*. This contribution introduces ongoing studies on the molecular aspects of chemical sensing of the codling moth and their possible application to current control strategies targeting the olfactory system of the insect.

IDENTIFICATION OF CHEMOSENSORY RECEPTORS OF Cydia pomonella

By means of a polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-based technique, the 3' end of gene transcripts encoding putative members of C. pomonella ORs (CpomORs) have been initially identified from total ribonucleic acid (RNA) samples extracted from antennae (Garczynski et al., 2012). In this study, a similar method described by Buck and Axel (1991) was used to design degenerate forward primers based on polypeptide sequence alignments of the C-terminus of 12 members of the pheromone receptor subfamily of Bombyx mori (Lepidoptera: Bombycidae) and Heliothis virescens (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae). Forward primers were used to amplify partial 3'-ends starting from retro-transcribed 3'-cDNA templates generated by SMARTTM kits (Clontech, Mountain View, CA, USA). Among amplified 3'-ends, the first set of CpomORs were identified. This method represented the first effort in the isolation of CpomORs from antennal RNA samples, leading optimization of further RACE-PCR approaches to amplify the full-length coding sequences of other chemosensory genes of this insect, aimed to address their phylogenetic and functional characterization.

With the advent of transcriptomic analysis, a wider investigation was conducted by the use of 454-next generation sequencings (NGS) of antennal RNA-samples (Bengtsson et al., 2012). For the first time, a wide asset of assembled fragments of gene coding sequences was identified, revealing 14 candidate ionotropic receptors (IRs), one candidate gustatory receptor (GR) and 43 candidate ORs. Among these, five ORs were members of the putative pheromone receptors (PRs) subfamily: a monophyletic clade in Lepidopteran insect OR phylogeny, with receptors that predominantly respond to odors emitted by females (Jacquin-Joly and Merlin, 2004; Ihara et al., 2013; Leal, 2013). Among the five candidate PRs reported by Bengtsson et al. (2012), two PRs represented some of the same ORs identified in the previous work of Garczynski et al. (2012). With the aim to complement these studies, using Illumina-based RNA-sequencing, assembly of a transcriptome from male, female and larval olfactory tissues of the codling moth, a more complete list of chemosensory receptors of C. pomonella was updated to 21 IRs, 20 GRs and 58 putative ORs, among which, 11 represented members of the PR-clade (Walker et al., 2016; Table 1). Identification of IRs and GRs in antennal transcriptomes of the codling moth was in accordance with the reported findings of their functional importance in insect chemosensation (Clyne et al., 2000; Robertson et al., 2003; Benton et al., 2009; Montell, 2009; Ai et al., 2010; Silbering et al., 2011; Rytz et al., 2013; Missbach et al., 2014; Sanchez-Alcaniz et al., 2018). Despite their importance, most of the efforts to functionally characterize chemosensory receptors of the codling moth targeted ORs, with particular focus on members of the PRsubfamily.

FUNCTIONAL CHARACTERIZATION OF CpomOR3

CpomOR3 represents the first OR of the codling moth that was isolated, heterologously expressed and functionally characterized (Bengtsson et al., 2014). Expression of this receptor was conducted in Drosophila melanogaster ab3A (Dobritsa et al., 2003; Gonzalez et al., 2016) and aT1 (Kurtovic et al., 2007; Montagné et al., 2012) empty neurons, to screen a panel of ligands among pheromones, synergists and antagonists known for their activation of the olfactory system of C. pomonella. Activation of CpomOR3 was demonstrated for the plant volatile ethyl-E,Z-2,4-decadienoate, commonly known as pear ester (Jennings et al., 1964; Berger and Drawert, 1984; Light et al., 2001; Yang et al., 2004; Knight et al., 2005; Willner et al., 2013). Phylogenetic analysis demonstrated CpomOR3 to be a PR-candidate. Activation of a putative PR to the synergist pear ester was in accordance with neurological effects identified when this compound was tested with the primary sex pheromone component of the codling moth (codlemone) on AL-glomeruli of the insect (Trona et al., 2010, 2013). CpomOR3 response to pear ester gave further support to the role of this compound as a kairomone, already known to enhance male attraction in orchards when combined with female pheromones (Light et al., 2001; Yang et al., 2004). These findings suggest a possible role of

TABLE 1 Updated list of Cydia pomonella odorant receptors (CpomORs) in comparison among results from Garczynski et al. (2012); Bengtsson et al. (2012) and
Walker et al. (2016), based on their techniques (brackets).

Walker et al. (2016) (Illumina)	Bengtsson et al. (2012) (454)	Garczynski et al. (2012) (RACE-PCR)	Status	Clade
CpomOrco	CpomOB2	-	Complete ^a	Co-receptor
CpomOB1	CpomOB4	CpomOR11	Complete ^{a,b}	PR ^M
CoomOB2a	CoomOB5	CpomOB1a	Incomplete ^b	PR
ChomOB2b	opomorio	ChomOB1a	moompieto	
ChamOBa		Chomo B11c		
CpomOR2C	Cham OB2	CPOINONTIA	December in a da b:1.2	סס
CpomOR3	CpomOR3	-	Deorphanized	PR
CpomOR4	СротОК6	CpomOR4	Complete	PR
CpomOR5	-	-	Complete ⁰	PR™
CpomOR6a	CpomOR1	-	Deorphanized ^{a, b;2}	PR™
CpomOR6b	-		Complete ^D	
CpomOR7	-	-	Complete	PR ^M
CpomOR8	-	-	Complete	PR
CpomOR9	-	-	Incomplete	PR
CpomOR10	CpomOR28	-	Complete ^b	OR
CpomOR11	CpomOR11	-	Incomplete	ORL
CpomOR12	-	-	Incomplete	OR
CpomOR13	CpomOR8	-	Complete	OR
CpomOR14	CpomOR14	-	Complete	OR
CpomOR15	CpomOR20	-	Complete	OR
CpomOB16	-	-	Complete	OR
CoomOB18	CoomOB10	-	Complete	
	CoomOP10	-	Deerphanized ^{b;3}	OR
Chomo B20	ChomOB18	-		OR
	CPOINOR 18	-		On DDF
CpomOR21	-	-		PR'
CpomOR22	CpomOR15	-	Complete	PR'
CpomOR25	CpomOR21	-	Complete	OR
CpomOR26	-	-	Complete	OR
CpomOR27	CpomOR27	-	Complete	OR
	CpomOR29			
CpomOR28	CpomOR26	-	Complete ^b	OR
CpomOR29	-	-	Complete	OR
CpomOR30	CpomOR30	-	Complete	ORF
CpomOR31	-	-	Complete	OR ^M
CpomOR32	-	-	Complete	OR
CpomOR35	CpomOR35	-	Complete	OR
CpomOR37	CpomOR36	-	Complete	OR
	CpomOR39		·	
CpomOB38	-	-	Incomplete	OB
CpomOB39	CpomOB38	_	Complete ^b	OR
CoomOB40	CoomOB33	-	Complete	OR
	opomonoo		Complete	OPF
	-	-	Complete	OR
	-	-	Complete	
CpomOR44	-	-	Complete	OR
CpomOR46	CpomOR16	-	Complete	OR
CpomOR47	-	-	Complete	OR
CpomOR49	-	-	Complete	OR
CpomOR53	CpomOR9	-	Complete	OR
CpomOR54	CpomOR7	-	Complete	OR
	CpomOR41			
CpomOR56	CpomOR37	-	Complete	OR
CpomOR57	CpomOR31	-	Complete	OR
CpomOR58	CpomOR34	-	Complete	OR
CpomOR59	CpomOR12	-	Complete	OR
CpomOR60	-	-	Complete	OR
CpomOR61	CpomOR17	-	Complete	OR
CpomOR62	-	-	Complete	OR
CpomOR63	CpomOR23	-	Complete	OR
CpomOB64	CpomOB24	-	Complete	OBL
CpomOB65	CpomOB22	_	Complete	OR
CpomOB66	CpomOB32	-	Incomplete	OR
CnomOB67	-	-	Complete	OB
CnomOR68	_	_	Complete	OR
000000	-	-	Complete	

(Continued)

Deorphanizing Codling Moth Chemosensory Receptors

TABLE 1	(Continued)
	(001101000)

Walker et al. (2016) (<i>Illumina</i>)	Bengtsson et al. (2012) (454)	Garczynski et al. (2012) (RACE-PCR)	Status	Clade			
CpomOR71	-	-	Complete ^b	ORL			
CpomOR72	CpomOR40	-	Complete	OR			
Not found	CpomOR13	-	-	-			
Not coding	CpomOR43	-	-	-			
Not coding	CpomOR44	-	-	-			

^MReceptors with male-bias expression; ^Freceptors with female-bias expression; ^Lreceptors with larval-bias expression (Walker et al., 2016). ^aReceptors heterologously expressed in Human Embryonic Kidney (HEK293T); ^breceptors heterologously expressed in Drosophila empty neurons (**Figure 1**). Deorphanized receptors are indicated with numbers based on published data: ¹Bengtsson et al. (2014); ²Cattaneo et al. (2017b); ³Gonzalez et al. (2015). Accession to the updated dataset of CpomORs is available in Walker et al. (2016).

kairomones in the mate-choice behavior and in the reproductive isolation of tortricids (Trona et al., 2013; Bengtsson et al., 2014).

To better elucidate mechanisms involving pear ester sensing for CpomOR3, functional characterization experiments based on *Drosophila* empty neurons have been implemented through the heterologous expression of this receptor in Human Embryonic Kidney (HEK293T) cells (Cattaneo et al., 2017b). The use of an *in vitro* method represented an alternative to the common approaches for the functional characterization of insect ORs based on *Drosophila* empty neurons. The choice of this method was supported by successful attempts on the expression of PR-candidates from moths belonging to Bombycidae (Grosse-Wilde et al., 2006), Noctuidae (Grosse-Wilde et al., 2007), Saturniidae (Forstner et al., 2009) and Tortricidae (Steinwender et al., 2015). Comparison of heterologous expression between *Drosophila* OSNs and HEK293T is shown in **Figure 1**.

In search of other possible ligands for CpomOR3, screening of a compound library on HEK293T cells validated activation of the receptor to both pear ester and the analogous methyl-(E, Z)-2, 4-decadienoate. Sensing of an analogous methyl-ester for the codling moth was reported for the first time by demonstrating larval attraction from emissions of ripe Bartlett pear (Knight and Light, 2001), although origins of methyl ester as a plant-emitted odorant are still debated. Indeed, aside from emission by Bartlett pear, methyl ester was found in the head, thoraxes and fecal pellets of the bark beetle *Pityogenes chalcographus* (Coleoptera: Curculionidae; Birgersson et al., 1990). In addition, methyl ester was also found in emissions from stink bugs of the genus *Euschistus* (Heteroptera: Pentatomidae; Aldrich et al., 1991; Tognon et al., 2016).

A remaining question is if interaction of the analogous methyl ester with the same receptor of ethyl-(E,Z)-2,4-decadienoate may result in a similar effect in the antennal lobe as an evidence of its synergism with codlemone (Trona et al., 2010, 2013).

FUNCTIONAL CHARACTERIZATION OF CpomOR6a

Heterologous expression of codling moth receptors in HEK293T cells also deorphanized the PR candidate CpomOR6a as responsive to (E, E)-8–12-dodecadien-1-yl acetate (Codelmone acetate; Cattaneo et al., 2017b). Combining heterologous expression in *Drosophila* aT1, (E,Z)- and (Z,Z)-geometric isomers of codlemone acetate were also identified as partial

ligands of the receptor. Together with these ligands, CpomOR6a sensed (E)-10-dodecadien-1-yl acetate and, although with less specificity, (Z,E)-8–12-dodecadien-1-yl acetate.

Codlemone acetates are main pheromone components emitted by female moths closely related to C. pomonella (Frerot et al., 1979; Roelofs and Brown, 1982; Davis et al., 1984; Witzgall et al., 1996; Chambers et al., 2011). Although receptors of codlemone acetates of these species have not been isolated and deorphanized yet, overall sequence similarities and relatively high expression in C. nigricana and Hedya nubiferana, suggested the gene locus OR6 to express a conserved receptor between C. pomonella and these tortricid species (Gonzalez et al., 2017). While speculative, a possible explanation of the existence of the codlemone acetate receptor in C. pomonella may be as a remnant of the former ancestor of the insect. However, conserving a receptor dedicated to detect other species may be important for reproductive isolation of the codling moth. Otherwise, since moths emitting codlemone acetates share the same host range with C. pomonella, detection of codlemone acetates may facilitate host finding for the codling moth. The evolution of a receptor specialized for the detection of a main pheromone compound, like codlemone, may likely represent a step towards allopatric speciation of C. pomonella.

Among candidate PRs of the codling moth (**Table 1**), the most likely sensor for codlemone is CpomOR1 given its abundant expression in OSNs of male moths (Bengtsson et al., 2014; Walker et al., 2016). Although heterologous expression methods in HEK cells and *Drosophila* empty neurons were unable to demonstrate CpomOR1 responsiveness to codlemone (Cattaneo et al., 2017b), future deorphanization attempts will unveil if this prediction holds true. Another remaining question is whether the transcript variant CpomOR6 has the same response spectrum as CpomOR6a and what might be its relevance, especially considering the lack of knowledge on alternative splicing in lepidopteran PRs (Garczynski and Leal, 2015).

FUNCTIONAL CHARACTERIZATION OF CpomOR19

Although CpomOR19 is not a PR-candidate in *C. pomonella*, testing heterologous expression of this receptor in *Drosophila* ab3As is part of documented deorphanizations of chemosensory receptors of the codling moth (Gonzalez et al., 2015).



CpomOR19 is responsive to 1-indanone; several analogs of this compound (2-methyl-1-indanone, 2-ethyl-1-indanone and 3-methyl-1-indanone) elicit responses of different sensitivities by this receptor. These compounds are renowned for their "non-host" origins (Klein et al., 1990; Anderson et al., 1993; Nagle et al., 2000; Okpekon et al., 2009; Rukachaisirikul et al., 2013). CpomOR19 binding to indanes represented the first deorphanization of a receptor of the codling moth to compounds emitted by non-hosts. Interestingly, different sensitivities between 1-indanone and its analogs for the CpomOR19 binding is consistent with observations reported between pear and methy esters on CpomOR3, where one carbon of the alkyl group may determine different binding affinity, perhaps due to differences in the polarity of the compounds (Cattaneo et al., 2017b).

By use of the same method, activation of the ortholog SlitOR19 of the African cotton-leaf worm *Spodoptera littoralis* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) demonstrated conservation in binding 1-indanone and analogous. When compared, ab3A expressing CpomOR19 and SlitOR19 showed increased response to indanes, when substituted with alkyl groups at position two and three of the five-membered ring. On the contrary, indanes provided with methyl substituents on the benzene ring largely did not activate these receptors. Furthermore, indanes provided with alcohols, hydrocarbons and amine groups also did not activate any of the two receptors, which suggested a conserved function for CpomOR19 and SlitOR19 orthologs, despite the phylogenetical and ecological distance of their respective moths. A recent report on *Spodoptera* ORs provides a blueprint for prediction of SlitOR ligands based on the interaction of phylogeny and chemical structure (de Fouchier et al., 2017). Given evidences of conserved function between CpomOR19 and SlitOR19, prediction of SlitOR ligands may benefit future studies on deorphanization of CpomORs.

PHYSIOLOGICAL PROPERTIES OF CpomORs

Expression of CpomOR genes in HEK cells was undertaken by co-transfecting the CpomOrco co-receptor subunit of the

codling moth (Figure 1B). Functional studies of CpomOrco demonstrated heteromeric complexes of the co-receptor with OR subunits being more sensitive than homomeric co-receptor complexes, as previously demonstrated for Orco-based channels of other insects (Jones et al., 2011; Pask et al., 2011; Kumar et al., 2013; Turner et al., 2014). By the use of the main ligand VUAA (Jones et al., 2011), calcium response was characterized by faster activation/deactivation kinetics for CpomORco+OR than CpomORco alone. Testing inhibitors like amiloride derivatives (ADs; Pask et al., 2013; Röllecke et al., 2013) demonstrated similar effects for both homomeric and heteromeric complexes. When HEK cells were tested by whole-cell and outside-out patch-clamp recordings, activation of CpomOrco+OR complexes resembled modalities of ligandgated cation channels: responses to multiple stimulations were characterized by constant amplitudes and stable kinetic parameters, which is indicative of the ionotropic nature of insect OR receptors (Sato et al., 2008).

Despite that the molecular mechanisms at the base of signal transduction of insect olfactory systems still remain unknown (Krieger and Breer, 1999; Jacquin-Joly and Merlin, 2004; Sakurai et al., 2014), results on the functional characterization of *C. pomonella* ORs are consistent with the idea that all insect or, perhaps, even all arthropod chemosensory receptor channels (among ORs and IRs) can be characterized by somewhat common pharmacology (Bobkov and Ache, 2007; Abuin et al., 2011; Bobkov et al., 2014). Although, this might be called into question given some evidence pointing towards metabotropic signaling modalities for insect ORs (Sargsyan et al., 2011; Getahun et al., 2013; Ignatious Raja et al., 2014).

TRANSIENT RECEPTOR POTENTIAL CHANNELS OF Cydia pomonella

A second analysis of sequencing data from Bengtsson et al. (2012), unveiled further transcripts related with ligand-gated cation channels belonging to the class of TRP. In several organisms, TRP-channels enable sensing of multiple stimuli from the environment (Liedtke and Heller, 2007). Among chemical stimuli, several compounds commonly found in food plants and spices are reported to activate TRPs (Caterina et al., 1997; Jordt et al., 2004; Xu et al., 2006; Bautista et al., 2007). Interestingly, TRP-active compounds are reported for their ability to repel insects (Leung and Foster, 1996; Barnard, 1999) and, in particular, to activate the olfactory system of tortricid and noctuid moths (Cattaneo et al., 2014; Wei et al., 2015).

In *C. pomonella*, five TRPs have been found in the antennae belonging to the TRPC (TRP, TRPC) and the TRPA subfamily (Pyrexia, water witch, TRPA5; Cattaneo et al., 2016). Up to now, *CpomTRPA5* is the only TRP of the codling moth that has been extended to the full length. Interestingly, five variants of the spliced-coding sequence have been found, demonstrating different expression patterns among body parts of the codling moth. Analysis of the *CpomTRPA5* mRNA sequence demonstrated the transcript undergoing to mRNA editing by insertion of 15 additional nucleotides within the third exon of the full-length sequence, which is a mechanism

occurring for K⁺ channels of multiple organisms, including insects (Holmgren and Rosenthal, 2015). Evolutionary studies suggested the relatedness of *TRPA5* gene to the thermal sensor *Pyrexia* (Peng et al., 2015), which has also been descripted as a thermal-gated K⁺-channel of insect (Lee et al., 2005).

Identification of TRPs in *C. pomonella* represented the first documented finding within this species for this particular class of chemoreceptors. Identification of *CpomTRPA5* and its spliceforms is among the first documented existences of this particular subunit for arthropod TRPAs (Peng et al., 2015). Relatedness of *CpomTRPA5* with *Pyrexia* suggested a possible role of the CpomTRPA5 receptor as a thermal sensor, which is consistent with behavioral evidences for the codling moth of odor-guided responses in relation with temperature (Witzgall et al., 1999).

By means of methods adopted to test activation of mammalian TRPAs expressed in HEK cells (Bassoli et al., 2009, 2013; Cattaneo et al., 2017a), functional characterization studies of CpomTRPA5 may be conducted to better elucidate possible roles of this receptor in chemical and physical sensing modalities of the codling moth.

FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The technologies adapted to the setup of transcriptomic and heterologous expression studies for the functional characterization of chemosensory receptors of *C. pomonella*, may offer new opportunities to address longstanding questions in the field of insect ecology, with a practical outcome for the implementation of its control strategies.

Two out of the three codling moth ORs that have been deorphanized, belong to the clade of putative Pheromone Receptors. Although attempted, the receptor for the main pheromone codlemone has not been functionally characterized. To validate a possible role of CpomOR1 as a main candidate sensor (Bengtsson et al., 2012; Walker et al., 2016; Cattaneo et al., 2017b), future experiments will verify if co-expression of CpomOR1 with CpomOR6a in Drosophila aT1 neurons is sensitive to codlemone. This approach is supported by evidences of response to codlemone acetates from OSNs of C. pomonella responding to codlemone (Bäckman et al., 2000), which may suggest a possible role of the CpomOR6a subunit to sense this pheromone. In addition, studies on several insects demonstrated co-expression of different OR subunits in the same OSN (Couto et al., 2005; Fishilevich and Vosshall, 2005; Goldman et al., 2005; Ray et al., 2007; Koutroumpa et al., 2014; Karner et al., 2015; Lebreton et al., 2017), and stoichiometry of OR heteromers is still debated (Larsson et al., 2004; Benton et al., 2006; Wicher, 2018).

In support of the control of the codling moth with mating disruption, novel trends are leading the direction of studies to integrate targeting of sensing modalities of codling moth females. Indeed, methods based on mating disruption demonstrated inefficacy to the control of the codling moth at high population in the orchards, as well as on the top of tree branches, where the pheromone cloud is limited (Witzgall et al., 1999). Identification of CpomORs with a female-biased expression (Bengtsson et al., 2012; Walker et al., 2016) motivates the use of heterologous methods to address their functional characterization (Swedish Research Council Formas, Project Reg. No. 2016-01281 "Control of Apple Pest Insects with Fruit and Yeast Odorants"). This approach may identify novel ligands active on female olfactory systems. Among these ligands, odors emitted by fruits and their associated microbes may be tested, given the importance of yeasts for attractiveness of egg-lying females (Witzgall et al., 2012).

Recent studies based on CRISPR/Cas9 editing of the codling moth, demonstrated efficacy of this method to address knockdown of functional OR proteins, which resulted in affection of fecundity and fertility, with edited females producing nonviable eggs (Garczynski et al., 2017). Future targets may combine heterologous expression methods, with the use of CRISPR/Cas9 to generate OR-edited insects, as a complementary approach to address the functional characterization of codling moth receptors.

Future trends integrating research on the olfactory system of *C. pomonella* may target larval chemical sensing as complementary to the current approaches addressing the functional characterization of adult ORs (Formas Mobility Starting Grant Reg. No. 2018-00891 "*Control of Fruit Pests by Targeting Larval Chemical Sensing*," submitted). Indeed, chemosensory mechanisms at the base of larval behavior are long renowned for the codling moth (Knight and Light, 2001; Jumean et al., 2005) and expression of CpomORs with a larval-bias has been reported (Walker et al., 2016).

REFERENCES

- Abuin, L., Bargeton, B., Ulbrich, M. H., Isacoff, E. Y., Kellenberger, S., and Benton, R. (2011). Functional architecture of olfactory ionotropic glutamate receptors. *Neuron* 69, 44–60. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2010.11.042
- Ai, M., Min, S., Grosjean, Y., Leblanc, C., Bell, R., Benton, R., et al. (2010). Acid sensing by the *Drosophila* olfactory system. *Nature* 468, 691–695. doi: 10.1038/nature09537
- Aldrich, J. R., Hoffmann, M. P., Kochansky, J. P., Lusby, W. R., Eger, J. E., and Payne, J. A. (1991). Identification and attractiveness of a major pheromone component for Nearctic *Euschistus* spp. stink bugs (Heteroptera: Pentatomidae). *Environ. Entomol.* 20, 477–483. doi: 10.1093/ee/20.2.477
- Anderson, P., Hilker, M., Hansson, B., Bombosch, S., Klein, B., and Schildknecht, H. (1993). Oviposition deterring components in larval frass of *Spodoptera littoralis* (Boisd.) (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae): a behavioral and electrophysiological evaluation. *J. Insect Physiol.* 39, 129–137. doi: 10.1016/0022-1910(93)90104-y
- Arnault, I., Lombarkia, N., Joy-Ondet, S., Romet, L., Brahim, I., Meradi, R., et al. (2016). Foliar application of microdoses of sucrose to reduce codling moth *Cydia pomonella* L. (Lepidoptera: Tortricidae) damage to apple trees. *Pest Manag. Sci.* 72, 1901–1909. doi: 10.1002/ps.4228
- Bäckman, A. C., Anderson, P., Bengtsson, M., Löfqvist, J., Unelius, C. R., and Witzgall, P. (2000). Antennal response of codling moth males, *Cydia pomonella* L. (Lepidoptera: Tortricidae), to the geometric isomers of codlemone and codlemone acetate. *J. Comp. Physiol. A* 186, 513–519. doi: 10.1007/s003590000101
- Barnard, D. R. (1999). Repellency of essential oils to mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae). J. Med. Entomol. 36, 625–629. doi: 10.1093/jmedent/36.5.625
- Bassoli, A., Borgonovo, G., Caimi, S., Scaglioni, L., Morini, G., Moriello, A. S., et al. (2009). Taste-guided identication of high potency TRPA1 agonists from *Perilla frutescens. Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 17, 1636–1639. doi: 10.1016/j.bmc.2008. 12.057

Broader discoveries on the molecular bases of the olfactory mechanisms of *C. pomonella* will enhance current control strategies interfering with the insect's chemosensory communication. Development of novel methods targeting olfaction may help limit the use of insecticides, with beneficial effects on the quality of life for apple growers, consumers, as well as public living around the orchard areas, reducing further the conflict between agricultural and urban worlds.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AMC wrote the manuscript.

FUNDING

The financial support for this study has been provided by the Craaford Foundation (Ref. No: 20170728), integrated with the Formas Project Reg. No.: 2016-01281 "Control of Apple Pest Insects with Fruit and Yeast odorants"—Swedish Research Council. Costs for submission will be covered by the Martha och Dagny Larssons fond—Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (Protokoll 172-174, Sammanträdesdatum 2018-04-24).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author acknowledges Dr. William B. Walker III and Prof. Peter Witzgall for general discussion, personal communications and availability in phase of writing this contribution. Language editing has been courtesy performed by Dr. William Walker.

- Bassoli, A., Borgonovo, G., Morini, G., De Petrocellis, L., Schiano Moriello, A., and Di Marzo, V. (2013). Analogues of perillaketone has highly potent agonists of TRPA1 channel. *Food Chem.* 141, 2044–2051. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2013. 05.063
- Bautista, D. M., Siemens, J., Glazer, J. M., Tsuruda, P. R., Basbaum, A. I., Stucky, C. L., et al. (2007). The menthol receptor TRPM8 is the principal detector of environmental cold. *Nature* 448, 204–208. doi: 10.1038/nature05910
- Bengtsson, J. M., Gonzalez, F., Cattaneo, A. M., Montagné, N., Walker, W. B. III., Bengtsson, M., et al. (2014). A predicted sex pheromone receptor of codling moth *Cydia pomonella* detects the plant volatile pear ester. *Front. Ecol. Evol.* 2:33. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2014.00033
- Bengtsson, J. M., Trona, F., Montagné, N., Anfora, G., Ignell, R., Witzgall, P., et al. (2012). Putative chemosensory receptors of the codling moth, *Cydia pomonella*, identified by antennal transcriptome analysis. *PLoS One* 7:e31620. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0031620
- Benton, R., Sachse, S., Michnick, S. W., and Vosshall, L. B. (2006). A typical membrane topology and heteromeric function of *Drosophila* odorant receptors *in vivo*. *PLoS Biol*. 4:e20. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.0040020
- Benton, R., Vannice, K. S., Gomez-Diaz, C., and Vosshall, L. B. (2009). Variant ionotropic glutamate receptors as chemosensory receptors in *Drosophila. Cell* 136, 149–162. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.12.001
- Berger, R. G., and Drawert, F. (1984). Changes in the composition of volatiles by post-harvest application of alcohol stored delicious apples. J. Sci. Food Agric. 35, 1318–1325. doi: 10.1002/jsfa.2740351208
- Birgersson, J., Byers, J. A., Bergström, G., and Löfqvist, J. (1990). Production of pheromone components, chalcogran and methyl (E,Z)-2,4-decadienoate, in the spruce engraver *Pityogenes chalcographus. J. Ins. Physiol.* 36, 391–395. doi: 10.1016/0022-1910(90)90056-1
- Bobkov, Y. V., and Ache, B. W. (2007). Block by amiloride derivatives of odor-evoked discharge in lobster olfactory receptor neurons through action on a presumptive TRP channel. *Chem. Senses* 32, 149–159. doi:10.1093/chemse/bjl041

- Bobkov, Y. V., Corey, E. A., and Ache, B. W. (2014). An inhibitor of Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchange blocks activation of insect olfactory receptors. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 450, 1104–1109. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.06.120
- Buck, L., and Axel, R. (1991). A novel multigene family may encode odorant receptors: a molecular basis for odor recognition. *Cell* 65, 175–187. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(91)90418-x
- Carlson, J. R. (2001). Functional expression of a *Drosophila* odor receptor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 98, 8936–8937. doi: 10.1073/pnas.171311198
- Caterina, M. J., Schumacher, M. A., Tominaga, M., Rosen, T. A., Levine, J. D., and Julius, D. (1997). The capsaicin receptor: a heat-activated ion channel in the pain pathway. *Nature* 389, 816–824. doi: 10.1038/39807
- Cattaneo, A. M., Bengtsson, J. M., Borgonovo, G., Bassoli, A., and Anfora, G. (2014). Response of the European grapevine moth *Lobesia botrana* to somatosensory-active volatiles emitted by the non-host plant *Perilla frutescens*. *Physiol. Entomol.* 39, 229–236. doi: 10.1111/phen.12067
- Cattaneo, A. M., Bengtsson, J. M., Montagné, N., Jacquin-Joly, E., Rota-Stabelli, O., Salvagnin, U., et al. (2016). TRPA5, an ankyrin subfamily insect TRP channel, is expressed in antennae of *Cydia pomonella* (Lepidoptera: Tortricidae) in multiple splice variants. *J. Insect Sci.* 16:83. doi: 10.1093/jisesa/ iew072
- Cattaneo, A. M., Bobkov, Y. V., Corey, E. A., Borgonovo, G., and Bassoli, A. (2017a). Perilla derived compounds mediate human TRPA1 channel activity. *Med. Aromat. Plants.* 6:283. doi: 10.4172/2167-0412.1000283
- Cattaneo, A. M., Gonzalez, F., Bengtsson, J. M., Corey, E. A., Jacquin-Joly, E., Montagné, N., et al. (2017b). Candidate pheromone receptors of codling moth *Cydia pomonella* respond to pheromones and kairomones. *Sci. Rep.* 7:41105. doi: 10.1038/srep41105
- Chambers, U., Walton, V. M., and Mehlenbacher, S. A. (2011). Susceptibility of hazelnut cultivars to filbertworm, *Cydia latiferreana*. *Hort. Science* 46, 1377–1380.
- Chess, A., Buck, L., Dowling, M. M., Axel, R., and Ngai, J. (1992). Molecular biology of smell: expression of the multigene family encoding putative odorant receptors. *Cold. Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol.* 57, 505–516. doi: 10.1101/sqb. 1992.057.01.056
- Clyne, P. J., Warr, C. G., and Carlson, J. R. (2000). Candidate taste receptors in Drosophila. Science 287, 1830–1834. doi: 10.1126/science.287.5459.1830
- Clyne, P. J., Warr, C. G., Freeman, M. R., Lessing, D., Kim, J., and Carlson, J. R. (1999). A novel family of divergent seven-transmembrane proteins: candidate odorant receptors in *Drosophila. Neuron* 22, 327–338. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(00)81093-4
- Couto, A., Alenius, M., and Dickson, B. J. (2005). Molecular, anatomical and functional organization of the *Drosophila* olfactory system. *Curr. Biol.* 15, 1535–1547. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2005.07.034
- Davis, H. G., McDonough, L. M., Burditt, A. K., and Bieri-Leonhardt, B. A. (1984). Filbertworm sex pheromone. Identification and field tests of (E,E)- and (E,Z)- 8,10 dodecadien-1-ol acetates. J. Chem. Ecol. 10, 53–61. doi: 10.1007/bf00987643
- de Fouchier, A., Walker, W. B. III., Montagné, N., Steiner, C., Binyameen, M., Schlyter, F., et al. (2017). Functional evolution of Lepidoptera olfactory receptors revealed by deorphanization of a moth repertoire. *Nat. Comm.* 8:15709. doi: 10.1038/ncomms15709
- Dobritsa, A. A., van der Goes van Naters, W., Warr, C. G., Steinbrecht, R. A., and Carlson, J. R. (2003). Integrating the molecular and cellular basis of odor coding in the *Drosophila* antenna. *Neuron* 37, 827–841. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(03)00094-1
- Fishilevich, E., and Vosshall, L. B. (2005). Genetic and functional subdivision of the Drosophila antennal lobe. Curr. Biol. 15, 1548–1553. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2005. 07.066
- Forstner, M., Breer, H., and Krieger, J. (2009). A receptor and binding protein interplay in the detection of a distinct pheromone component in the silkmoth Antheraea polyphemus. *Int. J. Biol. Sci.* 5, 745–757. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.5.745
- Frerot, B., Priesner, E., and Gallois, M. A. (1979). Sex attractant for the green budworm moth, Hedya nubiferana. Z. Naturforsch. C 34, 1248–1252. doi: 10.1515/znc-1979-1229
- Garczynski, S. F., and Leal, W. S. (2015). Alternative splicing produces two transcripts encoding female-biased pheromone subfamily receptors in the navel orangeworm, *Amyelois transitella. Front. Ecol. Evol.* 3:115. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2015.00115

- Garczynski, S. F., Martin, J. A., Griset, M., Willett, L. S., Cooper, W. R., Swisher, K. D., et al. (2017). CRISPR/Cas9 editing of the codling moth (Lepidoptera: Tortricidae) *CpomOR1* Gene affects egg production and viability. *J. Econ. Entomol.* 110, 1847–1855. doi: 10.1093/jee/tox166
- Garczynski, S. F., Wanner, K. W., and Unruh, T. R. (2012). Identification and initial characterization of the 3' end of gene transcripts encoding putative members of the pheromone receptor subfamily in Lepidoptera. *Ins. Sci.* 19, 64–74. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-7917.2011.01423.x
- Getahun, M. N., Olsson, S. B., Lavista-llanos, S., Hansson, B. S., and Wicher, D. (2013). Insect odorant response sensitivity is tuned by metabotropically autoregulated olfactory receptors. *PLoS One* 8:e58889. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0058889
- Goldman, A. L., van Naters, W. V., Lessing, D., Warr, C. G., and Carlson, J. R. (2005). Coexpression of two functional odor receptors in one neuron. *Neuron* 45, 661–666. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2005.01.025
- Gonzalez, F., Bengtsson, J. M., Walker, W. B. III., Sousa, M., Cattaneo, A. M., Montagné, N., et al. (2015). A conserved odorant receptor detects the same substituted indan compounds in a totricid and a noctuid moth. *Front. Ecol. Evol.* 3:131. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2015.00131
- Gonzalez, F., Witzgall, P., and Walker, W. B. III. (2016). Protocol for heterologous expression of insect odourant receptors in *Drosophila. Front. Ecol. Evol.* 4:24. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2016.00024
- Gonzalez, F., Witzgall, P., and Walker, W. B. III. (2017). Antennal transcriptomes of three tortricid moths reveal putative conserved chemosensory receptors for social and habitat olfactory cues. Sci. Rep. 7:41829. doi: 10.1038/srep41829
- Grosse-Wilde, E., Gohl, T., Bouche, E., Breer, H., and Krieger, J. (2007). Candidate pheromone receptors provide the basis for the response of distinct antennal neurons to pheromonal compounds. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 25, 2364–2373. doi: 10.1111/i.1460-9568.2007.05512.x
- Grosse-Wilde, E., Svatos, A., and Krieger, J. (2006). A pheromone-binding protein mediates the bombykol-induced activation of a pheromone receptor *in vitro*. *Chem. Senses* 31, 547–555. doi: 10.1093/chemse/bjj059
- Hathaway, D. O., McGovern, T. P., Beroza, M., Moffitt, H. R., McDonough, L. M., and Buit, B. A. (1974). An inhibitor of sexual attraction of male codling moths to a synthetic sex pheromone and virgin females in traps. *Environ. Entomol.* 3, 522–524. doi: 10.1093/ee/3.3.522
- Holmgren, M., and Rosenthal, J. J. (2015). Regulation of ion channel and transporter function through RNA editing. *Curr. Issues Mol. Biol.* 17, 23–36. doi: 10.21775/cimb.017.023
- Ignatious Raja, J. S., Katanayeva, N., Katanaev, V. L., and Galizia, C. G. (2014). Role of G_{0/i} subgroup of G proteins in olfactory signaling of *Drosophila melanogaster. Eur. J. Neurosci* 39, 1245–1255. doi: 10.1111/ejn.12481
- Ihara, S., Yoshikawa, K., and Touhara, K. (2013). Chemosensory signals and their receptors in the olfactory neural system. *Neuroscience* 254, 45–60. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013.08.063
- Iraqui, S., and Hmimina, M. (2016). Assessment of control strategies against Cydia pomonella (L.) in Morocco. J. Plant Prot. Res. 56, 82–88. doi: 10.1515/jppr-2016-0012
- Jacquin-Joly, E., and Merlin, C. (2004). Insect olfactory receptors: contributions of molecular biology to chemical ecology. J. Chem. Ecol. 30, 2359–2397. doi: 10.1007/s10886-004-7941-3
- Jennings, W. G., Creveling, R. K., and Heinz, D. E. (1964). Volatile esters of Bartlett pear. IV. Esters of trans-2-cis-4-decadienoic acid. J. Food Sci. 29, 730–734. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2621.1964.tb00439.x
- Jones, P. L., Paska, G. M., Rinkerb, D. C., and Zwiebel, L. J. (2011). Functional agonism of insect odorant receptor ion channels. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 108, 8821–8825. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1102425108
- Jordt, S. E., Bautista, D. M., Chuang, H. H., McKemy, D. D., Zygmunt, P. M., Högestätt, E. D., et al. (2004). Mustard oils and cannabinoids excite sensory nerve fibres through the TRP channel ANKTM1. *Nature* 427, 260–265. doi: 10.1038/nature02282
- Jumean, Z., Lafontaine, J. P., Wood, C., Judd, G. J. R., and Gries, G. (2005). Pheromone-based trapping of larval codling moth, *Cydia pomonella*, in apple orchards. *J. Chem. Ecol.* 31, 911–924. doi: 10.1007/s10886-005 -3552-x
- Karner, T., Schneider, I., Schultze, A., Breer, H., and Krieger, J. (2015). Co-expression of six tightly clustered odorant receptor genes in the antenna of the malaria mosquito. *Front. Ecol. Evol.* 3:26. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2015.00026

- Klein, B., Schildknecht, H., Hilker, M., and Bombosch, S. (1990). Eiablagehemmende wirkstoffe aus dem Larvenkot von Spodoptera littoralis (Boisd.). Z. Naturforsch. C 45, 895–901.doi: 10.1515/znc-1990-7-823
- Knight, A., Hilton, R., and Light, D. (2005). Monitoring codling moth (Lepidoptera: Tortricidae) in apple with blends of ethyl (E, Z)-2, 4-decadienoate and codlemone. *Environ. Entomol.* 34, 598–603. doi: 10.1603/0046-225x-34.3.598
- Knight, A. L., and Light, D. M. (2001). Attractants from Bartlett pear for codling moth, *Cydia pomonella* (L.), larvae. *Naturwissenschaften* 88, 339–342. doi: 10.1007/s001140100244
- Koutroumpa, F. A., Kárpáti, Z., Monsempes, C., Hill, S. R., Hansson, B. S., Jacquin-Joly, E., et al. (2014). Shifts in sensory neuron identity parallel differences in pheromone preference in the European corn borer. *Front. Ecol. Evol.* 2:65. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2014.00065
- Krieger, J., and Breer, H. (1999). Olfactory reception in invertebrates. Science 286, 720–723. doi: 10.1126/science.286.5440.720
- Kumar, B. N., Taylor, R. W., Pask, G. M., Zwiebel, L. J., Newcomb, R. D., and Christie, D. L. A. (2013). A conserved aspartic acid is important for agonist (VUAA1) and odorant/tuning receptor-dependent activation of the insect odorant co-receptor (Orco). *PLoS One* 8:e70218. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0070218
- Kurtovic, A., Widmer, A., and Dickson, B. J. (2007). A single class of olfactory neurons mediates behavioural responses to a *Drosophila* sex pheromone. *Nature* 446, 542–546. doi: 10.1038/nature05672
- Larsson, M. C., Domingos, A. I., Jones, W. D., Chiappe, M. E., Amrein, H., and Vosshall, L. B. (2004). Or83b encodes a broadly expressed odorant receptor essential for Drosophila olfaction. Neuron 43, 703–714. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron. 2004.08.019
- Leal, W. S. (2013). Odorant reception in insects: roles of receptors, binding proteins and degrading enzymes. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 58, 373–391. doi: 10.1146/annurev-ento-120811-153635
- Lebreton, S., Borrero-Echeverry, F., Gonzalez, F., Solum, M., Wallin, E. A., Hedenström, E., et al. (2017). A *Drosophila* female pheromone elicits species-specific long-range attraction via an olfactory channel with dual specificity for sex and food. *BMC Biol.* 15:88. doi: 10.1186/s12915-017-0427-x
- Lee, Y., Lee, J., Bang, S., Hyun, S., Kang, J., Hong, S. T., et al. (2005). Pyrexia is a new thermal transient receptor potential channel endowing tolerance to high temperatures in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Nat. Genet.* 37, 305–310. doi: 10.1038/ng1513
- Leung, A. Y., and Foster, S. (1996). Encyclopedia of Common Natural Ingredients Used in Food, Drugs and Cosmetics. 2nd Edn. New York: John Wiley and Sons Inc.
- Liedtke, W. B., and Heller, S. (Eds). (2007). "Trp channels: diversity of form and function," in *Frontiers in Neuroscience* (Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press/Taylor & Francis). Available online at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK1856/.
- Light, D. M. (2016). Control and monitoring of codling moth (Lepidoptera: Tortricidae) in walnut orchards treated with novel high-load, low-density "meso" dispensers of sex pheromone and pear ester. *Environ. Entomol.* 45, 700–707. doi: 10.1093/ee/nvw017
- Light, D. M., Knight, A. L., Henrick, C. A., Rajapaska, D., Lingren, B., Dickens, J. C., et al. (2001). A pear-derived kairomone with pheromonal potency that attracts male and female codling moth, *Cydia pomonella* (L.). *Naturwissenschaften* 88, 333–338. doi: 10.1007/s0011401 00243
- Missbach, C., Dweck, H. K. M., Vogel, H., Vilcinskas, A., Stensmyr, M. C., Hansson, B. S., et al. (2014). Evolution of insect olfactory receptors. *Elife* 3:e05087. doi: 10.7554/eLife.02115
- Montagné, N., Chertemps, T., Brigaud, I., François, A., François, M. C., de Fouchier, A., et al. (2012). Functional characterization of a sex pheromone receptor in the pest moth Spodoptera littoralis by heterologous expression in *Drosophila. Eur. J. Neurosci.* 36, 2588–2596. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2012. 08183.x
- Montell, C. (2009). A taste of the Drosophila gustatory receptors. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 19, 345–353. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2009.07.001
- Nagle, D. G., Zhou, Y.-D., Park, P. U., Paul, V. J., Rajbhandari, I., Duncan, C. J., et al. (2000). A new indanone from the marine cyanobacterium Lyngbya majuscula that inhibits hypoxia-induced activation of the VEGF

promoter in Hep3B cells. J. Nat. Prod. 63, 1431-1433. doi: 10.1021/np00 0216e

- Odendaal, D., Addison, M. F., and Malan, A. P. (2015). Control of codling moth (*Cydia pomonella*) (Lepidoptera: Tortricidae) in South Africa with special emphasis on using entomopathogenic nematodes. *Afr. Entomol.* 23, 259–274. doi: 10.4001/003.023.0224
- Okpekon, T., Millot, M., Champy, P., Gleye, C., Yolou, S., Bories, C., et al. (2009). A novel 1-indanone isolated from Uvaria afzelii roots. *Nat. Prod. Res.* 23, 909–915. doi: 10.1080/14786410802497240
- Pask, G. M., Bobkov, Y. V., Corey, E. A., Ache, B. W., and Zwiebe, L. J. (2013). Blockade of insect odorant receptor currents by amiloride derivatives. *Chem. Senses* 38, 221–229. doi: 10.1093/chemse/bjs100
- Pask, G. M., Jones, P. L., Rützler, M., Rinker, D. C., and Zwiebel, L. J. (2011). Heteromeric anopheline odorant receptors exhibit distinct channel properties. *PLoS One* 6:e28774. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0028774
- Peng, G., Xiao, S., and Kadowaki, T. (2015). Evolution of TRP channels inferred by their classification in diverse animal species. *Mol. Phylogenet. Evol.* 84, 145–157. doi: 10.1016/j.ympev.2014.06.016
- Ray, A., van Naters, W. G., Shiraiwa, T., and Carlson, J. R. (2007). Mechanisms of odor receptor gene choice in *Drosophila*. *Neuron* 53, 353–369. doi: 10.1016/j. neuron.2006.12.010
- Ridgway, M., Silverstein, R. L., and Inscoe, M. N. (1990). Behavior-Modifying Chemicals for Insect Management: Applications of Pheromones And Other Attractants. New York, NY: Marcel Dekker.
- Robertson, H. M., Warr, C. G., and Carlson, J. R. (2003). Molecular evolution of the insect chemoreceptor gene superfamily in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 100, 14537–14542. doi: 10.1073/pnas.23358 47100
- Roelofs, W. L., and Brown, R. L. (1982). Pheromones and evolutionary relationships of Tortricidae. *Ann. Rev. Ecol. Syst.* 13, 395–422. doi: 10.1146/annurev.es.13.110182.002143
- Röllecke, K., Werner, M., Ziemba, P. M., Neuhaus, E. M., Hatt, H., and Gisselmann, G. (2013). Amiloride derivatives are effective blockers of insect odorant receptors. *Chem. Senses* 38, 231–236. doi: 10.1093/chemse/bjs140
- Rukachaisirikul, V., Buadam, S., Sukpondma, Y., Phongpaichit, S., Sakayaroj, J., and Hutadilok-Towatana, N. (2013). Indanone and mellein derivatives from the *Garcinia*-derived fungus *Xylaria* sp. PSU-G12. *Phytochem. Lett.* 6, 135–138. doi: 10.1016/j.phytol.2012.11.007
- Rytz, R., Croset, V., and Benton, R. (2013). Ionotropic receptors (IRs): chemosensory ionotropic glutamate receptors in *Drosophila* and beyond. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 43, 888–897. doi: 10.1016/j.ibmb.2013.02.007
- Sakurai, T., Namiki, S., and Kanzaki, R. (2014). Molecular and neural mechanisms of sex pheromone reception and processing in the silkmoth Bombyx mori. *Front. Physiol.* 5:125. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2014.00125
- Sanchez-Alcaniz, J. A., Silbering, A. F., Croset, V., Zappia, G., Sivasubramaniam, A. K., Abuin, L., et al. (2018). An expression atlas of chemosensory ionotropic glutamate receptors identifies a molecular basis of carbonation detection. arXiv:1101/278804 [Preprint]. doi: 10.1101/278804
- Sargsyan, V., Getahun, M. N., Llanos, S. L., Olsson, S. B., Hansson, B. S., and Wicher, D. (2011). Phosphorylation via PKC regulates the function of the *Drosophila* odorant co-receptor. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 5:5. doi: 10.3389/fncel. 2011.00005
- Sato, K., Pellegrino, M., Nakagawa, T., Nakagawa, T., Vosshall, L. B., and Touhara, K. (2008). Insect olfactory receptors are heteromeric ligand-gated ion channels. *Nature* 452, 1002–1006. doi: 10.1038/nature06850
- Silbering, A. F., Rytz, R., Grosjean, Y., Abuin, L., Ramdya, P., Jefferis, G. S., et al. (2011). Complementary function and integrated wiring of the evolutionarily distinct *Drosophila* olfactory subsystems. *J. Neurosci.* 31, 13357–13375. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2360-11.2011
- Starà, J., Kocourek, F., and Falta, V. (2008). Control of codling moth (*Cydia pomonella* L., Lepidoptera: Tortricidae) by the "attract and kill" strategy. J. Plant Dis. Prot. 115, 75–79. doi: 10.1007/BF03356242
- Steinwender, B., Thrimawithana, A. H., Crowhurst, R. N., and Newcomb, R. D. (2015). Pheromone receptor evolution in the cryptic leafroller species, *Ctenopseustis obliquana* and *C. herana. J. Mol. Evol.* 80, 42–56. doi: 10.1007/s00239-014-9650-z
- Tognon, R., Sant'Ana, J., Zhang, Q.-H., Millar, J. G., Aldrich, J. R., and Zalom, F. G. (2016). Volatiles mediating parasitism of *Euschistus conspersus*

and Halyomorpha halys eggs by Telenomus podisi and Trissolcus erugatus. J. Chem. Ecol. 42, 1016–1027. doi: 10.1007/s10886-016-0754-3

- Trona, F., Anfora, G., Balkenius, A., Bengtsson, M., Tasin, M., Knight, A., et al. (2013). Neural coding merges sex and habitat chemosensory signals in an insect herbivore. *Proc. Biol. Sci.* 280:20130267. doi: 10.1098/rspb. 2013.0267
- Trona, F., Anfora, G., Bengtsson, M., Witzgall, P., and Ignell, R. (2010). Coding and interaction of sex pheromone and plant volatile signals in the antennal lobe of the codling moth *Cydia pomonella. J. Exp. Biol.* 213, 4291–4303. doi: 10.1242/jeb.047365
- Turner, R. M., Derryberry, S. L., Kumar, B. N., Brittain, T., Zwiebel, L. J., Newcomb, R. D., et al. (2014). Mutational analysis of cysteine residues of the insect odorant co-receptor (Orco) from *Drosophila melanogaster* reveals differential effects on agonist- and odorant-tuning receptor-dependent activation. J. Biol. Chem. 289, 31837–31845. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.603993
- Vosshall, L. B., Wong, A. M., and Axel, R. (2000). An olfactory sensory map in the fly brain. *Cell* 102, 147–159. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(00)00021-0
- Walker, W. B. III., Gonzalez, F., Garczynski, S. F., and Witzgall, P. (2016). The chemosensory receptors of codling moth *Cydia pomonella*-expression in larvae and adults. *Sci. Rep.* 6:23518. doi: 10.1038/srep23518
- Wei, J. J., Fu, T., Yang, T., Liu, Y., and Wang, G. R. (2015). A TRPA1 channel that senses thermal stimulus and irritating chemicals in *Helicoverpa armigera*. *Insect Mol. Biol.* 24, 412–421. doi: 10.1111/imb.12168
- Wicher, D. (2018). Tuning insect odorant receptors. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 12:94. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2018.00094
- Willner, B., Granvogl, M., and Schieberle, P. (2013). Characterization of the key aroma compounds in Bartlett pear brandies by means of the sensomic concept. J. Agric. Food Chem. 61, 9583–9593. doi: 10.1021/jf403024t
- Witzgall, P., Ansebo, L., Yang, Z., Angeli, G., Sauphanor, B., and Bengtsson, M. (2005). Plant volatiles affect oviposition by codling moths. *Chemoecology* 15, 77–83. doi: 10.1007/s00049-005-0295-7
- Witzgall, P., Bäckman, A., Svensson, M., Koch, U., Rama, F., El-Sayed, A., et al. (1999). Behavioral observations of codling moth, *Cydia pomonella*,

in orchards permeated with synthetic pheromone. *BioControl* 44, 211–237. doi: 10.1023/A:1009976600272

- Witzgall, P., Bengtsson, M., Rauscher, S., Liblikas, I., Bäckman, A.-C., Coracini, M., et al. (2001). Identification of further sex pheromone synergists in the codling moth, *Cydia pomonella. Entomol. Exp. Appl.* 101, 131–141. doi: 10.1046/j.1570-7458.2001.00898.x
- Witzgall, P., Chambon, J.-P., Bengtsson, M., Unelius, C. R., Appelgren, M., Makranczy, G., et al. (1996). Sex pheromones and attractants in the Eucosmini and Grapholitini (Lepidoptera, Tortricidae). *Chemoecology* 7, 13–23. doi: 10.1007/bf01240633
- Witzgall, P., Proffit, M., Rozpedowska, E., Becher, P. G., Andreadis, S., Coracini, M., et al. (2012). "This is not an apple"-yeast mutualism in codling moth. J. Chem. Ecol. 38, 949–957. doi: 10.1007/s10886-012-0158-y
- Witzgall, P., Stelinski, L., Gut, L., and Thomson, D. (2008). Codling moth management and chemical ecology. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 53, 503–522. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ento.53.103106.093323
- Xu, H., Delling, M., Jun, J. C., and Clapham, D. E. (2006). Oregano, thyme and clove derived flavors and skin sensitizers activate specific TRP channels. *Nat. Neurosci* 9, 628–635. doi: 10.1038/nn1692
- Yang, Z., Bengtsson, M., and Witzgall, P. (2004). Host plant volatiles synergize response to sex pheromone in codling moth, *Cydia pomonella. J. Chem. Ecol.* 30, 619–629. doi: 10.1023/b;joec.0000018633.94002.af

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Cattaneo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Using Temporal Expectation to Assess Auditory Streaming in Mice

Gaëlle A. Chapuis^{1*} and Paul T. Chadderton^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Bioengineering, Imperial College London, London, United Kingdom, ² School of Physiology, Pharmacology and Neuroscience, University Walk, University of Bristol, Bristol, United Kingdom

Auditory streaming is the process by which environmental sound is segregated into discrete perceptual objects. The auditory system has a remarkable capability in this regard as revealed in psychophysical experiments in humans and other primates. However, little is known about the underlying neuronal mechanisms, in part because of the lack of suitable behavioural paradigms in non-primate species. The mouse is an increasingly popular model for studying the neural mechanisms of perception and action because of the range of molecular tools enabling precise manipulation of neural circuitry. Here we present a novel behavioural task that can be used to assess perceptual aspects of auditory streaming in head-fixed mice. Animals were trained to detect a target sound in a one of two simultaneously presented, isochronous pure tone sequences. Temporal expectation was manipulated by presenting the target sound in a particular stream either early (\sim 2 s) or late (\sim 4 s) with respect to trial onset in blocks of 25–30 trials. Animals reached high performance on this task (d' > 1 overall), and notably their false alarms were very instructive of their behavioural state. Indeed, false alarm timing was markedly delayed for late blocks compared to early ones, indicating that the animals associated a different context to an otherwise identical stimulus. More finely, we observed that the false alarms were timed to the onset of the sounds present in the target stream. This suggests that the animals could selectively follow the target stream despite the presence of a distractor stream. Extracellular electrophysiological recordings during the task revealed that sound processing is flexibly modulated in a manner consistent with the optimisation of behavioural outcome. Together, these results indicate that the perceptual streaming can be inferred via the timing of false alarms in mice, and provide a new paradigm with which to investigate neuronal mechanisms of selective attention.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by: Gérard Manière,

Université de Bourgogne, France Reviewed by:

Etsuro Hori,

University of Toyama, Toyama, Japan Anna Magnusson, Karolinska Institutet (KI), Sweden

*Correspondence:

Gaëlle A. Chapuis gaelle.chapuis11@imperial.ac.uk Paul T. Chadderton p.chadderton@bristol.ac.uk

Received: 03 July 2018 Accepted: 17 August 2018 Published: 11 September 2018

Citation:

Chapuis GA and Chadderton PT (2018) Using Temporal Expectation to Assess Auditory Streaming in Mice. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 12:205. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2018.00205 Keywords: auditory cortex (AC), scene analysis, psychoacoustic, selective attention, top-down pathways, false alarm (FA)

1. INTRODUCTION

In an acoustic scene comprising multiple auditory sources, humans and animals can readily identify and track a relevant sound source amongst the background noise, and switch from tracking that source to follow another (Fritz et al., 2007; Shamma et al., 2011). Such ease however belies the complexity of the underlying processes: the auditory system must parse sounds from various sources into discrete perceptual objects (a process known as "auditory stream segregation"; Bregman, 1994), and may further enhance the representation of relevant inputs to best support behavioural needs (Crick, 1984; Fritz et al., 2007; Shamma et al., 2011). Switching attention from

one source to another has been shown to modulate sensory signal representation at various levels of the auditory pathway, notably in the auditory cortex (AC) (Fritz et al., 2003, 2007; Mesgarani and Chang, 2012; Lakatos et al., 2013; Rodgers and DeWeese, 2014). However, little is known about the underlying mechanisms. This may be due to the complex and numerous neural pathways involved in modulating the activity in AC during attentional processes (Froemke et al., 2012; Pinto et al., 2013; Nelson and Mooney, 2016; Winkowski et al., 2017). To understand the contribution of each pathway, it is necessary to develop experimental paradigms enabling their specific manipulation.

The mouse is an attractive experimental model because of the wealth of genetic and molecular approaches that are available to manipulate anatomically defined neural circuits (Havekes and Abel, 2009; Garner and Mayford, 2012; Harris et al., 2014; Park and Carmel, 2016). Moreover, mice rely on auditory signals for a wide range of behaviourally relevant tasks (Pereira et al., 2012; Konopka and Roberts, 2016; Itatani and Klump, 2017), and are capable of flexible behaviour (Bissonette and Powell, 2012; Jaramillo and Zador, 2014; Hamilton and Brigman, 2015). However, no behavioural paradigm exists yet in mice to study the effect of selective attention on auditory streaming. Current paradigms of auditory selective attention in mice (Ahrens et al., 2014; Rodgers and DeWeese, 2014; Wimmer et al., 2015) mostly rely on briefly presented stimuli, which do not allow for auditory stream formation (Bregman, 1994; Moore and Gockel, 2012). In contrast, behavioural tasks are far more extensively developed in primates (Lakatos et al., 2013; Calderone et al., 2014), owing to their greater capacity to learn complex rules (Bissonette and Powell, 2012). Translating behavioural tasks from primates to mice would enable deeper insight of the neural mechanisms underlying auditory processing and perception.

Here, we present a novel behavioural task inspired from primate models (Lakatos et al., 2013), that can be used to assess the effect of selective attention on auditory streaming in headfixed mice. By introducing biases in the acoustic stimuli and studying the timing of mice behavioural decisions, we were able to assess whether the animals switched from listening to one sound source to another within an auditory mixture in single behavioural sessions. Our paradigm is advantageous as it enables the quantification of attentional state upon electrophysiological signals acquired acutely. By recording neural activity in the AC of mice during ongoing behaviour, we reveal that sound processing is flexibly modulated in a manner consistent with the optimisation of behavioural outcome. Future use of this behavioural paradigm combined with molecular tools to manipulate neural circuits would offer great insight on the underlying basis of auditory selective attention and streaming.

2. RESULTS

2.1. Design and Validation of a New Auditory Task Involving Selective Attention and Auditory Streaming

We developed a Go/No-Go auditory selective attention paradigm in mice, modelled after a related study in primates (Lakatos et al., 2013). Two auditory streams were simultaneously presented to the subject (Figure 1A); one stream was composed of high frequency tones each separated by short time intervals (High stream), and the other stream was composed of low frequency tones separated by longer time intervals (Low stream). Mice were rewarded for correctly detecting a target frequency-modulated sound embedded within one of the two streams (Figure 1B). We guided the subject toward attending to one specific stream by fixing the target features for blocks of consecutive trials. During the first trials of a block, only the target of a given stream was presented (target only condition; S0), then the single stream associated with that target was also presented (single stream condition; S1), and finally both streams were simultaneously presented (dual stream condition; S2) (Figure 1C). The target alone (S0) and single stream (S1) conditions were intended as cues indicating upcoming target features in the dual stream (S2) condition. We ensured that the animals could switch attentional state during single behavioural sessions by using blocks of ~ 40 trials, and by presenting the different blocks in strictly alternating fashion.

As we used a rather small number of trial in each block compared to previous studies in rodents (Jaramillo and Zador, 2010, 2014), it was critical to ensure that our subjects could identify the change in target feature probability. Because rodents are known to be particularly sensitive to temporal biases (Buhusi et al., 2009; Jaramillo and Zador, 2010; Tosun et al., 2016), we differentiated the target timing for each of the two streams. Specifically, high frequency targets were presented early (~2 s from trial onset; Early trial block), and low frequency targets were presented late (~6 s from trial onset; Late trial block). Any difference in behavioural response timing observed across blocks would indicate that mice were sensitive to the block design despite the small number of trial used per block. It is important to highlight that in the dual stream (S2) condition, the stimuli presented before the targets were identical in both block types, as displayed in Figure 1A. Mice achieved high performance in this target detection task (Figure 1D and Supplementary Figures 1,2; d' > 1 for both blocks, S2 condition). Furthermore, they were sensitive to the trial block design, as revealed by the change in their false alarm (FA) response pattern between Early and Late blocks (Figure 2). Notably, FA in the Late block were significantly delayed compared to those in the Early block (Figure 2B; FA response time: Early block = $1,358 \pm 57$ ms, Late block = 3,720 \pm 633 ms, median \pm median absolute deviation; *p* < 0.001, WSR test, N = 25 sessions in 4 mice, only FA in S1 and S2 were used).

Having shown that mice timed their behavioural responses according to known target temporal biases (i.e., Early or Late), we explored whether mice specifically attended to the cued auditory stream. To answer this question, we analysed FA response patterns more finely. Notably, FA responses appeared aligned to tone onsets in the single stream (S1) but not in the target-only (S0) condition (**Figure 3A**). We formally quantified the locking of FA to tone onset by measuring the vector strength (VS) of the FA reaction time (RT) distribution in both conditions (**Figure 3B**). For all mice, the VS was lower in the target alone (S0) condition compared with the single stream (S1) condition (**Figures 3C,D**; VS = 0.46 ± 0.06 in



FIGURE 1 | Complex discrimination task involving auditory selective attention. (A) The stimulus consisted of two trains of 100 ms pure tone; one with High frequency tones separated by 300 ms, and one with Low frequency tones separated by 517 ms. A frequency-modulated target could occur at three positions with equal probability in a trial (shown by the colored squares). High frequency targets were presented Early, and Low frequency targets were presented Late.
(B) Water-restricted mice were head-fixed onto an apparatus enabling the detection of licking events. The first lick detected in a trial was counted as the response (represented as the darker filled dot on top of the stimulus trace). The mouse was required to not lick before the occurrence of a target. If the mouse responded in the target window, a drop of water was administered (Hit). (C) Target timing and frequency content was biased using a trial block design. A block was composed of three trial types: target only (S0), single stream (S1), and dual stream (S2). Once the S2 condition was reached, mice had to perform 20–25 correct trials for the stimulus to switch to the other block type. (D) Averaged d' over the last 3 training sessions prior to electrophysiological recording for each mouse in the S2 Early and Late condition. d'-values above 1 indicate good performance.



S1 condition, VS = 0.07 ± 0.01 in S0 condition; p < 0.01, WSR test). Moreover, significant VS was only found in the single stream (S1) condition (**Figure 3C**, starred distributions), indicating that mice did not use the trial onset to time their response with such specificity. This result confirmed that FA were not randomly executed, but instead timed to stream tone onsets.

Based on this finding, we hypothesised that mice sensitive to the target spectral bias (i.e., High or Low) may selectively attempt to respond to tones of the cued stream rather than in the non-cued stream, a strategy that increases the chance of responding correctly. To test this hypothesis, we reported the FA in the dual stream (S2) condition to the nearest High and Low tone onset, in cases where either the High stream (Early block) or Low stream (Late block) was cued (**Figure 4**). The difference between RT distributions indicated whether the subject adapted its behaviour according to the spectral probability of the target. We observed considerable heterogeneity in behavioural response stategies of the individual mice: one animal executed FAs mainly in response to tones in the High stream, two animals executed FAs mainly to the Low stream, and one animal (# 2; **Figure 4**) timed its FAs to the cued stream. These results indicate that mice can be trained on this selective attention paradigm, and that different animals employ different behavioural strategies under the same task conditions. Assessment of FA timing patterns to high and low streams can be used to establish which behavioural strategy is being followed.



FIGURE 3 Mice timed their false alarm responses to tone onsets. (A) Example FA during the Late block in a single session. Each dot represents a FA response, in the S0 (grey) or S1 (blue) condition. Vertical grey lines indicate sound onsets in S1 condition. (B) FA reaction time (RT) distributions for S0 and S1 conditions (same colors as in A). The Vector Strength (VS) indicates the peak strength of the distribution, and is reported in the inset (* $\rho < 0.05$). (C). Normalised RT distribution for FA in S1 conditions for each mice (one mouse per column, the mouse ID is presented in the square box) computed using all sessions. RT are measured either from High (top) or Low (bottom) tone onsets. The distributions are color-coded based on the block type (Early or Late). The RT distribution of a mouse generating FA timed to sound onsets presents a peak, as assessed by the VS (* $\rho < 0.05$). RT distributions are smoothed (1 bin std Gaussian filter) for display. (D) The VS was significantly higher in the S1 than S0 condition. Each line indicates the VS change between S1 and S0 condition for a mouse generating FA in a specific block type (Early or Late). **P < 0.005.



FIGURE 4 | Mice were sensitive to spectral bias as revealed by their false alarm timing. Normalised RT distribution for FA in S2 condition for each mice (one mouse per column, the mouse ID is presented in the square box) computed using all sessions. RT are measured either from High (top) or Low (bottom) tone onsets. The distributions are color-coded based on the block type (Early or Late). RT distributions are smoothed (1 bin std Gaussian filter) for display. The *p*-value from a KS test comparing the RT distributions in Early and Late conditions is displayed as an indication of response bias (***p < 0.001, **p < 0.01, *p < 0.05; Bonferroni correction factor 8). The first mouse times its FA mainly to the High tones. The second mouse times its FA to the cued tones. The third and fourth mice time their FA mainly to the Low tones.

2.2. Selective Attention Modulated Neural Responses in Auditory Cortex Irrespectively of Frequency Tuning

Having shown that mice can be trained to selectively attend to the cued stream, we sought to determine whether neural activity in the AC varied according to the identity of the cued stream. We recorded single cells in the AC of behaving mice using tetrodes. Each cell was assigned to a frequency-preference group (High responder or Low responder) based on its response to tones in the single stream (S1) condition (**Figures 5A,B**). All cells classified as High responder or Low responder were significantly activated by pure tones of a single frequency, either to the High frequency (n = 11 cells) or to the Low frequency (n = 6 cells) tones only.

We first focused the analysis on the activity recorded during the Early time zone (EZ; 0–1.6s from trial onset) occurring before



FIGURE 5 | Increase in spiking activity prior to target occurrence irrespective of frequency tuning. (A) Increase in spiking activity in Early vs. Late trials for an example cell tuned to the High frequency sound. Top and second panels: Raster plots and corresponding mean PSTHs of spiking activity during Hit trials in S2 condition, color-coded based on block type (Early or Late). The time axis is truncated so as to encompass only the Early zone (EZ; 0–1.6 s from trial onset). The orange arrow marks the onset time of the first target in the Early block. The vertical lines indicate tone onset (black: High frequency, grey: Low frequency). Third panel: Firing rate modulation (measured as the difference) between the Early and Late PSTHs. Values above zero indicate an increase in firing rate in the Early vs. Late condition. (B) Same as in (A), but for a cell tuned to the Low frequency. (C) Same as in (A), but for a cell classed as Task Modulated (T.M.). (D) Modulation of the firing rate between Early and Late conditions, displayed for each cell type. A value above 0 indicates an increase in the Early vs. Late trials. Each dot represents a cell, and the dot is filled with grey color if the firing rate of the cell significantly differed in Early vs. Late condition.

the first Early target onset in the dual stream (S2) condition. Since the stimuli in the dual stream (S2) Early and Late blocks were identical during the EZ, any difference in stimulus processing between Early and Late blocks could be attributed to topdown influences reflecting expectations. **Figure 5D** presents the modulation of the summed activity in the Early compared to Late block for the different cell types, with values above 0 indicating an increase in firing rate in the Early block. Both High- and Lowresponder cell populations displayed an increase in firing rate, as assessed by the average modulation index above 0. This increase was significant at the single cell (n = 5 cells, p < 0.05, WSR test) and population (p < 0.01, WSR test) levels.

To further confirm whether this increase in activity was not dependent on the cell's tuning, we measured the firing rate modulation of cells which were not significantly tuned to either Low or High tones, but which exhibited a high discrimination performance between Early and Late trials (AUROC > 0.6, using the sum of the PSTH to assess firing rate change in the EZ). These cells were labelled as Task Modulated (Figure 5C), and while they were not significantly responsive to High and Low tones, they might still be responsive to other sounds or to other aspects of the pure tones such as the offset (Sollini et al., 2018). As displayed in **Figure 5D**, the average modulation index for the Task Modulated cell population was also above 0, indicative of an increase in firing rate in Early compared to Late trials. Most of these Task Modulated cells had a significant modulation (p < 0.05, WRS test), which can be accounted for by the selection criterion based on high AUROC values. Therefore neural activity in the EZ of Early block trials was elevated relative to Late block trials, irrespective of the frequency tuning of individual cells, suggesting that the temporal proximity of an action (e.g., a lick) and/or reward is associated with a global increase in excitability in the AC.

To confirm whether the increase in firing rate was localised to the time prior to likely target occurrence, we measured the firing rate modulation of cells during Late trials at two different time intervals, one near trial onset and one near Late targets. These intervals were defined as early (0-1.6 s from trial onset) and late (4-5.6 s from trial onset), as is illustrated in Figure 6A. Importantly, both time zones encompassed a similar amount of Low and High tones (although organised in a different pattern relative to each other), and had similar duration. This allowed for a direct comparison of the mean firing rate during these two periods. Since High and Low cells were mostly responsive to single tones, the difference in tone presentation pattern was considered negligible when comparing the firing rates between the intervals. The Figure 6A presents an example cell (classed as Task Modulated) displaying an increase in firing rate over the course of Late trials. This effect was not an artefact, as analysis of the autocorrelogram and spike waveforms presented in Figure 6B confirmed. The minimal contamination in the refractory period argues against electrical noise generating the increase in activity visible in Figure 6A. This observation was highly consistent across cells, as most cells displayed an increase in firing rate during the period close to the Late target (**Figure 6C**). This effect was significant both at the single cell (*p* < 0.05, WSR test) and population (p < 0.01, WSR) levels. However, the Task Modulated cells were selected based on their ability to discriminate late and early zones (AUROC > 0.6), and might thus constitute a different population that the one presented in Figure 5D.

2.3. Neural Activity in Auditory Cortex Was Modulated by Upcoming Behavioural Decision

The previous finding indicated that the increase in firing rate observed preceding a likely target was not involved in the specific enhancement of sensory processing. Instead, this modulation

might reflect response preparation or reward anticipation, and might thus occur prior to any response, be it a Hit or FA. To test this hypothesis, we assessed whether cells with a high discrimination performance between Early and Late Hit trials could accurately classify the FA response types (Figure 7). Throughout this section, the activity during the Early and Late Hit trials is labelled as training data, whilst the activity during the Early and Late FA trials is labelled as test data. Early FA were defined as the FA responses made in the 1.2-2.8 s time window post trial onset in the Early S2 block, and Late FA were defined as the FA responses made in the 4-7 s time window post trial onset in the Late S2 block. For all trials, the activity considered was the average firing rate in the 0-1.2 s time window post trial onset. Firstly, a cell was classified as informative if its discrimination performance (i.e., the AUROC) was above 0.6 when comparing the activity in Early and Late S2 Hit trials (training data; Figure 7A). Then, a logistic regression classifier was trained on the training data (removal of 5% of trials for cross-validation). The accuracy of this classification typically matched the AUROC value. Then, the activity during each FA trial (test data) was presented to the classifier (see Figure 7B) and classification accuracy calculated. Since the number of Early and Late FA was generally unequal, it was important to build a baseline distribution for the classification accuracy. For example, a cell classifying any activity as originating from the class Early could obtain 90% classification accuracy if 9 out of 10 trials were truly Early. To generate a baseline classification accuracy distribution, the order of the true labels was shuffled, and these newly generated labels were compared against the predicted labels (process repeated 500 times). Out of the cells with high classification accuracy for Hit trials (n = 30), 9 cells were found to classify FA trial types above chance (p < 0.05; n = 1/3 for High cells; n = 1/3 for Low cells; n = 7/24 for Other cells). On average, classification accuracy was $66.5 \pm 2.2\%$ for those cells, whilst the mean of the baseline distribution was 51.7 \pm 1.4%. These results confirmed that the spiking activity of a subpopulation of cortical neurons mirrored the behavioural response specificity.

3. DISCUSSION

In a world where the senses are continuously stimulated, optimisation of information processing is believed crucial for perception and resulting behavioural actions(Crick, 1984; Fritz et al., 2007; Harris and Mrsic-Flogel, 2013). To understand how such optimisation occurs is a major quest in sensory neuroscience. The mouse is an advantageous model in which to study the neural processes underlying sensory refinement, as it is possible to precisely record and manipulate defined neural circuit components.

3.1. Auditory Attention and Streaming Could Be Inferred From the Timing of False Alarms

Here, we developed a novel behavioural task in mice to assess perceptual aspects of auditory streaming. Animals were trained to detect a target sound in one of two simultaneously presented,


FIGURE 6 Dynamic increase in spiking activity prior to target occurrence. (A) Example raster and mean PSTH of spiking activity for a cell (classified as Task Modulated) during Late trials (S2 Hit only). The raster displays trials from a single block judged most representative, whilst the PSTH represents the mean activity over all blocks. The early and late zones define the portions of time used to compute the modulation of firing rate presented in (C). Both time zones are 1.6 s long. The early zone starts at trial onset, whilst the late zone ends prior to the first Late target. (B) Left panel: Auto-correlogram of the cell presented in (A). The 3 ms refractory period is marked in yellow. This cell presents minimal contamination in the refractory period, and it thus considered well isolated. Right panel: Waveforms of the cell presented in (A). The grey traces are individual waveform traces, and the black trace is the mean. Note that four sets of waveforms are presented since the cell was recorded using a tetrode comprising four electrodes. The horizontal bar indicates 0.4 ms, and the vertical bar indicates 10 µV. (C) Modulation in the firing rate between the early and late time zones during Late trials, displayed for each cell type. A value above 0 indicates an increase in the late vs. early zone. Each dot represents a cell, and the dot is filled with grey color if the firing rate of the cell significantly differed in the early vs. late zone.

isochronous pure tone sequences. Whilst mice reached high performance in this task, incorrect responses (false alarms; FA) were highly informative on the individual's strategy. Using FA responses together with classical measures of performance such as *d'* enabled us to critically assess each animal's behavioural state. Notably, we show that a subset of animals was able to adapt their behaviour according to task specificity.

Mice are known to adjust the timing of their behavioural decisions according to learned probabilities so as to maximise reward outcome (Buhusi et al., 2009; Tosun et al., 2016). We therefore propose that the observation of incorrect response timing during any behavioural task may offer great insight on the subject's behavioural strategy and attentional state.

3.2. Activity in Auditory Cortex Depends on Behavioural Context

By recording in auditory cortex during ongoing behaviour, we related modulation of sensory encoding to changes in behavioural states. Specifically, activity in the AC was modulated by target feature expectation, in a manner that reflected the timing of the upcoming target, but not the spectral content of that target. Most cells displayed an increase in spiking activity prior to the first target during early trials, independently of their tuning profile. Moreover, a classifier trained based on the activity of a subset of AC cells during Hit trials was sufficient to decode response timing during FA trials. This implies that mice use similar behavioural strategies during Hit and FA, and that these strategies impact on neural processing at the level of the AC.

Given these findings, it appears that the prime difference in activity between Early and Late trials was not related to sensory processing per se, but rather reflects other aspects of the behavioural context. This was surprising, as the activity in auditory cortex is traditionally thought of as dedicated to the processing of auditory signals. These modulations might instead reflect the encoding of other task aspects, such as movement preparation, reward expectation, or task rule (Hu, 2003; Shuler and Bear, 2006; Rodgers and DeWeese, 2014; Bagur et al., 2017). Neural activity at the level of AC has recently been proposed to encode more than simply stimulus features (Rodgers and DeWeese, 2014; Bagur et al., 2017; Francis et al., 2018), however the underlying mechanisms are yet unknown. Future experiments will enable to delineate the contribution of specific anatomical pathways, including both sub-cortical (Thorn et al., 2010; Froemke et al., 2012; Pinto et al., 2013; Wimmer et al., 2015; Nelson and Mooney, 2016) and cortical structures (Gremel and Costa, 2013; Rodgers and DeWeese, 2014; Winkowski et al., 2017), in the modulation of AC activity during varying attentional states.

4. MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.1. Animals

Mice were housed under a 12/12 h light/dark cycle with food and water available *ad libitum*, except during behavioural training days. Electrophysiological recordings and behavioural training were performed during the dark phase of the cycle. All experiments were conducted under the UK Animals (Scientific



FIGURE 7 | Predicting FA specificity using neural responses during Hit trials. (A) The activity in the 0–1.2 ms in Early and Late Hit trials (S2 condition only) was used to train the classifier in distinguishing between Early and Late responses. The orange and blue traces are the mean PSTHs in Early and Late Hit trials respectively, for an example cell tuned to the Low frequency. The green box at the end of the PSTH displays the time window in which the mouse generated Hit responses. (B) The activity in the 0-1.2 ms in Early and Late FA trials (S2 condition only) was used to test the classifier. The orange and blue traces are the mean PSTHs in Early and Late FA trials (S2 condition only) was used to test the classifier. The orange and blue traces are the mean PSTHs in Early and Late FA trials respectively, for the example cell in (A). The red box at the end of the PSTH displays the time window in which the mouse generated FA responses.

Procedures) Act 1986. Four adult female mice (C57BL/6, Charles River UK Ltd & Harlan UK Ltd) were used in this study. Mice were aged 16–18 weeks and weighed 25–35 g on the day of electrophysiological recording.

4.2. Head-Implantation

Mice were anaesthetised with isoflurane (1-2 % v/v) and placed in a stereotaxic frame (Angle 2, Leica Microsystems, Germany). A custom-made plastic head-implant was fixed to the exposed cranium using tissue glue (Histoacryl, Braun Corporation, USA) and dental cement (Associate Dental Products Ltd). A grounding pin was inserted above the cerebellum, and secured using dental cement. The location of the future craniotomy was measured using a pipette referenced to Bregma ($-2.7 \text{ mm AP}, \pm 2.8 \text{ mm}$ ML), and marked by a cross made on the skull using a surgical blade. The exposed skull was then covered with Kwikcast (World Precision Instruments), and the animal recovered. Analgesia was provided by injecting carprofen (5 mg/kg) sub-cutaneously (SC) 20 min prior to recovery.

4.3. In vivo Electrophysiology

Upon the day of electrophysiological recording, the animal was an aesthetised using isoflurane and surgically prepared. The Kwikcast was removed, exposing the skull over both hemispheres. Right- and left-hemisphere craniotomies (1 \times 1 mm) were made over the cross-marked locations. The dura was removed, and the brain was lubricated with PBS. Agar (1 % in PBS) was applied over the PBS as a moisturising sealant. Once hardened, the agar was covered with a layer of Kwikcast. The mouse was administered with analgesics subcutaneously, and left to recover in a heating chamber until locomotor and grooming activity were fully recovered.

Once the animal was recovered from the craniotomy, it was fixed in the apparatus using zinc screws attached to the headimplant. The back of the animal was gently restrained using a half-tube composed of soft fabric, clamped down by a grounded metal plate. Once a craniotomy was made, up to two subsequent recordings were made in that hemisphere. Recordings were made in the other hemisphere successively. Mice underwent left or right craniotomies first in balanced proportion across the cohort.

All recordings were made using silicon microelectrode comprising multiple tetrodes (A32, 4x2Tet, NeuroNexus, USA), advanced in the brain using a micromanipulator (IVM, Scientifica, UK) tilted by a 35 degree angle from the vertical line. The electrode penetration depth was typically 2.610 mm. Data were acquired via Digital Lynx 16SX system (Neuralynx, USA) and stored on a PC.

4.4. Auditory Stimulus Presentation

Auditory stimuli were pre-generated and calibrated (5–100 kHz flat spectrum \pm 1.5 dB SPL) using Matlab (Mathworks, USA) and presented free-field (ES1; Tucker Davis Technologies, USA) via an RZ6 Processor (using RPvdsEX software; Tucker Davis Technologies, USA). The start and end of all stimuli were ramped with a 3 ms cosine ramp. All sounds presented were 100 ms long. A High (14 kHz) and Low (5 kHz) carrier frequency oddball streams were generated, by presenting pure tones isochronously and by introducing a target instead of a pure tone. Per trial, only one target could be presented. A target was a rising frequency modulated sweep (4.4 octave/s) starting at the stream carrier frequency (i.e., at either 5 or 14 kHz). The stimulus onset asynchrony (SOA) of the low and high streams was fixed at 617 ms and 400 ms respectively. At the beginning of a trial, the two streams started concurrently.

4.5. Behavioural Setup

During behavioural training, mice were fixed onto a rigid metal platform, also used during electrophysiological recording. An Arduino UNO (www.arduino.cc) served as a controller, interfacing with a PC via the serial port. Outputs from the Arduino were sent to the PC and saved in text format using custom-written scripts in Python. Data from the text file were further analysed and plotted using custom-written Python scripts so as to display the mouse performance online during training sessions. During electrophysiological recording, arduino digital commands were sent to the digital port of the Digital Lynx so as to align neural traces with digital triggers during post-processing.

A lick port was used to monitor the animal's behaviour. The lick port was composed of an infra-red LED and sensor electrical circuit, a water delivery system and a vacuum system used for water removal. Briefly, a drop of water was delivered upon the opening of a solenoid valve clamping the water delivery tube. The control signal was a digital square pulse sent by an Arduino. Similarly, a vacuum removal system was triggered upon the activation of a solenoid valve, connected to a negative air pressure. The lick port was mounted onto micromaniputors so as to position it finely compared to the mouse jaw. The speaker was positioned in front of the animal.

4.6. Behavioural Paradigm

Licking for a water reward was used to indicate a response. A single lick was considered as a Go-response. Mice were trained on a dual-stream oddball paradigm. An oddball stream was composed of a sequence of pure tones of a given frequency (High or Low), containing a target (frequency modulated) sound. Mice were cued to expect a target in a particular stream using a trial block design. Per block, the target alone was first presented (S0 condition) until the mouse reached 5 Hit trials. Subsequently, the oddball stream associated with that target was presented (S1 condition) until the mouse performed 10 Hit trials. Finally, the two streams were presented concurrently (S2 condition) until the mouse performed 20–25 Hit trials. High frequency target occurred Early (\sim 2 s from trial onset), whilst Low frequency target occurred Late (\sim 6 s from trial onset).

At the end of each trial, the vacuum pump was turned on for 500 ms to remove the excess water present in the lick port. A random delay (100–150 ms) was applied before presenting any stimulus following vacuum offset. The reward window started 100 ms after target onset, and ended when the next sound of the corresponding stream occured, i.e., the length of the reward window was the stream SOA minus 100 ms.

4.7. Measure of Behavioural Performance

All sounds presented before the target window were considered as one No-Go cue, and all sounds presented after as another No-Go cue. One trial could thus give 4 outcomes depending on the mouse response timing: (1) if the mouse licked before the target window, a false alarm (FA) was counted; (2) if the mouse licked in the target window, a correct rejection (CR) + Hit were counted; (3) if the mouse licked after the target window, a CR + Miss + FA were counted; (4) if the mouse did not lick during the trial, a CR + Miss + CR were counted.

Performance was measured using the sensitivity index d', defined as $z(P_{Hit}) - z(P_{FA})$, where z is the z-transform, P_{Hit} and P_{FA} the probability of Hit and FA respectively. P_{Hit} was defined as N_{Hit}/N_{Go} , i.e., the number of Hit trials divided by the number of Go cues presented (note that $N_{Go} = N_{Miss} + N_{Hit}$). Similarly, P_{FA} was defined as N_{FA}/N_{No-Go} , i.e., the number of FA trials divided by the number of No-Go cues presented (note that $N_{No-Go} =$ $N_{CR} + N_{FA}$). In the case of $P_{Hit} = 0$ or $P_{FA} = 0$, the value was replaced with $1/N_{Go}$ or $1/N_{No-Go}$ respectively. In the case of $P_{Hit} = 1$ or $P_{FA} = 1$, the value was replaced with $(N_{Go} - 1)/N_{Go}$ or $(N_{No-Go} - 1)/N_{No-Go}$ respectively.

4.8. Training Protocols

4.8.1. Water Regulation

Following a minimum of 5 days post-surgery recovery, the mouse was placed under water restriction. On the first day of water restriction, no water was given. On the second day, 1mL of water

was given. Subsequently, the mouse began its training protocol on the behavioural setup, where it received most of its daily water dose. The minimal water dose given per day was fixed to 1 mL. If the mouse did not perform enough trials in a single session so as to reach the daily dose, the complementary water volume was given at the end of the training session once the mouse had been removed from the head-fixing apparatus. Mice were typically trained 6–7 days per week.

Once under water restriction, the weight of the mouse was measured daily, prior to the delivery of water. In the case of the animal's weight decreasing below 80% of an aged-match, water unrestricted litter-mate, the animal was given water ad libitum for a day. In order to give a precise dose to an animal in isolation, the mouse was placed on a scale, and its weight recorded. The dose of water was then administered either directly to the mouse's mouth using a pipette, or by squirting the water out onto the scale's plastic flooring. The difference in body weight measurement pre- and post- water delivery ensured that the animal had drunk its daily dose.

4.8.2. Habituation

The first 3 training sessions consisted of habituating the mouse to the head fixation apparatus and learning the association between lick port and water delivery. During these habituation sessions, the reward delivery valve was replaced by a syringe full of water that could be manipulated by the experimenter so as to deliver water into the lick port on demand.

During each session, the mouse was fixed into the setup, and a pipette full of water was first advanced to the animal's mouth so as to prompt licking behaviour. Once the mouse had started to express exploratory licking behaviour, the lick port was filled with water and advanced so as to be reached by the animal's tongue. The lick port was filled with water until the animal displayed signs of satiation, i.e., stopped licking and attempted to push away the lick port with its forelimbs. The mouse was then removed from the apparatus, and supplementary water was given if necessary.

4.8.3. Target-Reward Association

Following the habituation sessions, the mouse underwent typically 7 sessions to associate the water delivery with the target sounds. During the first 4 sessions, an automatic reward (water drop of 5 μ L) was given 100 ms after sound onset. During the 3 consecutive sessions, the mouse had to trigger a reward by licking in the reward time window. The two (High and Low) target sounds were presented per session, using a 20–30 trials block design.

4.8.4. Refrain Licking Prior to Target Onset

During 5 sessions following the target-reward association sessions, the mouse was required not to lick before the occurrence of a sound (note that unlike in the FM discrimination task, all sounds presented at this stage are targets in the case of oddball tasks). The length of time the mouse was required to withhold licking for was randomly selected from a uniform distribution whose boudaries were incrementally increased over the sessions ([200–500], [400–700], [600–1,000], [800–1,200], [1,000–1,400] ms).

4.8.5. Introduction of Single Stream

For the following 8 sessions, pure tones were introduced so as to form a single-stream oddball paradigm. Within a training session, the intensity of the pure tone was augmented from 0 dB up to the intensity level used for the target sound using 10 dB increment steps. The amount of hit trials required to augment the intensity was diminished across sessions (50-30-20-15-10-7-5-3). The mouse was required not to lick before the occurrence of the target, using the longest interval used in the previous training phase. The SOA varied depending on the frequency of the stream pure tone.

4.8.6. Introduction of Distractor Stream

For the following 4 sessions, pure tones were introduced so as to form another single-stream. Within a training session, the intensity of the extra tones were augmented after each 10 hit trials from 40 dB up to the level used for the target sound using 10 dB increment steps. The amount of hit trials required to present extra tones was diminished across sessions (20-15-10-7).

4.8.7. Reinforcing False Alarms

For the following 7 sessions, response to a No-Go sound (FA) was negatively reinforced by presenting a short noise burst upon the response, stopping any upcoming sound presentation, and subsequently applying a silent time out (random delay of 4-6 s). The vacuum valve was turned on after the time out had passed. If a response was made after having missed target, the sequence was terminated after presenting four regular tones past the target and the trial ended regularly (i.e., without time out).

4.8.8. Introduction of a Temporal Bias

For the following 5 sessions, the time window in which a target could occur was modified across session. For T1, only the window of the Low target varied so as to occur gradually later in the trial. Per session, the target window was fixed according to a trial block design (Early or Late block). On the final day of training, the Late window was \sim 6 s, and the Early window was \sim 2 s. Reinforcement of FA was always applied during this training stage.

4.9. Statistics

Blinding and randomization of neurophysiological data were not performed. Unless stated otherwise, results are presented as mean \pm standard error of the mean. KS refers to the Kruskal Wallis test. WRS refers to the Wilcoxon rank sum test, and WSR to the Wilcoxon signed rank test.

Statistics on circular data were performed using the Kuiper and the Rayleigh tests(Wilkie, 1983). The vector strength (VS) was considered significant if $N \cdot VS^2 > k$ at the α level, where N was the number of phases used to compute the VS, and $k = [2.9957 \ 4.6052 \ 5.2983 \ 6.9078]$ for corresponding α values $[0.05 \ 0.01 \ 0.005 \ 0.001]$ (Wilkie, 1983). Throughout this text, the strength of *p*-value is indicated by stars: p < 0.05, p < 0.01, p < 0.001 unless stated otherwise.

Significant spiking response to a tone was measured using the activity in the 100 ms window pre-tone (spontaneous) and post (evoked) tone onset. A 10 ms bin PSTH was generated for each trial, and the evoked response at each bin was compared (KS test) against the spontaneous response. A cell was classified as significantly evoked if either 3 bins passed the threshold of p < 0.01 or if one bin passed the threshold of p < 0.001 (Bonferroni correction factor 10).

The discrimination performance (DP) for trial type (such as Early/Late) classification was computed using logistic regression and receiver operating characteristic (ROC) analysis. Smoothed-PSTH on single trials were generated for the two conditions to compare (5 ms bin, convolved with 20 ms std Gaussian function for smoothing). A logistic regression model was fit at each bin of the single trial responses. The ROC curve was computed using the probability estimates from the logistic regression model. The DP was defined as the area under the ROC curve (AUROC).

5. DATA STATEMENT

Data can be made available by the authors upon request.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out under a UK Home Office Project Licence (PPL 70/8837) in accordance with the Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act 1986 following the recommendations of Imperial College Animal Welfare and Ethical Review Board (AWERB).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GC designed the study, conducted experiments and analysis, and wrote the manuscript. PC designed the study, contributed to analysis, and wrote the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was funded from the following sources: Bioengineering departmental Ph.D. studentship to GC; Medical Research Council Career Development Award (G1000512) and grants from the Human Frontier Science Program and the Biotechnology and Biological Science Research Council (BB/N008871/1) to PC.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnbeh. 2018.00205/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Ahrens, S., Jaramillo, S., Yu, K., Ghosh, S., Hwang, G., Paik, R., et al. (2014). Erbb4 regulation of a thalamic reticular nucleus circuit for sensory selection. *Nat. Neurosci.* 18, 104–111. doi: 10.1038/nn.3897
- Bagur, S., Averseng, M., Elgueda, D., David, S. V., Fritz, J. B., Yin, P., et al. (2017). Task engagement enhances population encoding of stimulus meaning in primary auditory cortex. *bioRxiv*. doi: 10.1101/240556. [Epub ahead of print].
- Bissonette, G. B., and Powell, E. M. (2012). Reversal learning and attentional set-shifting in mice. *Neuropharmacology* 62, 1168–1174. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2011.03.011
- Bregman, A. S. (1994). Auditory Scene Analysis: The Perceptual Organization of Sound. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press. doi: 10.1121/1.408434
- Buhusi, C. V., Aziz, D., Winslow, D., Carter, R. E., Swearingen, J. E., and Buhusi, M. C. (2009). Interval timing accuracy and scalar timing in c57bl/6 mice. *Behav. Neurosci.* 123, 1102–1113. doi: 10.1037/a0017106
- Calderone, D. J., Lakatos, P., Butler, P. D., and Castellanos, F. X. (2014). Entrainment of neural oscillations as a modifiable substrate of attention. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 18, 300–309. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2014.02.005
- Crick, F. (1984). Function of the thalamic reticular complex: the searchlight hypothesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 81, 4586–4590. doi: 10.1073/pnas.81.14.4586
- Francis, N. A., Winkowski, D. E., Sheikhattar, A., Armengol, K., Babadi, B., and Kanold, P. O. (2018). Small networks encode decision-making in primary auditory cortex. *Neuron* 97, 885–897. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2018.01.019
- Fritz, J., Shamma, S., Elhilali, M., and Klein, D. (2003). Rapid task-related plasticity of spectrotemporal receptive fields in primary auditory cortex. *Nat. Neurosci.* 6, 1216–1223. doi: 10.1038/nn1141
- Fritz, J. B., Elhilali, M., David, S. V., and Shamma, S. A. (2007). Auditory attention—focusing the searchlight on sound. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 17, 437– 455. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2007.07.011
- Froemke, R. C., Carcea, I., Barker, A. J., Yuan, K., Seybold, B. A., Martins, A. R. O., et al. (2012). Long-term modification of cortical synapses improves sensory perception. *Nat. Neurosci.* 16, 79–88. doi: 10.1038/nn.3274
- Garner, A., and Mayford, M. (2012). New approaches to neural circuits in behavior. *Learn. Mem.* 19, 385–90. doi: 10.1101/lm.025049.111
- Gremel, C. M., and Costa, R. M. (2013). Orbitofrontal and striatal circuits dynamically encode the shift between goal-directed and habitual actions. *Nat. Commun.* 4:2264. doi: 10.1038/ncomms3264
- Hamilton, D. A., and Brigman, J. L. (2015). Behavioral flexibility in rats and mice: contributions of distinct frontocortical regions. *Genes Brain Behav.* 14, 4–21. doi: 10.1111/gbb.12191
- Harris, J. A., Hirokawa, K. E., Sorensen, S. A., Gu, H., Mills, M., Ng, L. L., et al. (2014). Anatomical characterization of cre driver mice for neural circuit mapping and manipulation. *Front. Neural Circ.* 8:76. doi: 10.3389/fncir.2014.00076
- Harris, K. D., and Mrsic-Flogel, T. D. (2013). Cortical connectivity and sensory coding. *Nature* 503, 51–58. doi: 10.1038/nature12654
- Havekes, R., and Abel, T. (2009). Genetic dissection of neural circuits and behavior in mus musculus. *Adv. Genet.* 65, 1–38. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2660(09)65001-X
- Hu, B. (2003). Functional organization of lemniscal and nonlemniscal auditory thalamus. *Exp. Brain Res.* 153, 543–549. doi: 10.1007/s00221-003-1611-5
- Itatani, N., and Klump, G. M. (2017). Animal models for auditory streaming. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B* 372:20160112. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2016.0112
- Jaramillo, S., and Zador, A. M. (2010). The auditory cortex mediates the perceptual effects of acoustic temporal expectation. *Nat. Neurosci.* 14, 246–251. doi: 10.1038/nn.2688
- Jaramillo, S., and Zador, A. M. (2014). Mice and rats achieve similar levels of performance in an adaptive decision-making task. *Front. Syst. Neurosci.* 8:173. doi: 10.3389/fnsys.2014.00173

- Konopka, G., and Roberts, T. F. (2016). Animal models of speech and vocal communication deficits associated with psychiatric disorders. *Biol. Psychiatry* 79, 53–61. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.07.001
- Lakatos, P., Musacchia, G., O'Connel, M. N., Falchier, A. Y., Javitt, D. C., and Schroeder, C. E. (2013). The spectrotemporal filter mechanism of auditory selective attention. *Neuron* 77, 750–761. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2012.11.034
- Mesgarani, N., and Chang, E. F. (2012). Selective cortical representation of attended speaker in multi-talker speech perception. *Nature* 485, 233–236. doi: 10.1038/nature11020
- Moore, B. C. J., and Gockel, H. E. (2012). Properties of auditory stream formation. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 367, 919–931. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2011.0355
- Nelson, A., and Mooney, R. (2016). The basal forebrain and motor cortex provide convergent yet distinct movement-related inputs to the auditory cortex. *Neuron* 90, 635–48. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2016.03.031
- Park, H. G., and Carmel, J. B. (2016). Selective manipulation of neural circuits. *Neurotherapeutics* 13, 311–324. doi: 10.1007/s13311-016-0425-7
- Pereira, A. G., Cruz, A., Lima, S. Q., and Moita, M. A. (2012). Silcence resulting from the cessation of movement signals danger. *Curr. Biol.* 22, 627–628. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2012.06.015
- Pinto, L., Goard, M. J., Estandian, D., Xu, M., Kwan, A. C., Lee, S.-H., et al. (2013). Fast modulation of visual perception by basal forebrain cholinergic neurons. *Nat. Neurosci.* 16, 1857–1863. doi: 10.1038/nn.3552
- Rodgers, C. C., and DeWeese, M. R. (2014). Neural correlates of task switching in prefrontal cortex and primary auditory cortex in a novel stimulus selection task for rodents. *Neuron* 82, 1157–1170. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.04.031
- Shamma, S. A., Elhilali, M., and Micheyl, C. (2011). Temporal coherence and attention in auditory scene analysis. *Trends Neurosci.* 34, 114–123. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2010.11.002
- Shuler, M. G., and Bear, M. F. (2006). Reward timing in the primary visual cortex. *Science* 311, 1606–1609. doi: 10.1126/science.1123513
- Sollini, J., Chapuis, G. A., Clopath, C., and Chadderton, P. (2018). Onoff receptive fields in auditory cortex diverge during development and contribute to directional sweep selectivity. *Nat. Commun.* 9:2084. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-04548-3
- Thorn, C. A., Atallah, H., Howe, M., and Graybiel, A. M. (2010). Differential dynamics of activity changes in dorsolateral and dorsomedial striatal loops during learning. *Neuron* 66, 781–795. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2010.04.036
- Tosun, T., Gur, E., and Balcı, F. (2016). Mice plan decision strategies based on previously learned time intervals, locations, and probabilities. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 113, 787–792. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1518316113
- Wilkie, D. (1983). Rayleigh test for randomness of circular data. *Appl. Stat.* 32, 311–312. doi: 10.2307/2347954
- Wimmer, R. D., Schmitt, L. I., Davidson, T. J., Nakajima, M., Deisseroth, K., and Halassa, M. M. (2015). Thalamic control of sensory selection in divided attention. *Nature* 526, 705–709. doi: 10.1038/nature15398
- Winkowski, D. E., Nagode, D. A., Donaldson, K. J., Yin, P., Shamma, S. A., Fritz, J. B., et al. (2017). Orbitofrontal cortex neurons respond to sound and activate primary auditory cortex neurons. *Cereb. Cortex* 28, 868–879. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhw409

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Chapuis and Chadderton. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





How Many Clocks, How Many Times? On the Sensory Basis and Computational Challenges of Circadian Systems

Jason Somers^{1,2*}, Ross E. F. Harper^{1,3} and Joerg T. Albert^{1,2,3,4*}

¹Ear Institute, University College London, London, United Kingdom, ²The Francis Crick Institute, London, United Kingdom, ³Centre for Mathematics and Physics in the Life Sciences and Experimental Biology (CoMPLEX), University College London, London, United Kingdom, ⁴Department of Cell and Developmental Biology, University College London, London, United Kingdom

A vital task for every organism is not only to decide what to do but also when to do it. For this reason, "circadian clocks" have evolved in virtually all forms of life. Conceptually, circadian clocks can be divided into two functional domains; an autonomous oscillator creates a ~24 h self-sustained rhythm and sensory machinery interprets external information to alter the phase of the autonomous oscillation. It is through this simple design that variations in external stimuli (for example, daylight) can alter our sense of time. However, the clock's simplicity ends with its basic concept. In metazoan animals, multiple external and internal stimuli, from light to temperature and even metabolism have been shown to affect clock time. This raises the fundamental question of cue integration: how are the many, and potentially conflicting, sources of information combined to sense a single time of day? Moreover, individual stimuli, are often detected through various sensory pathways. Some sensory cells, such as insect chordotonal neurons, provide the clock with both temperature and mechanical information. Adding confusion to complexity, there seems to be not only one central clock in the animal's brain but numerous additional clocks in the body's periphery. It is currently not clear how (or if) these "peripheral clocks" are synchronized to their central counterparts or if both clocks "tick" independently from one another. In this review article, we would like to leave the comfort zones of conceptual simplicity and assume a more holistic perspective of circadian clock function. Focusing on recent results from Drosophila melanogaster we will discuss some of the sensory, and computational, challenges organisms face when keeping track of time.

Keywords: circadian clock, biological oscillator, multisensory integration, bayesian modeling, *Drosophila melanogaster*, sensory conflict

INTRODUCTION

A good decision is not absolute. It varies depending on context. Foraging for food can be a good or bad decision depending on the presence of a looming predator. The key is to optimize behavior for the current context. But what if the context is in perpetual flux? Owing to the spin of our planet on its longitudinal axis, the vast majority of life on earth exists in 24-h cycles of environmental change.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gérard Manière, Université de Bourgogne, France

Reviewed by:

Charlotte Helfrich-Förster, Universität Würzburg, Germany Francois Rouyer, UMR9197 Institut des Neurosciences Paris Saclay (Neuro-PSI), France

> *Correspondence: Joerg T. Albert

joerg.albert@ucl.ac.uk Jason Somers j.somers@ucl.ac.uk

Received: 06 July 2018 Accepted: 21 August 2018 Published: 11 September 2018

Citation:

Somers J, Harper REF and Albert JT (2018) How Many Clocks, How Many Times? On the Sensory Basis and Computational Challenges of Circadian Systems. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 12:211. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2018.00211 The sun rises and sets. Dawn comes and goes. Temperatures change, and both predator and prey alike sleep and wake. Thus, good decisions depend as much on *when* to do, as they do on *what* to do.

This critical importance of time for decision-making necessitates the existence of internal clocks. These "circadian" oscillators give temporal structure to behavior. The circadian system of *Drosophila melanogaster* presents a remarkable tool to investigate how external environmental changes can impact internal timekeeping that best prepares an organism for time-appropriate tasks. The circadian clock has a set period (i.e., one full cycles takes ~24 h) and its time, or phase, can be adjusted by incoming sensory information. This flexibility is paramount to a system that is orchestrating numerous behavioral and physiological processes while external stimuli are constantly changing.

In this review article we set out to highlight the complexities of the *Drosophila melanogaster* circadian clock, in which "decisions" must be made with regard to external environmental cues. These fundamental timing decisions are made by individual neurons in the context of multimodal sensory information. By discussing the complexities that exist on the molecular, cellular, network and behavioral level, we propose computational approaches that may be fruitful to gain further insight into the nuances of circadian systems.

THE MOLECULAR CLOCK

To understand how the wider circadian system keeps time, we must first begin with the oscillatory building blocks that comprise it. Time is computed at the level of individual cells and integral to this cellular timekeeping is a molecular clock that is driven by the autonomous oscillations of so called "clock genes". The autonomous oscillators are driven by a series of molecular transcriptional/translational feedback loops (TTFL) of which components autoregulate their own expression (**Figure 1**), reviewed in Hardin (2011).

The molecular clock starts with the transcription factors, CLOCK (CLK) and CYCLE (CYC), activating transcription of the primary TTFL genes, per and tim, through binding to E-box regions in their gene promoters (Hao et al., 1997; Allada et al., 1998; Darlington et al., 1998; Rutila et al., 1998). Transcription occurs between ~ZT4 to ~ZT18 (where ZT0 is lights on and ZT12 is lights off) and translation of these mRNAs generate the protein products PERIOD (PER) and TIMELESS (TIM). The PER protein is inherently unstable, and is rapidly targeted for proteasomal degradation by the kinase DOUBLETIME (DBT; Kloss et al., 1998, 2001; Price et al., 1998). However, the PER-DBT dimer can be stabilized through dimerization with TIM allowing the PER-TIM-DBT complex to accumulate in the cytosol, around 6–8 h after *per* and *tim* transcription activation or ~ZT12 (Curtin et al., 1995; Gekakis et al., 1995; Price et al., 1995; Zeng et al., 1996).

Phosphorylation of PER and TIM by the kinases, CK2 and SGG (Martinek et al., 2001; Lin et al., 2002; Akten et al., 2003), initiates nuclear accumulation of PER and TIM (Nawathean and Rosbash, 2004; Top et al., 2016). Inside



potentially opposing effects and offset timing to modulate *Clk* and *cry* transcription. Light activation of CRY leads to the degradation of TIM acting as a molecular reset of the TTFL cycling. CWO is a part of third TTFL that also acts as a repressor of CLK-CYC activity.

the nucleus, the active form of PER inhibits CLK-CYC activation of *per* and *tim* transcription between \sim ZT18 to \sim ZT4 (Lee et al., 1998, 1999; Bae et al., 2000; Menet et al., 2010). Consequently, PER and TIM concentrations decline in the cytosol, reducing nuclear abundance of PER and TIM, and ultimately removing the inhibition of CLK-CYC activity. The molecular cycle then starts again, *circa* 24 h later.

The primary TTFL is bolstered by additional interlocked loops. In a second TTFL CLK-CYC also activates transcription of vrille and Pdp1 ε/δ between ~ZT4 and ZT16 (Blau and Young, 1999; Cyran et al., 2003). VRILLE (VRI) protein concentration peaks several hours before PDP1 ε/δ (~ZT14 vs. \sim ZT18) and both act at VRI/PDP1-boxes to modulate Clk and cry transcription (Cyran et al., 2003; Glossop et al., 2003). PER-TIM-DBT activity from the primary TTFL inhibits CLK-CYC activity interlinking the two loops. The cry gene encodes a blue-light photoreceptor that upon photic activation promotes TIM degradation essentially acting as a molecular reset switch of the primary TTFL (Emery et al., 1998; Stanewsky et al., 1998). In the third TTFL, CLK-CYC promotes expression of clockwork orange that competitively binds to the same E-box regions to negatively regulate CLK-CYC mediated transcription (Kadener et al., 2007; Lim et al., 2007; Matsumoto et al., 2007).

THE CENTRAL CLOCK—A NETWORK OF COUPLED OSCILLATORS

If the oscillating proteins of the TTFLs are the gears that direct timekeeping, the central pacemaker neurons are analogous to a synchronizer that sets a coherent time in context with the external environment. The architecture of this central pacemaker in flies consist of ~150 neurons comprising distinct subgroups identified in the brain through cytological staining of clock genes (Figure 2; Helfrich-Förster and Homberg, 1993; Helfrich-Förster, 1995). The subgroups are named after their morphology and anatomical location; each brain hemisphere has four small ventral lateral neurons (s-LN_v) that express the pigment dispersing factor (PDF), a fifth PDF-negative s-LN_v, four large PDF-positive ventral lateral neurons (l-LN_v), six dorsal lateral neurons (LN_d), 17 group one dorsal neurons (DN1), two group two dorsal neurons (DN2), \sim 40 group three dorsal neurons (DN3) and three lateral posterior neurons (LPN; Helfrich-Förster et al., 2007; Nitabach and Taghert, 2008; Schubert et al., 2018).

The dual oscillator model, originally hypothesized for nocturnal rodents (Pittendrigh and Daan, 1976), has historically been used to also describe the *Drosophila* crepuscular activity



FIGURE 2 | The circadian system of Drosophila melanogaster from input stimulus to output behavior. Light information may enter the circadian system through the cuticle of the fly to directly act on CRY, which is expressed in many central and peripheral clock cells. Alternatively, it may enter via sensory cells of the visual systems-compound eye, H-B eyelets or the ocelli that make direct-or indirect - synaptic contact with central clock neurons. While flies have many thermo - and mechano-sensing organs, chordotonal organs (ChOs) have been directly implicated in communicating both temperature and mechanical stimuli to the circadian system. The neuronal populations of central pacemakers differ in their sensitivity to external stimuli as well as their neurochemical and electrical connectivity. Pacemaker neurons expressing CRY preferentially entrain to light cues while others not expressing CRY have demonstrated preference for temperature cues. Neurochemical differences can denote distinct functional groups-for example the M oscillator neurons express and release pigment dispersing factor (PDF) that can lead to phase changes in molecular oscillations of cells expressing PDF-R. This can result in phase advances or delays of downstream processes that in turn can advance or delay behavioral outputs.

patterns, proposing separate autonomous oscillators that control activity peaks observed at dusk and dawn. The PDF+ LN_v are required for the fly's morning activity peak (and free-running rhythms; Renn et al., 1999; Grima et al., 2004; Stoleru et al., 2004), while the LN_d and 5th PDF- LN_v are important for the evening peak (Grima et al., 2004), thus, these two groups are labeled the morning (M) and evening (E) oscillators respectively. In practice these designations are too strict as the roles and hierarchy of some cellular oscillators change under different environmental conditions (Rieger et al., 2006, 2009; Murad et al., 2007).

Current pacemaker models depict a variable—both neurochemically and electrically—coupled neuronal network that differentially responds to incoming multimodal stimuli (Yao and Shafer, 2014; Schlichting et al., 2016; Yao et al., 2016) reviewed in detail in Hermann-Luibl and Helfrich-Förster (2015); Top and Young (2018).

PERIPHERAL CLOCKS

In addition to the central pacemaker clocks, circadian oscillators also exist in several tissues outside the central nervous system and are likely to regulate organ or tissue specific functions. Peripheral clocks have largely been characterized through clock TTFL protein rhythms identified either by immunohistochemistry or by luciferase reporter expression being driven by clock gene promoters. Located in a number of tissues, peripheral clocks are heterogeneous in both their molecular machinery and their relationship to the central clock (Ito and Tomioka, 2016).

At the molecular level, CRY appears to act not only as a photoreceptor but also as a core component of the primary TTFL. In some peripheral clocks of *cry* mutants—in which CRY normally fulfils both roles—light entrainment in lost, however they also lose molecular oscillations of *per* and *tim* (Ivanchenko et al., 2001; Krishnan et al., 2001). In these peripheral clocks it appears CRY not only integrates photic information into the clock, but it also plays a role in driving oscillations of the clock, possibly acting as a repressor (Collins et al., 2006). Alternatively, CRY may act exclusively as a photoreceptor with persistent free running rhythms observed in certain tissues of *cry* mutants. This indicates that in these peripheral clocks (Ito et al., 2008).

Phase relations between central clocks and peripheral clocks are also heterogeneous. For example, peripheral clocks in the Malpighian tubules and chemosensory sensilla can directly entrain to external stimuli and maintain entrained rhythms even without information from central clock neurons (Hege et al., 1997; Krishnan et al., 1999). A different phase relationship is observed between oenocytes and the central clock. PDF release from clock neurons into the hemeolymph can set the phase of the distally located oenocytes, which control rhythmic release of mating pheromones (Krupp et al., 2013). The different phase relationships identified between central and peripheral clocks add yet another layer of complexity to the timekeeping system.

LOCOMOTOR ACTIVITY RHYTHMS

Circadian rhythms exist at the cellular and network levels, yet it is the appropriate timing of behaviors that makes this system adaptive for the organism. Behavioral output of a circadian clock is typically measured as the organism's activity pattern; this is no different for Drosophila. Simple infra-red beam-breaking monitors record the activity of individual flies isolated in small glass tubes with enough food to last the duration of the experiment. These monitors are placed inside incubators in which the environmental conditions can be accurately controlled according to the test paradigm. In the simplest experiments, transitions between environmental conditions, or Zeitgebers ("time giver" in German), occur almost instantaneously (e.g., 12 h of light followed by 12 h of dark-LD). Here, Drosophila exhibits the previously mentioned bimodal activity pattern, with M and E activity peaks occurring at the Zeitgeber transition points. If the flies are then released into constant, free-running conditions, devoid of temporal information, rhythmic activity persists. However, the rhythms become almost exclusively unimodal possibly due to the merging of the previous M and E activity peaks (Wheeler et al., 1993; Helfrich-Förster, 2000). The timing of this free-running activity peak is a common read-out of "clock time" or circadian time. By adjusting the timing of cue onset/offset, the entrainability of the autonomous oscillator, which adjusts subsequent free-running rhythms to new schedules, can be tested. The speed of entrainment and relative amplitudes of autonomous oscillations depend on the strength and mode (e.g., light, temperature, vibration) of the specific Zeitgeber signal. Indeed, the precise activity profile observed depends on both the environmental conditions and the genetic background of the fly (Schlichting and Helfrich-Förster, 2015).

ENTRAINMENT

Photic information is communicated to clock neurons both directly via CRY, and indirectly via visual photoreceptors residing in the compound eyes, ocelli and Hofbauer-Buchner eyelets. CRY mediates cell-autonomous perception of light in a number of tissues that harbor circadian rhythms via its interaction with TIM in the primary TTFL (Plautz et al., 1997; Emery et al., 2000; Lin et al., 2001). This direct input pathway makes the Drosophila circadian system particularly sensitive to light, capable of entraining to low light intensities (0.03 lux; Bachleitner et al., 2007), and can exhibit significant phase shifts following brief light pulses (Levine et al., 1994; Egan et al., 1999; Vinayak et al., 2013). Visual pathways to the clock are not as well defined and do not reset the clock with the same efficiency as CRY dependent pathways (Emery et al., 2000; Helfrich-Förster et al., 2001). However, it appears that a subset of rhodopsin photoreceptors communicate visual photic information to the clock by a novel phototransduction pathway (Stanewsky et al., 1998; Ogueta et al., 2018).

Temperature cycles (TC) can also entrain the circadian clock, and although this can occur in a tissue autonomous fashion in peripheral clocks, signaling from peripheral sensors

play an important role in entraining the central clock (Glaser and Stanewsky, 2005; Sehadova et al., 2009). Thermoreceptors, expressed in chordotonal organs (ChOs) have been identified in the thermotransduction pathway, relaying information to the clock across different TC regimes (Wolfgang et al., 2013; Chen et al., 2015). Furthermore, genes important to the structural integrity of ChOs have also shown importance for entrainment to TC (Glaser and Stanewsky, 2005; Sehadova et al., 2009). Specifically, *nocte* (*no circadian temperature entrainment*) was identified in a screen for mutants that could entrain to LD but not to TC (Glaser and Stanewsky, 2005). Interestingly, the *nocte* mutant cannot entrain to combined LD and TC, hinting at a role in a sensory integration pathway that appears to eventuate in the DN1 central clock neurons (Chen et al., 2018).

ChOs also play a role in entrainment to mechanical inputs and this appears dependent on where the ChO is located. ChOs are stretch sensitive organs that populate almost every exoskeletal joint mediating proprioception in the legs as well as hearing in the antennae (Kavlie and Albert, 2013). Flies with no functional ChOs fail to entrain to 12-h vibration/12-h silence cycles, whereas flies lacking only antennal ChOs entrain better than their wild type controls (Simoni et al., 2014). This may be another feedback loop in the circadian system where output activity feeds information back to the clock.

NATURAL CONDITIONS

In order to perform more ecologically relevant experiments, environmental conditions can also be shifted in relation to each other in order to closely mimic natural conditions. This can be taken even further by placing the activity monitors outside the predictable conditions of the laboratory in the real-world environment. Under semi-natural "Summer" conditions an extra activity peak is observed that coincides with the temperature maxima termed the afternoon (A) peak (Vanin et al., 2012). Evidence suggests that A peak activity is induced by activation of the TRPA1 thermosensor in the AC neurons, rather than the circadian clock pacemakers (Tang et al., 2013; Green et al., 2015). The ecological relevance of the A peak is hypothesized to be an escape response from afternoon heat which is made evident by the occurrence of this peak being largely environmentally controlled. Closer observations of the fly activity support this hypothesis. Inactive flies at a preferable temperature (28°C) quickly retreat to the relative coolness of their food at an uncomfortable temperature (31°C) and are subsequently induced to erratic hyperactivity at noxious temperatures (35°C; Menegazzi et al., 2012). The phase of the A peak, however, still appears to be modulated by both the clock and environmental conditions (Menegazzi et al., 2012; Vanin et al., 2012). Interestingly, a functional clock appears to suppress the A peak at non-noxious temperatures. Clock mutant flies, deficient in either PER or CLK, exhibit A peak activity under milder TC in which wild-type flies exhibit bimodal activity patterns (Currie et al., 2009; Menegazzi et al., 2012; Vanin et al., 2012). This could be the clock mutant's lack of time perception being unaware of the daily afternoon peaks of temperature, whereas wild-type flies anticipate the regular afternoon increase

in temperature knowing it is nothing to be concerned about until a critical threshold is crossed at noxious temperatures. This is a more explicit decision-making process governed by the circadian clock—knowing what stimuli to respond to and what stimuli can safely be ignored.

CONFLICT CONDITIONS

The complexity of the number of potential interactions that could occur between the central clock pacemakers and the peripheral clocks is only now starting to be realized. How many clocks contribute to the animal's overall sense of time? The historical view that one master pacemaker clock actively sets the phase of all the downstream clocks is being challenged. Perhaps the central pacemaker sets the time of central processes and regional peripheral clocks set time locally? To test this, offset environmental conditions have been used to understand the molecular, and subsequent behavioral repercussions, of receiving potentially conflicting environmental cues. During antiphasic conflict of light and temperature (a 12-h maximal misalignment between the two cues), the activity patterns of the flies demonstrate preferential entrainment to light (Yoshii et al., 2010; Harper et al., 2016). An assessment of the relative strength of photic and thermic input under these conditions suggests light to be the victor. However, observation of fly activity under other misalignment schedules reveals that flies appear to follow temperature cues when the misalignment is short (2-4 h) and light cues when the misalignment is long (>7 h). Misalignment between this (5-7 h) produces a novel behavior of sustained activity over the course of misalignment (termed "plateau" or P behavior; Harper et al., 2016). P behavior was not observed in the clock-less per mutants or the light-input pathway impaired cry mutants. The per mutant generally displayed arrhythmic behavior with brief startle responses to environmental changes while, due to their lack of the CRY photoreceptor, cry mutants entrained preferentially to temperature cues. The lack of the P behavior in these two clock mutants during sensory conflict demonstrates that the behavior depends on a functional clock and is not the result of environmental masking. Furthermore, a severe dampening of PER oscillations in the central pacemakers under conflict conditions support the hypothesis that sensory conflict is causing the abnormal P behavior. This contrasts with results from a subsequent study in peripheral clocks. During similar conflict conditions, bioluminescent PER reporters expressed in peripheral clocks, revealed peripheral molecular rhythms remained entrained to the light cue (Harper et al., 2017). Again, CRY expression appears to be key for this light cue entrainment in these tissues as peripheral molecular rhythms in cry mutants follow the temperature cue under conflict conditions. The fact that molecular rhythms in these peripheral clocks do not collapse as observed in the central clock could indicate that these peripheral clocks do not contribute to locomotor rhythms or alternatively that asynchrony between central and peripheral clocks results in abnormal behavior. Further studies are required to unpack this relationship.

PROBABILISTIC CONSIDERATIONS AND FUTURE COMPUTATIONAL APPROACHES

The "circadian clock" is a complex, highly interconnected system, which attempts to determine—or predict—the state of the world from noisy or incomplete data. Probabilistic modeling provides a powerful conceptual framework for the theoretical, and experimental, analysis of such a system.

In a circadian setting, we can think of Zeitgebers as observable variables, from which the clock must compute the otherwise unobservable time of day. Bayesian integration provides an optimal algorithmic method by which to combine different sources of information. Here, the goal of a Bayesian observer (e.g., the "circadian clock") is to compute the conditional density function that specifies the probability of the time of day from the given external cues (e.g., light and temperature). Further complexity is added by the temporal structure of circadian data, requiring that probability distributions be calculated over sequences of observations. Hidden markov models (HMMs) are one way of representing such temporal distributions and are used widely in tasks such as speech recognition (Rabiner, 1990), computational genomics (Eddy, 2004) and decoding neural spike data (Escola et al., 2011). More recently, HMMs have begun making their way into the circadian field, effectively modeling rhythms of both molecular (Bieler et al., 2014) and behavioral data (Harper, 2017). We expect such probabilistic frameworks to be crucial for understanding the relationships between circadian clock components across all levels of the system.

DISCUSSION

Complexity exists at all levels of the circadian system. Multiple TTFL maintain the ticking of the individual cellular clocks. This timing can then be communicated, neurochemically or electrically, to other cells that use the information to set the phase of their own internal clocks and orchestrate downstream processes. However, the flow of this information is not unidirectional. Multiple central oscillators exchange timing information set by incoming sensory information to compute time. This raises a further question of how the circadian system weights each oscillator's contribution (a problem well-suited to probabilistic modeling).

Existing methods used to quantify circadian function are imperfect. They are typically measured in free running conditions in order to avoid masking effects that occur as a stimulus response to environmental condition transitions. This necessarily removes the context in which circadian clocks operate and results in rapidly dampened rhythms—both molecular and behavioral. Ideally the phase of the circadian system would be measured during the entrainment period to alleviate the rapid dampening effects of free run, and also reducing the overall length of the experiment. Again, probabilistic models pose an interesting tool for extracting key circadian metrics—such as phase, period and rhythm strength—from noisy time series data in the presence of changing Zeitgebers. Finally, a better quantitative understanding of the computations—and possible conflicts—occurring in the circadian system is also relevant in the context of the multitude of clock-related pathologies in humans (Roenneberg and Merrow, 2016). These pathologies may be the result of the circadian system simply making the wrong decisions, e.g., due to conflicting data (light at night, social jetlag, trans-meridian travels, etc.). A deeper understanding of where the errors in the decision making processes occur may be a decisive first step toward identifying and treating these pathologies.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JS, RH and JA together wrote and designed different aspects of the article.

REFERENCES

- Akten, B., Jauch, E., Genova, G. K., Kim, E. Y., Edery, I., Raabe, T., et al. (2003). A role for CK2 in the *Drosophila* circadian oscillator. *Nat. Neurosci.* 6, 251–257. doi: 10.1038/nn1007
- Allada, R., White, N. E., So, W. V., Hall, J. C., and Rosbash, M. (1998). A mutant *Drosophila* homolog of mammalian *clock* disrupts circadian rhythms and transcription of *period* and *timeless*. *Cell* 93, 791–804. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81440-3
- Bachleitner, W., Kempinger, L., Wülbeck, C., Rieger, D., and Helfrich-Förster, C. (2007). Moonlight shifts the endogenous clock of *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 104, 3538–3543. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0606870104
- Bae, K., Lee, C., Hardin, P. E., and Edery, I. (2000). dCLOCK is present in limiting amounts and likely mediates daily interactions between the dCLOCK-CYC transcription factor and the PER-TIM complex. J. Neurosci. 20, 1746–1753. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.20-05-01746.2000
- Bieler, J., Cannavo, R., Gustafson, K., Gobet, C., Gatfield, D., and Naef, F. (2014). Robust synchronization of coupled circadian and cell cycle oscillators in single mammalian cells. *Mol. Syst. Biol.* 10:739. doi: 10.15252/msb.20145218
- Blau, J., and Young, M. W. (1999). Cycling vrille expression is required for a functional Drosophila clock. Cell 99, 661–671. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81554-8
- Chen, C., Buhl, E., Xu, M., Croset, V., Rees, J. S., Lilley, K. S., et al. (2015). Drosophila ionotropic receptor 25a mediates circadian clock resetting by temperature. Nature 527, 516–520. doi: 10.1038/nature16148
- Chen, C., Xu, M., Anantaprakorn, Y., Rosing, M., and Stanewsky, R. (2018). nocte is required for integrating light and temperature inputs in circadian clock neurons of Drosophila. Curr. Biol. 28, 1595.e3–1605.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2018. 04.001
- Collins, B., Mazzoni, E. O., Stanewsky, R., and Blau, J. (2006). Drosophila CRYPTOCHROME is a circadian transcriptional repressor. Curr. Biol. 16, 441–449. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2006.01.034
- Currie, J., Goda, T., and Wijnen, H. (2009). Selective entrainment of the Drosophila circadian clock to daily gradients in environmental temperature. BMC Biol. 7:49. doi: 10.1186/1741-7007-7-49
- Curtin, K. D., Huang, Z. J., and Rosbash, M. (1995). Temporally regulated nuclear entry of the *Drosophila period* protein contributes to the circadian clock. *Neuron* 14, 365–372. doi: 10.1016/0896-6273(95)90292-9
- Cyran, S. A., Buchsbaum, A. M., Reddy, K. L., Lin, M.-C., Glossop, N. R. J., Hardin, P. E., et al. (2003). *vrille*, *Pdp1* and *dClock* form a second feedback loop in the *Drosophila* circadian clock. *Cell* 112, 329–341. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(03)00074-6
- Darlington, T. K., Wager-Smith, K., Ceriani, M. F., Staknis, D., Gekakis, N., Steeves, T. D. L., et al. (1998). Closing the circadian loop: CLOCK-induced transcription of its own inhibitors *per* and *tim. Science* 280, 1599–1603. doi: 10.1126/science.280.5369.1599
- Eddy, S. R. (2004). What is a hidden Markov model? *Nat. Biotechnol.* 22, 1315–1316. doi: 10.1038/nbt1004-1315

FUNDING

RH received funding from the Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council (EP/F500351/1) through UCL CoMPLEX. JS was supported by a European Research Council grant to JA (H2020-ERC-2014-CoG/648709/Clock Mechanics). JA was supported by grants from the Biotechnology and Biological Sciences Research Council (BB/L02084X/1) and the European Research Council (H2020-ERC-2014-CoG/648709/Clock Mechanics).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful for the valuable inputs that resulted from discussions with Ralf Stanewsky.

- Egan, E. S., Franklin, T. M., Hilderbrand-Chae, M. J., McNeil, G. P., Roberts, M. A., Schroeder, A. J., et al. (1999). An extraretinally expressed insect *cryptochrome* with similarity to the blue light photoreceptors of mammals and plants. *J. Neurosci.* 19, 3665–3673. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.19-10-0366 5.1999
- Emery, P., So, W. V., Kaneko, M., Hall, J. C., and Rosbash, M. (1998). CRY, a *Drosophila* clock and light-regulated *cryptochrome*, is a major contributor to circadian rhythm resetting and photosensitivity. *Cell* 95, 669–679. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81637-2
- Emery, P., Stanewsky, R., Helfrich-Förster, C., Emery-Le, M., Hall, J. C., and Rosbash, M. (2000). *Drosophila* CRY is a deep brain circadian photoreceptor. *Neuron* 26, 493–504. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(00)81181-2
- Escola, S., Fontanini, A., Katz, D., and Paninski, L. (2011). Hidden Markov models for the stimulus-response relationships of multistate neural systems. *Neural Comput.* 23, 1071–1132. doi: 10.1162/NECO_A_00118
- Gekakis, N., Saez, L., Delahaye-Brown, A. M., Myers, M. P., Sehgal, A., Young, M. W., et al. (1995). Isolation of timeless by PER protein interaction: defective interaction between *timeless protein* and long-period mutant PERL. *Science* 270, 811–815. doi: 10.1126/science.270.5237.811
- Glaser, F. T., and Stanewsky, R. (2005). Temperature synchronization of the Drosophila circadian clock. Curr. Biol. 15, 1352–1363. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2005. 06.056
- Glossop, N. R. J., Houl, J. H., Zheng, H., Ng, F. S., Dudek, S. M., and Hardin, P. E. (2003). VRILLE feeds back to control circadian transcription of *Clock* in the *Drosophila* circadian oscillator. *Neuron* 37, 249–261. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(03)00002-3
- Green, E. W., O'Callaghan, E. K., Hansen, C. N., Bastianello, S., Bhutani, S., Vanin, S., et al. (2015). *Drosophila* circadian rhythms in seminatural environments: summer afternoon component is not an artifact and requires *TrpA1* channels. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 112, 8702–8707. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1506093112
- Grima, B., Chélot, E., Xia, R., and Rouyer, F. (2004). Morning and evening peaks of activity rely on different clock neurons of the *Drosophila* brain. *Nature* 431, 869–873. doi: 10.1038/nature02935
- Hao, H., Allen, D. L., and Hardin, P. E. (1997). A circadian enhancer mediates PER-dependent mRNA cycling in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 17, 3687–3693. doi: 10.1128/mcb.17.7.3687
- Hardin, P. E. (2011). Molecular genetic analysis of circadian timekeeping in Drosophila. Adv. Genet. 74, 141–173. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-387690-4. 00005-2
- Harper, R. E. F. (2017). "Time flies" multisensory processing by circadian clocks in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Available online at: http://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/10037959/. [Accessed on June 29, 2018].
- Harper, R. E. F., Dayan, P., Albert, J. T., and Stanewsky, R. (2016). Sensory conflict disrupts activity of the *Drosophila* circadian network. *Cell Rep.* 17, 1711–1718. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2016.10.029
- Harper, R. E. F., Ogueta, M., Dayan, P., Stanewsky, R., and Albert, J. T. (2017). Light dominates peripheral circadian oscillations in *Drosophila*

melanogaster during sensory conflict. J. Biol. Rhythms 32, 423-432. doi: 10.1177/0748730417724250

- Hege, D. M., Stanewsky, R., Hall, J. C., and Giebultowicz, J. M. (1997). Rhythmic expression of a PER-reporter in the Malpighian tubules of decapitated *Drosophila*: evidence for a brain-independent circadian clock. *J. Biol. Rhythms* 12, 300–308. doi: 10.1177/074873049701200402
- Helfrich-Förster, C. (1995). The *period* clock gene is expressed in central nervous system neurons which also produce a neuropeptide that reveals the projections of circadian pacemaker cells within the brain of *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 92, 612–616. doi: 10.1073/pnas.92.2.612
- Helfrich-Förster, C. (2000). Differential control of morning and evening components in the activity rhythm of *Drosophila melanogaster*—sex-specific differences suggest a different quality of activity. J. Biol. Rhythms 15, 135–154. doi: 10.1177/074873040001500208
- Helfrich-Förster, C., and Homberg, U. (1993). Pigment-dispersing hormoneimmunoreactive neurons in the nervous system of wild-type *Drosophila melanogaster* and of several mutants with altered circadian rhythmicity. J. Comp. Neurol. 337, 177–190. doi: 10.1002/cne.903370202
- Helfrich-Förster, C., Winter, C., Hofbauer, A., Hall, J. C., and Stanewsky, R. (2001). The circadian clock of fruit flies is blind after elimination of all known photoreceptors. *Neuron* 30, 249–261. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(01)00277-x
- Helfrich-Förster, C., Yoshii, T., Wülbeck, C., Grieshaber, E., Rieger, D., Bachleitner, W., et al. (2007). The lateral and dorsal neurons of *Drosophila melanogaster*: new insights about their morphology and function. Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol. 72, 517–525. doi: 10.1101/sqb.2007.72.063
- Hermann-Luibl, C., and Helfrich-Förster, C. (2015). Clock network in Drosophila. Curr. Opin. Insect Sci. 7, 65–70. doi: 10.1016/j.cois.2014.11.003
- Ito, C., Goto, S. G., Shiga, S., Tomioka, K., and Numata, H. (2008). Peripheral circadian clock for the cuticle deposition rhythm in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 105, 8446–8451. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0800145105
- Ito, C., and Tomioka, K. (2016). Heterogeneity of the peripheral circadian systems in *Drosophila melanogaster*: a review. *Front. Physiol.* 7:8. doi: 10.3389/fphys. 2016.00008
- Ivanchenko, M., Stanewsky, R., and Giebultowicz, J. M. (2001). Circadian photoreception in *Drosophila*: functions of *cryptochrome* in peripheral and central clocks. J. Biol. Rhythms 16, 205–215. doi: 10.1177/074873040101600303
- Kadener, S., Stoleru, D., McDonald, M., Nawathean, P., and Rosbash, M. (2007). *Clockwork orange* is a transcriptional repressor and a new *Drosophila* circadian pacemaker component. *Genes Dev.* 21, 1675–1686. doi: 10.1101/gad.1552607
- Kavlie, R. G., and Albert, J. T. (2013). Chordotonal organs. Curr. Biol. 23, R334-R335. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2013.03.048
- Kloss, B., Price, J. L., Saez, L., Blau, J., Rothenfluh, A., Wesley, C. S., et al. (1998). The *Drosophila* clock gene *double-time* encodes a protein closely related to human casein kinase Iepsilon. *Cell* 94, 97–107. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81225-8
- Kloss, B., Rothenfluh, A., Young, M. W., and Saez, L. (2001). Phosphorylation of *period* is influenced by cycling physical associations of *double-time*, *period* and *timeless* in the *Drosophila* clock. *Neuron* 30, 699–706. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(01)00320-8
- Krishnan, B., Dryer, S. E., and Hardin, P. E. (1999). Circadian rhythms in olfactory responses of *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Nature* 400, 375–378. doi: 10.1038/22566
- Krishnan, B., Levine, J. D., Lynch, M. K. S., Dowse, H. B., Funes, P., Hall, J. C., et al. (2001). A new role for *cryptochrome* in a *Drosophila* circadian oscillator. *Nature* 411, 313–317. doi: 10.1038/35077094
- Krupp, J. J., Billeter, J.-C., Wong, A., Choi, C., Nitabach, M. N., and Levine, J. D. (2013). Pigment-dispersing factor modulates pheromone production in clock cells that influence mating in *Drosophila. Neuron* 79, 54–68. doi: 10.1016/j. neuron.2013.05.019
- Lee, C., Bae, K., and Edery, I. (1998). The *Drosophila* CLOCK protein undergoes daily rhythms in abundance, phosphorylation and interactions with the PER-TIM complex. *Neuron* 21, 857–867. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(00) 80601-7
- Lee, C., Bae, K., and Edery, I. (1999). PER and TIM inhibit the DNA binding activity of a *Drosophila* CLOCK-CYC/dBMAL1 heterodimer without disrupting formation of the heterodimer: a basis for circadian transcription. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 19, 5316–5325. doi: 10.1128/mcb.19.8.5316
- Levine, J. D., Casey, C. I., Kalderon, D. D., and Jackson, F. R. (1994). Altered circadian pacemaker functions and cyclic AMP rhythms in the

Drosophila learning mutant dunce. Neuron 13, 967-974. doi: 10.1016/0896-6273(94)90262-3

- Lim, C., Lee, J., Choi, C., Kim, J., Doh, E., and Choe, J. (2007). Functional role of CREB-binding protein in the circadian clock system of *Drosophila melanogaster. Mol. Cell. Biol.* 27, 4876–4890. doi: 10.1128/mcb.02155-06
- Lin, J.-M., Kilman, V. L., Keegan, K., Paddock, B., Emery-Le, M., Rosbash, M., et al. (2002). A role for *casein kinase* 2α in the *Drosophila* circadian clock. *Nature* 420, 816–820. doi: 10.1038/nature01235
- Lin, F.-J., Song, W., Meyer-Bernstein, E., Naidoo, N., and Sehgal, A. (2001). Photic signaling by *cryptochrome* in the *Drosophila* circadian system. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 21, 7287–7294. doi: 10.1128/MCB.21.21.7287-7294.2001
- Martinek, S., Inonog, S., Manoukian, A. S., and Young, M. W. (2001). A role for the segment polarity gene *shaggy/GSK-3* in the *Drosophila* circadian clock. *Cell* 105, 769–779. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(01)00383-x
- Matsumoto, A., Ukai-Tadenuma, M., Yamada, R. G., Houl, J., Uno, K. D., Kasukawa, T., et al. (2007). A functional genomics strategy reveals *clockwork orange* as a transcriptional regulator in the *Drosophila* circadian clock. *Genes Dev.* 21, 1687–1700. doi: 10.1101/gad.1552207
- Menegazzi, P., Yoshii, T., and Helfrich-Förster, C. (2012). Laboratory versus nature: the two sides of the *Drosophila* circadian clock. J. Biol. Rhythms 27, 433–442. doi: 10.1177/0748730412463181
- Menet, J. S., Abruzzi, K. C., Desrochers, J., Rodriguez, J., and Rosbash, M. (2010). Dynamic PER repression mechanisms in the *Drosophila* circadian clock: from on-DNA to off-DNA. *Genes Dev.* 24, 358–367. doi: 10.1101/gad.1883910
- Murad, A., Emery-Le, M., and Emery, P. (2007). A subset of dorsal neurons modulates circadian behavior and light responses in *Drosophila*. *Neuron* 53, 689–701. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2007.01.034
- Nawathean, P., and Rosbash, M. (2004). The *doubletime* and CKII kinases collaborate to potentiate *Drosophila* PER transcriptional repressor activity. *Mol. Cell* 13, 213–223. doi: 10.1016/s1097-2765(03)00503-3
- Nitabach, M. N., and Taghert, P. H. (2008). Organization of the Drosophila circadian control circuit. Curr. Biol. 18, R84–R93. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2007. 11.061
- Ogueta, M., Hardie, R. C., and Stanewsky, R. (2018). Non-canonical phototransduction mediates synchronization of the *Drosophila melanogaster* circadian clock and retinal light responses. *Curr. Biol.* 28, 1725.e3–1735.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2018.04.016
- Picot, M., Cusumano, P., Klarsfeld, A., Ueda, R., and Rouyer, F. (2007). Light activates output from evening neurons and inhibits output from morning neurons in the *Drosophila* circadian clock. *PLoS Biol.* 5:e315. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.0050315
- Pittendrigh, C. S., and Daan, S. (1976). A functional analysis of circadian pacemakers in nocturnal rodents. J. Comp. Physiol. 106, 333–355. doi: 10.1007/bf01417859
- Plautz, J. D., Kaneko, M., Hall, J. C., and Kay, S. A. (1997). Independent photoreceptive circadian clocks throughout *Drosophila*. *Science* 278, 1632–1635. doi: 10.1126/science.278.5343.1632
- Price, J. L., Blau, J., Rothenfluh, A., Abodeely, M., Kloss, B., and Young, M. W. (1998). *double-time* is a novel *Drosophila* clock gene that regulates PERIOD protein accumulation. *Cell* 94, 83–95. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(00) 81224-6
- Price, J. L., Dembinska, M. E., Young, M. W., and Rosbash, M. (1995). Suppression of PERIOD protein abundance and circadian cycling by the *Drosophila* clock mutation timeless. *EMBO J.* 14, 4044–4049.
- Rabiner, L. R. (1990). "A tutorial on hidden markov models and selected applications in speech recognition," in *Readings in Speech Recognition*, eds A. Waibel and K.-F. Lee (San Francisco: Morgan Kaufmann), 267–296.
- Renn, S. C., Park, J. H., Rosbash, M., Hall, J. C., and Taghert, P. H. (1999). A *pdf* neuropeptide gene mutation and ablation of PDF neurons each cause severe abnormalities of behavioral circadian rhythms in *Drosophila*. *Cell* 99, 791–802. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81676-1
- Rieger, D., Shafer, O. T., Tomioka, K., and Helfrich-Förster, C. (2006). Functional analysis of circadian pacemaker neurons in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *J. Neurosci.* 26, 2531–2543. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1234-05.2006
- Rieger, D., Wülbeck, C., Rouyer, F., and Helfrich-Förster, C. (2009). Period gene expression in four neurons is sufficient for rhythmic activity of *Drosophila melanogaster* under dim light conditions. J. Biol. Rhythms 24, 271–282. doi: 10.1177/0748730409338508

- Roenneberg, T., and Merrow, M. (2016). The circadian clock and human health. *Curr. Biol.* 26, R432–R443. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2016.04.011
- Rutila, J. E., Suri, V., Le, M., So, W. V., Rosbash, M., and Hall, J. C. (1998). CYCLE is a second bHLH-PAS clock protein essential for circadian rhythmicity and transcription of *Drosophila period* and *timeless. Cell* 93, 805–814. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81441-5
- Schlichting, M., and Helfrich-Förster, C. (2015). "Chapter five—photic entrainment in *Drosophila* assessed by locomotor activity recordings," in *Methods in Enzymology Circadian Rhythms and Biological Clocks, Part B.*, ed. A. Sehgal (Academic Press), 105–123. doi: 10.1016/bs.mie.2014.10.017
- Schlichting, M., Menegazzi, P., Lelito, K. R., Yao, Z., Buhl, E., Dalla Benetta, E., et al. (2016). A neural network underlying circadian entrainment and photoperiodic adjustment of sleep and activity in *Drosophila. J. Neurosci.* 36, 9084–9096. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0992-16.2016
- Schubert, F. K., Hagedorn, N., Yoshii, T., Helfrich-Förster, C., and Rieger, D. (2018). Neuroanatomical details of the lateral neurons of *Drosophila melanogaster* support their functional role in the circadian system. J. Comp. Neurol. 526, 1209–1231. doi: 10.1002/cne.24406
- Sehadova, H., Glaser, F. T., Gentile, C., Simoni, A., Giesecke, A., Albert, J. T., et al. (2009). Temperature entrainment of *Drosophila's* circadian clock involves the gene nocte and signaling from peripheral sensory tissues to the brain. Neuron 64, 251–266. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2009.08.026
- Simoni, A., Wolfgang, W., Topping, M. P., Kavlie, R. G., Stanewsky, R., and Albert, J. T. (2014). A mechanosensory pathway to the *Drosophila* circadian clock. *Science* 343, 525–528. doi: 10.1126/science.1245710
- Stanewsky, R., Kaneko, M., Emery, P., Beretta, B., Wager-Smith, K., Kay, S. A., et al. (1998). The *cryb* mutation identifies *cryptochrome* as a circadian photoreceptor in *Drosophila*. *Cell* 95, 681–692. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81638-4
- Stoleru, D., Peng, Y., Agosto, J., and Rosbash, M. (2004). Coupled oscillators control morning and evening locomotor behaviour of *Drosophila*. *Nature* 431, 862–868. doi: 10.1038/nature02926
- Tang, X., Platt, M. D., Lagnese, C. M., Leslie, J. R., and Hamada, F. N. (2013). Temperature integration at the AC thermosensory neurons in *Drosophila*. *J. Neurosci.* 33, 894–901. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1894-12.2013
- Top, D., Harms, E., Syed, S., Adams, E. L., and Saez, L. (2016). GSK-3 and CK2 kinases converge on *timeless* to regulate the master clock. *Cell Rep.* 16, 357–367. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2016.06.005
- Top, D., and Young, M. W. (2018). Coordination between differentially regulated circadian clocks generates rhythmic behavior. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 10:a033589. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a033589

- Vanin, S., Bhutani, S., Montelli, S., Menegazzi, P., Green, E. W., Pegoraro, M., et al. (2012). Unexpected features of *Drosophila* circadian behavioural rhythms under natural conditions. *Nature* 484, 371–375. doi: 10.1038/nature 10991
- Vinayak, P., Coupar, J., Hughes, S. E., Fozdar, P., Kilby, J., Garren, E., et al. (2013). Exquisite light sensitivity of *Drosophila melanogaster cryptochrome*. *PLoS Genet.* 9:e1003615. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1003615
- Wheeler, D. A., Hamblen-Coyle, M. J., Dushay, M. S., and Hall, J. C. (1993). Behavior in light-dark cycles of *Drosophila* mutants that are arrhythmic, blind, or both. *J. Biol. Rhythms* 8, 67–94. doi: 10.1177/074873049300800106
- Wolfgang, W., Simoni, A., Gentile, C., and Stanewsky, R. (2013). The Pyrexia transient receptor potential channel mediates circadian clock synchronization to low temperature cycles in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Proc. Biol. Sci. 280:20130959. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2013.0959
- Yao, Z., Bennett, A. J., Clem, J. L., and Shafer, O. T. (2016). The *Drosophila* clock neuron network features diverse coupling modes and requires network-wide coherence for robust circadian rhythms. *Cell Rep.* 17, 2873–2881. doi: 10.1016/j. celrep.2016.11.053
- Yao, Z., and Shafer, O. T. (2014). The *Drosophila* circadian clock is a variably coupled network of multiple peptidergic units. *Science* 343, 1516–1520. doi: 10.1126/science.1251285
- Yoshii, T., Hermann, C., and Helfrich-Förster, C. (2010). CRYPTOCHROMEpositive and -negative clock neurons in *Drosophila* entrain differentially to light and temperature. *J. Biol. Rhythms* 25, 387–398. doi: 10.1177/07487304103 81962
- Zeng, H., Qian, Z., Myers, M. P., and Rosbash, M. (1996). A light-entrainment mechanism for the *Drosophila* circadian clock. *Nature* 380, 129–135. doi: 10.1038/380129a0

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Somers, Harper and Albert. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Gentle Handling Attenuates Innate Defensive Responses to Visual Threats

Xuemei Liu^{1,2†}, Chen Chen^{1†}, Yuanming Liu^{1†}, Zhijie Wang¹, Kang Huang¹, Feng Wang^{1*} and Liping Wang^{1*}

¹ Shenzhen Key Lab of Neuropsychiatric Modulation and Collaborative Innovation Center for Brain Science, CAS Center for Excellence in Brain Science and Intelligence Technology, The Brain Cognition and Brain Disease Institute, Shenzhen Institutes of Advanced Technology, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Shenzhen, China, ² University of Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, China

Innate defensive responses to threats are essential for animal survival. The complexity and variability of innate defensive behaviors can be due to individual experiences, environmental factors, and internal states. However, it is not completely understood if the gentle handling involved in sensory processing affects innate defensive responses to visual threats. Here, we report attenuation of innate defensive responses after gentle handling accompanied by de-excitation of the intermediate layer (IL) and deep layer (DL) of the superior colliculus (SC) but not of the superficial layer (SL). Our theoretical analysis of the c-Fos network revealed an increased correlation in module 1, which maybe generally functionally associated with fear emotional, a decreased correlation in module 2, which maybe generally functionally associated with sensory processing. The IL of the SC appeared to have the highest correlation with the two modules. We verified the dynamic activities of the IL of SC in response to overhead looming stimulus using fiber photometry. Retrograde labeling of 18 regions of interest (ROIs) showed that the IL received significant inputs from the cortical areas, thalamus, hypothalamus, and brainstem. These data suggest the sensory processing involved in the modulatory roles of the SC in innate fear processing.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gérard Coureaud, INSERM U1028 Centre de Recherche en Neurosciences de Lyon, France

Reviewed by:

Jeffrey B. Rosen, University of Delaware, United States Rafael S. Maior, Universidade de Brasília, Brazil

*Correspondence:

Feng Wang feng.wang@siat.ac.cn Liping Wang Ip.wang@siat.ac.cn [†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Received: 27 June 2018 Accepted: 24 September 2018

Published: 18 October 2018

Citation:

Liu X, Chen C, Liu Y, Wang Z, Huang K, Wang F and Wang L (2018) Gentle Handling Attenuates Innate Defensive Responses to Visual Threats. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 12:239. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2018.00239 Keywords: gentle handling, innate fear, sensory input, superior colliculus, overhead looming stimulus

INTRODUCTION

Innate defensive responses to threats are essential for animal survival (LeDoux, 2012; Anderson and Adolphs, 2014; Janak and Tye, 2015; Tovote et al., 2015). Although defensive behaviors are stereotyped, their complexity and variability can be due to individual experiences (Morgan, 1896), environmental factors, and internal states (LeDoux, 2012; Anderson and Adolphs, 2014; Anderson, 2016). However, whether sensory input regulate the innate fear behavioral output is not well defined.

Overhead looming stimuli that mimic aerial predators have been shown to trigger stereotyped defensive responses across species (Yilmaz and Meister, 2013; Muijres et al., 2014; Temizer et al., 2015). Recently, looming-evoked defensive behavior and its underlying neural circuitry via the superior colliculus (SC) have received increasing attention (Yilmaz and Meister, 2013; Shang et al., 2015; Wei et al., 2015; De Franceschi et al., 2016; Huang et al., 2017; Vale et al., 2017; Evans et al., 2018; Li et al., 2018; Salay et al., 2018). SC is a laminated retinal

recipient structure, of which its superficial layer (SL) receives direct retina input and primarily responds to visual stimuli. The intermediate layer (IL) and deep layer (DL) of the SC contain neurons that respond to multimodal (somatosensory, auditory, visual) sensory inputs (Wurtz and Goldberg, 1971; Stein, 1984).

Laboratory housing, husbandry, and handling methods have been shown to affect the internal state of the animals (Grandin, 1997; Poole, 1997; Deacon, 2006; Hurst and West, 2010; Clarkson et al., 2018). Unpleasant somatosensations such as tail handling and rough handling reduce the response to reward and increase stress levels (Grandin, 1997; Clarkson et al., 2018). Conversely, a gentle touch plays an essential role in the pleasant somatosensory processing conserved across species (Lumpkin et al., 2010; Abraira and Ginty, 2013). In mammals, a gentle touch is the expression of preference between mates, parenting, and affiliation (Barnett, 2005; Ebisch et al., 2016). It has also been demonstrated that massage has positive effects on health in human, grooming reduces stress levels in primates, and tactile stimulation alleviates the effects of stress in fish (Field et al., 2005; Soares et al., 2011). Our previous study demonstrated that stress accelerates the defensive responses to looming in mice (Li et al., 2018). However, it remains unknown if the repeat pleasant somatosensation of gentle handling affects innate defensive behaviors to visual threats.

Here, we found that gentle handling attenuated innate defensive responses to overhead looming. In addition, the IL and DL (but not the SL) of the SC had significantly reduced activities in response to overhead looming after repeated gentle handling. Functional analysis of the c-Fos network revealed that the highest correlation was between the IL of the SC in two modules among the 16 ROIs. Moreover, we verified the dynamic activities of the IL of SC to overhead looming stimulus using fiber photometry. Retrograde labeling of 18 ROIs showed that the IL had significant inputs from the cortical areas, thalamus, hypothalamus, and brainstem, suggesting the potential modulatory roles of the SC in innate fear and sensory processing.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

All husbandry and experimental procedures in this study were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee at the Shenzhen Institute of Advanced Technology, Chinese Academy of Sciences (Shenzhen, China). Male (6 weeks of age) C57BL/6 mice obtained from Beijing Vital River Laboratory Animal Technology Co., Ltd. (Beijing, China) were kept in a quiet room (22–25°C) with a 12 h light-dark cycle, and were given food and water *ad libitum*.

Viral Injection

Mice were anesthetized with intraperitoneal (i.p.) injection of pentobarbital sodium (0.5% w/v, 80 mg/kg) and placed in a stereotaxic frame (RWD Life Science, Shenzhen, China). Microinjection needles were inserted unilaterally directly above the IL of the SC, using the following coordinates from Bregma: AP, -3.85 mm, ML, ± 0.8 mm, and DV, -1.85 mm. The cholera

toxin subunit B (CTB) Alexa Fluor 594 Conjugate and adenoassociated virus (AAV) expressing EGFP driven by a neuron calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinase II (CaMKII) promoter (AAV9-CaMKII α -GCaMP6-EGFP; BrainVTA Co., Ltd., China) were injected using a 10 μ L microsyringe with a 33 gauge metal needle (Hamilton; Sigma, United States) connected to the UltraMicroPump 3 microsyringe pump injector (World Precision Instruments, United States) and its controller (Micro4; World Precision Instruments) at a rate of 100 nL/min. After injection, the needle was left in place for an additional 10 min to allow diffusion of the virus particles away from the injection site, and then it was slowly withdrawn.

Histology, Immunohistochemistry, and Microscopy

To quantify the expression of c-Fos positive neurons in the whole brain induced by overhead looming stimuli after consecutive 7 days of gentle handling or no-handled, the two group of mice were sacrificed 1.5 h after presentation of overhead looming stimuli on the 8th day. Mice were perfused by overdosing with chloral hydrate (10% w/v, 300 mg/kg, i.p.) and transcranially perfused with cold 1 M PBS followed by ice-cold 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA; Sigma) in 1 M PBS. Brains were removed and submerged in 4% PFA at 4°C overnight to postfix, and then transferred to 30% sucrose to equilibrate. The coronal brains sections (40 µm) were obtained with a cryostat microtome (CM1950; Leica, Germany). Freely floating sections were washed with PBS, and blocked for 1 h at room temperature in blocking solution containing 0.3% Triton X-100 and 10% normal goat serum (NGS). Then the sections were incubated overnight with rabbit monoclonal anti-c-Fos (1:300, #2250; Cell Signaling Technology, United States) diluted in PBS with 3% NGS and 0.1% TritonX-100. The sections were incubated for 1 h at room temperature with Alexa Fluor 488 goat anti-rabbit secondary antibody (1:200; Jackson Laboratory, United States). Finally, the sections were mounted, coverslipped with DAPI (1:50,000, #62248; Thermo Fisher Scientific, United States), and photographed using the Olympus VS120 virtual microscopy slide scanning system (Olympus; Japan). The images were acquired using identical gain and offset settings, and analyzed with ImageJ, Image Pro Plus, and Adobe Photoshop software. ROIs were traced with reference to the "The mouse brain in stereotaxic coordinates, George Paxinos and Keith B. J. Franklin," and c-Fos immunoreactivity was quantified using Image Pro Plus that was checked by comparing to manual counts by a trained doubleblind observer.

Behavior Assay Gentle Handling

After obtained from the laboratory animal center, the mice have 1 week to habituation to the new animal facility and cage homes. Gentle handling was performed in the arena.

Briefly, mice were placed individually on a piece of medical absorbent cotton for 3 min handling once per day for 7 consecutive days. Handling sessions were performed by gently and thoroughly touching the mouse body through the cotton. New cages with the previous bedding were used to house the mice that had been handled. Handling sessions were performed in the same room by the same experimenter. The mice in the non-handled group received the same approach without the handling treatment, including habituation to the looming box on the 7th day and receive three times upper visual looming stimuli on the 8th day.

Looming Stimulation Test

The behavioral arena was a 40 cm \times 40 cm \times 30 cm closed plexiglass box with a shelter nest in the corner and an LCD monitor on the ceiling to present the looming stimulus (LS). The LS was a black disk that expanded from 2 to 20 degrees in diameter; it was presented 15 times in 5.5 s. The stimulation was manually triggered by the experimenter when the mice were in the farthest area away from the shelter. The handling group of the mice have experienced the recurrent 7 days gentle handling. On the 7th day, the mice in gentle handled group and nonhandled group have 10 min to habituation to the looming box. Then on the 8th test day, after 3 min pre-test session, all the mice have subjected three times of the upper visual black looming stimulation. And the duration between each of the stimulation is no less than 3 min.

Fiber Photometry

A fiber photometry system (ThinkerTech, Nanjing) was used to record the calcium signals of CaMKII α -positive neurons in the IL of the SC in response to upper visual field looming stimulation. Two to 3 weeks following AAV9-CaMKII α -GCaMP6-EGFP injection into the IL, an optical fiber (220 μ m O.D., 0.37 NA; Newdoon, China) was placed above the IL of the SC. One week after the surgery, mice took 10 min to habituation to looming box the day before the test day. In the test day, mice received three times upper visual field black looming stimulations and three times upper visual field white looming stimulations. The upper visual field white looming here is used as a control which does not evoke the flight behavior.

To record the fluorescence signals, a 480 nm excitation light from a LEDs (CREE XPE), reflected of a dichroic mirror with a 435–488 nm reflection band and a 502–730 nm transmission band (Edmunds Inc.) and coupled to a long optical fiber (220 μ m O.D., 0.37 NA, 2 m long, Thorlabs, Inc.). The laser intensity at the fiber tip was 20–30 μ W to minimize GCaMP bleaching. GCaMP fluorescence was filtered with a GFP bandpass (Filter 525/39; Thorlabs, Inc., United States), detected by the sensor of a CMOS camera (Thorlabs, Inc. DCC3240M). A Lab view program is developed to control the CMOS camera and acquire calcium signal in about 50 Hz. The behavior event signal is recorded by a DAQ card (NI, usb-6001) in 1000 Hz using the same program.

Statistical Analysis

All data values are presented as the mean \pm SEM. Mann–Whitney *U* test was used to analyze statistical differences using GraphPad Prism 7 software. Statistical significance was set at *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ****p < 0.001, ****p < 0.0001. Functional network analyses of the c-Fos dataset were computed with

the Rubinov and Sporns (2010) Brain Connectivity Toolbox¹ in MATLAB R2016 (The Mathworks Inc.) Graph theoretical analysis of c-Fos data between gentle handling and non-handling conditions was used to calculate the relationship among the 16 ROIs. Correlations among the 16 ROIs arranged by rankorder were conducted using Kendall's Tau correlation coefficient. Community correlation network and participation coefficients were analyzed according to previous studies, and a threshold value of 0.35 was set (Newman, 2006; Power et al., 2013; Vetere et al., 2017; Rogers-Carter et al., 2018).

RESULTS

Gentle Handling Attenuates Defensive Responses to Overhead LS

After 1 week habituation in the laboratory, mice underwent 7 consecutive days of gentle handling. To determine whether gently handling affects the innate defensive responses of mice, we used a behavioral assay with a rapidly expanding dark disk stimulus that mimicks an approaching predator (Yilmaz and Meister, 2013; Shang et al., 2015; Wei et al., 2015; De Franceschi et al., 2016; Huang et al., 2017; Vale et al., 2017; Salay et al., 2018). In response to repeated LS (three trials, intervals longer than 3 min), gently handled mice had an increased latency to onset flight behavior (Figure 1B), increased latency of flight to nest (Figure 1C), decreased duration hiding in nest (Figure 1D), and decreased locomotion speed (Figure 1E) compared with the non-handled group (n = 12 in each group, Mann–Whitney U test, *p < 0.05, $p^{**} < 0.01, p^{***} < 0.001, p^{****} < 0.0001$. Taken together, these results demonstrate that long-term repeated handling attenuates innate defensive responses to visual threat stimuli. These data suggest that instinctive behavioral output is sensitive to tactile stimulation.

Gentle Handling Reduces the Activities of SC Neurons in Response to Overhead Looming Stimulus

To test whether gentle handling affects SC responses to LS, we performed c-Fos labeling in the gently handled and non-handled groups after the behavioral test. The gently handled group had attenuated innate defensive behavior (**Figure 1**) accompanied by a decrease of c-Fos expression in the IL and DL of the SC, but not in the SL of the SC (**Figure 2**; n = 6 mice in each group, Mann–Whitney *U* test, U = 8, p = 0.132, U = 2, **p = 0.0087, U = 4, *p = 0.0260). These data indicate that gentle handling reduced the activities of the IL and DL of the SC in response to the black looming in the upper visual field.

Analyses of the c-Fos Functional Network in Response to Overhead Looming Stimulus After Gentle Handling

To determine the functional network connectivity, we performed c-Fos mapping in 16 ROIs in response to overhead LS between

¹https://sites.google.com/site/bctnet/



FIGURE 1 | (A) Schematic diagram showing the behavioral arena and dark disk expansion from 2–20 degrees for 15 repeated cycles in 5.5 s. Timeline showing the design of the gentle handling method (days 1–7, 3 min/day). On the test day (day 8), LS was presented for 15 repeated cycles in 5.5 s with intervals of at least 3 min. After three trials with overhead LS, Mann–Whitney *U* tests showed that the gently handled group had longer latency to **(B)** onset flight behavior (U = 31, p = 0.0165; U = 5, p < 0.0001; U = 9, p < 0.0001 after 1st, 2nd, and 3rd LS, respectively) **(C)** latency of flight to nest (U = 21, p = 0.0022; U = 5, p < 0.0001; U = 6.5, p < 0.0001 after 1st, 2nd, and 3rd LS, respectively), and **(D)** decreased duration hiding in the nest (U = 32, p = 0.0205; U = 12, p = 0.0002; U = 17, p = 0.0008 after 1st, 2nd, and 3rd LS, respectively), and **(D)** decreased duration p = 12 in each group; *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, ****p < 0.0001. Dut a the non-handled group (n = 12 in each group; *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.0001, ****p < 0.0001. Dut are presented as the mean \pm SEM. **(E)** The average locomotion speed of mice with gentle handling in the trials of LS (horizontal black bar indicates duration of looming, n = 12 mice in each group, shaded area indicates SEM of the averaged data before and after 60 s). **(F)** Occurrence of flight, freezing, hiding in nest, and out of nest behaviors 1 min after 1st, 2nd, and 3rd LS presentation.

gently handled and non-handled mice. The 16 ROIs are selected by the expression of c-Fos which is comparatively higher than some other brain regions, also the brain regions what we choose, is most like generally functionally associated with the "fear" and "sensory" processing. Graph theoretical analysis was used to divide the 16 ROIs into two modules, in which the functional correlation of ROIs in each module was higher than that between modules (**Figure 3A**).

Our paradigm used in the current study is overhead lifethreatening looming stimulation which mimic the predatory in the upper visual field. And most ROIs in module 1 (**Figure 3D**, purple dots) maybe generally functionally associated



with "fear" related, such as different layer of superior colliculus, ventral tegmental area, basolateral amygdala, anterior cingulate cortex, pontine gray, piriform cortex. And the recurrent longterm (7 days continuously stimulation) gentle handling should transmit sensory input signal. And most ROIs in module 2 (Figure 3D, green dots) maybe generally maybe generally functionally associated with "sensory" related, such as primary somatosensory cortex, barrel field; primary somatosensory cortex, trunk region; primary visual cortex. After gentle handling, the correlation was decreased in module 1 and increased in module 2, and the correlation across modules 1 and 2 was increased (Figure 3B). The participation coefficients were calculated to determine the hubs in the functional correlationbased networks (Power et al., 2013; Vetere et al., 2017; Rogers-Carter et al., 2018). The nodes with the highest participation coefficients across two modules included brain areas such as the IL and DL of the SC, S1BF, V1, PVT, and PAG (Figure 3C). Functional network analysis indicated that compared to the SL and DL, the IL of the SC was more densely connected with other nodes related to innate fear and sensory perception.

Dynamic Activation of the IL of SC in Response to Looming Overhead Stimulus

The SC, especially the SL of the SC, receives direct retinal input and mediates visual threat processing (Shang et al.,

2015, 2018). To investigate whether the IL of the SC receiving somatosensory input reflects visual threat signals, we injected AAV9-CaMKIIQ-GCaMP6s into the SC and optical fibers were implanted into the IL. Fiber photometry was used to record calcium transients in CaMKIIa-positive neurons in the IL in response to a black looming in the upper visual field (Figure 4A). A white looming in the upper visual field was used as a control, as it does not trigger flight-to-nest behavior (Figures 4B,C). The IL of SC CaMKIIa-positive neurons exhibited a significant increase in the activity after presentation of a black LS in the upper visual field (9.52 \pm 2.13%, Δ F/F mean) compared with the white LS in the upper visual field (0.98 \pm 0.74%, Δ F/F mean). Calcium signal onset to looming overhead stimulus rapidly increased (15% of peak signal as the onset time point) with a latency of 0.71 \pm 0.18 s and peak signal of 19.08 \pm 3%, Δ F/F (Figures 4D,E). Taken together, these data demonstrate the IL of SC CaMKIIa-positive neurons encode visual threat processing.

Retrograde Labeling of Input to the IL of the SC

To visualize inputs to the IL, the CTB Alexa Fluor 594 Conjugate CTB was used for tracing. Two weeks after microinjection of CTB into the IL, the brain was sectioned to 40 μ m, and every third section was processed for subsequent analysis. Across the entire brain, the most abundant labeling was found in the cortex (Aux, V1, S1, ACC, TeA, EcT, PRh, EnT), thalamus (LD, LP, AV),



and hypothalamus (LH, DMH, VMH, ZI), brainstem (LC, DRN) (**Figure 5**). These data suggest that the IL of the SC receives broad cortical inputs from visual cortex, auditory cortex, and somatosensory cortex, as well as autonomic inputs from LC, LH, and thalamic nuclei (Saper, 2002).

DISCUSSION

The innate defensive reactions to threats are vital for survival. Although innate fear is instinctive and unconditional, the expression of innate fear can be affected by the circuits of motivation, arousal, emotional state, and reinforcement (LeDoux, 2012; Anderson and Adolphs, 2014). Tactile stimuli is a fundamental form of sensory perception conserved across species (Ratcliffe, 2012). Gentle handling has been shown to reduce stress, modify cognitive behavior, and improve the relationship between handlers and animals (Harlow and Suomi, 1970; Antoniazzi et al., 2017). Furthermore, gentle handling has been proven to decrease depression and reduce anxiety-like behavior in laboratory mice (Grandin, 1997; Madruga et al., 2006). Visually evoked defensive responses to overhead looming stimulus are initiated from the SC and lay downstream of the SC

(Wei et al., 2015; Shang et al., 2018), but whether gentle handling affects innate visual threat processing is largely unknown.

In the current study, we demonstrated that gentle handling attenuates innate defensive reactions to visual threat stimuli, consistent with findings from previous studies (Grandin, 1997; Madruga et al., 2006). These studies provide a possibility that gentle handling might change the social interaction with experimenter and animal to improve the animal's performance. Moreover, it's possible that gentle handle induced the neurotransmitters such as oxytocin and dopamine release or lower corticotropin releasing hormone (CRH) to reduce emotionality, promote calm, and increase the ability to address visual threat situation. (Harlow and Suomi, 1970; Fenoglio, 2006; Ellingsen et al., 2014; Scheele et al., 2014; Peled-Avron et al., 2016).

Our c-Fos network data analysis revealed that after gentle handling, the correlation became weaker in module 1, but was stronger in module 2, and the functional connection across modules 1 and 2 became much stronger, as seen in **Figure 4B**. This suggests that gentle handling reduces activity in fear emotional-related regions but enhances the sensory connection response to visual threat. Functional network analysis demonstrated the IL and DL of the SC, S1BF, V1, PVT, and



the SC; Scale bars, left = 100 μ m; right = 10 μ m. (**D**) Representative heatmap exhibits LS-induced Ca²⁺ transient across three trials. (**E**) Mean GCaMP signal response to black looming in the upper visual field and white looming (*n* = 6 mice in black looming, *n* = 5 mice in white looming, *****p* < 0.0001, Mann–Whitney *U* test, *U* = 117).

PAG, these brain areas have the highest participation coefficients across two modules. IL and DL of SC are thought to be involving in defensive behavior and are also functionally as the multisensory integration center (Sahibzada et al., 1986; Mooney et al., 1992). And in our study, IL and DL of SC are vital hubs to process both the sensory and visual threatening signals. S1BF and V1 are a part of primary sensory cortex, previous studies have defined the S1BF encode the representation of a sensory stimulus shaped by associative fear learning and V1 inputs to SC increase the response magnitude to looming (Gdalyahu et al., 2012; Zhao et al., 2014). Our recurrent gentle handling supposed to enhance the cortical plasticity and change the connection between cortex and subcortex which could lead to a change of defensive responses respond to overhead looming. PVT is a part of thalamus, which is recognized as relay station to transfer the sensory information, has proved to contribute to threatening events and fear memory (Penzo et al., 2015). PAG has defined to orchestrates sensory and motor (Koutsikou et al., 2015) and

initiation of escape to looming stimuli (Evans et al., 2018). Taken together, all these brain regions functionally as hubs in powerful way in sensory and fear related networks.

The SC is a laminate sensory-motor structure. The SL of SC is thought to process primarily visual signal, whereas the IL and DL of SC exert sensory responses and multimodal integration, contributing to saccadic eye movements and head movements (Wurtz and Goldberg, 1971; Stein, 1984). Our CTB retrograde tracing data indicated that the IL of the SC receives broad cortical and autonomic inputs. Another possible mechanism may be multimodal integration of the IL-SC, in which recurrent somatosensory stimuli enhance visual discrimination (Macaluso et al., 2000, 2002). Our c-Fos mapping data demonstrated that, gentle handling affects visual threat signals by preferentially influencing different layer of SC. That's c-Fos expression in gently handled mice was significantly higher in the IL and DL of the SC but not in the SL of the SC compared with the non-handled group respond to overhead looming stimuli.



FIGURE 5 | (A) Schematic diagram and **(B)** representative image of CTB expression in the SL and IL of the SC. **(C)** Bar graph showing the number of input neurons in each area (*n* = 4); **(D,E)** Representative area of input neurons. AuX, auditory cortex; V1, primary visual cortex; ACC, anterior cingulate cortex; CLA, claustrum; AV, Anteroventral thalamic nucleus; LP, lateral posterior thalamic nucleus; LD, laterodorsal thalamic nucleus; ZI, zona incerta; VMH, ventromedial hypothalamic nucleus; LH, lateral hypothalamic area; DMH, dorsal hypothalamic area; S1, primary somatosensory cortex; DRN, dorsal raphe nucleus; LC, locus coeruleus; TeA, temporal association cortex; EcT, ectorhinal cortex; PRh, perirhinal cortex; EnT, entorhinal cortex. Scale bars = 250 µm.

In addition, our c-Fos functional network analysis confirmed that the IL has more intensive connections with the other regions than the DL and SL of the SC. However, the different functions of IL and DL have not been well defined. Thus, the neural mechanisms underlying interlaminar modulation of the SC needs further investigations (Mooney et al., 1992; Saito and Isa, 2005; Cohen and Castro-Alamancos, 2010; Ghitani et al., 2014).

The results of this study indicate that innate defensive responses are sensitive to external conditions, which are vital factors that influence animals' behaviors by affecting the internal state of brain. Our data consistent with the previous studies suggest that the environmental condition (e.g., housing, husbandry, habituation, handling, transport) and standard of behavioral protocol are crucial for animal behavioral tests, especially the innate behavioral test (Grandin, 1997; Poole, 1997; Deacon, 2006; Baumans, 2009; Hurst and West, 2010; Clarkson et al., 2018).

Our current study revealed that gentle handling changes the activation of key brain regions that respond to danger signaling, indicating that these regions are vital for processing the interaction between sensory perception and fear emotion. The fact that recurrent sensory stimuli affect innate fear processing suggest that related neural circuits may be causally responsible for psychiatric diseases such as autism, of which the core characteristics are sensory and emotion deficits (Pernon et al., 2007; Cascio et al., 2012; Robertson and Baron-Cohen, 2017).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

XL, LW, and FW designed the experiments. CC performed the behavioral tests. YL conducted the fiber photometry recording. CC, YL, and XL performed the histological studies. XL, CC, YL, ZW, and KH analyzed the data. XL, LW, and FW wrote the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant Nos. NSFC 31630031, 81425010,

REFERENCES

- Abraira, V. E., and Ginty, D. D. (2013). The sensory neurons of touch. *Neuron* 79, 618–639. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.07.051
- Anderson, D. J. (2016). Circuit modules linking internal states and social behaviour in flies and mice. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 17, 692–704. doi: 10.1038/nrn.2016.125
- Anderson, D. J., and Adolphs, R. A. (2014). A framework for studying emotions across species. *Cell* 157, 187–200. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.03.003
- Antoniazzi, C. T. D., Metz, V. G., Roversi, K., Freitas, D. L., Vey, L. T., Dias, V. T., et al. (2017). Tactile stimulation during different developmental periods modifies hippocampal BDNF and GR, affecting memory and behavior in adult rats. *Hippocampus* 27, 210–220. doi: 10.1002/hipo.22686
- Barnett, L. (2005). Keep in touch: the importance of touch in infant development. Infant Obs. 8, 115-123. doi: 10.1080/13698030500171530
- Baumans, V. (2009). The impact of light, noise, cage cleaning and in-house. *Lab. Anim.* 43, 311–327. doi: 10.1258/la.2009.0080098
- Cascio, C. J., Moana-Filho, E. J., Guest, S., Nebel, M. B., Weisner, J., Baranek, G. T., et al. (2012). Perceptual and neural responses to affective tactile texure stimulation in Adults with Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Autism Res.* 5, 231–244. doi: 10.1002/aur.1224
- Clarkson, J. M., Dwyer, D. M., Flecknell, P. A., Leach, M. C., and Rowe, C. (2018). Handling method alters the hedonic value of reward in laboratory mice. *Sci. Rep.* 8:2448. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-20716-3
- Cohen, J. D., and Castro-Alamancos, M. A. (2010). Neural correlates of active avoidance behavior in superior colliculus. J. Neurosci. 30, 8502–8511. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1497-10.2010
- De Franceschi, G., Vivattanasarn, T., Saleem, A. B., and Solomon, S. G. (2016). Vision guides selection of freeze or flight defense strategies in mice. *Curr. Biol.* 26, 2150–2154. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2016.06.006
- Deacon, R. M. J. (2006). Housing, husbandry and handling of rodents for behavioral experiments. *Nat. Protoc.* 1, 936–946. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2006.120
- Ebisch, S. J. H., Salone, A., Martinotti, G., Carlucci, L., Mantini, D., Perrucci, M. G., et al. (2016). Integrative processing of touch and affect in social perception: an fMRI study. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 10:209. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2016.00209
- Ellingsen, D. M., Wessberg, J., Chelnokova, O., Olausson, H., Laeng, B., and Leknes, S. (2014). In touch with your emotions: oxytocin and touch change social impressions while others' facial expressions can alter touch. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 39, 11–20. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2013.09.017
- Evans, D. A., Stempel, A. V., Vale, R., Ruehle, S., Lefler, Y., and Branco, T. A. (2018). synaptic threshold mechanism for computing escape decisions. *Nature* 558, 590–594. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0244-6
- Fenoglio, K. A. (2006). Neuroplasticity of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis early in life requires recurrent recruitment of stress-regulating brain regions. J. Neurosci. 26, 2434–2442. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4080-05.2006
- Field, T., Hernandez-Reif, M., Diego, M., Schanberg, S., and Kuhn, C. (2005). Cortisol decreases and serotonin and dopamine increase following massage therapy. *Int. J. Neurosci.* 115, 1397–1413. doi: 10.1080/00207450590956459
- Gdalyahu, A., Tring, E., Polack, P. O., Gruver, R., Golshani, P., Fanselow, M. S., et al. (2012). Associative fear learning enhances sparse network coding in primary sensory cortex. *Neuron* 75, 121–132. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2012.04.035

91632303, and 31600860), the International Partnership Program of Chinese Academy of Sciences (Grant No. 172644KYS820170004), the External Cooperation Program of the Chinese Academy of Sciences (Grant No. GJHZ1508), the Guangdong Provincial Key Laboratory of Brain Connectome and Behavior (Grant No. 2017B030301017), the Shenzhen Municipal People's Government (Grant Nos. JCYJ20150529143500959 and JCYJ20160429190927063), the Shenzhen Discipline Construction Project for Neurobiology DRCSM (Grant No. [2016]1379), Ten Thousand Talent Program, and the Helmholtz-CAS Joint Research Grant, GJHZ1508, and also supported by Guangdong Special Support Program.

- Ghitani, N., Bayguinov, P. O., Vokoun, C. R., McMahon, S., and Jackson, M. B. (2014). Excitatory synaptic feedback from the motor layer to the sensory layers of the superior colliculus. *J. Neurosci.* 34, 6822–6833. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI. 3137-13.2014
- Grandin, T. (1997). Assessment of stress during handling and transport. J. Anim. Sci. 75, 249–257. doi: 10.2527/1997.751249x
- Harlow, H., and Suomi, S. (1970). The nature of love. Am. Psychol. 25, 161–168. doi: 10.1037/h0029383
- Huang, L., Yuan, T., Tan, M., Xi, Y., Hu, Y., Tao, Q., et al. (2017). A retinoraphe projection regulates serotonergic activity and looming-evoked defensive behaviour. *Nat. Commun.* 8:14908. doi: 10.1038/ncomms14908
- Hurst, J. L., and West, R. S. (2010). Taming anxiety in laboratory mice. *Nat. Methods* 7, 825–826. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.1500
- Janak, P. H., and Tye, K. M. (2015). From circuits to behaviour in the amygdala. *Nature* 517, 284–292. doi: 10.1038/nature14188
- Koutsikou, S., Watson, T. C., Crook, J. J., Leith, J. L., Lawrenson, C. L., Apps, R., et al. (2015). The periaqueductal gray orchestrates sensory and motor circuits at multiple levels of the neuraxis. *J. Neurosci.* 35, 14132–14147. doi: 10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.0261-15.2015
- LeDoux, J. (2012). Rethinking the emotional brain. *Neuron* 73, 653–676. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2012.02.004
- Li, L., Feng, X. L., Zhou, Z., Zhang, H. Q., Shi, Q. Q., Lei, Z. G., et al. (2018). Stress accelerates defensive responses to looming in mice and involves a locus coeruleus-superior colliculus projection. *Curr. Biol.* 28, 859.e5–871.e5. doi: 10. 1016/j.cub.2018.02.005
- Lumpkin, E. A., Marshall, K. L., and Nelson, A. M. (2010). The cell biology of touch. J. Cell Biol. 191, 237–248. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201006074
- Macaluso, E., Frith, C. D., and Driver, J. (2000). Modulation of human visual cortex by crossmodal spatial attention. *Science* 289, 1206–1208. doi: 10.1126/science. 289.5482.1206
- Macaluso, E., Frith, C. D., and Driver, J. (2002). Crossmodal spatial influences of touch on extrastriate visual areas take current gaze direction into account. *Neuron* 34, 647–658. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(02)00678-5
- Madruga, C., Xavier, L. L., Achaval, M., Sanvitto, G. L., and Lucion, A. B. (2006). Early handling, but not maternal separation, decreases emotional responses in two paradigms of fear without changes in mesolimbic dopamine. *Behav. Brain Res.* 166, 241–246. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2005.08.005
- Mooney, R. D., Huang, X., and Rhoades, R. W. (1992). Functional influence of interlaminar connections in the hamster's superior colliculus. J. Neurosci. 12, 2417–2432. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.12-06-02417.1992
- Morgan, C. L. (1896). Habit and Instinct. London: Edward Arnold Publishers. doi: 10.1037/12922-000
- Muijres, F. T., Elzinga, M. J., Melis, J. M., and Dickinson, M. H. (2014). Flies evade looming targets by executing rapid visually directed banked turns. *Science* 344, 172–177. doi: 10.1126/science.1248955
- Newman, M. E. J. (2006). Modularity and community structure in networks. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 103, 8577–8582. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0601602103
- Peled-Avron, L., Perry, A., and Shamay-Tsoory, S. G. (2016). The effect of oxytocin on the anthropomorphism of touch. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 66, 159–165. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2016.01.015

- Penzo, M. A., Robert, M., Tucciarone, J., Bundel, D. D., Wang, M. H., Aelst, L. V., et al. (2015). The paraventricular thalamus controls a central amygdala fear circuit. *Nature* 519, 455–459. doi: 10.1038/nature 13978
- Pernon, E., Pry, R., and Baghdadli, A. (2007). Autism: tactile perception and emotion. J. Intellect. Disabil. Res. 51, 580–587. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2788.2006. 00931.x
- Poole, T. (1997). Happy animals make good science. Lab. Anim. 31, 116–124. doi: 10.1258/002367797780600198
- Power, J. D., Schlaggar, B. L., Lessov-Schlaggar, C. N., and Petersen, S. E. (2013). Evidence for hubs in human functional brain networks. *Neuron* 79, 798–813. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.07.035
- Ratcliffe, M. (2012). What is Touch?? Australas. J. Philos. 90, 413–432. doi: 10.1080/ 00048402.2011.598173
- Robertson, C. E., and Baron-Cohen, S. (2017). Sensory perception in autism. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 18, 671–684. doi: 10.1038/nrn.2017.112
- Rogers-Carter, M. M., Varela, J. A., Gribbons, K. B., Pierce, A. F., McGoey, M. T., Ritchey, M., et al. (2018). Insular cortex mediates approach and avoidance responses to social affective stimuli. *Nat. Neurosci.* 21, 404–414. doi: 10.1038/ s41593-018-0071-y
- Rubinov, M., and Sporns, O. (2010). Complex network measures of brain connectivity: uses and interpretations. *NeuroImage* 52, 1059–1069. doi: 10. 1016/j.neuroimage.2009.10.003
- Sahibzada, N., Dean, P., and Redgrave, P. (1986). Movements resembling orientiation or avoidance elicited by electrical stimulation of the superior colliculus in rats. J. Neurosci. 6, 723–733. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.06-03-00723.1986
- Saito, Y., and Isa, T. (2005). Organization of interlaminar interactions in the rat superior colliculus. J. Neurophysiol. 93, 2898–2907. doi: 10.1152/jn.01051.2004
- Salay, L. D., Ishiko, N., and Huberman, A. D. (2018). A midline thalamic circuit determines reactions to visual threat. *Nature* 557, 183–189. doi: 10.1038/ s41586-018-0078-2
- Saper, C. B. (2002). The central autonomic nervous system: conscious visceral perception and autonomic pattern generation. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 25, 433– 469. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.25.032502.111311
- Scheele, D., Kendrick, K. M., Khouri, C., Kretzer, E., Schläpfer, T. E., Stoffel-Wagner, B., et al. (2014). An oxytocin-induced facilitation of neural and emotional responses to social touch correlates inversely with autism traits. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 39, 2078–2085. doi: 10.1038/npp. 2014.78
- Shang, C. P., Chen, Z. J., Liu, A. X., Li, Y., Zhang, J. J., Qu, B. L., et al. (2018). Divergent midbrain circuits orchestrate escape and freezing responses to looming stimuli in mice. *Nat. Commun.* 9, 1–17. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-03580-7

- Shang, C. P., Liu, Z. Y., Chen, Z. J., Shi, Y. C., Wang, Q., Liu, S., et al. (2015). A parvalbumin-positive excitatory visual pathway to trigger fear responses in mice. *Science* 348, 1472–1477. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa8694
- Soares, M. C., Oliveira, R. F., Ros, A. F., Grutter, A. S., and Bshary, R. (2011). Tactile stimulation lowers stress in fish. *Nat. Commun.* 2:534. doi: 10.1038/ ncomms1547
- Stein, B. E. (1984). Development of the superior colliculus. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 7, 95–125. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ne.07.030184.000523
- Temizer, I., Donovan, J. C., Baier, H., and Semmelhack, J. L. (2015). A visual pathway for looming-evoked escape in larval zebrafish. *Curr. Biol.* 25, 1823– 1834. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2015.06.002
- Tovote, P., Fadok, J. P., and Lüthi, A. (2015). Neuronal circuits for fear and anxiety. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 16, 317–331. doi: 10.1038/nrn3945
- Vale, R., Evans, D. A., and Branco, T. (2017). Rapid spatial learning controls instinctive defensive behavior in mice. *Curr. Biol.* 27, 1342–1349. doi: 10.1016/ j.cub.2017.03.031
- Vetere, G., Kenney, J. W., Tran, L. M., Xia, F., Steadman, P. E., Parkinson, J., et al. (2017). Chemogenetic interrogation of a brain-wide fear memory network in mice. *Neuron* 94, 363.e4–374.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2017.03.037
- Wei, P., Liu, N., Zhang, Z. J., Liu, X. M., Tang, Y. Q., He, X. B., et al. (2015). Processing of visually evoked innate fear by a non-canonical thalamic pathway. *Nat. Commun.* 6:6756. doi: 10.1038/ncomms7756
- Wurtz, R. H., and Goldberg, M. E. (1971). Superior colliculus cell responses related to eye movements in awake monkeys. *Science* 171, 82–84. doi: 10.1126/science. 171.3966.82
- Yilmaz, M., and Meister, M. (2013). Rapid innate defensive responses of mice to looming visual stimuli. *Curr. Biol.* 23, 2011–2015. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2013.08.015
- Zhao, X. Y., Liu, M. N., and Cang, J. H. (2014). Visual cortex modulates the magnitude but not the selectivity of looming-evked responses in the superior colliculus of awake mice. *Neuron* 81, 202–213. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.08.037

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Liu, Chen, Liu, Wang, Huang, Wang and Wang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Behavioral Effect of Plant Volatiles Binding to Spodoptera littoralis Larval Odorant Receptors

Arthur de Fouchier[†], Xiao Sun[†], Gabriela Caballero-Vidal, Solène Travaillard[†], Emmanuelle Jacquin-Joly and Nicolas Montagné^{*}

Institut National de la Recherche Agronomique (INRA), Sorbonne Université, CNRS, IRD, UPEC, Université Paris Diderot, Institute of Ecology and Environmental Sciences of Paris, Paris and Versailles, France

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gérard Manière, Université de Bourgogne, France

Reviewed by:

Alisha Anderson, Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO), Australia Merid Negash Getahun, International Centre of Insect Physiology and Ecology, Kenya

*Correspondence:

Nicolas Montagné nicolas.montagne@sorbonneuniversite.fr

[†]Present address:

Arthur de Fouchier, Laboratoire d'Ethologie Expérimentale et Comparée (LEEC), Université Paris 13, Sorbonne Paris Cité, Villetaneuse, France Xiao Sun, Biotic Interaction and Biosecurity Lab, School of Life Sciences, Henan University, Kaifeng, China Solène Travaillard, Aix-Marseille Université, CNRS, Institut de Biologie du Développement de Marseille, Marseille, France

> Received: 12 June 2018 Accepted: 18 October 2018 Published: 12 November 2018

Citation:

de Fouchier A, Sun X, Caballero-Vidal G, Travaillard S, Jacquin-Joly E and Montagné N (2018) Behavioral Effect of Plant Volatiles Binding to Spodoptera littoralis Larval Odorant Receptors. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 12:264. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2018.00264 Phytophagous insects use volatile organic compounds (VOC) emitted by plants to orient towards their hosts. In lepidopteran pests, crop damages are caused by larval stages-the caterpillars-that feed extensively on leaves or other plant tissues. However, larval host plant choice has been poorly studied, and it is generally admitted that caterpillars feed on the plant where the female laid the eggs. The mobility of caterpillars has been generally overlooked even though several studies showed that they can orient towards odors and change host plant. Recently, a large number of odorant receptors (ORs) tuned to plant volatiles have been characterized in the model pest moth Spodoptera littoralis (Noctuidae). In the present work, we identified nine of these deorphanized ORs as expressed in S. littoralis caterpillars. In order to understand whether these ORs are involved in host searching, we tested the behavioral significance of their ligands using a larval two-choice assay. This OR-guided approach led to the identification of nine plant volatiles, namely 1-hexanol, benzyl alcohol, acetophenone, benzaldehyde, (Z)3-hexenol, (E)2-hexenol, indole, DMNT and (Z)3-hexenyl acetate, which are active on S. littoralis caterpillar behavior, increasing our knowledge on larval olfactory abilities. To further explore the link between OR activation and behavioral output induced by plant volatiles we used a modeling approach, thereby allowing identification of some ORs whose activation is related to caterpillar attraction. These ORs may be promising targets for future plant protection strategies.

Keywords: insect, olfaction, olfactory receptor, volatile organic compound, crop pest, caterpillar, Lepidoptera, Noctuidae

INTRODUCTION

Holometabolous insects are characterized by two mobile developmental stages with drastically different morphologies and physiologies. The larval stage constitutes a period of active feeding and growth, while the adult stage is a period devoted to reproduction and dispersal. Larvae and adults thus have different life styles, are not in competition for the same resources, and develop independent adaptations in response to different selective pressures. This distinction between adults and larvae is particularly striking in Lepidoptera. While larvae (or caterpillars) are actively feeding on their host plant, the adults generally live only a few days and feed on the nectar of flowers (Powell, 2009). Almost all plant species are damaged by caterpillars, many of which are pests of both crops and stored products (Stehr, 2009).

Host plant choice is a crucial task for phytophagous insects, and it is highly dependent on the sense of smell. The detection of plant-emitted volatile organic compounds (VOC) has been the subject of intense research, notably in crop pest insects (Bruce and Pickett, 2011; Bruce et al., 2015). In a number of lepidopteran pests, VOCs have been identified as attractants towards host plants, as repellents towards non-host or damaged plants or as oviposition stimulants (Saveer et al., 2012; Borrero-Echeverry et al., 2015). However, despite the impact of caterpillars on crop production, most studies focused on the adults and little is known about larval olfaction. A well-admitted theory, referred as "mother knows best," assumes a strong selective pressure for females to lay their eggs on the plant where the larvae will have the highest performance (Jaenike, 1978; Carrasco et al., 2015). However, in some species it has been demonstrated that the caterpillars can leave the plant on which they hatched to select another host plant (Soler et al., 2012; Gamberale-Stille et al., 2014). Consistently, caterpillars exhibit attraction or repulsion behaviors towards VOCs of ecological significance (Carroll and Berenbaum, 2002; Huang and Mack, 2002; Singh and Mullick, 2002; Carroll et al., 2006, 2008; Castrejon et al., 2006; Becher and Guerin, 2009; Mooney et al., 2009; Piesik et al., 2009; Poivet et al., 2012; Zhu et al., 2016; Di et al., 2017) and are even able to perform associative learning (Blackiston et al., 2008; Salloum et al., 2011). This indicates that olfaction may play a more prominent role than initially expected in host plant choice of caterpillars, which could lay foundation for the development of novel pesticide-free strategies for fighting against those insects.

The peripheral olfactory system of caterpillars is generally composed of three olfactory sensilla located on the antennae, and four to five olfactory sensilla located on the maxillary palps (Grimes and Neunzig, 1986; Laue, 2000; Vogt et al., 2002; Roessingh et al., 2007; Poivet et al., 2012; Zielonka et al., 2016). These sensilla house the olfactory sensory neurons that express transmembrane odorant receptor (OR) proteins, which bind odorants and allow signal transduction (Leal, 2013). The repertoires of ORs expressed in caterpillar tissues have been identified only in a few species, such as the silkworm Bombyx mori (Tanaka et al., 2009), the cotton bollworm Helicoverpa armigera (Di et al., 2017) and the cotton leafworm Spodoptera littoralis (Poivet et al., 2013). In this latter species, 15 ORs (further referred as SlitORs) tuned to plant VOCs have been recently deorphanized (de Fouchier et al., 2017), i.e., their ligands have been identified (Supplementary Figure S1). These VOCs are mainly short-chain alcohols, aldehydes or esters (also referred as green leaf volatiles, abundantly released from damaged leaves), aromatics and terpenes (most of them being ubiquitous odorants, present in high amounts in floral bouquets). However, the effect of these SlitOR ligands on the behavior of S. littoralis larvae remains largely unknown. Among them, only 1-hexanol (a green leaf volatile) has been shown to be attractive at high dose toward 2nd and 3rd-instar larvae (Rharrabe et al., 2014).

In the present work, we first re-examined the expression pattern of the 15 deorphanized SlitORs in adult and larvae olfactory organs, and identified nine as expressed at the larval stage. We then used a simple bioassay to carry out a systematic behavioral analysis of 14 VOCs previously identified as ligands of these nine SlitORs. Using this OR-guided approach, we found 1-hexanol, benzyl alcohol, acetophenone, benzaldehyde, (Z)3-hexenol, (E)2-hexenol, indole, DMNT and (Z)3-hexenyl acetate as active on the behavior of *S. littoralis* caterpillars, increasing our knowledge on larval olfactory abilities. Building on the results of these behavioral assays and on our previous knowledge of SlitOR response spectra (de Fouchier et al., 2017), we used a modeling approach in order to identify possible correlations between the activation of SlitORs and the behavioral response of caterpillars. By doing so, we highlighted ORs whose activation may be critical for larval attraction towards plant volatiles.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Insects and Chemicals

S. littoralis larvae were reared on a semi-artificial diet (Poitout and Bues, 1974) at 22°C, 60% relative humidity and under a 16 h light: 8 h dark cycle. The panel of odorants tested was composed of 14 synthetic molecules (**Supplementary Table S1**) previously shown to be active on SlitORs expressed at the larval stage (de Fouchier et al., 2017). Odorants were diluted in paraffin oil (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA), except indole that was diluted in hexane (Carlo-Erba Reagents, Val de Reuil, France). The odorants were used at concentrations of 100, 10, 1, 0.1 or $0.01 \mu g/\mu l$.

RNA Isolation and Reverse-Transcription PCR

Fifty S. littoralis male and female adult antennae and 50 pairs of 4th-instar larvae antennae and maxillary palps were dissected and immediately placed in TRIzolTM Reagent (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) for total RNA extraction. After isolation using phenol-chloroform, RNA was purified using the RNeasy Micro Kit (Qiagen, Venlo, Netherlands), including a DNase I treatment. RNA purity and quantity were measured on a NanoDropTM ND-2000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific). cDNA synthesis was performed using 1 µg of total RNA as template, with the iScript Reverse Transcription Supermix (BioRad, Hercules, CA, USA). PCRs were performed using the LightCycler® 480 SYBR Green I Master mix (Roche, Basel, Switzerland) under the following conditions: 95°C for 5 min, followed by 40 cycles of denaturation (95°C for 10 s), hybridization (58-62°C-depending on primer pairs-for 15 s) and elongation (72°C for 15 s). Primer pairs were designed from SlitOR nucleotide sequences using Primer3Plus¹. All primer sequences, annealing temperatures and expected product sizes are listed in Supplementary Table S2. Orco, the obligatory OR co-receptor (Malpel et al., 2008; Leal, 2013), was used as control for the four tissues. For each amplification, negative controls consisted of amplifications run on DNase-treated RNAs and water templates. The amplification products were loaded on 1.5% agarose gels and visualized using GelRedTM

¹http://www.bioinformatics.nl/cgi-bin/primer3plus/primer3plus.cgi

Nucleic Acid Gel Stain (Biotium, Fremont, CA, USA). Tissue dissections, RNA extractions and RT-PCR experiments were repeated three times at different periods, to serve as biological replicates.

Behavioral Experiments

Two-choice behavioral assays were performed using *S. littoralis* 3rd and 4th-instar larvae, starved for 16–22 h prior to experiments. The behavioral assay consisted in placing 10 caterpillars in the center of a Petri dish. Filter papers were placed at two opposite sides of the dish. One was loaded with 10 μ l of an odorant solution and the other with 10 μ l of the corresponding solvent. Each odorant concentration was tested 10–15 times. For each experiment, 10 Petri dishes (containing 10 different odorants) and one control dish with solvent on both sides were recorded during 15 min. In each dish, two zones were defined around the filter papers, an "odorant" zone and a "solvent" zone (the layout of the zones are visible in **Figure 1**). The number of caterpillars in each zone was counted 2.5, 5, 10 and 15 min after the beginning of the experiment.

Data Analysis and Modeling

For each time point, a preference index (PI) was calculated using the following formula:

$$PI = (N_{odorant} - N_{solvent})/(N_{total})$$

 $N_{odorant}$ being the number of larvae in the odorant zone, $N_{solvent}$ being the number of larvae in the solvent zone and N_{total} being the total number of larvae in the assay. As this



caterpillars were put in the center of a Petri dish after being starved of a Center of a Petri dish after being starved of a Center of a Petri dish after being starved of a Center of 16–22 h. On one side of the dish, a filter paper with 10 μ l of an odorant solution was placed. Another filter paper with 10 μ l of solvent was put at the opposite side of the dish. The numbers of caterpillars in the different zones were recorded at 2.5, 5, 10 and 15 min. The preference index (PI), ranging for 1 (attraction) to -1 (repulsion), was calculated for each observation time.

PI varies between -1 and 1, a positive value means that the odorant is attractive and a negative value indicates repellency. To test for the statistical significance of the observed PI, we compared the value to a theoretical value of 0 with a Wilcoxon two sided unpaired test using R (Package stats version 3.3.2).

In order to compare observed PIs with responses of the SlitORs (in spikes. s^{-1}) when expressed in the *Drosophila* empty neuron system (de Fouchier et al., 2017), we performed multiple linear regressions using the "step" and "lm" function of R (Package stats version 3.3.2). To obtain the most efficient equation, we performed stepwise linear regressions relating PI with all possible interactions between the larval SlitOR responses (SlitOR7, 14, 19, 24, 25, 27, 28, 29 and 31). As odorant stimulus quantities used in electrophysiology experiments cannot be directly related to quantities used in the present behavior experiments, we built models for different electrophysiologybehavior odorant quantity relationships (1:1, 1:1/10, 1:1/100 and 1:1/1,000). We selected the equation with the highest R^2 and refined it performing another stepwise multiple linear regression. This model relates the PI with all the interactions between the factors with an impact significantly different from zero $(\Pr(>t) p \le 0.05)$ in the previously selected model. To further simplify the model, we performed a last multiple linear regression relating PI with only additive interactions of the previously used variables.

We also built some models to further test the importance of the different SlitORs in predicting larval PI. One using all possible interactions between the responses of SlitOR14, 19, 28, 29 and 31, and four other models using linear regressions of the PI explained by the response from only SlitOR7, 24, 25 or 27.

RESULTS

Expression of SlitORs at the Larval Stage

The expression pattern of 15 previously deorphanized SlitORs in male and female adult antennae, larval antennae and larval maxillary palps (4th-instar larvae) was re-investigated using RT-PCR. As found previously, all SlitORs were expressed in male and female antennae. Among them, nine SlitORs were also expressed in larval tissues (Figure 2). Five ORs were expressed in larval antennae (SlitOR14, 19, 24, 28 and 31), and four ORs were expressed in both larval antennae and maxillary palps (SlitOR7, 25, 27, 29). Altogether, these nine ORs were previously found to detect 20 plant VOCs (Supplementary Figure S1) among a panel of 50 molecules from different chemical classes, when expressed in the Drosophila empty neuron system (de Fouchier et al., 2017). We then selected a panel of 14 of these odorants, chosen based on the distinct OR activation patterns they elicit, in order to test their effect on larval behavior.

Behavior of *S. littoralis* Caterpillars Toward SlitOR Ligands

We assessed the valence of plant VOCs for *S. littoralis* caterpillars by describing their repartition in a two-choice



bioassay (Figure 1) using a PI over a period of 15 min. Figure 2 reports the PIs measured at 2.5 min for the different VOCs at different doses. PIs measured for other time points are presented in **Supplementary Figure S2**. For 2-phenyl acetaldehyde, 1-indanone, (E)-ocimene and eugenol, we observed no significant attraction (PI > 0) or repulsion (PI < 0), at any dose and any time. Benzyl alcohol, acetophenone, benzaldehyde, indole, 1-hexanol, (Z)3-hexenol and (E)2-hexenol were attractive at least at one dose, with the highest PI measured at 2.5 min (Figure 3). 1-hexanol displayed the strongest attraction, with a mean PI of 0.50 at 100 µg, and 0.44 at 10 µg. Benzyl alcohol was attractive over the wider range of doses, from 100 down to 1 µg per filter paper. Benzaldehyde elicited attraction at 100 and 10 µg, and acetophenone only at 100 µg. Indole was attractive at 10 and 0.1 µg only and (E)2-hexenol was attractive only at 1 μ g. For most of these VOCs, the PI tended to decrease over time (**Supplementary Figure S2**), which suggests that sensory adaptation occurred. The only stimulus that remained attractive over time was acetophenone, when presented at the highest dose (100 μ g). (Z)3-hexenyl acetate differed from the previous VOCs as doses of 100 and 10 μ g were found to be attractive after 5 min of experiment, and not after 2.5 min (**Supplementary Figure S2**).

At 2.5 min, benzaldehyde (at 0.1 μ g) was the only VOC found to be repulsive (**Figure 3**). (Z)3-hexenyl acetate (1 μ g) was repulsive after 5 min, and (E)2-hexenal and DMNT also induced a negative PI (for 0.1 and 100 μ g, respectively) at 15 min of observation (**Supplementary Figure S2**).

Modeling of the Relationship Between SlitOR Activation and Behavioral Activity Induced by Their Ligands

We next aimed to identify which of the SlitORs could be linked to attraction or repulsion towards plant VOCs. To assess the correlation between the valence of odorants and their activation pattern of ORs, we built models relating caterpillar PIs measured here with larval SlitOR responses to the same odorants (previously characterized in de Fouchier et al., 2017). We used stepwise multiple linear regressions, taking into account all possible interactions between the variables. The equations of the first models built are available in **Supplementary Datasheet 2**. The multiple linear regression giving the highest adjusted R^2 (0.6861) was the one using a 1:1 relationship between quantities used in behavior and electrophysiology experiments (**Table 1**).

To identify the SlitORs whose activation is the most critical to the valence of plant odorants for caterpillars, we refined the equation of the 1:1 model. For this, we performed stepwise multiple linear regressions taking into account all possible interactions between the factors with an effect significantly different from zero in the 1:1 model ($Pr(>t) p \le 0.05$). This model was able to describe the variation of PIs from the responses of 5 SlitORs (SlitOR7, 14, 24, 25 and 27; F-Test, p < 0.001, $R^2 = 0.6366$, Table 1, Figure 4A and Supplementary Figure S3). The equation of the refined model is given in Supplementary Datasheet 2. The intercept value of this model was not different from 0 (Pr(>t) $p \ge 0.05$), which predicts that an absence of SlitOR activation would result in an absence of behavioral output. In this refined model, activation of SlitOR24 was predicted to have a positive effect by itself on PIs (Pr(>t) p < 0.05), whereas activations of SlitOR7, 25 and 27 were predicted to have an

TABLE 1 SlitOR/behavior multiple linear regression model statistics.						
Model	Adjusted R ²	Residual standard error	F-test	Shapiro test		
Model 1:1	0.6861	0.09647	***	***		
Model 1:1/10	0.6225	0.1048	***	NS		
Model 1:1/100	0.5795	0.1106	***	*		
Model 1:1/1000	0.3061	0.142	***	NS		
Refined 1:1 model	0.6366	0.1038	***	**		
Minimal 1:1 model	0.6115	0.1073	***	NS		

Statistics associated with the models of S. littoralis caterpillars PIs. The Shapiro Test column indicates the p-value of a normality test for the distribution of the model residuals. *** $p \le 0.001$, ** $p \le 0.05$, NS: p > 0.05.



FIGURE 3 [*S. littoralis* larval PI measured 2.5 min after exposure to different odorant stimuli. Box plots show the median PI and the 25th and 75th percentiles (n = 8-15). Outliers are indicated with black dots. *p*-values are indicated using a color code (Wilcoxon test).



gray band is the SE for the fit.

effect on PIs only through OR co-activation. SlitOR14 associated coefficients were not different from 0 ($Pr(>t) p \ge 0.05$).

As the refined model had a complicated equation (20 terms), we then built a simpler model to predict the behavior using only additive interactions. The equation of this minimal model is:

$$PI = a + b \times SlitOR7 + c \times SlitOR24 + d \times SlitOR25 + e \times SlitOR27$$

with *SlitORx* as the ORx responses to the considered odorant in spikes.s⁻¹ and *a-e* as coefficients. The values of these coefficients (available in **Supplementary Datasheet 2**) were all different from 0 (Pr(>t) $p \le 0.05$), except for the intercept. The R^2 value for this model was 0.6115 (**Table 1**, **Figure 4B** and **Supplementary Figure S3**), which is comparable to the performances of the refined 1:1 model. SlitOR24 had the highest coefficient (2.6070 × 10⁻³, $p \le 0.001$), which further supports a link between this receptor and neuronal circuits driving attraction in *S. littoralis* larvae. It is interesting to note that the coefficient associated with SlitOR7 was negative (-5.0528 × 10⁻³, $p \le 0.05$). This predicts that activation of SlitOR7 has a negative effect of the PI of *S. littoralis* caterpillars.

To further confirm the importance of those four SlitORs for models performance in predicting the observed PI, we tried to build a model using all interactions between all the SlitORs except SlitOR7, 24, 25 and 27. The stepwise multiple linear regressions method was unable to produce a model from these variables, thus highlighting the importance of these receptors for the response of caterpillars to the VOCs tested. We also built models using the responses from only SlitOR7, 24, 25 or 27. The R^2 values for these models were respectively: 0.15, 0.48, 0.19 and 0.04. The values of the coefficients of the intercept and of the SlitOR response were different from 0 (Pr(>t) $p \leq$ 0.05), except for the intercept of the model based on SlitOR24. These observations support that SlitOR24 is the most important receptor to predict the PI observed for the plant volatiles we tested.

DISCUSSION

Building upon the previous identification of ligands for a large number of S. littoralis ORs, we aimed at identifying behaviorally active odorants for caterpillars, which are pests feeding on a wide range of plants, notably economically important ones (Salama et al., 1971; Cabello, 1989; Thöming et al., 2013; von Mérey et al., 2013; Proffit et al., 2015). Nine S. littoralis ORs were confirmed to be expressed in larval chemosensory organs, namely the antennae and the maxillary palps. Our "OR-guided" strategy, by which we tested molecules active on these larval SlitORs, appeared as a good strategy as we could identify plant VOCs being behaviorally active when presented alone, most of them being attractive to caterpillars. Following that work, it will be of interest to test the effect of blends of these VOCs. It has been shown in H. armigera that a mixture of the best ligands of four ORs was the most attractive stimulus for first-instar larvae (Di et al., 2017), and one would expect that the same holds true for S. littoralis.

Our study complements a former study (Rharrabe et al., 2014) that investigated 11 odorants commonly emitted by plants, identifying only a small part of them as behaviorally active. In this previous work, eugenol was found to be repellent and 1-hexanol attractive. Here, attraction towards 1-hexanol could be reproduced in our assay but eugenol was inactive. This discrepancy could be explained by the fact that odorants and controls were presented together with food pellets in the aforementioned study while we used only filter papers as odor source. Hence, it is likely that repellent VOCs for *S. littoralis*

caterpillars may be identified only when given the choice between food sources (or food odors) with or without the VOC.

Another interesting difference between these two types of behavioral assays is that the presence of food will make the larvae stay on the food source once they have made a choice. In our experiments, larvae resumed foraging after their initial choice, which enabled to observe a decrease of the PI in most cases, likely due to sensory adaptation. Another possible explanation for this PI decrease would be that the volume of the Petri dish has been rapidly saturated with the odor, leading to a loss of the odor gradient necessary for larval orientation.

A similar OR-guided approach was recently used on another species of pest caterpillars, *H. armigera*, and led to the identification of several OR ligands that were active on the behavior of first-instar larvae (Di et al., 2017). Even if *S. littoralis* and *H. armigera* both belong to the same family (Noctuidae) and are both highly polyphagous herbivores, their larval OR repertoires seem to differ drastically. Indeed, the orthologs of only three of the nine larval SlitORs were also found to be expressed in *H. armigera* larvae (Di et al., 2017). The same holds true when comparing with the more distantly related species *B. mori* (Tanaka et al., 2009). Accordingly, a limited number of odorants identified as active on *S. littoralis* larvae are also active on other species, and vice versa.

The most attractive VOC (i.e., with the highest PI) was 1-hexanol, an ubiquitous plant volatile (Knudsen et al., 2006), which has been observed to be attractive for caterpillars of the Tortricidae Lobesia botrana (Becher and Guerin, 2009). Among other attractive compounds for S. littoralis larvae, (Z)3-hexenol was also observed to be attractive to L. botrana and H. armigera (Di et al., 2017), but not to B. mori (Tanaka et al., 2009). (Z)3hexenyl acetate is a volatile released by plants that suffered attacks from insects and it has been reported to serve as a chemical message between plants (Frost et al., 2008; Helms et al., 2014). It has been observed to be attractive for the larvae of S. littoralis (this study), H. armigera, L. botrana, and B. mori. This suggests that (Z)3-hexenyl acetate is an important cue for a large spectrum of lepidopteran species. However, at a lower dose (1 µg), it is also the most repulsive VOC for S. littoralis caterpillars. Further experiments specially designed for the identification of repellents would be necessary to confirm this repulsive effect, but S. littoralis might use (Z)3-hexenyl acetate to detect and avoid damaged plants. Indeed, it has been demonstrated previously that S. littoralis larvae are able to discriminate between different leaves of a host plant and show a preference for young leaves, this preference being modified by herbivore damage (Anderson and Agrell, 2005). (Z)3-hexenyl acetate is detected via the activation of several ORs (de Fouchier et al., 2017). Their differential activation pattern relative to the dose may encode the concentration, as previously hypothesized for pheromone receptors detecting the same pheromone component in adults (de Fouchier et al., 2015).

From the comparison of behavior results with our previous results on SlitOR deorphanization (de Fouchier et al., 2017), we built models that can predict PI values for odorants based on their OR activation pattern. Results of this modeling approach suggest that larval attraction depends on the activation of a

particular subset of ORs (i.e., circuit-based) rather than on the summed response of the entire OR repertoire. This will be possible to confirm this hypothesis only when the complete larval OR repertoire will be characterized. In D. melanogaster, similar linear regression-based approaches allowed to predict larval behavior from the responses of only five ORs (Kreher et al., 2008). Still in D. melanogaster, a strong link has been identified between larval attraction and activation of two larval ORs, DmelOR42a and DmelOR42b (Kreher et al., 2008; Asahina et al., 2009; Grewal et al., 2014). Here, models supported that SlitOR24, 25 and 27 are involved in pro-attraction neuronal circuits, while SlitOR7 activation would antagonize attraction. Activation of the first three receptors, especially SlitOR24, seems to be sufficient to trigger attraction of S. littoralis toward different concentrations of odorants. This will need further experimental validation, notably by identifying new ligands for these receptors and testing their behavioral effect, but it could be a promising way to identify new compounds that could impact the behavior of this important crop pest.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AF, EJ-J and NM designed the study. AF, XS and ST performed behavioral experiments. GC-V performed molecular biology

REFERENCES

- Anderson, P., and Agrell, J. (2005). Within-plant variation in induced defense in developing leaves of cotton plants. *Oecologia* 144, 427–434. doi: 10.1007/s00442-005-0095-3
- Asahina, K., Louis, M., Piccinotti, S., and Vosshall, L. B. (2009). A circuit supporting concentration-invariant odor perception in *Drosophila*. J. Biol. 8:9. doi: 10.1186/jbiol108
- Becher, P. G., and Guerin, P. M. (2009). Oriented responses of grapevine moth larvae *Lobesia botrana* to volatiles from host plants and an artificial diet on a locomotion compensator. *J. Insect Physiol.* 55, 384–393. doi: 10.1016/j.jinsphys. 2009.01.006
- Blackiston, D. J., Casey, E. S., and Weiss, M. R. (2008). Retention of memory through metamorphosis: can a moth remember what it learned as a caterpillar? *PLoS One* 3:e1736. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0001736
- Borrero-Echeverry, F., Becher, P. G., Birgersson, G., Bengtsson, M., Witzgall, P., and Saveer, A. M. (2015). Flight attraction of *Spodoptera littoralis (Lepidoptera, Noctuidae*) to cotton headspace and synthetic volatile blends. Front. Ecol. Evol. 3:56. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2015.00056
- Bruce, T. J. A., Aradottir, G. I., Smart, L. E., Martin, J. L., Caulfield, J. C., Doherty, A., et al. (2015). The first crop plant genetically engineered to release an insect pheromone for defense. *Sci. Rep.* 5:11183. doi: 10.1038/srep11183
- Bruce, T. J. A., and Pickett, J. A. (2011). Perception of plant volatile blends by herbivorous insects—finding the right mix. *Phytochemistry* 72, 1605–1611. doi: 10.1016/j.phytochem.2011.04.011
- Cabello, T. (1989). Natural enemies of noctuid pests (*Lep., Noctuidae*) on alfalfa, corn, cotton and soybean crops in southern Spain. *J. Appl. Entomol.* 108, 80–88. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0418.1989.tb00436.x
- Carrasco, D., Larsson, M. C., and Anderson, P. (2015). Insect host plant selection in complex environments. *Curr. Opin. Insect Sci.* 8, 1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.cois. 2015.01.014
- Carroll, M. J., and Berenbaum, M. R. (2002). Behavioral responses of the parsnip webworm to host plant volatiles. J. Chem. Ecol. 28, 2191–2201. doi: 10.1023/A:1021093114663
- Carroll, M. J., Schmelz, E. A., Meagher, R. L., and Teal, P. E. A. (2006). Attraction of *Spodoptera frugiperda* larvae to volatiles from herbivore-damaged maize seedlings. *J. Chem. Ecol.* 32, 1911–1924. doi: 10.1007/s10886-006 -9117-9

experiments. AF performed modeling experiments. AF, EJ-J and NM wrote the manuscript, with input from all authors.

FUNDING

This work has been funded by Inra, Sorbonne Université and the French National Research Agency (ANR-16-CE21-0002-01 and ANR-16-CE02-0003-01). AF and GC-V received doctoral fellowships from Inra and the National Council of Science and Technology of Paraguay, respectively. XS received a grant from the China Scholarship Council (CSC).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Christelle Monsempes, Marie-Christine François and Françoise Bozzolan for their help with molecular biology experiments and Matthieu Dacher for his help with data modeling.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnbeh. 2018.00264/full#supplementary-material

- Carroll, M. J., Schmelz, E. A., and Teal, P. E. A. (2008). The attraction of Spodoptera frugiperda neonates to cowpea seedlings is mediated by volatiles induced by conspecific herbivory and the elicitor inceptin. J. Chem. Ecol. 34, 291–300. doi: 10.1007/s10886-007-9414-y
- Castrejon, F., Virgen, A., and Rojas, J. C. (2006). Influence of chemical cues from host plants on the behavior of neonate *Estigmene acrea* larvae (Lepidoptera: Arctiidae). *Environ. Entomol.* 35, 700–707. doi: 10.1603/0046-225x-35. 3.700
- de Fouchier, A., Sun, X., Monsempes, C., Mirabeau, O., Jacquin-Joly, E., and Montagné, N. (2015). Evolution of two receptors detecting the same pheromone compound in crop pest moths of the genus *Spodoptera*. *Front. Ecol. Evol.* 3:95. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2015.00095
- de Fouchier, A., Walker, W. B., Montagné, N., Steiner, C., Binyameen, M., Schlyter, F., et al. (2017). Functional evolution of *Lepidoptera* olfactory receptors revealed by deorphanization of a moth repertoire. *Nat. Commun.* 8:15709. doi: 10.1038/ncomms15709
- Di, C., Ning, C., Huang, L. Q., and Wang, C. Z. (2017). Design of larval chemical attractants based on odorant response spectra of odorant receptors in the cotton bollworm. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 84, 48–62. doi: 10.1016/j.ibmb. 2017.03.007
- Frost, C. J., Mescher, M. C., Dervinis, C., Davis, J. M., Carlson, J. E., and De Moraes, C. M. (2008). Priming defense genes and metabolites in hybrid poplar by the green leaf volatile cis-3-hexenyl acetate. *New Phytol.* 180, 722–734. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8137.2008.02599.x
- Gamberale-Stille, G., Söderlind, L., Janz, N., and Nylin, S. (2014). Host plant choice in the comma butterfly-larval choosiness may ameliorate effects of indiscriminate oviposition. *Insect Sci.* 21, 499–506. doi: 10.1111/1744-7917. 12059
- Grewal, J. S., Nguyen, C., Robles, R., Cho, C., Kir, K., Fledderman, N., et al. (2014). Complex and non-redundant signals from individual odor receptors that underlie chemotaxis behavior in *Drosophila melanogaster* larvae. *Biol. Open* 3, 947–957. doi: 10.1242/bio.20148573
- Grimes, L. R., and Neunzig, H. H. (1986). Morphological survey of the maxillae in last-stage larvae of the suborder Ditrysia (Lepidoptera): mesal lobes (Laciniogaleae). Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am. 79, 510–526. doi: 10.1093/aesa/ 79.3.510
- Helms, A. M., De Moraes, C. M., Mescher, M. C., and Tooker, J. F. (2014). The volatile emission of *Eurosta solidaginis* primes herbivore-induced volatile

production in *Solidago altissima* and does not directly deter insect feeding. *BMC Plant Biol.* 14:173. doi: 10.1186/1471-2229-14-173

- Huang, X. P., and Mack, T. P. (2002). Collection and determination of lesser cornstalk borer (*Lepidoptera: Pyralidae*) larval attractant from peanut plants. *Environ. Entomol.* 31, 15–21. doi: 10.1603/0046-225x-31.1.15
- Jaenike, J. (1978). On optimal oviposition behavior in phytophagous insects. *Theor. Popul. Biol.* 14, 350–356. doi: 10.1016/0040-5809(78)90012-6
- Knudsen, J., Eriksson, R., Gershenzon, J., and Ståhl, B. (2006). Diversity and distribution of floral scent. *Bot. Rev.* 72, 1–120. doi: 10.1663/0006-8101(2006)72[1:dadofs]2.0.co;2
- Kreher, S. A., Mathew, D., Kim, J., and Carlson, J. R. (2008). Translation of sensory input into behavioral output via an olfactory system. *Neuron* 59, 110–124. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2008.06.010
- Laue, M. (2000). Immunolocalization of general odorant-binding protein in antennal sensilla of moth caterpillars. *Arthropod Struct. Dev.* 29, 57–73. doi: 10.1016/s1467-8039(00)00013-x
- Leal, W. S. (2013). Odorant reception in insects: roles of receptors, binding proteins, and degrading enzymes. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 58, 373–391. doi: 10.1146/annurev-ento-120811-153635
- Malpel, S., Merlin, C., François, M. C., and Jacquin-Joly, E. (2008). Molecular identification and characterization of two new *Lepidoptera* chemoreceptors belonging to the *Drosophila melanogaster* OR83b family. *Insect Mol. Biol.* 17, 587–596. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2583.2008.00830.x
- Mooney, A. C., Robertson, H. M., and Wanner, K. W. (2009). Neonate silkworm (*Bombyx mori*) larvae are attracted to mulberry (*Morus alba*) leaves with conspecific feeding damage. *J. Chem. Ecol.* 35, 552–559. doi: 10.1007/s10886-009-9639-z
- Piesik, D., Rochat, D., van der Pers, J., and Marion-Poll, F. (2009). Pulsed odors from maize or spinach elicit orientation in European corn borer neonate larvae. *J. Chem. Ecol.* 35, 1032–1042. doi: 10.1007/s10886-009-9676-7
- Poitout, S., and Bues, R. (1974). Rearing larvae of twenty eight species of Noctuidae and two species of Arctiidae (*Lepidoptera*) on a simple artificial diet. Breeding peculiarities according to the different species. *Annales de Zoologie Ecologie Animale* Available online at: http://agris.fao.org/agrissearch/search.do?recordID=CZ19750006946.
- Poivet, E., Gallot, A., Montagné, N., Glaser, N., Legeai, F., and Jacquin-Joly, E. (2013). A comparison of the olfactory gene repertoires of adults and larvae in the noctuid moth *Spodoptera littoralis*. *PLoS One* 8:e60263. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0060263
- Poivet, E., Rharrabe, K., Monsempes, C., Glaser, N., Rochat, D., Renou, M., et al. (2012). The use of the sex pheromone as an evolutionary solution to food source selection in caterpillars. *Nat. Commun.* 3:1047. doi: 10.1038/ncomms2050
- Powell, J. A. (2009). "Lepidoptera: moths, butterflies," in *Encyclopedia of Insects*, 2nd Edn., eds V. H. Resh and R. T. Cardé (Amsterdam: Elsevier), 559–587. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-374144-8.X0001-X
- Proffit, M., Khallaf, M. A., Carrasco, D., Larsson, M. C., and Anderson, P. (2015). "Do you remember the first time?" Host plant preference in a moth is modulated by experiences during larval feeding and adult mating. *Ecol. Lett.* 18, 365–374. doi: 10.1111/ele.12419
- Rharrabe, K., Jacquin-Joly, E., and Marion-Poll, F. (2014). Electrophysiological and behavioral responses of *Spodoptera littoralis* caterpillars to attractive and repellent plant volatiles. *Front. Ecol. Evol.* 2:5. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2014.00005
- Roessingh, P., Xu, S., and Menken, S. B. J. (2007). Olfactory receptors on the maxillary palps of small ermine moth larvae: evolutionary history of benzaldehyde sensitivity. J. Comp. Physiol. A 193, 635–647. doi:10.1007/s00359-007-0218-x

- Salama, H. S., Dimetry, N. Z., and Salem, S. A. (1971). On the host preference and biology of the cotton leaf worm Spodoptera littoralis Bois. Zeitschrift für Angew. Entomol. 67, 261–266. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0418.1971. tb02122.x
- Salloum, A., Colson, V., and Marion-Poll, F. (2011). Appetitive and aversive learning in *Spodoptera littoralis* larvae. *Chem. Senses* 36, 725–731. doi: 10.1093/chemse/bjr041
- Saveer, A. M., Kromann, S. H., Birgersson, G., Bengtsson, M., Lindblom, T., Balkenius, A., et al. (2012). Floral to green: mating switches moth olfactory coding and preference. *Proc. Biol. Sci.* 279, 2314–2322. doi: 10.1098/rspb. 2011.2710
- Singh, A. K., and Mullick, S. (2002). Leaf volatiles as attractants for neonate Helicoverpa armigera Hbn. (Lep., Noctuidae) larvae. J. Appl. Entomol. 126, 14–19. doi: 10.1046/j.1439-0418.2002.00600.x
- Soler, R., Pineda, A., Li, Y., Ponzio, C., van Loon, J. J. A., Weldegergis, B. T., et al. (2012). Neonates know better than their mothers when selecting a host plant. *Oikos* 121, 1923–1934. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0706.2012. 20415.x
- Stehr, F. W. (2009). "Caterpillars," in *Encyclopedia of Insects* 2nd Edn., eds V. H. Resh and R. T. Cardé, (Amsterdam: Elsevier), 135–137. doi: 10.1016/ B978-0-12-374144-8.X0001-X
- Tanaka, K., Uda, Y., Ono, Y., Nakagawa, T., Suwa, M., Yamaoka, R., et al. (2009). Highly selective tuning of a silkworm olfactory receptor to a key mulberry leaf volatile. *Curr. Biol.* 19, 881–890. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2009.04.035
- Thöming, G., Larsson, M. C., Hansson, B. S., and Anderson, P. (2013). Comparison of plant preference hierarchies of male and female moths and the impact of larval rearing hosts. *Ecology* 94, 1744–1752. doi: 10.1890/12-0907.1
- Vogt, R. G., Rogers, M. E., Franco, M., and Sun, M. (2002). A comparative study of odorant binding protein genes: differential expression of the PBP1-GOBP2 gene cluster in *Manduca sexta (Lepidoptera)* and the organization of OBP genes in *Drosophila melanogaster* (Diptera). J. Exp. Biol. 205, 719–744.
- von Mérey, G. E., Veyrat, N., D'Alessandro, M., and Turlings, T. C. J. (2013). Herbivore-induced maize leaf volatiles affect attraction and feeding behavior of *Spodoptera littoralis* caterpillars. *Front. Plant Sci.* 4:209. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2013. 00209
- Zhu, J., Ban, L., Song, L.-M. M., Liu, Y., Pelosi, P., and Wang, G. (2016). General odorant-binding proteins and sex pheromone guide larvae of *Plutella xylostella* to better food. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 72, 10–19. doi: 10.1016/j.ibmb.2016. 03.005
- Zielonka, M., Gehrke, P., Badeke, E., Sachse, S., Breer, H., and Krieger, J. (2016). Larval sensilla of the moth *Heliothis virescens* respond to sex pheromone components. *Insect Mol. Biol.* 25, 666–678. doi: 10.1111/imb. 12253

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 de Fouchier, Sun, Caballero-Vidal, Travaillard, Jacquin-Joly and Montagné. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Visual Contrast Modulates Operant Learning Responses in Larval Zebrafish

Wenbin Yang^{1,2*}, Yutong Meng^{1,2}, Danyang Li^{1,2} and Quan Wen^{1,2,3*}

¹ Hefei National Laboratory for Physical Sciences at the Microscale, Center for Integrative Imaging, School of Life Sciences, University of Science and Technology of China, Hefei, China, ² Chinese Academy of Sciences Key Laboratory of Brain Function and Disease, Hefei, China, ³ Center for Excellence in Brain Science and Intelligence Technology, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Shanghai, China

The larval zebrafish is a promising vertebrate model organism to study neural mechanisms underlying learning and memory due to its small brain and rich behavioral repertoire. Here, we report on a high-throughput operant conditioning system for zebrafish larvae, which can simultaneously train 12 fish to associate a visual conditioned pattern with electroshocks. We find that the learning responses can be enhanced by the visual contrast, not the spatial features of the conditioned patterns, highlighted by several behavioral metrics. By further characterizing the learning curves as well as memory extinction, we demonstrate that the percentage of learners and the memory length increase as the conditioned pattern becomes darker. Finally, little difference in operant learning responses was found between AB wild-type fish and *elavl3:H2B-GCaMP6f* transgenic fish.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gérard Manière, Université de Bourgogne, France

Reviewed by:

Sen Song, Tsinghua University, China Peng Cao, National Institute of Biological Sciences (NIBS), China Tod R. Thiele, University of Toronto, Canada

*Correspondence:

Wenbin Yang young24@mail.ustc.edu.cn Quan Wen qwen@ustc.edu.cn

Received: 03 September 2018 Accepted: 07 January 2019 Published: 24 January 2019

Citation:

Yang W, Meng Y, Li D and Wen Q (2019) Visual Contrast Modulates Operant Learning Responses in Larval Zebrafish. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 13:4. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2019.00004 Keywords: zebrafish larvae, behavioral neuroscience, learning, vision, high-throughput imaging, automated image analysis

INTRODUCTION

In operant conditioning, an animal learns to correlate its behavioral responses with consequences. Responses leading to satisfying consequences are reinforced whereas those leading to negative consequences are weakened or discarded. This form of associative learning has been intensively studied on behavioral, cellular, and molecular levels (Freund and Walker, 1972; Brembs et al., 2002; Nargeot and Simmers, 2011; Ishikawa et al., 2014), and many factors, such as dopaminergic signaling (Wise, 2004; Wassum et al., 2011; Steinberg et al., 2013) and Hebbian plasticity (Bi and Poo, 1998; Cassenaer and Laurent, 2007; Froemke et al., 2010), are known to play critical roles. Nevertheless, it remains largely elusive how *in vivo* learning rules, by which local synaptic plasticity and reward signaling must be integrated across distributed brain circuits, subserve adaptive animal behaviors. To make progress, it would be illuminating to measure neural activity of defined cell types at the whole-brain scale during the entire learning process.

The larval zebrafish is a promising vertebrate model to identify brain-wide mechanisms underlying learning and memory: its small brain is a great compromise between system complexity and simplicity. Recently, it has become possible to perform whole-brain imaging of calcium activity in freely behaving larval zebrafish (Cong et al., 2017; Kim et al., 2017). Whereas, fish are well-established animal models to study learning and memory (Davis and Agranoff, 1966; Agranoff and Davis, 1968), few associative learning paradigms have been developed for zebrafish larvae. Li (2012) reported operant learning in head-fixed larvae, in which fish learned to correlate the relief of

aversive heat stimulus with biased tail turning. Valente et al. (2012) showed that 1-week larvae were unable to perform an operant learning paradigm, in which fish must learn to swim to the other half of an arena to avoid electroshocks. Other reports demonstrated that larval zebrafish could be classically conditioned: they could associate the conditioned stimulus (CS)—a moving spot with the unconditioned stimulus (US)—a touch of the body (Aizenberg and Schuman, 2011). Social reward, such as visual access to conspecifics, could also be paired with a distinct visual environment cue during classical conditioning in larval zebrafish (Hinz et al., 2013).

Zebrafish have sophisticated vision. Adult zebrafish can distinguish colors (Colwill et al., 2005; Zimmermann et al., 2018) and visual patterns with different orientations (Colwill et al., 2005). Spatial and non-spatial visual learning tasks have been studied in adult zebrafish (Arthur and Levin, 2001). The visual system of zebrafish develops rapidly. 70–80 hpf (hour after post-fertilization) larval zebrafish can respond to abrupt light intensity change (Easter and Nicola, 1996), and exhibit optokinetic responses to rotating illuminated stripes (Huang and Neuhauss, 2008; Portugues and Engert, 2009; Mueller and Neuhauss, 2010). Seven-days-old larval zebrafish show strong optomotor responses to sophisticated motion stimuli (Orger et al., 2000; Roeser and Baier, 2003; Orger and Baier, 2005). However, much less is known about how properties of visual stimuli would modulate learning process in larval zebrafish.

Here, we report a modified operant conditioning paradigm (Valente et al., 2012) in freely swimming larval zebrafish, a system that combines a high-throughput automated training process and a toolkit for post-data analysis and storage. We use our new paradigm to investigate how visual contrast modulated the operant learning responses in larvae, characterized by both the positional and turning metrics. The measurements of learning curves provide a way to investigate memory extinction in larvae zebrafish. Moreover, we compare the differences between wildtype and transgenic fish in operant learning responses and memory extinction. We demonstrate that learning responses can be enhanced by a visual conditioned pattern that is darker than the background and that the percentage of learners as well as the memory length increase with darker conditioned patterns.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethical Statement of Animals-Using

Handling and care of all animals were conducted in strict accordance with the guidelines and regulations set forth by University of Science and Technology of China (USTC) Animal Resources Center, and University Animal Care and Use Committee. Both raising and training protocols were approved by the Committee on the Ethics of Animal Experiments of the USTC (permit number: USTCACUC1103013).

Animals and Raising

Zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) of the genotype *elavl3:H2B-GCaMP6f* and AB wild-type fish were used in all experiments. All tested fish were 7–10 dpf (day past fertilization) larvae. They were bred, raised, and housed in the same environment. Fish were fed two times per day from 6 dpf with paramecium in the morning (8–9 a.m.) and evening (6–7 p.m.) before being used in experiments. Water was replaced with E2 medium (Cunliffe, 2003) in the morning (8–9 a.m.) and evening (6–7 p.m.). Water temperature was maintained at 28.5°C. Light was turned on at 08:00 a.m. and off at 10:00 p.m.

Experimental Setup

The behavioral system with custom software suites and supporting hardware was built to achieve an end-to-end high-throughput experimental workflow (**Figure 1A**).

Hardware

Zebrafish swam freely in custom-built acrylic containers with transparent bottoms. Each container was divided into four arenas separated by opaque walls. The arena's size is 3 cm imes 3 cm imes1 cm, with water filled (Supplementary Figure 7). Each arena held one fish. Three CMOS cameras (Basler aca2000-165umNIR, Germany) with adjustable lens (Canon, Model EF-S 18-55mm f/3.5-5.6 IS II, Japan) simultaneously captured swimming behaviors at 10 frames per second. Three infrared LEDs (Kemai Vision, China, model HF-FX90, wavelength 940 nm) illuminated each container from below. A 700 nm long-pass filter (Thorlabs FEL0700, US.) was positioned in front of each camera to block visible light and to facilitate online imaging processing with custom software BLITZ. Visual stimuli were projected onto three containers (PIQS Projector S1, 14.6 \times 7.85 \times 1.75 cm, 854 \times 480 pixels). Electroshocks (100 ms, 9 Volt/3 cm) were delivered via two platinum filaments, one on each side of the arena. Shock delivery at each arena was controlled by custom software BLITZ via a 16-channel relay (HongFa JQC-3FF, China). Room temperature was controlled by an air-conditioner at 27°C.

Software Suites

Custom C++ software BLITZ (Behavioral Learning In The Zebrafish), which inherited the coding style from MindControl (Leifer et al., 2011), processed three video streams in parallel to obtain real-time head, center, tail positions and heading angle by using the Pylon library (Basler AG, Germany) and the open source computer vision library (OpenCV) (Bradski, 2000). The program also rendered visual pattern and programmable electroshocks delivery based on the timeline and real-time fish motion parameters. Experimental information (e.g., experiment start time, visual pattern index, electroshock delivery information, and fish motion parameters) were recorded in YAML files. Raw videos were recorded.

The BLITZ software is available at https://github.com/ Wenlab/BLITZ.

Another custom MATLAB (The MathWorks, Inc.) software ABLITZER (the Analyzer of BLITZ Results) was used to import YAML files, to visualize data, as well as to perform the behavioral and statistical analysis.

Abbreviations: dpf, days post-fertilization; fps, frames per second; SEM, standard error of the mean; BLITZ, behavioral learning in the zebrafish; ABLITZER, the analyzer of BLITZ results.



The ABLITZER software is available at https://github.com/ Wenlab/ABLITZER.

Experimental Procedure

Fish were fed at least an hour before being used in the experiment. Fish were placed via a Pasteur pipette (Nest, US) from the raising tank to the experimental arenas. The behavioral experiment would not run until fish started moving around to avoid startle responses to novel stimuli. Fish in the paired-group were trained first with the self-control protocol (see below), and then with the operant conditioning protocol. Fish in the unpaired-group were trained first with the self-control protocol, see below), and then with the unpaired operant conditioning protocol (see below).

Fish used in the paired-group and unpaired-group were all naive fish.

Operant Conditioning Protocol

This operant conditioning protocol was modified from Valente's learning paradigm (Valente et al., 2012). Here, fish would experience four different phases in order: baseline phase, training phase, blackout phase, and test phase (**Figure 1B**).

First, in the 10-min baseline phase, the visual pattern beneath each arena would flip between the CS at the top (**Supplementary Figures 5A,C,E**) and CS at the bottom (**Supplementary Figures 5B,D,F**) with a random duration that was uniformly sampled from 30 to 45 s.

Second, in the 20-min training phase, both the update of visual patterns and the delivery of electroshocks were dependent upon fish's behavior. After the visual pattern was updated (including the first visual pattern in the training stage), there was a 7-s delay for fish to make decisions before electroshocks were delivered based on their positions. If fish were in the CS zone after the delay time, whole-arena shocks would be delivered every 3 s until fish

TABLE 1 Visual contras	asts of all conditioned patterns
--------------------------	----------------------------------

	Mean RGB value	Grayscale value	Visual contrast	Light irradiance (μ W/cm ²)
Grayscale 0	(0, 0, 0)	0	-128	9.9
Grayscale 32	(32, 32, 32)	32	-96	28.9
Grayscale 43	(43, 43, 43)	43	-85	30.8
Grayscale 64	(64, 64, 64)	64	-64	36.9
Grayscale 96	(96, 96, 96)	96	-32	53.7
Red-black checkerboard	(128, 0, 0)	43	-85	40.7
White-black checkerboard	(128, 128, 128)	128	0	102.4
Background (grayscale 128)	(128, 128, 128)	128	0	108.1

In the table, the first column lists all conditioned patterns used in the experiments. Visual contrast = grayscale value of conditioned pattern-grayscale value of background (128).

escaped from the CS zone. After fish stayed in the Non-CS zone for 48 s, the visual pattern (CS zone at the top or bottom) would update with equal probability. The whole procedure would repeat (**Figure 1B** bottom).

After the training phase, there was a 1-min blackout phase to deprive all visual stimuli.

Finally, in the last 18-min test phase, to ask whether fish could develop the association between the CS and US, the visual pattern interchanged every 2 min between the CS at the top and CS at the bottom.

Self-Control Conditioning Protocol

All phases were identical to the operant conditioning protocol, except for no electroshock delivery.

Unpaired Operant Conditioning Protocol

All phases were identical to the operant conditioning protocol except for the training phase, in which electroshocks, without pairing with visual patterns, were randomly delivered across the 20-min duration.

Behavioral Analysis

Visual Contrast

The visual contrast was defined as the grayscale value difference between the conditioned pattern and the background pattern (pure-gray) (see **Table 1** for more details). The light irradiance was measured with a power meter (PM16-130, Thorlabs) that averaged the received light over 50 s.

Pre-screening

We defined data quality as the percentage of non-frozen frames. Frames were considered frozen when fish did not move for over 1 s. Fish with data quality lower than 0.95 were excluded from the analysis since those fish did not swim spontaneously and frequently. Fish with poor data quality were considered unhealthy.

The positional index was defined as the percentage of frames when fish were in the non-CS zone.

Turning Analysis

We scored a turning event when the heading-angle-change between two consecutive frames exceeded 15 degrees. Fish would get +1 score when performing an escape turn, and -1 score

when returning to the CS zone. Fish in the Non-CS zone executed an escape turn when they approached the midline (within twice body length) and then turned back (**Supplementary Figure 6**). The turning index was defined as

turning index =
$$\frac{1}{2} + \frac{s(+) + s(-)}{(|s(+)| + |s(-)|) \cdot 2}$$

where, s(+) and s(-) are positive and negative scores, respectively. In this way, the turning index would fall between 0 and 1, the same range as the positional index.

Distance to the Mid-line

This was defined as a signed Euclidean distance from the fish head position to the mid-line. The sign was -1 when fish were in the CS zone and +1 when fish were in the non-CS zone.

Learning Analysis

To evaluate whether fish learned the operant conditioning task, we divided the entire operant conditioning protocol time into 24 2-min-epochs. The learning responses diminished in the absence of electroshocks during the test phase, which is known as memory extinction (Myers and Davis, 2007). The extinction point was computed as the first time when the positional index within an epoch dropped below the baseline. The recall period was defined from the starting time of test phase to the extinction point. Here we use memory length or recall period interchangeably. If the positional indices in the recall period were significantly higher than those in the baseline phase, fish were classified as learners (The unpaired *t*-test was applied). The extinction rate was defined as

$$extinction \ rate = \frac{PI_1 - PI_2}{Memory \ Length}$$

where, PI_1 is the positional index of all learners of the first peak at the beginning of test phase, PI_2 is the positional index of all learners of the nearest valley to the extinction point.

The positional index increase is the difference between the mean positional index in the recall period and the mean index in the baseline period; the turning index increase is the difference between the mean turning index in the recall period and the mean index in the baseline period.



FIGURE 2 Zebrafish larvae showed enhanced learning responses in an operant conditioning task. (A) Analysis of the positional index suggests that learners showed significant enhancement of learning responses after training, whereas non-learners did not (CS zone was the red-black checkerboard pattern; t-test, p = 6.52e-12 for

(Continued)
FIGURE 2 | learners, p = 0.3849 for non-learners, and p = 0.0020 for all fish). (B) Learners also showed significant differences in the turning index (*t*-test, p = 2.28e-6 for learners, p = 0.8606 for non-learners, and p = 0.0099 for all fish). (C) Learning curves using the positional index in the experiment group. Fish were classified as learners (red shaded line) and non-learners (green shaded line). The entire training process was divided into 2-min epochs (CS zone: red-black checkerboard). (D) A typical learner's behavioral trace, characterized by the relative position to the midline. The red-black checkerboard conditioned pattern was presented to the animal. A positive distance implies fish staying in the non-CS zone (also see section Materials and Methods). Each red dot represents the delivery of one electroshock. (P1: baseline phase; P2: training phase; P3: blackout phase; P4: test phase). (E) Analysis of the positional index suggests that fish did not show significant learning responses when the white-black checkerboard was presented as learner. Because no significant learning response was found in the experiment group, p = 0.2493 for the self-control group). We found that only one fish could be classified as learner. Because no significant learning responses (*t*-test, p = 0.3750 for the experiment group, p = 0.7089 for the self-control group. There was no unpaired-control group because no significant learning response was found in the experiment group. All error bars are SEM. **p < 0.001, ****p < 0.0001.

TABLE 2 | Percentages of learners in AB wild-type and transgenic fish.

	Grayscale 0	Grayscale 32	Grayscale 43	Grayscale 64	Grayscale 96	Red-black checkerboard	White-black checkerboard
elavl3	21/44 (50%)	11/39 (28%)	9/39 (23%)	8/38 (21%)	1/33 (3%)	27/104 (26%)	1/37 (3%)
AB/WT	22/44 (50%)	8/36 (22%)	10/46 (22%)	11/44 (25%)	1/41 (2%)	17/68 (25%)	1/16 (6%)

The numerator is the number of learners and the denominator is the total number of fish.

Statistical Analysis

The paired t-tests were used to compare the difference of the same fish between different phases in the same conditioning protocol; whereas the unpaired t-tests were used for the comparison between fish trained with the unpaired operant conditioning protocol and those with operant conditioning protocol. The sample size exceeded 20 for all tests.

RESULTS

Larval Zebrafish Show Significant Learning Responses in an Operant Conditioning Task

In our modified operant conditioning task (**Figure 1B**), larval zebrafish Tg (*elavl3:H2B-gcamp6f*) freely swam in an arena divided by two distinct patterns, each of which was projected onto one half of a transparent floor. In all cases, a pure-gray (grayscale-128) visual pattern was presented on the non-CS zone, and the CS patterns were presented on the other half. The CS was paired with the US—moderate electroshocks. The delivery of US and the update of visual patterns depended upon fish's positions and time (see Materials and Methods for detailed experimental procedures).

To scale up the training process, we developed a highthroughput operant conditioning system (**Figure 1A**) with custom supporting software suites BLITZ and ABLITZER (see Materials and Methods) that allowed training twelve fish simultaneously. BLITZ provided a fully automated workflow from video capture, online image processing, to visual stimuli presentation and electroshocks delivery for all behavioral protocols. Raw experimental data were then imported, analyzed and visualized by ABLITZER.

First, we tested several stimulus patterns in our operant conditioning task. When the red-black checkerboard was used as the conditioned pattern, 7–10 dpf zebrafish larvae showed significant learning responses (**Figures 2A,B**,

Supplementary Videos 1, 2), evaluated based on two metrics the positional index and turning index (see Material and Methods). By analyzing individual fish behavior, we classified 27 out of 104 (26%) fish as learners (**Table 2**) (see section Materials and Methods for criteria). Learners showed significant increase in the positional and turning indices after training, whereas non-learners did not (**Figures 2A,B**).

Larval zebrafish have an innate positive light preference. Therefore, we developed two control settings: the selfcontrol conditioning protocol in which no electroshock was delivered and the unpaired operant conditioning protocol in which electroshocks were randomly delivered (see Materials and Methods). Results from the two control settings were compared with those from the operant conditioning protocol to determine whether fish established the association (**Supplementary Figures 1I,J**). **Figure 2C** shows how the learning curves of learners, non-learners, and all fish, characterized by the positional index, changed during the entire learning process. **Figure 2D** shows a typical trajectory of a learner who tended to avoid the conditioned visual pattern after training.

We asked whether spatial features of the checkerboard alone could induce learning responses. However, when using the whiteblack checkerboard as the conditioned pattern, we found that fish showed little learning response after training (**Figures 2E,F**).

Visual Contrast Modulates the Percentage of Learners in the Operant Conditioning Task

We asked whether visual contrast—the grayscale value difference between a conditioned pattern and background (grayscale-128)—would modulate learning. Because light irradiance from the projector increases with the grayscale value of an image (**Table 1** and **Supplementary Figure 4**), we tested whether conditioned patterns with varying grayscale values (0, 32, 43, 64, and 96) would modulate operant learning responses.



FIGURE 3 | Visual contrast was the key parameter to modulate operant learning responses. (A) The percentage of learners decreased with the grayscale value of conditioned patterns. (B) A typical learner's behavioral trace. Pure-black (grayscale-0) was used as the conditioned pattern. (C) Analysis of the positional index (t-test, (Continued))

FIGURE 3 | p = 1.98e-11 for the learners, p = 0.9492 for the non-learners, and p = 2.03e-06 for all fish). Pure-black (grayscale-0) was used as the conditioned pattern. **(D)** Learners also showed significant increase in the turning index (*t*-test, p = 1.22e-5 for learners, p = 0.6491 for non-learners, and p = 0.0057 for all fish). **(E)** Analysis of the positional index (*t*-test, p < 0.00001 for learners, p = 0.3252 for non-learners, and p = 0.0018 for all fish). Grayscale-32 was the conditioned pattern. **(F)** Learners also showed significant increase in the turning index (*t*-test, p = 0.0049 for learners, p = 0.4923 for non-learners, and p = 0.0031 for all fish). **(G)** Analysis of the positional index (*t*-test, p = 0.0005 for learners, p = 0.3182 for non-learners, and p = 0.0128 for all fish). Grayscale-43 was the conditioned pattern. **(H)** Learners also showed significant increase in the turning index (*t*-test, p = 0.0022 for learners, p = 0.4923 for non-learners, and p = 0.0331 for all fish). **(G)** Analysis of the positional index (*t*-test, p = 0.0005 for learners, p = 0.3182 for non-learners, and p = 0.0128 for all fish). Grayscale-43 was the conditioned pattern. **(H)** Learners also showed significant increase in the turning index (*t*-test, p = 0.0022 for learners, p = 0.5067 for non-learners, and p = 0.0498 for all fish). **(I)** Analysis of the positional index (*t*-test, p < 0.0001 for learners, p = 0.0927 for non-learners, and p = 0.0009 for all fish). Grayscale-64 was the conditioned pattern. **(J)** Learners also showed significant increase in the turning index (*t*-test, p = 0.3694 for non-learners, and p = 0.0480 for all fish). **(K)** Analysis of the positional index (*t*-test, p = 0.3182 for he seperiment group, p = 0.0480 for all fish). **(K)** Analysis of the positional index (*t*-test, p = 0.3100 for the experiment group, p = 0.3694 for non-learners, and p = 0.0480 for all fish). **(K)** Analysis of the positional index (*t*-tes

In the case of pure-black (grayscale-0), half of the fish population (21 out of 42, **Table 2**) can be classified as learners. They all showed significant increase in the positional index and the turning index after training (**Figures 3C,D**, **Supplementary Figures 1A,B**). **Figure 3B** showed a typical behavioral trace of a learner (see also **Supplementary Videos 3, 4**).

In the case of grayscale-96, however, fish showed little increase in the positional and turning indices (**Figures 3K,L**). We found only one fish can be classified as learner. In the other cases, a fraction of fish population exhibited learning responses (**Figures 3E–J, Supplementary Figures 1C–H**). The percentage of learners decreased with grayscale value (**Figure 3A**). Reversing the conditioned pattern and the background pattern in our paradigm, however, failed to elicit learning responses.

The red-black checkerboard and the grayscale-43 conditioned pattern had the same mean grayscale value (see **Table 1**). Consistently, similar percentages of fish (26 vs. 23%, **Table 2**) could learn the two conditioned patterns, respectively. Together, these results suggest that the visual contrast, not spatial checkerboard features, contributed to the operant learning responses.

Visual Contrast Modulates Memory Extinction in the Operant Conditioning Task

To investigate how the operant conditioning behavior changed over time, we divided the entire process into epochs (excluding the blackout phase). Every 2-min interval is one epoch. The baseline phase has five epochs; the training phase has 10 epochs; and the test phase has nine epochs.

We defined the memory extinction point as the first time when the positional index within an epoch dropped below the mean index in the baseline phase; we defined the duration from the start of the test phase to the extinction point as the memory length. Memory length shorter than two epochs (e.g., fish may stay still in the non-CS zone) were excluded (see Materials and Methods).

We plotted the learning curves—the positional index vs. time—for learners and non-learners (**Figures 4A–D**). In the case of pure-black, the learning curve of learners rose and approached the maximum near the end of training; during the test phase, the learning curve remained high across the entire test phase (**Figure 4A**). Note that a large percentage of fish (16/21) did not show memory extinction (**Figure 4G**).

In the cases of other grayscale conditioned patterns, the learning curves of learners also reached their peaks near the end

of training. However, all curves decayed after several epochs in the test phase (**Figures 4B–D**). The memory extinction points were similar (grayscale-32 at 45 min, grayscale-43 at 41 min, grayscale- 64 at 41 min). **Figures 4E,F** illustrate a typical animal that learned the association and then experienced memory extinction in the test phase. The fish started swimming more in the CS-zone near 43 min.

In **Figure 4G**, we compared the distribution of memory lengths across all grayscale conditioned patterns. The mean memory length was the highest (970 s, **Table 4**) and the rate of extinction (see Materials and Methods) was the lowest in the case of pure-black conditioned pattern (**Table 3**).

We also found that the mean memory lengths (756 vs. 813 s) were similar when the red-black checkerboard and grayscale-43 pattern were used as the CS (**Table 4**). The percentages of learners that did not show memory extinction were also similar (12/27 vs. 5/9) in the two groups.

Wild-Type Fish Show Similar Learning Responses in the Operant Conditioning Task

To test whether the learning effect was strain-specific, we also performed the operant conditioning task in AB wild-type fish. Like transgenic fish, the percentage of learners in AB fish also decreased with the grayscale value of conditioned patterns (Figure 5H, Supplementary Figures 2C-H, 3): half of the fish population could be classified as learners in the case of pure-black (Figures 5A-C, Supplementary Figures 2A,B); whereas only one in the case of grayscale-96 (Supplementary Figures 2I,J). Some AB fish can learn the association between the red-black checkerboard and US (Figures 5D-F, **Supplementary Figures 2K,L**), but not between the white-black checkerboard and US (Supplementary Figures 2M,N).

We note that in the case of pure-black CS, more wild-type fish exhibited memory extinction (**Figure 5I**). **Figure 5G** shows a learner with memory extinction in the test phase. Fish started to swim more in the CS zone at 41 min.

DISCUSSION

Operant Learning in Larval Zebrafish

Operant learning allows animals to avoid danger or to find potential reward in a complex environment (Skinner, 1984). An earlier study (Li, 2012) demonstrated an operant learning paradigm for head-fixed zebrafish larvae, where \sim 75% larvae



elavl3 (s)

AB/WT (s)

756

691

	Grayscale 0	Grayscale 32	Grayscale 43	Grayscale 64	Red-black checkerboard
elavl3 (min ⁻¹)	3.83e-3	4.68e-3	1.00e-3	3.00e-2	8.11e-3
AB/WT (min ⁻¹)	9.82e-3	8.33e-3	1.01e-2	2.01e-2	2.04e-2
	monulongthe of loornore				
TABLE 4 Mean me	mory lengths of learners.				
	Gravscale 0	Gravscale 32	Gravscale 43	Gravscale 64	Red-black checkerboard

813

744

TABLE 3 | Memory extinction rates.

learned to correlate a positive consequence—the relief of heat exposure—with biased tail turning in the absence of conditioned cue.

807

690

970

725

In the current work, we demonstrated that a significant proportion of 7–10 dpf larval zebrafish showed significant operant learning responses when a darker-than-background conditioned pattern, such as a pure-black pattern, was paired with a punishment—moderate electroshock. In an earlier study (Valente et al., 2012), it was reported that 1-week larvae showed no significant learning response. Several factors may explain the discrepancy.

First, we observed little learning response when the whiteblack checkerboard or grayscale-96 pattern was paired with the US (only one fish learned the contingency), consistent with Valente's result. Enhancement of learning was observed, however, when a darker visual pattern, such as a pure-black pattern, was paired with the US.

Second, in our modified paradigm, fish possessed more opportunities to learn the contingency between the CS and US during the training period: when fish stayed in the non-CS zone for more than 48 s, the positions of CS and non-CS patterns would update. In Valente's paradigm, however, no visual pattern updates were implemented when fish stayed within the non-CS zone.

Visual Contrast Is the Key Parameter to Modulate Operant Learning Responses

Larval zebrafish can detect light intensity change at a very early age (Easter and Nicola, 1996; Emran et al., 2008). Opsins that are sensitive to long and short wavelength light start to be expressed in cone photoreceptors at 50 hpf (Raymond et al., 1995). During optomotor behaviors, 7 dpf larvae can detect motion stimuli by computing the spatiotemporal correlation of light intensities from nearby pixels in a visual pattern (Orger et al., 2000; Orger and Baier, 2005). Here, our study shows that the visual contrast, rather than spatial features in a visual pattern, is critical in modulating larval zebrafish operant learning responses.

Many studies have demonstrated that larval zebrafish exhibit positive phototaxis (Steenbergen et al., 2011; Chen and Engert, 2014; Guggiana-Nilo and Engert, 2016). In our behavioral paradigm, the behavioral metric baselines (e.g., positional index) were computed first before the training phase (see Materials and Methods). Light intensity could shift the baselines due to an innate illuminance bias. Significant changes in the behavioral metrics during and after operant conditioning (see **Figure 2**), however, require an explanation that goes beyond the innate avoidance response.

570

665

Here we speculate that this visual-contrast-dependent learning may arise from the crosstalk between phototaxis and fear conditioning circuits. Both phototaxis and US-triggered fear responses involve habenula (Agetsuma et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2017), a specialized brain region where a direct association between a CS and fear may occur through synaptic plasticity. According to this model, a CS would trigger fear responses, and learning leads to a stronger association between visual-related inputs and escape responses. These predictions can potentially be tested by combining our behavioral system with whole brain calcium imaging in freely behaving larval zebrafish (Cong et al., 2017).

Memory Extinction in the Operant Conditioning Task

Memory extinction is an active learning process where an animal learns to dissociate the conditioned response and CS in the absence of US (Myers and Davis, 2007). In our assay, the extinction point was defined as the first epoch whose positional index dropped below the mean index of the baseline. In addition, fish that did not keep a high level of positional index for at least two epochs were not counted as learners (see Materials and Methods). When the pure-black pattern was used, few learners showed memory extinction before the test phase ended. The distribution of memory length (**Figure 4G**) is consistent with that in a recent classical conditioning paradigm in larval zebrafish (Aizenberg and Schuman, 2011). When other grayscale patterns were used as the CS, mean memory lengths were further reduced (**Table 4**).

We also computed the rate of memory extinction (see Materials and Methods) for different CS patterns. We found that the extinction rate increased with the grayscale value of conditioned patterns for both wild-type and transgenic strains (**Table 3**). Also, the extinction rate in wild-type strain was higher



positional index of wild-type fish presented with the pure-black conditioned pattern (*t*-test, p < 0.0001 for learners, p = 0.5672 for non-learners, and p < 0.0001 for all fish). **(C)** Learners also showed significant increase in the turning index (*t*-test, p = 0.0082 for learners, p = 0.4561 for non-learners, and p = 0.0094 for all fish). **(D)** Learning curves of wild-type fish. Red-black checkerboard was the conditioned pattern. **(E)** Analysis of the positional index of wild-type fish presented with the red-black checkerboard conditioned pattern (*t*-test, learners: p = 0.0001; non-learners: p = 0.4768; all: p = 0.0082). **(F)** Wild-type learners also showed significant increase in the turning index (*t*-test, p = 0.0035 for learners, p = 0.2514 for non-learners, and p = 0.0087 for all fish). **(G)** A typical wild-type learner's behavioral trace. **(H)** Percentage of learners vs. the grayscale value of conditioned patterns for transgenic (elavl3) and wild-type fish. **(I)** Memory length distribution for wild-type fish. All error bars are SEM. **p < 0.001.

than that in the transgenic strain when grayscale-0 was the CS (Figures 4G, 5I).

The above observations suggest that the dissociation between conditioned patterns and behavior could also be modulated by the visual contrast. Recent studies in Drosophila (Felsenberg et al., 2017, 2018) showed that aversive memory formation and extinction involved different neural circuits and they competed with each other during decision-making. Identifying the neuronal circuitries underlying memory representation and extinction might help us test the hypothesis.

Strain Differences in the Operant Conditioning Task

We performed operational conditioning for both *elavl3:H2B-GCaMP6f* (in the *casper* mutant background) transgenic fish and wild-type (AB) fish and found that visual contrast modulated learning behaviors in similar ways (**Figure 5**). Nevertheless, more wild-type fish exhibited memory extinction when the pure-black conditioned pattern was used. A previous study (Parker et al., 2013) has systematically characterized the behaviors of wild-type (TU) fish and *casper* mutants. No difference was found in adult fish, yet wild-type fish showed a significant increase in anxiety when treated with 1-pheyl-2-thiourea (PTU), a drug that is used to maintain the transparency of embryos. Whether differences in the internal state of the two strains led to the difference of memory extinction in our behavioral paradigm requires further investigation.

High-Throughput Behavioral Assays for Learning and Memory in Larval Zebrafish

Larval zebrafish are amenable to high-throughput screen due to their transparency, small size and high permeability to small molecules (Kokel et al., 2010; Rihel et al., 2010). Though most systems are designed for drug or genetic screens (Rihel et al., 2010; Gehrig et al., 2018; Yang X. et al., 2018), here we have developed a high-throughput behavioral training system with custom supported software suites. Compared with previous work (Pelkowski et al., 2011; Hinz et al., 2013), the BLITZ software has enabled a fully automatic control of video capture, online image processing, visual pattern presentation and electroshocks delivery, making it an easily adaptable system for various purposes. Our complementary ABLITZER software also allows users to import, analyze and visualize data with well-structured classes and functions.

In its current version, our system cannot deal with situations of overlapping larvae, whose identities are hard to assign based on the current tracking algorithm. An earlier work (Mirat et al., 2013) showed that accurately tracking multiple larvae in groups over long periods of time were feasible. Integration of their algorithm with BLITZ may allow the study of social interactions of larval zebrafish in the future (Buske and Gerlai, 2014).

In conclusion, we have developed a high-throughput operant conditioning system for larval zebrafish. When using

REFERENCES

- Agetsuma, M., Aizawa, H., Aoki, T., Nakayama, R., Takahoko, M., Goto, M., et al. (2010). The habenula is crucial for experience-dependent modification of fear responses in zebrafish. *Nat. Neurosci.* 13, 1354–1356. doi: 10.1038/ nn.2654
- Agranoff, B. W., and Davis, R. E. (1968). "The use of fishes in studies on memory formation," in *The Central Nervous System and Fish Behavior*, ed D. Ingle (Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press), 193–201.
- Aizenberg, M., and Schuman, E. M. (2011). Cerebellar-dependent learning in larval zebrafish. J. Neurosci. 31, 8708–8712. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6565-10.2011
- Arthur, D., and Levin, E. (2001). Spatial and non-spatial visual discrimination learning in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). Anim. Cogn. 4, 125–131. doi: 10.1007/s100710100111

electroshocks as the US and the red-black checkerboard or pure-black pattern as the CS, we found that a significant portion of larval zebrafish population could acquire operant learning. We also compared the learning responses between AB wild-type fish and transgenic fish. The percentage of learners and memory length strongly depended upon the visual contrast. Future work that combines imaging and genetic tools should help identify neural mechanisms underlying the visual-contrast-dependent learning behavior.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

WY conceived the study, designed, and built the behavioral setup, developed the software suites, designed, carried out the experiments, wrote the manuscript, and conceived the figures. YM helped carry out the experiment and conceive the figures. DL helped design, build the behavioral setup, and conceive the figures. QW helped design the experiments and wrote the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was funded by National Science Foundation of China Grants NSFC-31471051 and NSFC-91632102, the Strategic Priority Research Program of the Chinese Academy of Sciences (Pilot study, grant XDPB10).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Bing Hu for kindly providing the housing for zebrafish, Wanzhuo shi, Yuming Chai, Kexin Qi, and Kun He for invaluable technical help; Florian Engert, Caroline Wee, Max Nikitchinko, and Armin Bahl for kind guidance and inspirations in behavioral neuroscience. One of the authors also thank the Neuroscience Pioneer Club (NPC) for inspiring discussions. This manuscript has been released as a pre-print at BioRxiv (Yang W. et al., 2018).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnbeh. 2019.00004/full#supplementary-material

- Bi, G. Q., and Poo, M. M. (1998). Synaptic modifications in cultured hippocampal neurons: dependence on spike timing, synaptic strength, and postsynaptic cell type. J. Neurosci. 18, 10464–1072. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.18-24-10464.1998
- Bradski, G. (2000). *The OpenCV Library*. San Francisco, CA: Dr Dobbs' Journal on Software Tools. doi: 10.1111/0023-8333.50.s1.10
- Brembs, B., Lorenzetti, F. D., Reyes, F. D., Baxter, D. A., and Byrne, J. H. (2002). Operant reward learning in Aplysia: neuronal correlates and mechanisms. *Science* 296, 1706–1709. doi: 10.1126/science.1069434
- Buske, C., and Gerlai, R. (2014). Diving deeper into zebrafish development of social behavior: analyzing high resolution data. J. Neurosci. Methods. 234, 66–72. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2014.06.019
- Cassenaer, S., and Laurent, G. (2007). Hebbian STDP in mushroom bodies facilitates the synchronous flow of olfactory information in locusts. *Nature* 48, 709–713. doi: 10.1038/nature05973

- Chen, X., and Engert, F. (2014). Navigational strategies underlying phototaxis in larval zebrafish. *Front. Syst. Neurosci.* 8:39. doi: 10.3389/fnsys.2014.00039
- Colwill, R. M., Raymond, M. P., Ferreira, L., and Escudero, H. (2005). Visual discrimination learning in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). *Behav. Proc.* 70, 19–31. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2005.03.001
- Cong, L., Wang, Z., Chai, Y., Hang, W., Shang, C., Yang, W., et al. (2017). Rapid whole brain imaging of neural activity in freely behaving larval zebrafish (*Danio* rerio). Elife 6:e28158. doi: 10.7554/eLife.28158
- Cunliffe, V. T. (2003). Zebrafish: a practical approach. Genet. Res. 82, 79-83. doi: 10.1017/S0016672303216384
- Davis, R. E., and Agranoff, B. W. (1966). Stages of memory formation in goldfish: evidence for an environmental trigger. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 55, 555–559. doi: 10.1073/pnas.55.3.555
- Easter, S. S. Jr., and Nicola, G. N. (1996). The development of vision in the zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). *Dev. Biol.* 180, 646–663. doi: 10.1006/dbio.1996.0335
- Emran, F., Rihel, J., and Dowling, J. E. (2008). A behavioral assay to measure responsiveness of zebrafish to changes in light intensities. J. Vis. Exp. e923. doi: 10.3791/923
- Felsenberg, J., Barnstedt, O., Cognigni, P., Lin, S., and Waddell, S. (2017). Re-evaluation of learned information in Drosophila. *Nature* 544, 240–244. doi: 10.1038/nature21716
- Felsenberg, J., Jacob, P. F., Walker, T., Barnstedt, O., Edmondson-Stait, A. J., Pleijzier, M. W., et al. (2018). Integration of parallel opposing memories underlies memory extinction. *Cell* 175, 709.e15–722.e15. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.08.021
- Freund, G., and Walker, D. W. (1972). Operant conditioning in mice. *Life Sci.* 11, 905–914. doi: 10.1016/0024-3205(72)90042-2
- Froemke, R. C., Debanne, D., and Bi, G. Q. (2010). Temporal modulation of spike-timing-dependent plasticity. *Front. Synaptic Neurosci.* 2:19. doi: 10.3389/fnsyn.2010.00019
- Gehrig, J., Pandey, G., and Westhoff, J. H. (2018). Zebrafish as a model for drug screening in Genetic Kidney Diseases. *Front. Pediatr.* 6:183. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00183
- Guggiana-Nilo, D. A., and Engert, F. (2016). Properties of the visible light phototaxis and UV avoidance behaviors in the larval zebrafish. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 10:160. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2016.00160
- Hinz, F. I., Aizenberg, M., Tushev, G., and Schuman, E. M. (2013). Protein synthesis-dependent associative long-term memory in larval zebrafish. *J. Neurosci.* 33, 15382–15387. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0560-13.2013
- Huang, Y.-Y., and Neuhauss, S. C. (2008). The optokinetic response in zebrafish and its applications. *Front. Biosci.* 13, 1899–1916. doi: 10.2741/2810
- Ishikawa, D., Matsumoto, N., Sakaguchi, T., Matsuki, N., and Ikegaya, Y. (2014). Operant conditioning of synaptic and spiking activity patterns in single hippocampal neurons. *J. Neurosci.* 34, 5044–5053. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5298-13.2014
- Kim, D. H., Kim, J., Marques, J. C., Grama, A., Hildebrand, D. G. C., Gu, W., et al. (2017). Pan-neuronal calcium imaging with cellular resolution in freely swimming zebrafish. *Nat. Methods* 14, 1107–1114. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.4429
- Kokel, D., Bryan, J., Laggner, C., White, R., Cheung, C. Y., Mateus, R., et al. (2010). Rapid behavior-based identification of neuroactive small molecules in the zebrafish. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 6, 231–237. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.307
- Leifer, A. M., Fang-Yen, C., Gershow, M., Alkema, M. J., and Samuel, A. D. (2011). Optogenetic manipulation of neural activity in freely moving *Caenorhabditis elegans. Nat. Methods* 8, 147–152. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.1554
- Li, J. M. (2012). Identification of an Operant Learning Circuit by Whole Brain Functional Imaging in Larval Zebrafish. Doctoral dissertation, Harvard University. Available online at: http://nrs.harvard.edu/urn-3:HUL.InstRepos: 10974703.
- Mirat, O., Sternberg, J. R., Severi, K. E., and Wyart, C. (2013). ZebraZoom: an automated program for high-throughput behavioral analysis and categorization. *Front. Neural Circuits* 7:107. doi: 10.3389/fncir.2013.00107
- Mueller, K. P., and Neuhauss, S. C. (2010). Quantitative measurements of the optokinetic response in adult fish. J. Neurosci. Methods 186, 29–34. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2009.10.020
- Myers, K. M., and Davis, M. (2007). Mechanisms of fear extinction. *Mol. Psychiatry* 12, 120–150. doi: 10.1038/sj.mp.4001939
- Nargeot, R., and Simmers, J. (2011). Neural mechanisms of operant conditioning and learning-induced behavioral plasticity in Aplysia. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 68, 803–816. doi: 10.1007/s00018-010-0570-9

- Orger, M. B., and Baier, H. (2005). Channeling of red and green cone inputs to the zebrafish optomotor response. *Vis. Neurosci.* 22, 275–281. doi: 10.1017/S0952523805223039
- Orger, M. B., Smear, M. C., Anstis, S. M., and Baier, H. (2000). Perception of Fourier and non-Fourier motion by larval zebrafish. *Nat. Neurosci.* 3, 1128–1133. doi: 10.1038/80649
- Parker, M. O., Brock, A. J., Millington, M. E., and Brennan, C. H. (2013). Behavioral phenotyping of *casper* mutant and 1-pheny-2-thiourea treated adult zebrafish. *Zebrafish* 10, 466–471. doi: 10.1089/zeb.2013.0878
- Pelkowski, S. D., Kapoor, M., Richendrfer, H. A., Wang, X., Colwill, R. M., and Creton, R. (2011). A novel high-throughput imaging system for automated analyses of avoidance behavior in zebrafish larvae. *Behav. Brain Res.* 223, 135–144. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2011.04.033
- Portugues, R., and Engert, F. (2009). The neural basis of visual behaviors in the larval zebrafish. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 19, 644–647. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2009.10.007
- Raymond, P. A., Barthel, L. K., and Curran, G. A. (1995). Developmental patterning of rod and cone photoreceptors in embryonic zebrafish. J. Comp. Neurol. 359, 537–550. doi: 10.1002/cne.903590403
- Rihel, J., Prober, D. A., Arvanites, A., Lam, K., Zimmerman, S., Jang, S., et al. (2010). Zebrafish behavioral profiling links drugs to biological targets and rest/wake regulation. *Science* 327, 348–351. doi: 10.1126/science.11 83090
- Roeser, T., and Baier, H. (2003). Visuomotor behaviors in larval zebrafish after GFP-guided laser ablation of the optic tectum. *J Neurosci.* 23, 3726–3734. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.23-09-03726.2003
- Skinner, B. F. (1984). The evolution of behavior. J. Exp. Anal. Behav. 41, 217–221. doi: 10.1901/jeab.1984.41-217
- Steenbergen, P. J., Richardson, M. K., and Champagne, D. L. (2011). Patterns of avoidance behaviours in the light/dark preference test in young juvenile zebrafish: a pharmacological study. *Behav. Brain Res.* 222, 15–25. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2011.03.025
- Steinberg, E. E., Keiflin, R., Boivin, J. R., Witten, I. B., Deisseroth, K., and Janak, P. H. (2013). A causal link between prediction errors, dopamine neurons and learning. *Nat. Neurosci.* 16, 966–973. doi: 10.1038/nn.3413
- Valente, A., Huang, K. H., Portugues, R., and Engert, F. (2012). Ontogeny of classical and operant learning behaviors in zebrafish. *Learn. Mem.* 19, 170–177. doi: 10.1101/lm.025668.112
- Wassum, K. M., Ostlund, S. B., Balleine, B. W., and Maidment, N. T. (2011). Differential dependence of Pavlovian incentive motivation and instrumental incentive learning processes on dopamine signaling. *Learn. Mem.* 18, 475–483. doi: 10.1101/lm.2229311
- Wise, R. A. (2004). Dopamine, learning and motivation. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 5, 483–494. doi: 10.1038/nrn1406
- Yang, W., Meng, Y., Li, D., and Wen, Q. (2018). Visual intensity ratio modulates operant learning responses in larval zebrafish. *bioRxiv* [preprint]. doi: 10.1101/401000
- Yang, X., Jounaidi, Y., Dai, J. B., Marte-Oquendo, F., Halpin, E. S., Brown, L. E., et al. (2018). High-throughput screening in larval zebrafish identifies novel potent sedative-hypnotics. *Anesthesiology* 129, 459–476. doi: 10.1097/ALN.00000000002281
- Zhang, B. B., Yao, Y. Y., Zhang, H. F., Kawakami, K., and Du, J. L. (2017). Left habenula mediates light-preference behavior in zebrafish via an asymmetrical visual pathway. *Neuron* 93, 914.e4–928.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2017.0 1.011
- Zimmermann, M. J. Y., Nevala, N. E., Yoshimatsu, T., Osorio, D., Nilsson, D. E., Berens, P., et al. (2018). Zebrafish differentially process color across visual space to match natural scenes. *Curr. Biol.* 28, 2018.e5–2032.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2018.04.075

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Yang, Meng, Li and Wen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

